Chapter One

Soon after the United States declared war against the United J(ingdom on June 18, 1812, spirited American troops began assembling at Greenbush on the Upper Hudson River, directly opposite Albany, New York. From this staging area, confident detachments eager for victory marched north to strategic points along the Canadian border. The Third Regiment of Artillery, commanded by Colonel Alexander Macomb, trekked thirteen days north through mud and mire, . snow and cold, past sometimes  hostile inhabitants to reach their destination: "a cold and miserable place on Lake Ontario" known as Sackett's  Harbour. It was destined to become the Largest and most important American outpost during the War of 1812. During the next two and a half years thousands of troops, sailors, shipwrights and teamsters converged on this frontier village to create the nation's most powerful wartime fleet and launch offensives to secure the conquest of British North America.

Macomb optimistically  predicted:

Our next affair will be a .. fight between the fleets. The General Pike (the new ship) is fast fitting out for sea and when she is completed, a grand naval fight will decide the campaign.2

But in war, perhaps more than elsewhere in human affairs, events unfold differently from expectations. Britain responded forcefully to thwart America's ambition to wage offensive war from Sackett's Harbour, and by the end of 1813, events turned against these would-be conquerers of Canada. This frontier village thus became the bulwark in the defense of the northern frontier. This startling turn of events can only be understood in view of Sackett's Harbour's geography and the milestone battle on May 29, 1813. To understand, we begin in 1801, at the eastern end of
Lake Ontario where the powerful Black River forces its way into Black River Bay .

There, a harbor is found, a harbor which is sheltered from winds and surges of the lake that soar like those of the ocean. A peninsula of limestone rock, perfectly protects a sheet of water containing about 10 acres. The land fronting this bay is raised about 30 feet and when seen from
the water, these cliffs resemble the walls of an ancient fortification.3 ·

During the same year, Augustus Sacket, a New York City land speculator, learned of this deep, sheltered harbor on the edge of the primeval forests and travelled there to personally inspect the site.4 Impressed, Sacket pushed back to New York and secured title to a tract of land


1 New York State  Archives, Macomb's Orderly Book,  Nov. 21, 1812.
2 Library of Congress Manuscript Division, Washington, DC.  Alexander Macomb to Samuel Smith, 24 June 1813.
3  Voyage dans la Haute Pensylvanie, et dans l'Etat de New York, par un membre adoptiv de la Nation Oneida, Vol. III, p. 408. Earliest known  detailed  description of Sackets Harbor.
4 SACKETT, Augustus, (1769-1827), lawyer and land speculator, son of Samuel  and Mary Sackett, born in New York City, November  10, 1769, and studied  law, became a land speculator  located mainly on or near the eastern shores of Lake Ontario purchasing a tract contained 16,500 acres. Married Minerva  Camp of Catskill, and in 1801 disposed of his business interests in New York City and moved to Sackett's Harbor, (as he spelled it). In 1805 a number of English colonists settled there. The federal  government created a U.S. Revenue District  and appointed  Sackett its first collector.
In 1806, the township  of Houndsfield, which embraced  the village, held its first town meeting,  and Sackett was elected
its first supervisor.  In 1807 Sackett was elected Jefferson  County's first judge. Two years later, Sackett disposed of all his holdings in Jefferson  County  and moved to Jamaica, Long Island. In 1812 Sackett moved to Meadville, Pa., where he purchased several hundred  acres of land. He returned to New York City shortly thereafter. In 1820 he move to

D:\1812\Publications\Battle of Sackets Harbor\Chapter 0 Ldocx  1115/2013 I 0:13 PM

surrounding the harbor. Gathering a few hardy settlers, he returned to found a new settlement which he christened "Mr. Sackett's Village."5  Sacket built a refined and comfortable Georgian residence facing his harbor on Black River Bay and made plans to erect a church on the limestone bluff that "resembled  an ancient fortification," overlooking the harbor and bay.

The sheltered nature of the new settlement, its viability as a port amidst primitive overland routes and the fertility of the soil attracted newcomers. The summers were pleasant and enjoyable, but short. Land speculators, however, failed to mention the brutality of the arctic winters that last almost half a year. Newcomers from relatively temperate New England, quickly discovered what real cold and snow were, and, as time went on, only the most hardy remained. Nevertheless, growth of the little village was steady; by 1802 a traveler reported some 30 families living in the wilderness township. An advertisement in the Columbian Gazette of Utica described the surrounding land as excellent and an alluring goal to hard-working newcomers.

Eventually, thousands of settlers from New England and eastern New York began seeking lands in the wooded northern and western section of the State. These lands were formerly inhabited by the Iroquois, many of whom fled to Upper Canada following the Revolutionary War. The population of qualified voters in the township rose from a few dozen in 1801 to 226 by

1807 and by 1810 it amounted to 943.6  Slowly carved out of the forests, Sackett's Harbour
developed into a village of elegant modern-built houses and out-buildings, generally superior to the older communities left behind to the east. From the bluff overlooking the lake

... the distant islands, main land, and outlets of rivers are all beautiful, and the scene is continually enlivened with vessels and boats; while the wharves, warehouses,  and stores exhibit an appearance very much resembling a sea-port on the Atlantic.7

Sackett's Harbour was not the only settlement founded in northern New York as thousands of land-hungry settlers poured into what became Jefferson County. About eight miles distant on the Black River, Brownville also developed into a lively village. In 1798 Samuel and Jacob Brown, Pennsylvania Quakers, purchased land from the Chassanis Company on which the community was established. The first member of the family to settle there was Jacob, who arrived at the Black River country in February, 1799.

This Jacob Brown was a tall, handsome, and resourceful man, destined to emerge as one of the most famous field commanders ofthe War of 1812.8 At an early age his father suffered financial reverses, and the young Quaker tried his hand at a number of activities. He was a


Rutherford County, North Carolina, having become interested in a large tract ofland there. Within a few years he once again became interested in land in the Thousand Islands of the St. Lawrence River and returned to Sackett's Harbor. Sackett lost money in these transactions and died from a sudden illness while enroute from Newburgh to Sackett's Harbor in April1827  in the 59th year of his life.
5 Hough, Franklin B., A History of Jefferson County in the State of New York, from the Earliest Period to the
Present Time_(Albany: Joel Munsell, 1854) p.173.
6 By 1814 the population of the Town ofHoundsfield grew to 1,386 with 18 slaves while Jefferson County's total population was 18,564. Hough, p.357. 	·
7 Melish, John, A Military and Topographical  Atlas ofthe United States (Philadelphia:  John Melish, 1815) p. 18.
8 Although equal in renown to Winfield Scott and Andrew Jackson, no analytical biography of Jacob Brown exists. For a brief character sketch consult Fredrikson, John C., Officers of the War of 1812 (Lewiston NY: Edwin Melken Press, 1989).


teacher  briefly  before moving to the Ohio Territory  to work as a land surveyor. Finding the reality of frontier  life less alluring than advertised, Brown  returned to teaching in New York City and subsequently turned  his attention to law. This he also abandoned in favor of writing political essays and avidly  studying history. To hone his public speaking ability,  Brown joined a debating society  and soon became  a prominent member.9 It is asserted,  but can not be documented, that prior to settling  in Northern New York, Brown  was employed as a military  secretary  under
Alexander  Hamilton.

Under Brown's  wise leadership, his clan transformed its wilderness hamlet into a prosperous community. Brown,  his father  and brothers  opened  a store, built mills, and began producing potash 10 for the willing  market  in British  North America where  it could be sold and
manufactured into gunpowder for use in the ongoing  Napoleonic wars raging in Europe.  The Browns  soon established a flourishing trade in flour, potash,  and pearl ashes with Kingston, Upper Canada,  as well as Montreal and Quebec in Lower Canada.  It was possible  to journey from Brownsville or Sackett's Harbour  as far as Kingston by boat in one day - and to Montreal
and back in about one week.11

Other settlements had been created  as well. South west of Sackett's Harbour, on the shore of Lake Ontario,  lay the neighboring frontier  port of Oswego.  Situated  at the mouth of the Oswego River, it was America's doorway to the interior  of a vast unsettled continent, and connected  New York City to the Great Lakes  via the Hudson, the Mohawk, and Oneida  Lake waterways. Oswego's strategic location attracted  settlement and commerce. A British  trading post was built there as early as 1727 12 and, later, two forts were erected,  one on either side of the river's mouth.

Oswego  was the scene  of bloody  fighting  during the French  and Indian  Wars (1754-1763), and was briefly under  French  control.  It functioned as a staging  area for the powerful  British offensive  against  Montreal in 1760. Recognizing Oswego's importance, Britain,  in violation  of the 1783 Treaty of Paris, retained  a post there until1796. A decade  later, the flourishing little port of about 40 dwellings could boast shipbuilding capabilities along with a profitable  salt trade carried on with other Great  Lakes centers.

American development of the southern shore of the St. Lawrence River and Lake Ontario was paralleled  by British settlement to the north and west in Upper  Canada.  By 1800, the village of Kingston, thirty-six miles distant from Sackett's Harbour, had already  developed into the largest community on Lake Ontario.  Established on the site of the former  French fort
'Frontenac', Kingston developed as a result of the transfer  of the Crown's military  facilities  from nearby  Carleton Island.  This had been Britain's most important military  post in the Great Lakes system during the Revolutionary War. But because  the 1783 peace treaty  ending the Revolutionary War, placed  the boundary between British North  America and the United States in the middle of the Great Lakes  and down the St. Lawrence River through its main channel, Carleton Island fell into American territory. During that war, the Crown  constructed a dock-yard,


9 Nafis and Cornish. The Life of General Brown (New York: P.J. Cozans, 1847) p.15.
10 A potassium carbonate made from wood ashes used in agriculture as fertilizer or industry as gunpowder.
11 Taylor, Rev. John, Missionary  Tour through the Mohawk & Black River Countries in 1802, Vol. III. p. 70.
12 Mohar, Ronald E. "Development  of Oswego's First Settlement,"  Unpublished,  October 1992.
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supply base and fort on the island. Indian and Loyalists raids were launched against the
American rebels and refugees loyal to the crown sought refuge there .

After the Revolution, the British kept a small garrison on the island refusing access to Americans. By the end of the 1780s, troops, dock-yard workers, naval personnel, loyalists and Indians resettled at I(ingston  taking advantage of its excellent harbor. Over the course of the
1790s, a rapid increase in population took place as refugee loyalists and American settlers seeking cheap crown lands converged on this new settlement, building houses, grist and saw mills. By 1806, Kingston contained barracks for troops, a hospital, storehouses, an Anglican church, and about 150 dwellings. Four years later, the new village had one of the largest
newspapers in Canada, the Kingston Gazette, and a thriving shipyard.13

Kingston, like Sackett's Harbour on the American side, prospered from growing trade on Lake Ontario. Being situated at both the head of the Lake and the source of the St. Lawrence river, Kingston was also the main base of the Provincial Marine. The Provincial Marine was a small offshoot of the Quartermaster's Department used to transport troops and supplies to British garrisons throughout the Great Lakes. A position in the Provincial Marine required little or no effort, as captains of its vessels were aging septuagenarians with limited combat experience .

Two new warships, the Duke of Kent and the armed schooner Duke of Gloucester, were built to augment those constructed  during and shortly after the Revolutionary War. 14 Lake seamen enrolled as volunteers and were trained in naval gunnery. In 1809 a twenty-two gun corvette,
Royal George, was launched. She was the largest ship of war built to date on the fresh water interior of North America, and a stern reminder of British military presence.

Most Americans; however, ignored military developments and one newspaper wrote:

Upper Canada was considered the most temperate climate as well as the most fertile soil, belonging to the British in Canada. The rapid improvements  in agriculture, and the advancement of manufactures, are justly attributed to the activity and enterprise of the American farmers,· who from grants of crown lands, have been induced to settle in great numbers in that province. Indeed Upper Canada would be considered as a territory belonging to the United States from the
immense difference which exists between the industry of its inhabitants  and those of Lower Canada (French Quebec)- from their manners, habits, and appearance- and from the value of their farms and the luxurious appearance of their crops.15

As the border communities consolidated and grew in population, trade between them boomed. Soon, scheduled travel between Sackett's  Harbour and Kingston was arranged. Upwards of forty small merchant schooners were built on Lake Ontario to carry wheat, flour, beef, pork, lumber, and other commodities to Canada. There these commodities were traded for
quality British manufactured  goods difficult or impossible to procure on the American frontier. 16

13 H. Niles, Editor, The Weekly Register (Baltimore: Franklin Press, 27 June 1812), p.288.
14 Preston, Richard A., Kingston Before the War, A Collection  of Documents,  The Champlain Society for the
Government of Ontario, (Toronto ON: University of Toronto Press, 1959) p. lxxxvi.
15 Niles' Weekly Register, June 27, 1812. P. 288.
16 John Melish, A Military and Topographical  Atlas of the United States; Including the British Possessions &
Florida (Philadelphia:  John Melish, 1815), p.19.

Inevitably, such a flourishing  business attracted the attention of revenue-hungry Washington and in 1803, Sackett's Harbour was designated the sole customs port between Oswego and Ogdensburgh17  on the St. Lawrence River. Augustus Sacket, the most prominent local member of the community, was appointed the first customs agent of the newly established Sackett's Harbour District. But as time went on, the threat of war between the United States and Great
Britain overshadowed the prospects of continual prosperity between the Harbour and the other peaceful border communities  .

The mounting tension between the two nations resulted from the very treaty which ended the Revolutionary War, the Treaty of Paris, because it failed to establish a route to develop amicable relations between the United States and Great Britain. Both countries violated terms of the treaty and, in particular, the crown refused to relinquish her posts on the northern territory of the new republic, including Oswego, until Jay's Treaty of 1794 brought a temporary lessening of antagonism. One clause stipulated that Great Britain would withdraw her forces from these posts. The crown did obey treaty stipulations with the exception of Carleton Island. It was a minor sticking point but greater friction arose on the northwestern frontier of the then United States .

As the pioneers pushed westward, the Indians of the Old Northwest formed a confederacy to resist white encroachments. Determined to defend their land, the tribes appealed to their former ally, Great Britain, for assistance. The British were careful to appear neutral in the resulting conflict, but many Americans suspected British sympathies lay with the Indians and that they were secretly encouraging  the uprising .

A more serious irritant arose from the world war Britain had waged virtually without cessation against France since 1793. This conflict created a demand in Europe among both belligerents for American raw materials. Consequently, the American merchant marine experienced phenomenal  growth and, since the need for crews could not be met at home, American carriers began drawing on the skilled human resources of Britain. It is estimated that, in the first decade of the nineteenth century, between fifteen and twenty thousand British sailors
deserted the Royal Navy, many to sign on with American merchant ships. 18 Not only was
treatment more humane but they were also fed, paid and berthed in better conditions.

Britain acted decisively to prevent the hemorrhaging of trained seamen both from her navy and merchant marine. Her warships actively stopped American flag vessels under "the right of search" and impressed any sailors they suspected to be British. Although American seamen were issued identification  papers, the Royal Navy often refused to recognize them and, according to official complaints lodged with the Department of State, 6,257 American citizens were
impressed into the Royal Navy prior to April, 1812.19 Washington made strenuous efforts to get
them back, but many Americans languished in the lower decks of His Majesty's warships for years.

17 I have chosen to use the earlier spelling (Ogdensburgh), rather than the modem (Ogdensburg), except when quoted.

18 Niles' Weekly Register.  Vol. II, March 1812-September  1812.
19 Niles' Weekly Register, Ibid.

In the course of developments,  America became caught between both belligerents as both Britain and France passed decrees forbidding neutral nations from trading with the other. Since the Royal Navy ruled the seas, the British prohibition-- the 1807 Orders-in-Council  --weighed more heavily on the United States than did those of France. British warships enforced the Orders and violators were subject to seizure. Congress, at the behest of President Thomas Jefferson, enacted an embargo in 1807 stipulating that no clearance should be issued to American flag vessels bound for any foreign port. It was a ploy intended to force the warring powers of Europe to show greater respect for the rights of neutrals and to keep the United States from becoming entangled in a foreign war.

The results were both predictable and unsavory. American cotton, tobacco, and other goods rotted on wharves, the merchant marine was laid up, seamen were unemployed, and prices plummeted. The American economy went into a recession in 1808 for which public sentiment blamed Britain. The Embargo Act, designed to keep the United States out of war, only succeeded in pushing her to the brink.

The embargo applied equally to the Great Lakes as well as the Atlantic trade, and succeeded in dashing the thriving prosperity of northern New York border settlements. Not surprisingly, smuggling, especially of potash, became rampant. The illegality of exporting it from American ports led to extensive and systematic measures to transport it to Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence River. This commodity fetched between $200 and $300 per ton in Montreal and from that city, there was no obstacle in exporting it to England.

In an effort to evade the embargo, Americans transported potash and other goods which sometimes "vanished in the night" or were transported with due formality to Ogdensburgh where they simply "disappeared," or were shipped in open defiance of the law. Naturally, these commodities were sure to magically reappear in Montreal to the great profit of those transporting them. To check this illegal trade, the State and Federal governments took the unpopular step of stationing troops at Sackett's Harbour and other northern ports.20

In August 1808 the Oswego customs collector seized a shipment of Canadian flour that had been smuggled into the port. A few days later sixty armed men boldly announced their intention to recapture the flour. They swaggered through the town, uttering threats that they intended to attack the customs house and "clear out the town or burn it."21 The customs collector sent a courier to alert a troop of New York State militia dragoons stationed nearby. The unit
commander saddled his outfit and rode toward Oswego. Upon hearing the sounds of galloping horses, the insurrectionists fled into the nearby woods and made their way home as best they could?2

New Yark's military-minded Governor Daniel Tompkins believed it was necessary to "suppress the existing insurrection and to aid the Collector to carry into effect the Laws of the United States against the armed and violent resistance made at said port."23 As commander-in-


20 Hough, History of Jefferson County, p.458.
21 Public Papers of Dania! D. Tompkins, Governor  ofNew York 1807-1817. Published by the State ofNew York, Wynkoop Hallenbeck Crawford  Co., State printers, New York and Albany. 1898. Military -Vol. I, p. 196.
22  Ibid, p. 196.
23  Ibid. Daniel Tompkins to William Paulding, Lt. Col. and A.D.C. Headquarters  New York, 19th August, 1808.


chief of the State Militia, he ordered militia detachments to Oswego and protect the port from any new outbreaks of violence emphasizing that:
If it should be found impracticable ... to reclaim from their errors those deluded citizens who have wickedly indulged themselves  in violations of their civil obligations,  by armed and forcible opposition to the execution of the Laws, then force must be employed to rescue the insulted laws from the violence of these offenders, to suppress the existing Insurrection and to prevent any armed or forcible arrest and removal of vessels or property legally detained or seized by the
Collector of the district of Oswego.24

The same month at Sackett's Harbour, Hart Massey replaced Sacket as customs agent. During the next winter on March 14, 1809, a distressed Massey reported: "Nature has furnished the smugglers with the firmest ice that was ever known on this frontier."25 The sleighs of the smugglers passed Sackett's Harbour ten miles from shore, and available forces were insufficient
to stop them. Smugglers were determined to evade the laws even at the risk of their lives. At Ogdensburgh, they even conspired not to allow a government force to be stationed in that vicinity. The smugglers threatened that if any officer of the law should interfere they would take a raw hide to them. "These threats don't terrify me," Massey remarked, "I only mention them to let you know their unprincipled  determination."26  The smugglers and the militia stationed there
to patrol the border eventually developed a mutual understanding. The inexperienced troops simply looked the other way in exchange for being left alone.

Normally the militia assigned to patrol duties received little training and served only short periods of time. Their officers were largely political appointees, and when they did turn out for duty, it amounted to little more than political rallies, parades and drinking binges. 27 Massey found it almost impossible to get any assistance from the intimidated militia to move confiscated
contraband to government storage. He felt if he did not have his own armed men with him, the inhabitants would "assemble  in the night and take the property..." Some people supported the law but were fearful of fulfilling their legal obligations. Massey exclaimed; "My life and the lives of my deputies are threatened daily. What will be the fate of us? God only knows."28

Jacob Brown of Brownville was alleged to have been one of these smugglers. A road known as "Brown's smugglers road" was cut through the forest from the Black River to French Creek and north toward the St. Lawrence River. This road became a major thoroughfare for smugglers making their way to Canada. Brown plied his illicit trade so diligently that he accrued considerable wealth and acquired the inglorious title of "Potash Brown," a nickname his enemies would revel in.29  Intelligent and enterprising, Brown not only developed his family's new settlement, but in 1809 he also managed to secure appointment as lieutenant-colonel



24 Ibid. Daniel Tompkins to William Paulding, Lt. Col. and A.D.C. Headquarters  New York, August 19, 1808.
25 Hough's History, p.459.
26  Hough's History, p.459.
27 White, Jeffersonians, p.534-35. James Ripley Jacobs, The Beginning ofthe U.S. Army, 1783-1812 (Princeton: 1947), p.381-82.
28 Hough's History, p.459.
29  Landon, Harry F., Bugles on the Border (Watertown NY: Watertown Daily Times, 1954) p.12.

(commandant) of the newly formed 108th Infantry Regiment, New York Militia.30  In 1811
Governor Tompkins was searching for a suitable candidate to fill the vacant position of Brigadier-General on the vulnerable northern frontier. Because political infighting cancelled out two leading contenders, Tompkins decided to appoint 36-year-old Brown instead.31

Many felt the Governor's choice was a good one as Brown maintained an active interest in military affairs. Brown wanted a militia capable of effective active service, but could he get it on the frontier where many other settlers were also part-time smugglers?  On the contrary, in order to remain popular with the local militia, Brown limited expenditure of time and money for parades and other time-consuming  military musters. This was a difficult balancing act. In a frontier society, planting and harvesting crops, clearing forests and building adequate shelter were foremost on people's minds. The last thing the rank and file of the militia wanted to do, was
waste time and money on what they considered as unpopular and frivolous military service .

The Federal government struggled to cope with the smuggling crisis by sending more troops north and building a warship at Oswego. This task was given to twenty-six-year-old, Lieutenant Melanchton T. Woolsey, USN, who received orders to superintend the construction of the gun brig on Lake Ontario and two gunboats on Lake Champlain. Woolsey, a navy career officer since
1800, had already distinguished  himself in the Quasi-war with France and the Tripolitan Wars.

Military service seemed to run through Woolsey's family. His father had been a prominent but controversial officer in the Revolution and his mother was a member of the powerful Livingston family. Woolsey's grandfather had been an officer in the British army during the French and Indian War and was killed in the campaign against the French at Ticonderoga. Young Woolsey, attentive to detail and capable of following instructions  implicitly, was the Navy's ideal choice for this arduous duty .

Before departing New York for Oswego, Lieutenant Woolsey notified the Navy Department that it was impossible to secure good workmen and most building materials on Lake Ontario. He had learned that even the British were compelled to hire carpenters from the New York ship­ yards to build a newly completed vessel at Kingston. Woolsey sought to ease his task by contracting noted ship designer Christian Berg and master builder Henry Eckford "as they are said to be the most faithful workmen."

Born and raised in the shipbuilding region of Hamburg, Germany, Berg had earned a reputation as one of New York's leading shipbuilders because of advanced designs and the quality of his vessels. The thirty-three-year-old, Scottish-born  Eckford began his trade in the shipyards of Quebec under the apprenticeship of his uncle, the eminent naval builder, John
Black.32 By age 21, Eckford left Canada and owned his own shipyard inNew York. He was soon
recognized as one of the foremost shipbuilders in that city and his carpenters were considered

30 Lyon, James B., ed., Military Minutes of the Council of Appointment  of the State of New York, 1783-1821 (Albany
NY: State ofNew York) Vol. II, p.l079.
31 Public Papers of Daniel D. Tompkins, 1807-1817,  Vol.II, pp.403-409.
32  Jefferson County historical society, American Mechanics, Henry Eckford. p.211-215.  (Date unknown).
among the best available. Woolsey closed the contract and began what was to become a long and enduring ship-building  relationship with Henry Eckford.33
On August 6, 1808, Lieutenant Woolsey and Sailing Master34 Thomas Gamble, USN, departed New York for Oswego followed by Eckford and a gang of workmen. They were later joined by midshipman  James Fenimore Cooper, USN, a young man with a literary bent. Woolsey and Gamble reached their destination on the evening of the 12th, while Eckford and company
I
arrived the following morning. He brooked no delay in organizing his men to construct quarters
	and prepare a dockyard on which to frame the gun brig.
Woolsey, however, was alarmed by military conditions at Oswego because it lacked a garrison of regulars under the direct authority of Washington. Taken aback, he wrote Washington that "there is much to be apprehended from the turbulent spirit of the people in that
part of the country, who... are infringing on the Embargo Laws" and suggested that a detachment of marines be sent to protect the dockyard.35 The young officer was singularly unimpressed by Oswego which he described as:

A rather dreary place perfectly destitute of genteel society, many of the necessities and ALL of
the luxuries of life. Messieurs Gamble, Cooper, and myself are, however, tolerably well quartered and in hopes with what we shall be able to procure from the east to weather out this winter pretty comfortably. Mr. Gamble, Cooper, and myself yet enjoy good health.. for this is the most dreary hole at this season I ever saw.36

Under Eckford's aegis, progress on the gun brig was rapid and, by September, Woolsey reported that most of her timbers were prepared, the keelson and all the top timbers were of the best white oak. Early winter found the frame of the brig complete, the planking had begun and the rigging, rails, cables, and anchors en route from New York. Woolsey requested permission to
37

i     I	replace the heavy 32-pounder.
 
long gun planned for the new vessel with two, much lighter 24-

pdr. short-barrelled  carronades because he feared its weight would render the brig "truly laborsome for this Lake, as the sea here is much shorter than on the ocean."38 Although he confessed that he was initially pleased with the idea of mounting a heavy gun in the bow, he now doubted its practicality for there was "not a more ferocious sea in the world than Lake Ontario." He feared the brig would be swamped in heavy seas, so lighter armament was in order. Woolsey
was also concerned about Oswego's viability as a base for the new vessel. During the summer months, the level of Lake Ontario fell, making it risky for the deep drafted brig to sail because of a shifting sand bar in the river mouth. Upon investigating he discovered there were only two




33 Burton Historical Collection.  "The Woolsey Family Papers 1809-1815".  Detroit Public Library Microfilms
(University Microfilm & Company,  February 1969). (Hereafter cited: Burton Historical Collection).
34 Rank in U.S. Navy, equivalent  to warrant officer today.
35  Burton Historical Collection.  Ibid.
36 Burton Historical Collection. Ibid.

37 Artillery was classed according to the weight of the projectile fired, i.e. a six pounder fired a six lb. cannonball; a
32 pdr. fired a 32 lb. cannonball, etc.
38  Burton Historical Collection.  Ibid.

anchorages on the American side of the lake, Sackett's Harbour and the Niagara River, which could accommodate his vessel.39

Eckford's carpenters made swift progress and the new brig was launched March 31, 1809. A proud Woolsey described her as "the handsomest vessel in the Navy."40 Since he had received no instructions what to name her, he decided to proclaim the brig "Oneida, after the country in
which she was built, a lake in the vicinity of this place, and a nation of Indians that inhabit the border ofit."41 Shortly thereafter, Woolsey sailed to Sackett's Harbour to explore the possibility of establishing a navy yard there. He reported the peninsula forming the harbor had from 10 to
13 feet of water and was within 150 yards of the place best suited for a public dock. Woolsey also recognized that the limestone cliffs resembling "the walls of an ancient fortification," dominated the harbor and bay. Here, he believed a battery could be built to mount the brig's guns in winter.  Woolsey concluded, "I think it is the only place suitable on the American side for establishing a navy yard."42

By December 1810, the Oneida and its skeleton crew were transferred to Sackett's Harbour with orders to suppress smuggling and conduct other revenue duties. Woolsey thereupon commenced construction of a guardroom, a boat house, and a mess room to accommodate them. Augustus Sacket's plan to build a church on the bluff never materialized because his sheltered anchorage was slowly becoming the U.S naval headquarters on Lake Ontario.

As Woolsey busied himself, the United States and Britain continued their inexorable drift towards war. American passions were further inflamed in 1807 by the Chesapeake Incident. The British warship, HMS. Leopard, encountered the US.S. Chesapeake off the Virginia capes and demanded that a boarding party be allowed to search her for British deserters.43  The American captain refused and was fired upon with three broadsides. The Chesapeake, not properly outfitted
and with a new crew, surrendered. The British boarded and took off four alleged deserters, one
of whom they hanged. As a result of a national outrage, the British offered to pay reparations and return the other three. This, more than any other single incident, ignited anti-British feelings that swept across the United States.44

Tensions were also rising on another front. Many Americans, especially frontiersmen, felt it imperative to occupy British North America before settlers could be free from Indian hostility. The cry, "On to Canada,"45 spread from local taverns to the halls of Congress and from
newspapers to pulpits. The cry was directed against a perceived threat of an unholy alliance between the British and the Indians. One newspaper commented;



39 Burton Historical Collection. Ibid.
40  Burton Historical Collection. Ibid.
41  The use of the word "country" in early 19th century language correlates with the word "territory" or "region" today.
42  Burton Historical Collection. Ibid.
43 Great Britain did not recognize the right of British deserters to become naturalized  Americans. The saying was: "Once an Englishman, always an Englishman."
44  J. Fenimore Cooper, History of the Navy of the United States, Vol. II (New York: Blakeman & Mason, 1864). p.15-20.
45 Niles' Weekly Register. May 30, 1812. p.209.


It is essentially necessary that Upper Canada should be the object of attack, in order to exterminate, at one bold, determined  blow, the horde of remorseless  savages and their inhuman abettors, whose massacres and barbarous murders have lacerated the feeling heart, and aroused the vengeance of an injured country.46

Furthermore, some Americans harbored a growing fear that Canada would serve as a base for
British encroachment southward into the interior of the continent, girdling the United States to the Atlantic seaboard. The conquest of Canada could be of supreme importance "to us in distressing our enemy" by cutting off provisions and naval stores for their West India colonies
and beyond.47 Many Americans believed the only way to bring about eventual peace was through
expulsion of the British from Canada and creation of a North America free from foreign influence. As a pro-war, nationalistic  newspaper declared, war with Britain

would have a powerful effect in weaning the people of the United States from what some yet regard the mother country...It will teach our citizens a most important truth,... that they have a country; and cause them to look to themselves, instead of extending their views across the Atlantic, for sources of happiness.48

By December 1808, it seemed the United States was on the brink of hostilities with Britain. President Jefferson assumed that British military forces garrisoned at Halifax were ready to sail to the West Indies and from there threaten New Orleans if American troops invaded Canada. Both he and his cabinet calculated that the British intended to hold New Orleans as a bargaining chip for whatever territory might be lost by such an attempt. Jefferson decided to reinforce the vulnerable American defenses on the Mississippi and ordered the disreputable, 51- year-old, Major-General  James Wilkinson, commandinthe Southern Department, to assemble
his troops near New Orleans to repel any British threat.  9

Wilkinson, ostentatious and of enormous presence, had developed a reputation for intrigue with the Spanish in Mexico. As an accomplice of the equally disreputable Aaron Burr, he had lent a favorable ear to Burr's dazzling schemes to invade Mexico and create their own "republic" independent of the United States. When the cabal fizzled, he professed innocence and turned witness against his erstwhile colleague. Jefferson, perhaps against his better judgment, still entrusted this shadowy figure with high command .

Not all the officers accompanying  this mission were so disreputable. Lieutenant-Colonel Electus Backus formerly commanded the 4th New York Militia Regiment of the upper Hudson region.50 He entered regular service in 1807 and rose rapidly in rank. With his regiment, the 1st



46 Niles' Weekly Register.  Vol. II. June 27, 1812. P.288.
47 Niles' Weekly Register. Vol. II. March 1812- Sept. 1812.
48 Niles' Weekly Register. July 18, 1812. P.331.
49  James Wilkinson. Memoirs ofmy  own Times, Vol. II. Philadelphia:  Abraham Small, 1816. P. 342. Ibid, pp.340-
525. As a result of inadequate  supplies and mismanagement  approximately  300 soldiers died of disease between
Terre aux Boeuf and Natchez, for which Wilkinson was court martialled.
50  BACKUS, Electus (ca. 1768-1813). American military hero. Born in Connecticut  but at an early age moved with his family to New York state. At the age of 14-15, he served in the Revolutionary  war as a volunteer seeing action on the Hudson River against British troops near Peekskill, New York. The action was insignificant but showed his proclivities toward his country. Backus served in the New York State Militia until joining the U.S. First Light
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Light Dragoons, Lieutenant Colonel Backus arrived at New Orleans in May 1809 to partake of the military build-up in Louisiana. Wilkinson, with the 3rd, 5th and 7th Regiments of Infantry, some 1,542 men, ordered Backus to encamp at the low and swampy grounds of Terre aux Boeufs. Col. Backus made an attempt to drain the encampment but failed because of inadequate supplies, spoiled rations, and mosquito-infested  swamps.

Within a few weeks more than 1,000 men became ill, deserted or perished. Attempting to preserve the demoralized Army, Backus moved the surviving troops to higher grounds at Natchez, while Wilkinson remained safely quartered in New Orleans accompanied by one of his favorite Creole beauties. Brigadier General Wade Hampton, who personally detested Wilkinson, ordered Backus to Washington to explain what went wrong. The testimony he provided caused Wilkinson to be charged with irregularities in his accounts, namely, with having purchased
inferior goods and pocketing the difference.5 1

Backus then served as one of the prosecution's chief witnesses in the 14-month long court­ martial proceedings. With considerable skill, Wilkinson convincingly placed the blame elsewhere and was acquitted. A senior, if sinister figure, he would in time wreak more havoc on the fledgling American army.

War did not erupt in Louisiana but in the prevailing political atmosphere Great Britain's tentacles were seen lurking everywhere.  By the end of 1811, this distrust and hostility reached a fever pitch in Congress and Henry Clay, Peter B. Porter, John C. Calhoun and other War Hawks clamored for increased military preparation and insisted the time had come to strike a blow for "honor and country." Accordingly, the demoralized regular army was to be increased by 10,000 men, while the states were to provide 50,000 volunteers for federal service. 52

If needed, state militias were to be mobilized, the navy strengthened with armed merchant ships and privateers provided with "Letters of Marque."53  Yet, opinions respecting the drift
4

towards war were far from unanimous. The Federalists,5
 
particularly those from New England,

feared the nation might not survive a prolonged contest with the world's leading naval power. An article in Nile's Weekly Register of Baltimore proclaimed:




Dragoons as Major on Oct. 7, 1808. He advanced to Lieutanent-Colonel Feb. 15, 1809. He served under Gen. James Wilkinson at Camp Terre aux Boeufbelow New Orleans, whose army was decimated  by disease, death and mismanagement until it was forced to relocate to Natchez. Backus was one of the many taken ill, returning to his wife and ten chlidren at Greenville, New York (Green County) the following year to convalesce.  He was subsequently a witness in the case against Wilkinson. At the begining of the War of 1812, he assembled with the troops of his regiment at Pittsfield, Mass., and marched them to Sackett's Harbour, New York where the remainder
of this investigation takes place. Duke University, Durham, N.C.; Special Collections  Department,  William R. Perkins Library; Electus Backus Papers, Detroit, Mich; February 1, 1860.
51  Wilkinson Memoirs, Vol. II. P.340-401.
52 Niles' Weekly Register. July 11, 1812. p.318.
53 A "Letter of Marque" authorized a privately owned, armed merchant ship to seek out and capture enemy merchant vessels, a percentage of the value of the capture would go to the government, the remainder to the ship owners, officers and crew.
54  One of the two main American political parties of the period favoring a strong centralized national government and amicable relations with Great Britain. (nicknamed the "English  Party," by the press).


A Declaration of War would be in effect a license and a bounty offered by our government to the British fleet to scour our coasts -- to sweep our remaining navigation from the ocean, to annihilate our commerce,  and drive the country into a state of poverty and distress...The proposed enemy is invulnerable  to us, while we are on all sides open to assault. The conquest of Canada would be less useful to us than that of Nova Zembla,55  and could not be so easily achieved.56
Others, especially the Democrat-Republicans57, argued France would triumph over England in Europe, hence now was the time to settle scores with Great Britain. As the national debate continued, attention shifted not on whether war was to be declared but on how it was to be
waged.58

On paper, if not in reality, the conquest of Canada appeared deceptively easy. About 7,2 million people lived in the United States of 1812 compared to only 650,000 in Upper and Lower Canada combined. The United States army was authorized at 11,700 regulars of all ranks; however, only some 6,700 could be mustered. These troops were under the command of two major generals, Henry Dearborn and the aging Thomas Pinckney, but a functioning chain of
command had yet to materialize.59 Strategy-making  was an ad hoc arrangement that involved the
President, the Secretary of War, Army and Navy, as well as the senior field officers and naval commanders. Their roles were never properly defined or understood, therefore, military policy was almost totally lacking in coordination and strategy .

During the summer of 1812 the British had about 7,000 regular troops to defend Upper and
Lower Canada. Out of a global force of250,000, this was a mere fraction of their strength. Of
11,000 militia in Upper Canada only 4,000 were considered trustworthy; the rest were recent immigrants from the United States. Governor Tompkins predicted that as many as "one-half of the militia would join our standard."  According to Congressman Peter Porter from western New York, "Canada possessed  only a force of 6,000 regulars stationed at Quebec, and about 20,000 militia, not well organized, armed or disciplined." 60

With Great Britain threatened by Napoleon, a military campaign· to seize Canada seemed a mere matter of marching. But the warhawks failed to realize that the American militia would have been a useless component of an invading army because of a lack of discipline, poor equipment, and unresolved constitutional questions regarding chain of command and whether it could be even be deployed outside respective state borders. Because of the absence of national



55  A barren, uninhabited  island north of Russia near the Arctic Circle.
56 Niles' Weekly Register, Vol. II, p.207.
57  One of two major American  political parties. Favored strict interpretation  of the Constitution  to restrict the powers of the federal government, emphasized  states rights and close relations with France. (nick-named  the "French Party" by the press).
58 For an in-depth understanding of the road to war, J.C.A. Stagg's Mr. Madisons War, Politics, Diplomacy, and
Warfare in the Early American  Republic 1783-1830,  is indispensable.
59 J.C.A. Stagg, "Enlisted Men in the United States Army, 1812-1815:  A Preliminary  Survey," William and Mary Quarterly, 3rd ser. 43. October  1986. An estimated 7,000 troops were available to defend Upper and Lower Canada during the Summer of 1812, according to a general return of troops in Cruikshank's,  Niagara Frontier.
60 Niles Weekly Register, Feb. 22, 1812. p.459.

draft laws, most militiamen served under the authority of state governors. Even if this had not been the case, constitutional, financial, logistical, and tactical considerations ruled out the creation of a mass citizen-army. To be capable of defeating the tough, regular British Army in Canada, the tactics of the time called for a well-trained army and navy deployed on the frontier and ready to move. Such a force, however, was lacking in the political, economic, ideological, and social environment in the United States of 1812.

Military tensions along the northern frontier worsened. With the passage of the Embargo Act, a detachment of American troops under Lieutenant Joseph Cross, Regiment of Artillery, was posted at Sackett's Harbour in 1808. Lieutenant Cross informed British authorities at Kingston that he planned to station troops at Carleton Island. In response the British replied they intended
to retain possession of the island and sent a reinforcement to strengthen the post. Instructions were given to the garrison that if the Americans seized it, no counter-attack should be made; the settlement of any such incident should be left to negotiations between the two governments .

As relations with the United States deteriorated, a party of Royal Engineers was dispatched from Kingston to Carleton Island in the summer of 1808 to destroy a number of guns or bring them back to Kingston. Because the guns were so heavy and difficult to move, the engineers
sank them in deep water where they could not be easily recovered.61

Next, the British took steps to erect a blockhouse in Kingston. The construction program and the growth of the fleet made K.ingston a more vital area than ever before. Meanwhile, the Royal George, laid up in 1811, had her armament mounted early in 1812. In the event of war, one swift blow by an American force against Kingston, the British realized, could destroy British naval supremacy on Lake Ontario and thus jeopardize all of Upper Canada. Consequently, they took steps to prevent this from happening.
In the spring of 1812, Major General Dearborn promulgated a plan to invade Canada.62  This distinguished, but now heavy, unwieldy-looking  veteran of the Revolutionary  War proposed to


61 National Archives Canada. c.527, p.83. Mackenzie to Lt.-Col. Green. Kingston, Aug. 24, 1807.
62 DEARBORN, Henry (1751-1829). Born at Hampton, New Hampshire (February 23, 1751), the son of Simon and Sarah Dearborn; studied medicine and established a private practice (1772) and joined the state militia; as a captain, he led his company to Boston after Lexington and Concord (April1775), and served in Benedict Arnold's ill-fated expedition to Canada, but was captured at Quebec (December 31) and spent nearly a year on parole before he was exchanged and could rejoin the army (March 10, 1777); promoted major (March 19), he fought under Gen. Horatio Gates at Ticonderoga and at Saratoga (September 19), at which time he was promoted Lieutenant colonel; after Valley Forge, he distinguished  himself Monmouth (June 28, 1778); served in the Sullivan expedition against the Iroquois and their Loyalist allies in Pennsylvania and central New York (May-November 1779); as a colonel, he served at the siege of Yorktown (September 28-0ctober 17, 1781), and was discharged from the Army (June 1783); settling in the district of Maine where he was active in the Massachusetts  militia, rising to brigadier general (1787), then major general (1795); member of the House of Representatives  (1792-1797); as Secretary of War under Democrat-Republican  Thomas Jefferson (March 1801), he ordered the establishment  of a post, called Fort Dearborn, at what is now Chicago (1803); left the cabinet (March 1809) and became the collector for the port of Boston, but was recalled to active duty by President Madison as senior major general in command of the northern frontier (January 1812); this book you are now reading explains Dearborn's involvement  in the War of 1812 until he was relieved of his command in July 1813. After the War of 1812, he served as minister to Portugal (1822- 1824); retired on his return and died at Roxbury, Massachusetts  near Boston June 6, 1813. As a young officer, Dearborn was courageous and able, but his period in command ofthe northern frontier in the War of 1812 was marked by delay, miscalculation, and a lack of competence  and sound judgment.


establish headquarters near Albany, granting easy access to Lake Champlain, Sackett's Harbour and the Niagara frontier .

Once war broke out, Dearborn would conduct the main advance against the strategic city of Montreal by way of Plattsburgh on Lake Champlain. With the capture of that important city, British forces in the Great Lakes area to the west would be cut off from military supplies and reinforcements. The enemy would then have little recourse but to capitulate. Simultaneously, other armies, primarily composed of militia, were to invade Canada from Detroit in the Michigan territory and across the Niagara River from New York State into Upper Canada .

The U.S. Navy, meanwhile,  was to create a fleet to insure control of Lake Ontario. This accomplished, units could be transported across the lake to capture British Headquarters at Kingston. Once United States forces controlled Upper Canada, Dearborn felt the Indians would quickly be subdued. Dearborn had developed what appeared to be a sound plan, at least on
paper.63

Waging war is very difficult, but the difficulty is not that erudition and great talent are needed... there is no great art to devising a good plan of operations. The entire difficulty lies in this: To remain faithful in action to the principles we have laid down for ourselves. Von Clausewitz.64

If one believed the rhetoric of the Democrat-Republicans, there would be no lack of enthusiastic volunteers available for the conquest of Canada. Thirty-three-year-old New Jersey native, Lieutenant-Colonel Zebulon Montgomery Pike, was one offering to serve on an expedition to Canada.65  Pike, a career officer since 1799, and an early graduate of West Point, was an aggressive and professional  soldier who evinced concern about the training and welfare of his troops.66 He had already gained fame for his explorations  of the Mississippi and New Mexico territories. Because of this renown, he was an officer who could be envisioned as a herald to arouse the nation's spirit for the war effort. In time, his name would become symbolically associated with Sackett's Harbour.




63  Cruikshank, A Documentary History of the Campaign on the Niagara Frontier, 1908. Vol. I.
64  Karl Von Clausewitz,  1780 - 1831. Prussian general and military strategist who defined principles of war.
65  U.S. National Archives,  Washington,  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm series M221-47 Letters Recieved by the Secretary of War. #2426. Pike to Eustis, March 27, 1812.
66 PIKE, Zebulon Montgomery (1779-1813). American General and explorer. Born Lamberton, (near Trenton) New Jersey, the son of an army officer, entered his father's company of the 2nd Infantry Regiment as a cadet at age fifteen, and was commissioned a Lieutenant (November 1799); served on the frontier and was sent by Gen. James Wilkinson, governor ofthe Louisiana Territory, to affirm U.S. claims to the Mississippi River (1805); while on that expedition he reported (incorrectly) that Leech Lake, Minnesota,  was the source of the Mississippi River; he also told Indian leaders they must accept U.S. rule, and warned the British that their presence in the territory was a violation ofU.S. territorial rights; Wilkinson then sent Pike south to gain information  about the Spanish territories and locate the source of the Red River (1806); the expedition became lost and spent much time trying to climb
Grand Peak (later renamed Pike's Peak) and exploring Royal Gorge in present day Colorado; the expedition followed the Rio Grande into Spanish territory, was captured and taken to Santa Fa (1807); Pike was released and returned to St. Louis to fmd himself embroiled  in the Arron Burr and Wilkinson conspiracy to create an empire in
the southwest. Pike was cleared of all charges by Secretary of War Henry Dearborn; this book explains Pike's role in
the War of 1812.

Once war broke out, it would be folly to contend with Britain on the high seas. The United States with its Lilliputian fleet of 20 warships, only one of which, the Oneida) was on Lake Ontario, and 170 fragile and useless gunboats, was no match for Britain's 994-ship navy.67 It was
foolish to believe the U.S. could invade the British Isles, (though Jefferson had at one time considered hiring arsonists to torch British cities).68  The U.S. possessed several well-constructed frigates, all on the Atlantic seaboard that were superior to similar class British ships, but they
were no match for the numerous and powerful British ships-of-the-line.

The task assigned to the U.S. Navy on Lake Ontario was a difficult one. Here Britain's naval force consisted of five ships and schooners mounting a total of 70 guns.69  Lieutenant Woolsey dispatched from his new base at Sackett's Harbour a list of these vessels and their probable
armament to Navy Secretary Paul Hamilton.70  The largest vessel was the Royal George) with
twenty-two 18-pdr. carronades; the Earl of Moria) to carry fourteen 9-pdr. long guns; the schooners; the Duke of Gloucester,  twelve 6-pdr. long guns; the Simcoe, fourteen 6-pdrs; as well as two or three more schooners capable of eight 6-pdr.long guns each. He was under the impression that only the Royal George was equipped, officered, and at least partly manned. Furthermore, Woolsey learned that authorities in Kingston were making preparations for the defense of Upper Canada and that a number of guns had recently been shipped there .

Woolsey then created a list of American merchant vessels on the lake capable of being pressed into service in the event of war. The largest, the Charles and Ann, he hoped, would carry twelve 18-pdr. carronades. Two smaller schooners, the Fair American and Diana at Oswego, as well as, the Niagara and Ontario at Fort Niagara, and at Ogdensburgh,  the Collector,
Experiment,  and Genesee Packet would all be armed with long 6-pdrs. Besides these, there was
the schooner, Julia, of about 50 tons, that had been recently launched at Oswego. Woolsey intended to mount the long 32-pdr. originally planned for the Oneida on her.

In the autumn of 1811, Woolsey requested the owners of all American merchant vessels to bring them to Sackett's Harbour for protection. Once there, they would be laid up for the winter. Then, in case of war, the British, whom Woolsey described as zealous and alert, would be unable to press them into service.71 	·

By early winter of 1811, most of the Oneida's crew had been recruited in New York City from hardy Atlantic sailors. Sailing by gunboat to Albany, these experienced tars 72 continued their journey overland to Lake Ontario, while a detail of marine recruits accompanied them to
prevent desertion. Once on station, these leathernecks were attached to the gunbrig as a guard.



67 Niles' Weekly Register, July 4, 1812. p.299.
68 Author's conversation with Col. John Elting.
69 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG-45. Microfilm Series M148. Officer's Letters received  by Secretary
Navy below the rank of commander,  1802-1884.  Lieut. Woolsey to Hamilton,  July 23, 1811. Nr. 141.
70 A South Carolina Plantation  owner usually drunk by noon, Hamilton, an incompetent,  had little knowledge of naval affairs.  Because of his personal relationship  to the president, he held this key position until, Madison reluctantly "accepted" Hamilton's resignation in December, 1813.
71 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Letters Recieved by the Secretary of the Navy from Officers below the rank of Commander, 1802-1884. Microfilm Series M148. Roll9, Nr. 200, Woolsey to Hamilton, Oct. 18, 1811.
72 Early nickname for sailors.


They were without weapons, ammunition or uniforms. To avoid delays their clothing and equipment was shipped directly to Sackett's Harbour when it became available.73

By April20, 1812, Lake Ontario was free of ice and open for navigation. If the differences between the United States and Great Britain were not amicably settled, Woolsey was determined to have the Oneida prepared for war. Three-hundred  cannonballs for the 32-pdr. at Oswego were ordered and shot for the guns was loaded on the merchant vessels. Work began on a blockhouse at Sackett's Harbour on the bluff overlooking the lake. Woolsey hoped to complete the crew of the Oneida from local militia or at Oswego. Because smuggling activities were spiraling, customs officials urged Woolsey to watch all vessels bound for Cape Vincent for they knew that produce shipped to this small border settlement at the source of the St. Lawrence River was
eventually intended for the illegal Canadian market. By early June, the efficient Woolsey had the
Oneida and her crew prepared for any eventuality.74

It was well that Woolsey did, for on June 1, 1812, after repeated efforts to arrive at a diplomatic settlement, President James Madison sent his war message to Congress. The President had a history of demonstrating  his willingness to use force to accomplish his nation's goals
despite his reputation as "Father of the Constitution."75 In the 1790's he approved the campaigns
against the Indians in the Northwest and also supported military action against the Barbary Pirates in 1803. He fully backed Jefferson's Embargo Act of 1807. As Secretary of State, Madison guided foreign policy which led to the Louisiana Purchase, doubling the size of the United States. As commander-in-chief he now charged, "...commerce has been plundered in every sea," as British cruisers were violating the rights of American waters. Additionally, he blamed the British in Canada for instigating Indian unrest on the frontier .

Following his war message, Congress went into secret session for debate. The House of Representatives  voted for war along party lines on June 4, 79 to 49. The Senate concurred, with a closer vote, 19 to 13. This was to become in many ways, a partisan Democrat-Republican  war, with strong opposition in some sections of the country, especially Federalist New England and Northern New York.

The die cast, Britain's ambassador was summoned to the State Department and informed that a state of war existed between his country and the United States. The War Hawks had


73 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M148. Roll9. Officers Letters to the Secretary of the Navy below the rank of commander. Woolsey to Hamilton, Nov. 12, 1811.
74 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M148, Officers Letters below the rank of
Commander. Sept. 1812- June 1813. Woolsey to Hamilton, June 1812.
75 MADISON,  James. (1751-1836). Madison was brought up in Orange County, Virginia, and attended Princeton (then called the College of New Jersey). He was a student of history, government  and well-read in law. He participated in the framing of the Virginia Constitution in 1776 and served in the Continental Congress. Madison made a major contribution to the ratification of the Constitution by writing, with Alexander Hamilton and John Jay the Federalist essays. In Congress, he helped frame the Bill of Rights and enact the first revenue legislation.
Madison was elected fourth President in 1808 following Thomas Jefferson and embarked on a course that resulted in war with Great Britain. On June 18, 1812, the United States declared war in which its forces initially took a severe trouncing but over the course of hostilities, resulted in the creation of a professional  battle-hardened  army and navy. In retirement (1817) at his estate, Montpelier,  Madison spoke out against the disruptive states' rights influences that by the 1830s threatened to shatter the union. He died at Montpelier  in 1836.

successfully pushed their militarily unprepared nation into conflict with the world's leading maritime power. They then fixed their eyes northward in anticipation of fulfilling one remaining goal of the American Revolution - conquest of Canada. But, it was necessary for the United States to strike immediately and forcefully if she might conquer Upper Canada before British re­ inforcements could arrive from across the ocean. The question was, could American arms strike in time?





CHAPTER TWO Disaster in the North
On June 3, 1812, Lieutenant Woolsey, unaware of Madison's war message, sailed out of Sackett's  Harbour with the Oneida and her 88-man crew. 1  While cruising westward, Woolsey sighted three vessels he believed were headed for the Genesee River and gave chase. As darkness
fell, the wind lightened, forcing Woolsey to wait out the night under short sail.

At daybreak he discovered two schooners near the American shore that he suspected to be two of the three pursued the day before. Woolsey gave chase and captured one of them, the Lord Nelson from Prescott, Upper Canada. Woolsey was told the vessel was destined for Newark on the Niagara Peninsula in Canada. The captain had only a loose journal and a bill of lading for part of his cargo but no register, license, or clearance to comply with American customs regulations.

Woolsey was unable to learn whether the Lord Nelson was hovering along the U.S. coast to smuggle cargo ashore or to take on property for the Canadian market in violation of the Embargo Law. "But appearances were such as to warrant suspicion of intention to smuggle both ways," Woolsey claimed. 2   He ordered the Lord Nelson confiscated and sent to Sackett's  Harbour with
a new crew from the Oneida. The other schooner, however, managed to escape.

While cruising off Oswego on June 26, the search for vessels infringing on the Embargo laws continued. Woolsey learned that war had been declared and immediately set sail for Sackett's Harbour to alert General Jacob Brown and his New York Militia of the Fourth Infantry Brigade
in the northern section of Military District No.  9. This district, comprised of New York north of the Catskills and Vermont, was one of the most important because it was one of the largest and most exposed in the country. Brown's responsibilities within the district, stretched between St. Regis, south of Montreal on the St.  Lawrence River, and Oswego.

From Albany Governor Tompkins already ordered the frontier posts reinforced by detachments of militia from the adjoining counties while Woolsey intended to fill the Oneida's crew and marine complement  by asking Brown to furnish him with some of his militia. 3   The Oneida was prepared for a cruise when word arrived at the Harbour that the Provincial Marine
fleet had also been readied.

The 22-gun Royal George, the 14-gun Earl of Moira, the new schooner Prince Regent, and the schooner, Simcoe were assembled off Kingston. Woolsey had no doubt that they would dare an attack on the Oneida as rumors from Canada claimed the British had already captured or destroyed all the U. S.  merchant ships on the lake except three. Accordingly,  Woolsey ordered

1 National Archives, Washington D. C. RG 45.  Microfilm Series M148, Reel 9, Officers letters below the rank of commander. Woolsey to Hamilton. June 9, 1812.  (Reels 9-10a).
2 National Archives, Washington D. C.  Ibid.
3 National Archives, Washington D. C.,  RG45, Microfilm Series M148, roll9, Officers Letters, Woolsey to
Hamilton. Nr. 63.  June 26, 1812.
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the Julia, still at Oswego, fitted out with the 32-pdr.  as soon as possible. The captured schooner,
Lord Nelson was hurriedly equiped with six 6-pdrs.  and given a new name, the Scourge. 4

In the meantime, General Brown urged Governor Tompkins to forward arms and munitions and suggested that a force should be stationed at Cape Vincent and Ogdensburgh to keep Kingston in as great a state of alarm as possible. Brown wrote the Governor:

"However easy it may be to conquer Canada, I must assure your Excellency, that without ordnance...  we are completely at the mercy of the enemy, whenever they may deem it an object to unite their force and make a serious attack upon us; for though we have as a gallent a people
as the Lord ever created, we must not expect them to resist heavy ordnance with small arms. "5

The announcement of war was greeted with anxiety and many Americans along the frontier prepared to flee inland. Memories of the Revolution and fear of marauding Indians from Canada caused hundreds of frightened families to abandon their homes. One man confided, "Sad tidings
from the country of the St.  Lawrence; the inhabitants are panic struck and flying off in shoals. "6
Another settler forewarned: "If the Brig (Oneida) is lost, the Indians from Canada can come over at their pleasure. For fear of this, a great many of the Inhabitants on the frontier have moved themselves into the country. Every man in this village has his gun. "7

Not all Americans were "panic struck." Abner Hubbard, a Revolutionary  war veteran and innkeeper at Millen's Bay on the St.  Lawrence River, decided to take action. 8  Aided by a few neighbors and a boy, he rowed out and took possession ofFort Haldimand on Carleton Island
without firing a gun. The Fort had only been manned by three British soldiers of the lOth Royal Veteran Battalion and two women. The next day another party went out to the island to run off with provisions stored there and to torch the buildings. 9   This accomplished, Hubbard's action put an end to British occupation and caused the 1,800-acre island to be turned over to the United
States. Because of Hubbard's timely raid, the terms of the Jay Treaty were finally fulfilled.

On July 8, hoping to find the Julia ready for service, Woolsey set sail for Oswego. To his astonishment, he found that one of her owners, a Scotsman named Matthew McNair, refused to sell her to the Navy. Woolsey proposed to him that three unbiased men appraise the vessel for a generous amount and the Scotsman should then relinquish ownership. When McNair again refused, Woolsey summarily ordered the Julia seized. Woolsey's tars had her rigged and ready to sail with the long 32-pdr.  and three 6s on board within the hour. Their mission accomplished,


4 National Archives, Washington  D. C.  RG45.  Microfilm Series M148, roll9, Officers Letters.  Woolsey to
Hamilton.  Nr.  82.  July 4, 1812.
5 Franklin B.  Hough, A History of Jefferson County in the State of New York from the earliest Period to the Present
Time, (Albany, New York: Joel Munsell, 18540, p. 465.
6 Watertown Daily Times.  (Aug.  9, 1949). Letter from John Lovett to Joseph Alexander.  July 29, 1812.
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they set out for Sackett's Harbour, and left the unhappy Scotsman behind to contemplate his fate.
10

Action at Sackett's Harbour,  July 19, 1812

On the morning of July 19, 1812, Woolsey's fears of a British attack on the Oneida materialized. Earlier that morning the Provincial Marine captured a small merchant vessel bound for the Harbour from Cape Vincent and sent the American crew ashore with the demand that both the Oneida and Lord Nelson be surrendered or the Canadians would burn the village. 11
Shortly thereafter five Provincial Marine vessels, the Royal George, Earl of Moira, Prince Regent, Duke of Gloucester,  and one other schooner were discovered bound for Sackett's Harbour. 12   At about 8 a.m. the Oneida got underway in an effort to reach the open lake but was forced back as the enemy ships were formed in a line, completely cutting her off. At the
same time the wind was just right to bring the Canadians into Black River Bay.

Woolsey's tars made preparations for action. Since the Oneida could not escape, he prevented an enemy broadside by running close to shore near the mouth of the Harbour. He ordered his anchor let go, securing the brig, then transferred all starboard guns to the shore battery on the bluff. These were augmented by the long 32-pdr.  originally intended for the Oneida posted upon a mound about six feet high. Orders were given that the guns were to commence firing as soon as
the Canadians came within range. Sailing Master William Vaughn, USN, 13 described by
Woolsey as not a good seaman, but "one of the bravest and finest fellows in the world," took charge of the 32-pdr. Throughout the morning alarm guns fired, and expresses galloped out to summon the neighbouring  militia.

As the British ships closed, Vaughn fired the 32-pdr.  at the Royal George from about one and a half miles distance. The salvo was returned and continued back and forth for about two hours.  "We hulled the Royal George three or four times - and effectively broke up their intended
attack. "14  Because of confusion seen on the Royal George, Woolsey thought she had been hit.
The enemy fleet suddenly tacked and sailed off but Woolsey expected another attack. He believed they were waiting in the distance for more favorable wind, but the Provincial Marine had had enough, returning to Kingston without accomplishing anything. Woolsey reported: "Two 32-pdr.  shot thrown on shore by the Royal George we have got. "15




10 National Archives, Washington D. C.,  RG45, Microfilm Series 148, reel9-10a.  Nr.  16.  Officers Letters, Woolsey to Hamilton.  July 10, 1812.
11 Collection Sackets Harbor Battlefield State Historic Site. Simon Whitcomb to J.  Whitcomb. 28 October 1812.
12 National Archives, Washington D. C.,  RG45, Microfilm Series M148, reel9-10a,  Officers Letters. Woolsey to
Hamilton.  Nr. 100.  July 21, 1812. 	·

13 VAUGHN, William.  Born 1776 in Pennsylvania. At eighteen he travelled to Canada by way of Oswego, engaged in lake navigation and became a pilot on Lake Ontario.  When war broke out, he was appointed sailing master in the U. S.  Navy by Woolsey and served with distinction. After the war he once again became a merchant sailor, and was master of six steamboats on Lake Ontario. In 1850, he was injured, while rescuing people from floating ice.  He never recovered and died at Sackett's Harbour in 1857.
14 National Archives, Washington D. C.,  RG45, Mircofilm Series M148, Reel9-10a.   Nr.  100, Officers Letters, Woolsey to Hamilton, July 21, 1812.
15 National Archives, Washington D. C., Ibid.

This attack, however, was a signal warning. Now Woolsey concentrated on improving the defenses of his base. He requested that the New York Navy Yard hurry on thirty guns, all to be
6-pdrs. Six of these pieces were to be placed on the newly purchased merchant vessel Niagara and the remainder mounted in the new fort under construction on the bluff overlooking his anchorage. 16  Woolsey's little victory had bought the Americans valuable time at the eastern end
of Lake Ontario.

Woolsey's success was not matched elsewhere on the northern frontier. At Detroit, Brigadier-General William Hull, Governor of Michigan Territory, commanded 2,500 troops poised to invade Upper Canada at Fort Malden. Instead of advancing immediately, Hull issued proclamations to the local population that consisted heavily of recent American settlers, in hopes
of bringing them over without bloodshed. 17   However, the settlers of Upper Canada did not
swarm to the American standard, and the British forces there were active and ably led.

On July 17, a British detatchment captured Michilimarkinac  while an American relief column was attacked and defeated by Indians between Detroit and Dayton. When news of these victories rallied the tribes of the Northwest to the British side, Hull became alarmed and rapidly withdrew from Canada, leaving Fort Malden in British hands. Major-General  Sir Isaac Brock,18 the daring British commander in Upper Canada, pursued the invaders with a smaller force,
placing a shaken Hull in Detroit under siege. In a colossal act of bluff, Brock demanded that Hull capitulate or face a massacre by Indians with him. Cut off, Hull surrendered his entire
numerically superior force. 19

Word of Hull's defeat spread like wildfire discounting the American notion that Canada would be conquered by "a mere matter of marching. "20  Its impact on morale was disastrous. New York Militia Major-General Stephen Van Rensselaer and Brigadier-General  Alexander
Smyth were preparing to invade Canada across the Niagara River. General Van Rensselaer warned Tompkins: "The consequences of Hull's defeat must be felt everywhere, but they are particularly distressing upon these frontiers.  Alarm pervades the country and distrust among the troops... They are incessantly pressing for furloughs, many are without shoes, many are sick -
while we are, thus, growing daily weaker, our enemy is growing stronger. "21




16 National Archives, Washington  D. C., RG45, Officers Letters. Woolsey to Hamilton.   148/49.   lOa. Nr. 100.
17 HULL, William.  (1753-1825).  From Massachusetts  before being appointed governor of the Michigan Territory in 1805.  Served in the Revolution.   Formerly a judge and senator.  Hull was clearly incompetent as general but was partially a victim of circumstances  beyond his control.
18 BROCK, Sir Isaac.  (1769-1812). Born on the isle of Guernsey, died Oct.  13, 1812.  Entered the British Army as an ensign in the King's 8th Regiment of Foot in 1785.  Lieut. -Colonel of 49th Regiment by 1797.  Served in the West Indies, Netherlands and the Baltic.  In 1802 his regiment was ordered to Canada.  In 1810 he was sent to Fort George to command the troops in Upper Canada.  In 1811 promoted maj. -general and appointed provisional Lieut. - Governor.
19 Niles' Weekly Register.  September 5, 1812, p. 13.
20 Donald R.  Hickey, The War of 1812, A Forgotten Conflict  (Urbana and Chicago: University of Illinois Press,
1989), p. 73.
21 Major Ernest Cruikshank, Documentary  History of the Campaign on the Niagara Frontier in 1812 Part III, (Weiland: Printed at the Tribune, 1905), p. 226-227. 
 
	
Woolsey, meanwhile, was contemplating an offensive of his own. After consulting with General Brown, Woolsey sent Julia (accompanied  by one of Brown's New York Militia Rifle Companies) on a secret expedition  down the St.  Lawrence River. The mission was to free several American merchant schooners blockaded at Ogdensburgh and escort these vessels back to Sackett's Harbour to be refitted as warships. 22   Two Canadian schooners, the Earl of Moira and Duke of Gloucester, that were operating with impunity in the St Lawrence river, were also
potential targets.

On July 31, the Julia encountered the two vessels and a battery on the north shore near Elizabethtown (Brockville).  A three-and-a-half-hour cannonade ensued without loss of life or significant damage to either side. The Julia sailed on to Odgensburgh but dared not run the gauntlet back onto the lake with the merchant vessels. For the time being, the merchant ships remained at Ogdensburgh,  blockaded but safe. They lay quiescent until September 6, when Vaughn led them in a successful dash for the sanctuary at Sackett's Harbour where they proved a valuable addition to Woolsey's growing armada.

British deserters arriving at Sackett's Harbour alerted  Woolsey that the Provincial Marine was concentrating at Kingston for another attack. Although the fort and the small blockhouse near the shore was nearly completed and prepared to receive thirty-six pieces of heavy ordnance, he wanted more protection. He appealed to the Navy Secretary, "It is much to be lamented that we have not sufficient means of defense. "23  Woolsey stressed that with the few guns on hand
and the Oneida, "we are obliged to defend ourselves against an intrepid and brave enemy of at least four times in force. "24

In response to Woolsey's repeated requests, the first regulars, a company of riflemen under aggressive and impetuous North Carolinian Captain Benjamin Forsyth, arrived at the Harbour in late July. Forsyth was an ideal partisan fighter and well-suited for action on the Northern Frontier and it was not long before they were ordered into action. On the night of September 20, an enterprising General Brown, short of ammunition, and unhappy that the war was not being pursued with "more vigor and energy," dispatched Forsyth on his first foray into enemy territory.
25   The mission was to seize a large quantity of ammunition known to be stored at Ganonoque, a
small British post twenty miles below Kingston on the St.  Lawrence. One of Brown's exceptional Jefferson County militia officers, Captain Samuel McNitt and some of his militia accompanied Forsyth on the raid.

Shortly after daylight Forsyth and McNitt landed ninty-five troops about two miles from their destination. Almost immediately  they encountered two horsemen, one of whom they shot dead, while the other fled toward the village to warn the garrison. Consequently, as Forsyth's men
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approached the settlement they discovered some 110 Canadian militia formed and prepared to receive them. The Canadians unleashed a heavy volley of fire as Forsyth marched his troops to within 100 yards of the opposition's  line levelled their pieces, where on command they fired a storm of aimed shots and charged. The Canadians, losing some ten to fifteen men, broke and fled. The Americans quickly rounded-up twelve prisoners as well as 3,000 ball cartridges and forty-one muskets. Forsyth further ordered 150 barrels of provisions that they were unable to
remove, burned. 26   Some of the riflemen fired into a civilian's house wounding a woman inside.
Hoping to find something valuable they broke in and ransacked the place. They carried off some bedding and other items toward the shore but were stopped by officers before reaching the boats. After burning a small store and raising a little more hell, they embarked for the American shore.

Once word of the attack reached Kingston, a detachment of British troops and militia was dispatched to intercept the invaders, but Forsyth had disappeared across the St.  Lawrence River. The British crossed in pursuit to the New York side of the river, landing at a place called Briton's Point. Normally the Americans kept a strong guard here, but upon the approach of the enemy
they retreated into the woods. The British found a large blockhouse under construction which
they burned. Nearby they discovered a large durham boat and several smaller ones and these were also destroyed. Unable to locate Forsyth's riflemen, the pursuers returned to the Canadian shore with nothing else to show for their efforts. 27

The following day, on September 22, 1812, Militia Brigadier-General  Richard Dodge arrived at Sackett's Harbour with a detachment of troops from the Mohawk Valley country. As regional
ranking officer, Dodge ordered Brown with the militia under his command, to Ogdensburgh.	This was the first word a surprised Brown had received regarding his replacement at Sackett's
Harbour. 28   He had previously written Governor Tompkins requesting not to be sent to Odgensburgh if superior officers arrived at the Harbour. Nevertheless, he marched to Ogdensburgh with 500 Jefferson County militia and took charge of that post.

Some time before, the energetic Jacob Brown had requested an appointment in the regular army but had not received a positive answer. As Brown's tenure in militia service was about to expire, Governor Tompkins had no objection to his transfer into the regular army and assured Brown he would speak with Dearborn about the matter. Meanwhile, Brown, who had already seen extensive service on the frontier, would have to wait for his commission.

On October 2, in retaliation for the attack on Ganonoque, the British cannonaded Ogdensburgh from Prescott for three hours. Two days later, with 40 boats loaded with ten to fifteen men each and six pieces of artillery, the British followed-up with an attempt to storm the town. Brown waited until the assault was within a short distance of the American shore, then commenced a destructive fire. Two of the British boats were badly damaged and the others so
scattered that the attack was aborted. 29   Brown, with his Jefferson County militia, initiated his
military career with a successful defense of Ogdensburgh. This news encouraged the sagging
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hopes of the government which reeled from the shock of Hull's surrender. It was a small glimmer of hope in a season of despair.

Madison, determined to regain the lost Michigan territory, now ordered Brigadier-General William Henry Harrison/ 0 with a newly raised northwestern army, to drive the British from Detroit. An uneasy General Van Rensselaer at Buffalo, however, informed Dearborn that Hull's surrender enabled the enemy to act either defensively or offensively against him on the Niagara Frontier. Shortly thereafter Brock arrived with his army from Detroit to reinforce the garrison at Fort George. Brock expected an American attack any time. He insisted that if the British Army could hold its position just six weeks longer, with winter coming on, the American invasion would have to be terminated "in a manner little expected in the United States. "31  The Madison
administration would have to act decisively and immediately if strategic initiative was to be reestablished.

Unknown to Woolsey, help was on the way. On September 3 the government finally acted with respect to Lake Ontario. Captain Isaac Chauncey, USN,32 commander of the New York Navy Yard, received orders from the Navy Department to assume command on Lakes Ontario and Erie: "The season has arrived when your country requires your active services. 33   The President of the United States has determined to obtain command of the Lakes Ontario and Erie with the least possible delay, and the execution of this highly important object is committed to you. "34  Chauncey was told he could enjoy considerable latitude. This allowed him to purchase, build and equip any such vessels viewed necessary and to have forwarded all requisite officers, marines, seamen, provisions, cannon, small arms of every description, slops, warm clothing,
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watch-coats, surgical instruments, medicine, hospital stores, cordage, and canvas as required. Finally, he was directed to cooperate with the American army on the frontier. 35

Isaac Chauncey, from the sea-faring state of Connecticut, was the master of a vessel at nineteen and had made several voyages to the East Indies in ships belonging to John Jacob Astor. Chauncey, in Naval service since 1798, had demonstrated ability and resourcefulness.  During the Tripolitan Wars, while on a cruise toward Tripoli, fire broke out on board the frigate New York. The ship's powder magazine was loaded with 15,000 pounds of gunpowder. The crew fled in terror in every direction. A steady Chauncey assembled the most frightened men and reminded them that if they did nothing, the gunpowder would explode and they were all dead men. Therefore, they might just as well try to do something to save themselves and "be blown through three decks as well as one. " Encouraged by this logic the men followed Chauncey below decks where they successfully extinguished the fire by throwing wet blankets on the flames. Nineteen
men were terribly burned and fourteen more died, but the New York was saved. 36

Chauncey possessed impressive organizational skills which he honed during lengthy supervision of the New York navy yard. 37  Chauncey's uncanny ability to organize, even at great distances, would result in the nation's largest wartime fleet. It appeared Mr.  Madison had selected the right man to supervise activities on the crucial Lake Ontario front. Upon receipt of
his orders, which brought him the temforary rank of  commodore.  Chauncey immediately began preparations for his new assignment. 3     He ordered forty-six ship carpenters to leave New York and in the following weeks hundreds more were dispatched. 39

Chauncey directed Woolsey to provide him with intelligence regarding the enemy's naval strength as well as information pertaining to merchant craft that could be purchased by the Navy and converted into warships. Additionally, Woolsey was ordered to procure the necessary timber to build a vessel of 300 tons and a number of gunboats. Finally, Chauncey instructed Woolsey that secrecy was the order of the day.  "You will on no account make a second person acquainted
with the subject of this letter or the objectives of the government. "40

On September 7, 1812, Woolsey received Chauncey's instructions to accelerate the build-up at Sackett's Harbour with more vigor. 41   When the express arrived, Woolsey was preparing to pursue the British squadron up the lake in hopes of singling out one of the enemy vessels. Woolsey, acting upon these new instructions, now considered it imperative to protect the Oneida
at all costs. He brought her into Sackett's Harbour and had every available gun mounted in the
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newly constructed fort. Woolsey dispatched by the same express a return of the British naval strength back to Chauncey in New York. The rider that had departed New York on a Friday for Sackett's Harbour, delivered Chauncey's messages, picked up Woolsey's dispatches and arrived back in New York at 12 o'clock on the following Thursday. He had travelled a distance of 720 miles over some of the worst roads imaginable in six days. Chauncey was appreciably
impressed.42

Chauncey's next step was to dispatch Lieutenant Jesse D.  Elliot, USN, to Lake Erie to start construction of vessels necessary to secure command of that lake. He informed Elliot that he would meet with him as soon as possible and provide him with a plan that would lead to the conquest of Upper Canada. First, however, the commodore intended to meet with Governor Tompkins in Albany and together they would push on to Sackett's Harbour.

Eighty-five ship carpenters headed by Henry Eckford had already left the New York Navy Yard. The following week an additional 600 men and a detachment of marines were dispatched. Meanwhile, rigging, anchors, cables, blocks, sail, additional cannon, boarding pikes, medicine
chests, instruments, etc., were assembled and sent. 43   After a journey through what the
commodore described as "the worst roads I ever saw, particularly near this place," Chauncey and Tompkins reached Sackett's Harbour  on October 6, 1812. 44   The Governor remarked that "a heavy fall of rain made the weather and roads uncomfortable and retarded our journey. The climate here, at present is a winter one, Some flakes of snow fell whilst we were on the journey."45

After touring the garrison, Tompkins expressed concern about the health and security of his militia. The only area suitable for encampment was the bluff and neck of land forming the harbor called Navy Point. Tompkins pointed out that the bluff was high and unprotected from westerly winds blowing directly from the lake.  "The troops will not be able to endure in tents for a fortnight, such weather as we now have." To prevent illness from breaking out, he issued orders
to build huts as soon as possible.46

In spite of the raw autumn weather, enthusiasm and relief abounded among the troops. On the opposite side of the harbor, high on the bluff overlooking Black River Bay another significant fort was under construction.  This earthwork was to defend the harbor entrance of the
frontier town as well as the new Navy Yard. Revolutionary War veterans remembering their own sacrifices thirty-five years earlier, offered their services without pay for any duty they could perform.47  As they were frontier countrymen handy with an ax, they set out building huts from



42 National Archives, Washington, D. C. , RG45, Microfilm Series M125.  Reel25.   Abstract Nr.  79.
43 National Archives, Washington, D. C. , RG45, Microfilm Series M125.  Abstract Nr.  79.  Captain's Letters: Chauncey to Hamilton.

44 Public Papers ofDaniel D.  Tompkins, Governor ofNew York, 1807-1808.  Published by the State ofNew York. (Albany: J. B.  Lyon & Co.,  1902), voll.  II), p. 156-159.
45 Public Papers of Daniel D.  Tompkins, Governor ofNew York, 1807-1808.  Published by the State ofNew York. (Albany: J. B.  Lyon & Co.,  1902), voll.  II), p. 156-159.
46 Public Papers ofDaniel D.  Tompkins, Governor ofNew York, 1807-1808.  Ibid.
47 National Archives, Washington D. C.,  RG94, M903, Descriptive Commentaties from the Medical Histories of
Posts. Department ofthe  Lakes, Report of Surgeon E. P.  Vollum, United States Army.

white pine, basswood and other materials found in the adjoining primeval forests. They also shoveled up mounds of earth where guns could be placed. Upon completion of their toil, this new work was appropriately dubbed "Fort Volunteer."48

When the young troops from a new generation of fighting men assembled at Sackett's Harbour, they were greeted by log huts to shield them from the harsh northern winter. Furthermore, once positioned in the fort, Chauncey's guns would protect the warships moored nearby from any contemplated coup de main. An interlocking plan of defense had begun to materialize around the frontier naval base.

The Governor was convinced that a strike against Kingston as soon as possible would be necessary. "Upon the whole, the sole important object to be attained by the militia stationed at this place, is to co-operate [with] any naval expedition which may be attempted against Kingston."49  In preparing for that course of action, Chauncey directed Woolsey to Oswego to purchase three more merchant schooners. Once there Woolsey's sailors took on board naval
stores brought from New York City and transported them on to Sackett's Harbour. Meanwhile Chauncey discreetly seized the opportunity to name his new battery, "Fort Tompkins" in honor of his traveling companion.

At first inspection, Chauncey found Woolsey's Oneida in good order and prepared for service. He believed that if the guns from New York arrived soon, the vessels at Sackett's Harbour and Oswego could be fitted out by the beginning of November and he would seek out the Canadians in their own waters. As time went on, the reality of long distances and miserable roads set in. Chauncey became concerned his heavy guns would not arrive in time to support sustained operations that fall even though Eckford had a 22-gun corvette on the stocks that he hoped to launch in about a week.

Since there were no large merchant vessels on Lake Erie that the Navy could procure, Chauncey ordered materials for two twenty-gun brigs to be prepared by Eckford and his workmen during the winter. These vessels were to be ready for service by the following spring. Because of Chauncey's efforts, Sackett's  Harbour and the St. Lawrence frontier appeared secure for the time being and a pleased Governor Tompkins communicated to General Van Rensselaer on the Niagara frontier that the federal government had finally awakened to its responsibility towards command of the lakes. Greatly encouraged, Tompkins wrote: "The most unbounded authority has been given to Captain Chauncey and he will be with you soon."  He continued, "Should you be able to maintain your position a short time [longer], these arrangements and
reinforcements will place you in a situation of defiance."50  Nevertheless, logistical concerns
were a worry.

Back at Buffalo, an uneasy Van Rensselaer complained to Dearborn that Sackett's Harbour was not a point from which the invasion of Canada could be mounted. Furthermore, he believed
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the village commanded a disproportionate amount of scarce resources to guard it. "I know of no consideration which ought to claim more than a regiment of troops at that post."51

Dearborn responded by saying that every effort had been made to send ammunition, medicine, arms, etc.  to the Niagara Frontier, and explained to his subordinate that the enemy might attempt to seize the naval armaments being concentrated at Sackett's Harbour. This, he felt, justified the sizable garrison. Dearborn stressed to Van Rensselaer that the 7,000 troops at
Niagara were sufficient for his contemplated actions. Dearborn felt that it would be best to strike at I(ingston from Sackett's Harbour and thereby divert British attention away from Niagara. He reasoned that if Chauncey obtained the command on Lake Ontario, Kingston could be taken, cutting off all supplies and reinforcements to Upper Canada. In that case, everything above Kingston would fall to American arms whether or not Harrison's Army succeeded in
reconquering the Michigan territory.52

Lieutenant-General Sir George Prevost, Governor-in-Chief of British North America and Commander of British forces watched these developments with mounting interest.53   He hoped that the U. S.  would consider the possibility of negotiating an end to the war as Britain would no longer enforce the "Order in Council," one of the principal reasons for the war. The forty-five­ year- old Prevost was considered knowledgeable in American affairs. Born in New Jersey, he
was the son of an army officer and as a young man, joined his father's regiment, the 60th Foot, also known as the "Royal  Americans." During the opening years of the French Revolutionary Wars he again served in the West Indies and became Lieutenant-Governor of St.  Lucia in 1798. By 1811 he was appointed  governor-in-chief  and commander of British forces in North America. Prevost, who had long feared an American invasion of Canada, offered Dearborn an opportunity to cease hostilities on the frontier until the President's decision on the British offer of an armistice· could be weighed.
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Madison however, rejected Prevost's proposal and told Dearborn to "proceed with the utmost vigor in your operations..."54   The President did not want to lose the possibility of gaining possession of British posts on the Niagara frontier and Kingston. He believed the military should relentlessly pursue strategic superiority on the lakes as other concerns were ancillary.

General Brock was determined to stop American momentum. He was convinced that Van Rensselaer's army was so wretched in organization and discipline that a British offensive might well be desirable. His superior, the ever-cautious Prevost, believed that no notable advantage could be gained from infuriating the Americans as long as Britain remained transfixed with Napoleon in Europe. Military retribution might even serve to turn growing anti-war sentiment, especially in New England, into a more aggressive stance against the British in Canada. Prevost, thereupon, recommended a policy which would "promote the dwindling away of such a force
[the American Army] by its own ineffective means."55

Although the British Army in Canada stretched from Halifax to Lake Superior, the command and logistical problems of Prevost and Brock were not as complex as those of the Americans. Land transportation on the northern shores of the Great Lakes was difficult and expensive but nevertheless, much better developed than the outright primitive roadways that existed on the newly-settled American southern shores of the Great Lakes. Furthermore, British units serving in Canada were more efficient and better equipped.

The Canadian militia, however, was no more competent than its American counterpart. The best qualified of these men were often recruited into provincial regular regiments and the long­ service, quasi-regular units, which were under regular British Army discipline. Furthermore, these units could serve anywhere in British North America, whereas the militia would only serve locally and for short periods of time. Prevost knew that the province of Lower Canada could provide troops stationed there with food and cattle to sustain them, and deficiencies could be compensated for by contracting with American farmers from northern New York and Vermont willing to smuggle their goods across the border. Coupled with this, Lower Canada could by extraordinary exertions supply Upper Canada with supplies needed as long as Britain was able to control the supply routes through the Great Lakes and remain on the defensive.

The inexperinced American army, on the other hand, would have to be supplied from a fledging industrial base located hundreds of miles away from the theater of operations. War material would have to be transported over the poorest of roads often made impassable by winter snow and cold as well as spring rains and mud. With this in mind, Prevost reasoned that a
I
successful American invasion was wholly impractical given Hull's  debacle at Detroit. He 	 I· therefore ordered Brock not to go on the offensive but to maintain a defensive posture and to 	i await developments.

Finally, on October 13, 1812, the long-awaited Niagara invasion began. Van Rensselaer's
Army of nearly 1,000 regulars, crossed the Niagara River to Queenston, Upper Canada. The
2,270-man militia, invoking their constitutional rights at the last minute, refused to leave the
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territorial limits of the United States.56    The regulars, deprived of their support, were soon overwhelmed by 600 British regulars, supported by 400 Canadian militia, and a number of Indians. The toll exacted from the Americans was heavy. As many as 500 were reported killed but the exact number will probably never be known. The British losses were far less but they included Major-General  Brock.

Upper Canada, however, was safe for the time being. After the fiasco on the Niagara frontier, Van Rensselaer resigned his commission and withdrew into retirement. Americans were once again stunned as word of another disaster swept the country. General Van Rensselaer wrote William Eustis, Secretary of War: "I can only add that the victory was really won, but lost for the want of a small reinforcement;  one-third part of the idle men might have saved all."57   General Smyth wrote Dearborn: "Place no confidence in the detached Militia, they have disgraced the
Nation. Give me a clear stage, men, and money and I will retrieve your affairs or perish." 58
Dearborn ordered Smyth to assume command. He strongly advised the General to communicate with Harrison who was marching, Dearborn hoped, to retake Detroit. This, Dearborn assumed, would reverse the disasters of the past three months while he himself prepared to carry out an attack on Montreal by way of Lake Champlain.
Dearborn, ill-tempered,  in declining health and nick-named "Granny,"59 mustered 3,000 regulars and some 2,000 militia for the advance north from Plattsburgh. Lt. Colonel Zebulon Pike, now on the Northern frontier, and about 600 of his men advanced along the LaColle River. Mistakenly, believing it to be British, his troops opened fire on an approaching militia unit while at almost the same time, an enemy force advanced from another direction. Pike's troops turned
and fired at the oncoming column and quickly withdrew, leaving their dead and wounded behind.
The New York Militia, upon which the army depended, again refused to cross into Canada, invoking its constitutional  rights.60   Shortly thereafter, without explanation, Dearborn ordered his troops to return to Plattsburgh and into winter quarters.

Dearborn's three-pronged  invasion of Canada collapsed in ruins. From an American perspective the war had gone from bad to worse. Montreal was left untouched and Upper Canada was still in British hands. On the oceans, American privateers were marauding British shipping but these encounters were only irritating, not fatal. Few in the United States had expected such a turn of events, for most believed 500 Kentucky Militia could take all of Canada and that victory was a mere matter of marching north. The invasion of Canada had fallen terribly short of American expectations  because of faulty planning and incompetent execution by a nation wholly unprepared for warfare. These unsavory tidings, however inauspicious,  were simply a harbinger of things to come. Worse was yet to follow.
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By the beginning of November, the industrious Chauncey had purchased nine merchant schooners, varying from fifty to 100 tons. Five of these were at Sackett's Harbour while four lay at Oswego. Because of wretched roads leading north from Utica through the Black River country, Chauncey ordered his guns and stores transported by the Oneida waterway to Oswego. There they were loaded on ships and brought on to the Harbour. Chauncey believed he would have his squadron ready to sail by November 15, in which case "I shall most certainly seek the
enemy." Since the coast of Lake Ontario freezes over, he was apprehensive the British would lay
up their ships for winter before he could engage them in decisive battle. If the British did lay up their ships, he planned to make an attack upon the forts and ships at Kingston by marching over the ice that winter.

Chauncey urged Dearborn to increase the regular army at Sackett's Harbour for the protection of Eckford's shipbuilding efforts. Echoing Van Rensselaer and Smyth's words he wrote, "I have no confidence in the Militia at this place (Sackett's Harbour) or Ogdensburgh."61   Chauncey then
asked Dearborn to direct the army to cooperate in conducting offensive operations with him. He believed the American army could land at Kingston, covered by his naval force, and "we should take or destroy all their naval force, forts, and public stores. [Then] if I am successful at Kingston, I shall proceed down the St.  Lawrence River and attack Prescott."62   Chauncey laid
out a plan that he believed had a good chance of success. Now he needed to implement it.

The commodore appeared to be ahead of his schedule, for on November 8, he made his first appearance on the lake in force.  With the Oneida  flying his broad pennant, in concert with the Conquest} Hamilton} Governor Tompkins} Pert} Julia} and Growler} he sought to intercept the Canadian vessels running supplies to the British army at Kingston.63   The fleet discovered and ursued the Royal George} but, as night fell, she ran into the Bay of Quente and the Americans
lost sight of her. When morning came, she was seen lying in Kingston Channel. Over the course of the day, the U. S.  fleet pursued the Royal George  into Kingston harbor. There, a hot engagement took place for 1 hour and 45 minutes, with the Royal George  supported by land batteries.

Hard winds compelled Chauncey to withdraw by nightfall. He ordered the fleet to anchor with a view toward renewing the attack at daybreak. The pilots considered the situation unsafe, therefore, Chauncey weighed anchor and pushed farther out into the lake. He believed the Royal George was so heavily damaged that she was forced to sail close to shore to prevent her from sinking. Another vessel, the Simcoe, was so shattered that she sank in shallow water before reaching the wharf. Chauncey had captured three vessels with their crews - one was burned and the other two were brought into Sackett's Harbour and added to the burgeoning U. S.  force.

The British, meanwhile, drew a sigh of relief. Colonel John Vincent, in command at Kingston, notified Prevost that the Americans had exchanged shots with his batteries and the Royal George until nightfall.
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It is to be lamented that the guns we have here are only 9-pounders, the enemy kept too great a distance, still a few shot struck them, the whole of their fire was directed at the Royal George, she suffered but little- one man killed, a 32-pdr.  shot lodged in her bottom and her rigging much cut. I suspect this fleet will return to Sackett's Harbour without having anything to boast of  64

On his return to the Harbour, an exuberant Chauncey crowed to Dearborn that he now had the command of Lake Ontario and was ready to cooperate with the army at any point to attack the enemy.65    Captain James Brock of the 49th Regiment, a nephew of the late General Brock, was one of the British officers taken prisoner and brought to Sackett's Harbour. Brock was given
a grand tour of the navy yard by a boastful Chauncey himself and witnessed first hand the
American build-up.66

The commodore was delighted to learn that his build-up would be properly protected. His request for additional regular troops was granted and Dearborn informed him that the intelligent and energetic Colonel Alexander "Abe" Macomb,67  with his newly raised 3rd Regiment of Artillery would soon be on the march.

Macomb prepared to leave the staging area of Greenbush on the east bank of the Hudson River across from Albany with his first independent command. At Greenbush Cantonment as many as 5,000 soldiers could be accommodated  in the extensive wooden barracks and officers quarters. Men new to harsh military life as well as regular and militia units were trained and equipped there, for this was the principal staging area for the northern frontier. From Greenbush, supplies, uniforms, weapons, artillery, and troops were gathered and forwarded northward to
Plattsburgh, and westward to Niagara and Sackett's Harbour. 68

Chauncey feared Macomb's regiment, moving north on terrible roads, would not arrive in a timely fashion. To make matters worse, a severe snow storm underscored the fact that winter was
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on the verge of setting in. On November 21, earlier than expected, the Colonel and his 400 troops arrived after a gruelling thirteen-day  journey. Written in Macomb's orderly book the last day of the journey was thus described: "This morning started earlier- & [we] proceeded on the march through a lone and dreary road & after tracking ten miles arrived at Sackett's Harbour, a miserable, cold place on the shore of Lake Ontario."69

The commodore observed that Macomb's Artillery had marched with

uncommon expedition through roads which to an officer of less zeal would have appeared impassable.  The consequence,  however, is that his men are worn down with fatigue. They necessarily require a few days to recruit.70

Although running ahead of schedule, Chauncey regretted not having been at Sackett's Harbour just one month earlier. He felt he could have taken every town on the lake, but now the weather was becoming so blustery it was apparent little could be accomplished that winter. Once, upon receiving information that British ships were desperately trying to supply posts westward, Chauncey ventured out to intercept them. He encountered a blizzard instead. Three different
times during the night his ships were nearly wrecked upon the rocks of the Gallop Islands. It was blowing such gale force that the schooners found it almost impossible to maintain their course. Ice formed so fast on the rigging and on the slides of the carronades that they would have been useless in a fight. Chauncey thought it best to seek the safety of port and gave the signal for the
squadron to return to the Harbour, where, miraculously, it arrived intact on the same evening. 71

The harsh northern winter was now upon them and cold had settled deep into the earth. By November 22, the harbor and upper parts of the bay were frozen over and it had snowed continuously for the last three or four days. William Vaughn and other experienced lake pilots voiced concern to Chauncey that it was extremely risky to navigate the lake at this advanced season. They warned that the storms on Lake Ontario were much more dangerous than those on the Atlantic coast.72   Nevertheless  two more attempts were made to sail to Fort Niagara and deliver guns and other military stores. Both failed. Fierce winds and heavy seas drove the ships back to the safety of the Harbour. Moreover, intelligence came in that the British had collected
3,000 men at K.ingston, 1,000 of whom were reported to be regulars of the 49th and Glengarry
Regiments.

Chauncey also suspected that 1,000 militia and nine to twelve pieces of ordnance were located at Prescott. At the urging of General Brown, Chauncey pondered the idea of attacking that place and bringing off the enemy's guns. In the end he concluded that the risk of getting his
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fleet frozen in the St.  Lawrence River was just too great.73   He chose instead to remain secure at
Sackett's Harbour.

	Because the log barracks at the Harbour were occupied by other militia units, Macomb's
   
troops were housed in tents. The Colonel was eager to get them hutted for the winter and work
began on additional quarters just west ofFort Tompkins along the margin of Black River Bay toward Horse Island. Large enough to hold a regiment, two long rows of barracks, known as the Basswood Cantonment, were built of logs and weatherboarded officers quarters were assembled nearby. A barrack with brick fireplaces was built for the marines, while a stockade enclosing the blockhouse was thrown around Fort Tompkins and its powder magazine. Nor was the Navy idle. Eckford constructed barracks, blacksmith shops and mess halls for his shipwrights, but there was
            	still much left to do to guard against a surprise attack that might come at any time. On November
26, Eckford's next creation on Lake Ontario was launched amidst cheering hundreds.

The Madison was a beautiful corvette with a 112-foot keel, 32- foot 6-inch beam, 11-foot 6- inch depth of hold, displacing 580 tons and able to mount 24 32-pdr.  carronades. She had been constructed in the unbelievably  short space of 45 days; nine weeks earlier her timber had been growing in the forest. Chauncey predictably beamed to the Navy Department that when "fitted
and manned she will not disgrace her NAME OR FLAG."74

In spite of the arrival of Macomb's troops, Chauncey grew apprehensive about the exposed condition of his naval force. He warned Washington that "in view of the immense importance of the command on the Lake there can be but little doubt that the enemy will make a desperate effort to regain the ascendancy he has lost." He argued that a further increase in the size of the regular garrison was necessary to protect the place and reasoned that any troops brought there could be transported by his ships to any point needed much easier than if marched. "Moreover," Chauncey rationalized,  "The preservation of our vessels, consequently of our ascendence upon
the Lakes (without which we cannot conquer Canada) is of the very first importance."75

Chauncey also urged the Secretary to send an experienced officer to command and outfit the newly launched Madison as soon as possible. The department responded by ordering New York City native, Master Commandant  James T.  Leonard, USN, to the northern station. Interestingly enough, Chauncey had endured a squabble with Leonard earlier that summer when a squadron of gunboats, one of which flew a broad pennant, entered New York Harbor. Chauncey sent a dispatch boat to inform the intruder on his station that he and only he was authorized to fly such
a flag.76   Leonard retorted that he had his own separate command and was operating under the
orders of the Secretary of the Navy and continued on his way. This was the first, but not the last time, Leonard thumbed his nose at Isaac Chauncey.
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Leonard may have believed his career was sufficiently distinguished to flaunt authority. In
1799 Leonard entered the navy as midshipman. He had served on the Constellation under Thomas Truxton in the bloody combat with the La Vengeance during the Quasi-war with France. After duty with the Mediterranean  squadron during the Tripolitan Wars, he spent six years
service on the New Orleans gunboat station. In 1807 Leonard fought a pistol duel with Lieutenant Jacob Jones, USN at only nine feet distance.77    He was seriously wounded but recovered.78   At the time war was declared, Leonard found himself with the gunboat service along the East Coast. Now, the Navy assigned this controversial officer to Sackett's Harbour as Chauncey's second in command.79

By the end of November, the weather had become so blustery that Chauncey suspended all further operations on the lake. He decided to lay up his fleet for the winter and moored it in such a way as to afford mutual protection. If the British were to collect 2,000 or 3,000 men at Kingston, Chauncey calculated that they could easily march to Sackett's Harbour in twelve hours over the ice.

Such a force could then easily take possession of the American guns and turn them upon the vessels and destroy them. Chauncey prophesied, "Viewing the immense importance that the command of this Lake is to defeat [the enemy in] Upper Canada, no one can doubt but that he will use every exertion and make any sacrifice to regain the ascendancy he had lost."80
Chauncey's anxiety over the safety of his growing fleet compelled him to urge Dearborn to order
1,000 additional regulars to Sackett's Harbour. "Militia will not do," he wrote "The force which is now here consists of about 500 regulars and 1,000 militia; not more than one of the latter are fit for duty."81

With winter deepening, Macomb's troops were busy constructing  artillery sheds and enlarging Fort Volunteer. The Navy was rebuilding and strengthening  the blockhouse at Fort Tompkins to guard against a surprise attack. The only other troops relatively close-by were 600 militia under Brown and Forsyth's company of riflemen, all at Ogdensburgh. Being in such an exposed forward position, Brown and Forsyth had been instructed by Dearborn not to make incursions into Canada and risk retaliation. Chauncey felt the riflemen would be a welcome
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addition at Sackett's Harbour for the purpose of manning the blockhouse and requested their return. He shared no such sentiment, however, for Brown's  militia. 82

Chauncey was also concerned about the lack of a command structure that would facilitate cooperation between the army and the navy, but no office existed to coordinate them. This war was the first full-scale conflict waged under the Constitution, and because no formal strategy­ making institutions existed beyond the President as Commander-in-chief,  Chauncey sent a communique to Washington  to find answers.

From the nature of my command it will be frequently essential and necessary for me to act on shore with the Army - a  large body of men under my immediate orders. Although, I have an order from the Department to consider my rank as that of a brigadier general, yet, some of the
	officers in the Army may be disposed to dispute the legality of such an order and refuse to recognize me as an officer, and as the field of battle is not the proper place to settle that point I
should wish, Sir, that some order may be taken upon the subject. My idea is that the President may give some brevet rank that the officers of the Army would recognize while I am acting on shore. I am authorized  to state that Colonel Macomb coincides with me in opinion as respects the relative rank of officers in the two services, and that he has no objections to serve under me, whenever the publick service may require me to act on shore. 83

At l(ingston, meanwhile, officers of His Majesty's  regular forces held similar, less than flattering views toward the non-professionals.  On December 3, British Captain Andrew Gray, acting Deputy Quartermaster-General, sent a sobering report to Prevost. Gray declared that the unfavorable description he had received concerning the fitness of the Provincial Marine was true. "The officers of the Marine seem to be destitute of all energy and spirit and are sunk into contempt in the eyes of all who know them." He reported that only 17 men on board the Royal George were capable of doing their duty, and the Earl of Moira, had only ten able seamen. "Because of the efforts of the enemy," he stressed that, "nothing could save the Navy from
destruction the moment navigation opens in the spring."84

Because Gray had a maritime background and supervised dockyard activities at Kingston, he was the closest thing the British army had to an amphibious warfare .expert on Lake Ontario. Furthermore, he served on the staff at Kingston and consulted at the highest levels of military affairs in Canada. Presently, Gray believed the American and British forces were about equal,
but as soon as the Madison was fitted out at Sackett's Harbour, he predicted, "we shall be completely at their mercy."85

Gray's thinking was corroborated  by the recently released Captain Brock. Brock, captured in the attack on Kingston, had been permitted to return home upon his parole. But he brought back valuable information concerning American preparations at Sackett's Harbour. "Brock," Gray exclaimed,
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confirms the reports of the exertions the enemy are making at that place. As soon as the Madison was launched another ship was to be laid down on the same slip, to be launched in the spring. This came from a very communicative and full of confidence Chauncey himself.

Gray summarized that little solace could be found in the state ofl(ingston's defenses. Only six or eight small ship guns were mounted on the batteries even though there was a blockhouse
on the high ground. The post was capable of making only a feeble resistance against the numbers the Americans had the power to eventually bring against them. He felt, conversely, that Sackett's Harbour could itself be attacked "if we were in sufficient force."86   This was the first manifestation of a recurring theme.

Gray was under the impression that there were only two gun batteries defending Sackett's Harbour and that it was devoid of blockhouses or enclosed works. "The force protecting Sackett's Harbour," he stated, "consists  of about 1,000 Militia in a wretched state of equipment, much discontented and very sickly, one company of Artillery (regulars) and about 200 ship
carpenters and seamen." Gray suggested that one good regiment provided with snow shoes, three or four pieces of artillery on sleighs would be sufficient to carry the place and destroy the ships. The distance from Kingston to Sackett's Harbour, by way of Gravelly Point (Cape Vincent on
the St.  Lawrence River) was about 45 miles, 31 miles mostly through woods, with scattered settlements and partial clearings.87 It seemed an inviting prospect.

Steps were taken at Sackett's Harbour to prevent any such moves against the growing post. On December 4, 1812, Chauncey issued general orders that no officer or man on any pretext whatsoever, was to sleep out of the vessel to which he belonged without permission first obtained from him in writing. He ordered that: "Every vessel is to be kept in a state of perfect preparation night and day to repel any attack that may be made by the enemy."88   The next day Chauncey sent his trusted sailing master, William Vaughn under a flag of truce to Kingston to gain information of the strength of British/Canadian  force. Vaughn learned that 600 of the 49th
Regiment and nearly 1,000 militia were present with about 2,000 additional militia that could be called in on 24 hours notice. He also discovered that about 500 men of the Glengarry Regiment had marched to York.89 	·

York was the provincial capital of Upper Canada and the most important depot for naval and military supplies routed to Niagara and Detroit. It was well defended by blockhouses and possessed a good harbor and docking facilities. It was ideally located and could draw on some
1,500 local militia for its defense. Furthermore Vaughn learned that since mid-November, several attempts had been made to send the Royal George, Earl of Moira and a schooner loaded with military stores and clothing for the British army and Indians at Fort George by way of York. On seeing the U. S.  squadron, however, the ships ran back to the safety of Kingston and the British abandoned all hope of getting up the lake that winter. They consequently laid up their vessels for the season. Vaughn was not able to discover whether or not the British were planning
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an attack on Sackett's Harbour during the winter. Ironically, he learned the British were frightened of one from them!90

Vaughn's  information induced Chauncey to feel somewhat more secure. Accordingly, he and Eckfordjourneyed to Buffalo early in December to determine the needs of the Lake Erie fleet for the spring campaign. Chauncey left orders for Captain Leonard, en route to Sackett's Harbour from New York during his absence. He turned command of the Harbour over to Leonard, instructing him to be vigilant and see that all vessels were prepared to repel any attack. Leonard was also to fit out the Madison as quickly as possible and cause her lower masts and bowsprit to be positioned. He was to insure that twelve guns were mounted and always kept at the ready. Her sails and rigging were to be examined and dried when they arrived from New York and Leonard
was to have her prepared for service for the spring campaign without fai1.91

When Leonard arrived at the Harbour, he conscientiously  followed these orders. Unfortunately, he caused an uproar in the village by bringing with him a lady of comfortable virtue whom he passed off as Mrs. Leonard and who was received socially by the wives of the other officers.

When disconcerting rumors began to circulate that Mrs. Leonard was not what she was supposed to be, what passed for genteel society in Sackett's Harbour was thrown into turmoil. Worried about the reputation  of his establishment, the proprietor of the tavern where Leonard
had procured a room for the lady, put the question directly to the naval officer only to receive the blunt reply that it was none of his business who the woman was as long as her bills were paid. 92
The lady in question proved to be even less tactful-- when the sister-in-law of Jacob Brown, a Mrs. Skinner, asked her whether she was legally married to Leonard, she was told "that it was nobody's  business whether she was Captain Leonard's  wife or his whore."93

By this time, the military and naval community was in an uproar. Matters climaxed when Mrs. Leonard purchased some articles at a store in Brownville then signed a credit note with the name, Fanny Canfield. The storekeeper, who believed her to be the actual wife of the captain, was convinced she had committed forgery and demanded an accounting. Word of the incident quickly spread, reaching Leonard.

An angry Leonard rode to Brownville, entered Lawrence's store "with a whip in his hand, his dirk by his side, and a negro following him." He demanded the storekeeper "beg his and her pardon, or take a horse whipping." The intimidated storekeeper suddenly 'realized' a mistake
had been made as he "now understood she did not write the note."  Somewhat satisfied, Leonard left after paying all his outstanding accounts.94




90 New York Historical Society, Manuscript Division, Chauncey Letter books, p. 135, Chauncey to Hamilton, Dec.
9, 1812.
91 New York Historical Society, Manuscript Division, Chauncey Letterbooks,  p. 138, Chauncey to Leonard, Dec. 10,
1812.
92 National Archives, Washington  D. C.  RG 125, M-273, Records of General Courts-Martial  and Courts of Inquiry of the Navy Department, 1812-1814.  Leonard Court Martial, Dec.  1813.
93 National Archives, Washington  D. C., Ibid.
94 National Archives, Washington  D. C., Ibid.

When Chauncey arrived back at the Harbour on January 20, 1813, it did not take him long to find out about his subordinate's disastrous conduct. He immediately summoned Leonard and told him that "it had created a considerable vexation in the country" and that it was doing him and the service a serious injury. He insisted Leonard send the lady back to New York whence she came. Leonard assured Chauncey that he was unaware of any discontentment his conduct created, but
he would send her away without delay. Within a very short time, "Mrs.  Leonard" departed
Sackett's Harbour.95

Meanwhile, the war was still going on. Chauncey found affairs pretty much as he had left them, but at least the blockhouse construction was progressing reasonably well. He anticipated its completion by February, at which time "we shall be able to give the enemy a warm reception if he should pay us a visit this winter." During that same time, four deserters from the Royal George arrived at Sackett's Harbour. They revealed that two vessels were being built at York, one of which they described as a frigate. They also disclosed that a new 36-gun ship, 120-foot keel, 30-foot beam, was on the stocks at Kingston and would be launched in early April. They further reported that about the middle of December, 130 ship carpenters and fifty sailors had arrived at Kingston. Chauncey summed up the situation by stating that: "Every deserter that comes over (and there are many) gives the same account and says that it is the opinion of the officers... that if they do not make a desperate effort to regain the command of the Lake, that
Canada must fall."96

In view of this intelligence, Chauncey realized that the British were bent on building sufficient force to ensure them command of the lakes or destroy the American vessels before they could be made operative. Chauncey judged it prudent to build another ship. "If the President," Chauncey explained to Navy Secretary Hamilton, "should determine to authorize another ship to be built here, it will be proper for me to receive your instructions as early as possible in order that I may prepare her armament and be ready to meet the enemy upon equal
terms next spring."97 Chauncey was determined not only to out-build the British, but to launch
the largest warship on the lake. With his new ship, he hoped to secure undisputed mastery of
Lake Ontario when the crucial spring campaign began.

In mid-December, Captain Gray journeyed from I(ingston to York to survey the situation. He also developed new ideas to improve the defenses of Upper Canada. The first and most important was preventing the fleet from falling into American hands. British vessels would not be secure "till we can procure officers to command and seamen to man them."98

This was no easy task. As soon as navigation opened in the spring, Gray suspected Chauncey's first objective would be the destruction or capture of British ships under construction. He suggested that ten or twelve guns along with the necessary round shot, be sent immediately to Kingston and York. He further urged a corvette mounting thirty 32-pdrs.



95 National Archives, Washington D. C., Ibid.
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97 New York Historical Society.  Ibid.
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carronades be built at York, and two more vessels be built of the same class as the Royal George, one at Kingston, the other at Amherstburg  on Lake Erie. As far as his initial plan of attacking Sackett's Harbour was concerned, he felt the Americans would eventually strengthen the post by creating an abatis99  and barricades of wood "of which he has plenty, and has men and carpenters in abundance."100  Once completed, this abatis would make a surprise assault by the British impractical.

Back at Sackett's Harbour, Eckford's carpenters were busily engaged in building their latest vessel. This was similar in size and dimensions to the speedy New York pilot boats (89 tons).
She was to be christened  Lady of the Lake and would be employed as a dispatch vessel. Her sails were to be made of the best "Russia duck," which like all other equipment and fittings, was brought from New York. Chauncey wanted a vessel that could communicate rapidly anywhere around the lake with ease and this sleek, little schooner perfectly suited that task.101

President Madison, reacting to Chauncey's concerns of a possible British attempt to destroy his force, instructed the War Department to supply the post with sufficient troops. The War Department warned Dearborn of the President's anxiety and directed that additional reinforcements be stationed there to thwart hostile moves against it. 102   In early January, Captain Oliver Hazzard Perry, 103  Commanding Officer at Newport, Rhode Island tendered his services to Chauncey. The commodore immediately  wrote Hamilton requesting that Perry be assigned to Sackett's Harbour as he could be employed "to great advantage, particularly on Lake Erie."104

Additional sailors were ordered to Sackett's Harbour to man the growing fleet. Among them was Isaac Chauncey's younger brother, Wolcott. Lieutenant Wolcott Chauncey did not enjoy the same reputation as his older brother -- in fact it was tarnished by an incident that occurred the previous autumn. On October 15, 1812 the U.S. brig Argus, flying a British flag, fired at and stopped off the Virginia Capes the American merchant vessel Ariadne under Captain Bartlett Holmes bound for Cadiz. The Argus was commanded by Captain Arthur Sinclair, USN of
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Richmond, Virginia, who sent Lieut. Chauncey to board the detained American merchantman. Chauncey climbed on board in the undress uniform of the British Navy. He declared to Captain Holmes that the Ariadne was a lawful prize and would be sent to Barbados. In this guise, Chauncey demanded the papers of the American vessel. He then took the papers and her colors back to the Argus returning some time later with armed sailors. 105

The crew of the Ariadne was ordered by Chauncey off their vessel and onto the American warship. Then he and his sailors began to plunder the American merchantman.  Cordage, about
500 pounds of cabin bread, a quantity of beef, pigs, the hen coop nearly all the cabin furniture,
two quintals of fish, corn, peas, painters oil, the carpenter's tools, all the yawl oars, together with all the private stores were taken. The crew of the Ariadne was threatened to be treated as prisoners of war unless they signed on as sailors with the Argus. Most of the crew decided it was in their best interest to join the United States navy.

Some thirty-nine days later, the Captain of the Ariadne and his first-mate were released and sent ashore at Martha's Vineyard. Captain Holmes alleged, "I was threatened by Lieut.
Chauncey that in case I ex osed  the treatment we had experienced, he would shoot me whenever he could meet me again."1  6

When the story came out in the newspapers, as it eventually did, it unleashed a storm of controversy that still clouded Wolcott Chauncey when Isaac ordered him north. Before heading out, Isaac cautioned his brother, that "for the honor of the service, you should prevent the men placed in your charge from committing any depredations upon the persons or property of citizens while on the road."107  Arrangements  were made for sleighs and horses to meet Wolcott and his high-seas tars at Albany and transport them to the Harbour quickly. In addition to orders to behave while under way, the commodore stressed that no unnecessary delays would be tolerated.
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CHAPTER THREE

"Defeat Their Plans and Destroy Their Hopes."

By the beginning of the new year, Chauncey was so convinced that the British were creating a force superior to his, that he developed a new scheme to "defeat their plans and destroy their hopes."1 On January 21, 1813, he proposed his secret plan to Navy Secretary Hamilton. Once the
ice broke upon the lake but before the enemy ships under construction  at York and Kingston could join together, he intended to sail1,000 picked troops to Kingston and land them about three miles west of the town. The remainder of the squadron would then proceed to Kingston
harbor and attack the forts and ships, while the troops marched and took the town from the rear. 2
If successful, this attack would preserve American ascendancy on the lake and lead to the defeat
r      .
I	of British forces in Upper Canada. In early February, Chauncey left Sackett's Harbour for
Albany to meet with his military counterpart, Henry Dearborn and work out details for combined operations.3

In Chauncey's absence, Master Commandant Leonard again commanded the navy at Sackett's Harbour. Leonard's orders were to speed up fitting out and equipping the Madison and keep her in a "constant  state of defense."4 Before his departure, Chauncey stressed that Leonard and every other man belonging to her crew, were to sleep on board every night.5 Furthermore, Leonard was to see to the removal of all snow from around her and keep ladders ready for the
men to go on board in case of alarm. Chauncey sternly warned his subordinate that "it is scarcely necessary, for me to remind you of the immense importance of this little fleet to the American Nation, or the sensation that would be created throughout the country by its destruction."6

Before departing, Chauncey directed Leonard to stay alert and that nothing but "the annihilation of your whole force will enable the enemy to deprive you ofit."7 Should an alarm take place, men and officers alike were to take their positions with all possible speed and be prepared to meet the enemy. Captain Smith with his detachment of Marines were to board the Madison. The Governor Tompkins} Hamilton} Ontario and Scourge were to be defended as long
as possible but if overrun, the crews were to spike their guns and retreat to the ship and other schooners. All fires for cooking or warmth were to be extinguished  in the barracks, hospital, sailor's quarters, and small vessels, except the cannon matches. Guns were loaded with one stand of grape and one of canister, while musket cartridges were made up of one ball and three buck shot. Matches were to be kept burning during the night and the powder horns and priming wires
always kept at hand.8



1 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45. Microfilm Series M125, Reel26, Officers' Letters, Nr.29. Chauncey to Hamilton, Jan.21, 1813.
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Inquiry of the Navy Department. 1799-1867. Roll6,  Vol.4.
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The Commodore left nothing to chance. A hole through the ice was to be open near each vessel to ensure a supply of water in case of fire. The men were not to leave their quarters at night on any account whatsoever, not even to extinguish accidental fires in the village. Eight 6-
pdrs. with carriages, powder, shot, wad, rammers, sponges, were made ready for the blockhouses and placed under Major George Mitchell, 3rd Artillery.9  Interestingly  Chauncey instructed Leonard that his "incoming  publick as well as private letters were not to be opened by any
person whomsoever during his absence." Leonard disagreed with this order because he felt it could prevent him from knowing about important events necessary to protect the Harbour.10
Finally, Leonard was to use "his best endeavour to preserve harmony and promote discipline."11

In mid-February, Dearborn and Chauncey met in Albany to plan their spring offensive. This time, Madison and his cabinet were determined to have their forces in a better state of preparation. On February 10 the new Secretary of War John Armstrong,12 instructed Dearborn
that the President ordered a campaign planned which "you will immediately institute and pursue against Upper Canada."13 Armstrong suggested that Colonel Pike march his two brigades from Lake Champlain to Sackett's Harbour, attack I(ingston across the ice and destroy the frozen warships. If that were not possible, then 4,000 troops were to be assembled at Sackett's  Harbour,
to reduce Kingston by amphibious assault. The second objective was to be a pre-emptive strike against York. Once there, the Americans were to capture stores and destroy all ships under construction. The third objective was to be the capture of Forts George and Erie with 3,000 men already stationed at Niagara. If these objectives were realized, Chauncey's sailors and Dearborn's




9 Mitchell, George born at Elkton, Md. in 1781. At an early age he studied medicine but later became interested in politics. He was elected to the Maryland House of Delegates in 1808-09 where he vigorously supported the

Jefferson Administration.  At the outbreak of the War of 1812 he resigned from State government and was appointed major in the 3rd Artillery Regiment.  On the 3rd of March 1813 he was promoted to Lieut.-Col. He was wounded at the capture of York in the Spring of 1813. His most brilliant exploit was at Fort Oswego, in the following year. In April 1814 while on the March from Sackett's Harbour to Buffalo, he was met at Batavia by Genl. Brown who ordered him to Fort Oswego. Twelve miles up the river, there was an important depot of naval stores, the loss of which would have seriously crippled the American forces on Lake Ontario. Mitchell with about 300 men reached Fort Oswego on April30, 1814. On the morning ofthe 5th ofMay 8 British ships with 222 guns appeared in the harbor and attacked the Fort. They were repulsed but resumed their attack the next day after a desperate struggle Mitchell's force retreated up the Oswego River, determined to save the stores at all costs. On May 7th, the British withdrew. Mitchell was brevetted  Colonel, and during the closing months of the war commanded the center of the Army of the Niagara. Following  the War the Maryland General Assembly passed a series of resolutions in his honor and presented him with a sword. He remained in the Army until 1821. He served several terms in Congress until his death at Washington on June 28, 1832 and was buried in the Congressional  Cemetery.
10 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45. Microfilm Series M147, ReelS. Master Commandants  Letters received by Secretary ofNavy. Leonard to Hamilton, 1813-14.
11 New York Historical Society, Manuscript Division, Chauncey Letterbooks,  p.179, Chauncey to Leonard, Feb.1,
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13 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Letters sent by Secretary of War, Microfilm  Series M6,(467-459). Secretary ofWarto Dearborn.  Feb.10, 1813.

troops would then be able to cooperate with General Harrison's Army operating in the Northwest
Territory and all of Canada west of Montreal would soon fall to American arms.14

Armstrong feared large deposits of provisions on Lake Champlain would be endangered if all American forces in that theatre were ordered to Sackett's Harbour. To protect them, he directed two brigades of militia assembled at Burlington, Vermont. Another motive for maintaining a sizeable force in that vicinity would be to deter the enemy from sending contingents to
strengthen Kingston. The British, Armstrong believed, would be compelled to leave a large garrison near Montreal to prevent an American attack on that place. "As soon as our intentions shall be lmown as to afford satisfactory evidence of our intentions in relations to the conquest of Upper Canada," it would be too late for the enemy to react. 15 Dearborn and Chauncey agreed to
the plan, but unforeseen events would drastically alter the situation.

These events were triggered at Ogdensburgh, where Captain Forsyth, never a man to remain idle long, decided to make some action on his own. Forsyth had been advised by Dearborn not to initiate hostilities because of his exposed position and the possibility of inviting severe British retaliation. Early in February, Forsyth learned that a party of the enemy crossed the St. Lawrence River onto American territory, and captured a few Americans, carrying them back to Brockville (Elizabethtown) Upper Canada. There, the prisoners languished in the local jail and "it was said" that they were treated with "severity." Reportedly, some of them would be "executed" by the
authority of British courts martial for desertion. 16

Forsyth decided to attempt their rescue with his riflemen. "In consequence of this intrusion of the enemy on our soil, on the 6th Inst. about 10 P.M., I left this place with a part of my rifle company and a party of volunteers for the purpose of retaking the prisoners and chastising the     	insolent enemy."17 Covered by darkness, the party of two hundred set out on the twenty-eight
mile round trip through ice, snow, and bitter cold. Upon reaching Elizabethtown about three
a.m., the force surrounded and crashed into the jail, demanded and were given the keys. A shot from a nearby window wounded one of Forsyth's men. Otherwise no resistance was offered. Only one of the opposition was wounded, being so completely surprised they did not have time to resist. 18

Every prisoner except for murderers was freed. Several prominent Canadians were taken hostage and brought to Ogdensburgh.  The rescued prisoners and citizens numbered fifty-three, amongst whom were one major, three captains, three lieutenants and one surgeons mate. Forsyth's party also brought off one hundred and thirty four muskets that had been captured by the British from Hull's army at Detroit, twenty rifles, two casks of fixed ammunition and some other public stores.19




14 Ibid.
15 Samuel Brown. An Authentic  History of the Second War of Independence,  (Auburn). Published by J. G. Hathaway. Vol. II. 1815. P.11.
16 Franklin B. Hough. History of St. Lawrence and Franklin Counties (Albany).  Little and Co., 1853. P.625-6.
17 Roughs' History, Ibid.
18 New York State Archives, Macomb Orderly Book, Forsyth to Macomb, Feb.12, 1813.
19 New York State Archives, Macomb's Orderly Book, Forsyth to Macomb.  Feby.12, 1813.

Forsyth proudly reported to Macomb at Sackett's  Harbour that his party behaved extremely well in the attack, treated prisoners with hospitality and respected private property. He also stated that the British were strengthening  their position at Prescott by building a blockhouse eighty feet square and three stories high. Lastly, Forsyth alerted Macomb that three hundred sleds with military stores, and forty double sleds with cannon and five men in each sleigh had passed through Prescott for the upper country. "The Canadians," he concluded optimistically, "desert
very much.. 58 having reported themselves here in one week."20

On February 20, two British deserters from the Glengarry regiment at Kingston came into Sackett's Harbour across the ice. During interrogation these men revealed that the British were preparing some rapid move, probably against Ogdensburgh in retaliation for Forsyth's  raid. Straightaway Macomb sent an express to warn Forsyth of the danger, explaining he was unable to send reinforcements as it could be a faint with the real objective being the iced-in fleet at the Harbour. Macomb ordered the garrison to be on the alert and took steps to increase security. Just in case the reports he was hearing were accurate, Macomb contemplated  attacking Kingston if the British split their forces by carrying out an assault against Forsyth. The troops were duly prepared and made ready to move out at a moment's notice while the sailors under Master Commadant Leonard were furnished with ladders to scale the British warships frozen in
Kingston Harbor.21

The Colonel continued to question the former Glengarries. They claimed to have been taken prisoner by the British at the Battle of"Queenstown" (Queenston Heights). Macomb was disturbed to learn that, contrary to the rules of war, they had been impressed into British service, "as were many others." If this was the case, he felt, "it is the most abominable practice. - Of the five Glengarries that came over - every one of them has been either in the marines, army or navy of the States." Macomb stated that British deserters:

"..come in daily. They are all Militia men, who are natives of the States and run over to our pickets to get away. They are mostly young country farmers." They claimed that their treatment "is so hard and unreasonable that no man of common feeling can put up with it - that
the officers are generally old forces or Scotchmen."22

Dozens of British troops, especially Glengarries, tried to avoid harsh treatment by deserting. Alexander Morton and David Mathews were two such deserters who thought they had made good their escape from Kingston by heading out across the frozen St. Lawrence toward Sackett's Harbour. Four Missesague Indians and two trustworthy militiamen were sent out from the Kingston garrison to overtake them. The pair got about nine miles out on the ice when their pursuers caught up with them and a fire fight ensued.

In conquesence of their resistance,  the two deserters were both killed.. and brought to the garrison DEAD, with their arms and accoutrements...  These four Indians are therefore entitled to



20 New York State Archives, Macomb's Orderly Book, Benj. Forsyth to Col. Alex. Macomb. Feby.12, 1813.
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22 New York State Archives, Macomb's Orderly Book. February 20, 1813.

receive the sum of six pounds currency for each deserter so brought to said garrison, together with nine shillings like currency for the assistants, being four shillings and six pence.23

It was harsh but necessary justice.

As Dearborn forewarned,  British retaliation for Forsyth's  raid was not long in coming and was indeed directed at Ogdensburgh.  Major "Red George" Macdonnell of the Glengarry Light Infantry chose to strike directly at Forsyth "for his late wonted aggression on this frontier" at Elizabethtown?4 On the morning of February 22, four hundred and eighty British and Canadian troops crossed the ice of the frozen St. Lawrence from Prescott to Ogdensburgh. In little more
than an hour, eleven pieces of cannon and all of the American ordnance, marine, commissariat and quartermaster general's stores were taken. The British captured four officers and seventy prisoners. In addition they burned two armed schooners, the Niagara and Dolphin, as well as two large gunboats and the barracks. A letter from an Odgensburgh resident added,

We lost two long iron 12-pdrs. taken at Saratoga, (in the Revolutionary  War) two long brass 9- pdrs., two brass 6-pdrs., four iron 6-pdrs., two iron 4-pdrs., four iron 9-pdr. carronades, 800 muskets, 400 rifles, two tons of ammunition, one ton of ball, 1500 barrels of pork and a quantity of blankets. Many of the houses which were deserted were plundered by the rabble from Canada, who flocked over in abundance as soon as the place was taken.25

On the same day, Forsyth alerted Macomb that the British with a force outnumbering his two to one, succeeded in capturing Ogdensburgh "this morning about 9 o'clock. Not more than
twenty of our men have been killed or wounded. I have made a saving retreat of eight or nine
miles. I could not get all the wounded off."

With accustomed bravado, he exclaimed, "if you could send THREE HUNDRED MEN, ALL SHALL BE RETAKEN  and PRESCOTT TOO, or I will lose my life in the attempt."26

When word of Ogdensburgh's fall reached Macomb two days later, he developed and implemented an expanded defense, believing if the enemy attacked, they would advance by way of Horse Island. Furthermore,  a rumor that some 1500 Indians were poised at Kingston for an attack on Sackett's Harbour spurred everyone on to greater efforts. This plan, issued on February
24, stated that on approach of an attacking force, alarm guns would be fired from Forts Tompkins and Volunteer. The newly arrived Albany, (U.S.) Volunteers, under command of Lieutenant-Colonel John Mills and Major John Herkimer were to form with the regular units when the drums beat to arms.27 Fort Tompkins was to be garrisoned and the guns manned while those marines not on board vessels were to gather at Fort Tompkins and constitute a reserve.

The Albany Volunteers were to form at the Militia Cantonment with orders to dispute ground to the last extremity. If unable to maintain their position, they were to withdraw to Fort



23 National Archives of Canada, RG 8. C series, reel688 E. p.25.
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26 New York State Archives, Macomb's Orderly Book, Feb.22, 1813.
27  Lt. Colonel John Mills hailed from Albany and Major John Herkimer was the nephew of General Nicholas Herkimer who's army engaged the British at the Battle of Oriskiny in 1777. The Albany Volunteers were raised for federal service in October of 1812 of men in the Albany and Mohawk Valley region.

Tompkins where a detachment of Artillery would advance and support the Albany Volunteers in the event they retreated. Together, both were to withdraw contesting every inch of ground until reaching the cover of Fort Tompkins. From this point, the corps were to resist until forced out. In case they fell back, they were to form on the ice under the blockhouse on the opposite shore,
enter the village and join the artillery under Major George Mitchell. If hotly pressed, Mitchell's force was to withdraw to Fort Volunteer leaving a small detachment there to serve the guns and have spikes28  ready to render them useless in case they were abandoned. "Blockhouse  Number One" at Fort Tompkins and "Blockhouse Number two" on the east side of the harbor was each to
be occupied with fifty to seventy-five soldiers with muskets plus thirty sailors to man the carriage guns. The riflemen, meanwhile, were to meet the attacking force in the woods near
Horse Island. The officers commanding blockhouses were instructed to have muskets loaded and spare ammunition covered with blankets to prevent exposure to fire from accidents.

"You will not," they were ordered, "be junior to other officers. All officers and men that you may permit to enter, you will consider as volunteers for there must be one commanding officer. You will not surrender on any account."29
The pass word for the defense of Sackett's  Harbour shall be: "AMERICA  FOREVER."30
Macomb left nothing to chance.

On February 25 an express raced to Albany with news that Odgensburgh had been attacked and taken. Dearborn was furious that Forsyth had initiated hostilities because he had repeatedly cautioned him against taking action which would give rise to retaliation, "but I fear my advice has not been fully attended to as could have been wished."31  He sent word to Macomb not to go
on the offensive until ordered, and, in an effort to control the damage, he requested Governor Tompkins to order Jacob Brown and 300 or 400 Jefferson County Militia to join Forsyth somewhere near Ogdensburgh.  Dearborn then ordered Zebulon Pike to proceed in sleighs with four hundred of his command from Plattsburgh to Odgensburgh or Sackett's Harbour.32  On his arrival at Potsdam or Canton, Pike was to communicate with Brown or Forsyth or both and act
with them as circumstances required. Pike's 15th Infantry Regiment set out in below zero weather and deep snow making nearly fifteen miles a day on sleighs impressed from local farmers. Dispite rapid travel, three soldiers froze to death and many more were severely frostbitten before reaching their destination.

Mindful of British success at Ogdensburgh, Macomb's troops busily cut down hundreds of trees around Sackett's Harbour to create the abatis that Andrew Gray had earlier predicted. This, Macomb knew, would obstruct and confuse the movement of any enemy troops as well as deny them passage into the town and shipyard. It would also provide cover for the American riflemen, who were posted around the town as marksmen. Through the efforts ofthe regular army and
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29 New York State Archives, Macomb's Orderly Book, Feb.24, 1813.
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32 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Ibid.

navy, Sackett's Harbour was slowly becoming a formidable post. Macomb sent an express to Dearborn in Albany with urgent news that he suspected an attack within a few days because more and more deserters from Kingston were coming in daily with such stories.33  Preparations continued unabated for increased security and a vigorous defense.

Macomb took every precaution possible. He encouraged the inhabitants of Sackett's Harbour relocate their families to safety and requested "the effective force of the townsmen return and take up arms in defense of their homes."34 Pickets were posted in tall trees to keep a sharp lookout for any signs of an approaching attack. If the British attacked on the ice, the light artillery, covered by the dragoons, was to fire on them with canister and round shot. Macomb
even called in the militia, "but they are so confused and confounded that I really believe we are better without them."35  Macomb had arranged with Brown for their deployment all along the length of the abatis. Thus situated, Macomb believed the militia would
keep off the Indians and kill a great many of the enemy if they attempt to turn the flank of the Regulars... the Militia were not to interfere with the defense or the movement of the Regular troops, but to watch the enemy and endeavour by individual exertions to kill one man each and then I shall be perfectly satisfied and they may have considered themselves as having done their duty. By placing them around the Town I can likewise call them in when I think it necessary and will prevent confusion in the most trying moments. I have impressed  on their minds the importance of their harassing the enemy on their flank, picking off distinguishing  persons and of returning to the fight, notwithstanding, they may be beaten off occasionally,  they will run I have not the least doubt, but I request them to return when they have got themselves warm.36

With these preparations in place, Jacob Brown possessed first hand knowledge of how the impending defense of Sackett's Harbour should be fought but because his term of militia service was about to expire, he returned to his home in Brownville to await further orders. Brown and his militia would only be summoned to duty should an emergency  be called. It appeared Brown would have to wait until Washington would grant him a commission in the regular army.

When word reached Albany that Prevost had adjourned the Legislature at Quebec and was under way for Kingston, Dearborn became alarmed. It was also rumored that 6,000 to 8,000 regulars and militia were concentrated there for an attack on Sackett's Harbour within forty-eight hours, perhaps sooner. Immediately,  Dearborn ordered additional reinforcements from
Greenbush to hit the roads and struck out with his staff for Sackett's Harbour. After a rushed journey of fifty-two hours over the very worst of frontier roads, he arrived to take charge of the defense.37  As soon as he heard of the threat, Chauncey too rushed on to the Harbour arriving on
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March 3, 1813. He assured the new navy secretary William Jones,38 he would not be lulled into a false sense of security and stressed that his command was prepared to repel any assault. After pondering the situation, a sceptical Chauncey did not believe Prevost was prepared to make such a sacrifice of men and risk defeat in attacking Sackett's Harbour. Such an attack would leave Kingston and all British naval forces collected there, exposed to counterattack.

Forsyth's rifle company, meanwhile, made good its retreat to Sackett's Harbour thereby increasing the garrison's strength. While under way, Forsyth whipped his troops and the militia with him into such a frenzy that it was hard to restrain them. Macomb observed that these people were never more exasperated and full of desire for action, damanding to avenge Ogdensburgh. They were all saying, "If the enemy does not come here, let us go there." Macomb felt if there was ever any service to be had from the otherwise useless militia, this was the moment. "They
are but a mob it is true but our regular force and Volunteers are tolerably good and may be depended on."39

Meanwhile hard duty in bitter freezing temperatures heavily reduced the marines on the station by death and sickness. Two hundred more were requested to be sent to Lake Ontario as only thirty out of one hundred and seventy-five were fit for duty. It was necessary, therefore, to ask the army to make up the difference in sentries. Orders were issued to them that no alarm guns were to be fired without orders from headquarters.40 Nervousness  prevailed throughout the
encampment and muskets were accidentally discharged by itchy trigger fingers awaiting the expected attack. In that event, the newcomers were assigned positions for defense. Forsyth's rifles were to turn out in front of their huts and await orders while Brown's militia formed in the main street. The cavalry was to form in front ofheadquarters.41

Two days later no attack had materialized. Nevertheless,  word continued to flow into the Harbour that a large force was collecting at Kingston and Prevost was planning to pay the Harbour a visit, destroy the U.S. fleet or perish in the attempt. "The latter," Chauncey wrote, "I have no objections to but the former I shall endeavour to prevent."42

By March 6, 1813, Chauncey was thoroughly convinced that Prevost had no intention of attacking the Harbour at this time. He suspected the British wished to keep up the appearance of an attack as a ruse for the purpose of masking reinforcements sent west to Fort Malden and Britished occupied Detroit. With the American forces concentrated at Sackett's Harbour awaiting an attack, the British, Chauncey felt, would be free to deal with General Harrison's army in the Northwest Territory.
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Reports were reaching the Harbour that upwards of 20,000 troops were concentrating at Kingston! "This," Chauncey insisted, "cannot be true. I presume that the truth is that the people on that side (of the border) are as credulous as our own countrymen. They magnify a few sleighs loaded with stores and accompanied  by guards into a brigade of regular troops."43

Because so much information from the other side was rumor and of a dubious nature, Chauncey informed the navy department that: "I have conceived myself authorized to employ secret agents for the purpose of obtaining information im£ortant to the government and to myself
and necessary to place me on a footing with the enemy."  4 Since there was no specific
appropriation for that service, Chauncey took it upon himself to pay the costs of his spies hoping the government would eventually reimburse him.

Great part of the information   obtained in war is contradictory,  a still greater part is false, and by far the greatest part is of a doubtful character. (Von Clausewitz)

By March 14, the crisis had passed. Dearborn agreed with Chauncey that Prevost would not attack Sackett's Harbour at this time. He now felt both sides were just strong enough to defend but insufficient to chance an offensive movement. Consequently, Dearborn ordered Brigadier­ General John Chandler,45 with the 9th, 21st, and 25th Infantry Regiments to Sackett's  Harbour from Greenbush. The 9th was under the command of Lieutenant Colonel John Tuttle, and Major Thomas Aspinwall, from Boston, Massachusetts.  John Tuttle was an active supporter of the Jeffersonian-Democrats and a well-known activist in the Boston area. Twenty-six year old Aspinwall was a graduate of Harvard College and had practiced law until the outbreak of war. In
1808 he joined the crack "Independent  Cadets" of Boston. Shortly after the outbreak of war, Aspinwall was appointed Major in the 9th and was largely instrumental in recruiting and insuring efficiency of training exercises. The 9th was one of the regular units recruited mainly in
Boston.46

Captain Lemuel Bradford, of the 21st Infantry was another Massachusetts  soldier ordered on to Sackett's Harbour. He commanded a company of seventy raw recruits, composed mostly of men from his native state. There were a few exceptions.47 Five foot, eight inch, twenty-five year old Joseph Romyne was a laborer from Montreal, Canada who joined the American Army in March. Another Montreal Canadian, twenty-eight year old stone mason Francis Lawrence,
enlisted in the United States Marines Corps, deserted, and, on March 17, 1813, volunteered as a private in the 21st Infantry. Hiding his misdeed, he, as so many others, likely enlisted for the bonus money hoping not to be caught before deserting and attempting the scheme again. Thirty-
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three year old William Moore, a blue eyed, five foot, six and three-quarter inch Irishman from County Tyrone had been a sailor until he joined the U.S. Army. Black haired, thirty-one year old John Estiber, a butcher by trade, called Hamburg, Germany his home. He enlisted in the 21st Infantry for five years, after which, he could automatically become an American citizen.

The backbone strength of the unit, however, came from its New England yankee country farmers. The youngest was fifteen year old, four foot, eleven inch Aaron Fitzgerald, a farmer from Frankfort, New York. He would be twenty years old when his enlistment expired. Fourty­ five year old Samuel Bishop, a carpenter from Bolton, Connecticut, Herehziah Hubbard, a shoemaker from Farmington, Connecticut, along with Ellis Morey and Joshua Chaffee, two Massachusetts farmers, were the oldest. Most of the men, such as William Babcock, Jeremiah Spicer, David and Isaac Johnson, Druman Linsee and Jonathan Nichols Jr. were in their twentys
and thirtys with the units average age being twenty-eight and a half.48

These men, immigrants, farmers, alcoholics, spurned lovers, and adventurers, enlisted for many reasons: for honor and country, employment, manhood, or perhaps just to find a home in the army. Whatever the reason, they were soon to rendezvous at Sackett's Harbour, New York with their own personal destiny.

Dearborn ordered these recruits equipped, trained, and sent to Sackett's Harbour as soon as possible. If all went well, they would be on the frontier fighting by mid-May. At Greenbush they were to link up with Lt. Colonel Electus Backus and his dismounted 1st U.S. Light Dragoons. The dragoons were now concentrating at the training camp at Pittsfield, Massachusetts from
various posts around the north-east.49  With the court martial concerning Wilkinson's Terre aux
Boeufs disaster behind and the war in front of him, Colonel Backus was making every effort to re-equip, train and prepare his old 1808 men and new recruits for action.

The greater part of the dragoon enlistments were due to expire within six months but Backus encouraged his men to remain in service while they were still in the spirit to re-enlist. Furthermore, his second in command, fifty-one year old Major Jacint Laval, focused on training the troops in the use of muskets and providing them with new uniforms.

When a young man, the French-born major came to the United States as a cornet of dragoons in Rochambeau's army.5° Laval served in three campaigns during the American Revolution, and had been severely wounded in the head, knee and wrist. In May 1808 Laval re-entered military life after serving as sheriff of Charleston, S.C. His extensive military experience also included
service with Backus at Terre aux Beoufin Louisiana in 1809.51  In May 1812, Laval's son, Louis,
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followed in his father's foot-steps and joined the 1st Regiment of Light Dragoons. He, too, was ready to accompany the others to the northern frontier.

In mid-March somewhere  in Sackett's Harbour, a council of senior officers, under Dearborn, Macomb, Chauncey and Perry, agreed that they ought not yet make an attempt on Kingston. It was felt the harbors would not be free of ice until about the middle of April. At that time, the Americans would be able to make their next move. Chauncey ordered Captain Perry to proceed to Presque Isle, on Lake Erie, and take command of the two brigs under construction there. Chauncey informed Perry that he would join him with his sailors as soon as they defeated the British on Lake Ontario. Then, together, their combined force would deal with the enemy on Lake Erie.

That same day, some of Dearborn's veteran reinforcements began arriving at Sackett's Harbour after long and fatiguing marches they added considerable  strength to the garrison. Unit by unit, they tramped in-- five regiments of infantry, two companies each of light dragoons and light artillery and a small regiment of volunteers from Albany. Colonel James Burns from Pennsylvania came in with 150 dragoons. Major Abraham Eustis from Massachusetts, son of the former secretary of war, arrived with 170 Light Artillery, plus two or three companies of militia and forty sailors.

One soldier wrote home that his regiment, some 800 strong, was quartered in and around a large, vacant store in the center of the village and directly opposite the navy yard. "Sackett's Harbor," he said, "within  and around the village, was an encampment.  Troops were quartered, for want of tents, in dwelling houses, stores, shops, and barns."52 That made the force at the
Harbour 2,300 men exclusive of 800 sailors and marines. At Brownville some 500 militia were available and Chauncey believed another 1,000 militia could be raised within twelve hours. Colonel Pike's 600 men brought the number present to approximately  5,300.

The naval force consisted of one ship of twenty-six guns, one brig of eighteen guns, twelve schooners with three to nine guns each, in all about eighty or ninety heavy pieces.53  The garrison at the Harbour was now not only capable of defending itself, but coU;ld entertain offensive aspirations of its own. It had become an imposing army of military might in the frozen north.

"I fear the opportunity  will be lost."

The build-up of the American forces at Sackett's Harbour, sent such a shiver through Prevost that he ordered the 1OOth Regiment of Foot to march from Quebec to Isle-aux-Noix, closer to Lake Ontario. As a further precaution, the grenadier company marched to Kingston to await further instructions while the King's 8th of Foot and a company of artillery were on the march to
4

Montreal from Halifax.5
 
Also the 104th Regiment of Foot was directed to leave St. Johns, New

Brunswick and march for I(ingston by way of Quebec.

52  Thurlow Weed, Autobiography, Thurlow Weed, 2 Vols. Boston: Houghton, Mifflin, 1884. Vol. 1, p.38-39.
53  Capt. J. Walworth to Col. J. Simonds. Apri16, 1813.
54  Henry Manners Chitchester  and George Burges-Short,  The Records and Badges of Every Regiment and Corps in the British Army. 2nd ed. (London: Gale & Polden, Ltd., 1900), p.835.

In mid-March Earl Bathhurst,55 the Colonial Secretary in London, wrote Prevost that he regretted adverse winds had prevented transports from conveying troops from Barbados to Canada. One regiment from the Mediterranean had arrived at Cadiz and was expected to reach the St. Lawrence River by the end of the month. Another regiment was under way from Malta. Bathurst also apprised Prevost that the troop ship Woolwich was sailing from England with naval stores and equipment for the two new vessels being built on Lake Ontario.
He also mentioned the appointment of Captain Sir James Lucas Yeo,56  a Royal Navy Officer with impressive credentials in unconventional  warfare. Yeo was to be the new British commanding officer on the lakes and he would be in North America soon. Disappointingly, Bathurst emphasized to Prevost that it was necessary to derive "from other quarters than Great Britain such supplies as may be required for the subsistence of the troops or the inhabitants" (of Canada).57  Even though Great Britain could spare a few troops from the war in Europe, it was unable to do much more. Bathurst stressed that he hoped to see the Indians united against the Americans and suggested the British Navy would eventually send warships along the American Atlantic coast. Bathurst continued:

Never was there a war carried on so miserably as the Americans have this, without knowing how to combine their forces or cooperate with one another, and by all accounts badly supplied with provisions and every other necessity for carrying on a war. Our frontiers here are nearly abandoned by the enemy, in order to strengthen their upper posts, particularly Sackett's Harbour, which might have been destroyed (this past winter) with all their ships, which would have secured to us the command of Lake Ontario, which without the greatest exertion now, I fear, the opportunity will be lost.58

Prevost replied to Bathurst that he was pleased to hear of an increase in the number of British sailors ordered to Canada.59 He confessed that after the Battle of Queenston, Britain lost an opportunity by not crossing the Niagara River for the purpose of destroying Fort Niagara. This would have given Britain the command of the immediate region and, as at Ogdensburgh, would have ended a source of disquietude.  Prevost added that he had hitherto avoided any offensive
movement upon territory of the United States which was not considered a just and necessary retaliation. By this tactic, he hoped to bolster the war's mounting unpopularity among the Americans and to add to the erosion of the Madison administration's  public credit. The lack of success of this policy of restraint was causing Prevost to rethink the scope and intensity of future military action.

Bathurst's fears appeared well-founded for on March 18, Chauncey proposed his new, rather grandiose scheme of operations to Washington in detail. Reasoning that the British were able to learn as much about American intentions as he was able to learn about British intentions,
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Chauncey proposed that he maintain the appearance of a planned attack on Kingston as soon as the lake was navigable. 	·

This would compel the British command to maintain a strong garrison at Kingston and retard the dispatch of reinforcements to the western part of Upper Canada. The real American objective would change to a pre-emptive  raid upon the provincial capital at York. Chauncey suggested that he transport 1,500 picked troops and several pieces of light artillery and by-pass Kingston all together. The enemy, he anticipated, would only have but a small force for the defense ofYork. 60

Once landed, U.S. troops would advance covered by the fleet and take possession of the town and vessels. Chauncey believed the enemy ships at York to be the Prince  Regent(18  guns), Duke ofGloucester(16 guns) and two brigs under construction (18 guns) each. The destruction or capture of these vessels would give the United States decided advantage at the commencement of spring operations.

U.S. forces would keep possession ofYorkjust long enough to coax the British into detaching a force from Fort George to drive them off. Once the enemy had sufficiently neared York, Chauncey planned to re-embark the troops and proceed immediately to Fort George. There, the troops would land and in concert with forces from Fort Niagara, reduce Fort George and occupy the Niagara frontier. This ploy would also free five U.S. merchant vessels lying
useless in the Niagara River under the protection of Fort Niagara. Chauncey concluded he would then be able to blockade the British force at Kingston at will.61

If his strategy proved successful, Chauncey would send all officers and men that could be spared to join Perry's force on Lake Erie and destroy Britian's power there. Together with Perry, an attack would be made on Fort Malden and then retake Detroit, which was still in British hands and remained a political embarrassment  to the Madison administration.  Chauncey then hoped to proceed to Lake Huron and carry Michilimachinac.  He believed these moves would compel the British to abandon the upper country and their Indian allies altogether. The British, he reasoned, would be forced to concentrate their forces near Kingston and Montreal, which in turn would allow the United States to marshall its forces to overwhelm any one point.

Chauncey shared his idea with only two persons, General Dearborn and Colonel Macomb. "The most scrupulous silence ought to be observed with respect to the real object of our operations and no one made aware of our destination except the Commanding General and the officer who is to accompany me, for we have daily evidence that our officers cannot keep a secret."62  Armstrong's wish that Kingston be the focus of the campaign was ignored as Chauncey and Dearborn colluded to pick the easier target of York!

On April 8, 1813, the keel of Chauncey's new ship was laid down by Eckford. The vessel, not yet named, was to be 142 feet on the gun deck, thirty-seven feet beam and carry twenty-six long
24 pdrs. Once launched, she would become the mightiest ship ever built on the Great Lakes and could outgun any British vessel present. Chauncey informed Secretary Jones that she would be
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launched by 1 June. With her, Chauncey would be able to batter the forts at Kingston and possibly eliminate British power in Upper Canada once and for all.63

Throughout the latter part of the winter, an impressive amount of supplies for the spring campaign had been deposited at Sackett's Harbour and Oswego. 1,000 barrels of pork and beef,
1,200 barrels of flour, 50,000 pounds of hard bread, 6,000 gallons of spirits, with soap, vinegar
and candles, as well as 200,000 complete rations were made ready for the troops.

Also early in 1813, Major Christopher Van De Water, Quartermaster Department, had been instructed to hire boat builders at New York City and transport them to the Harbour. He was to supervise the construction of at least 100 bateaux before the first of April. Each boat was to be large enough to carry fourty men with their equipment and provisions.  To avoid competition with Chauncey, Van De Water employed Henry Eckford to supervise the building of these boats for the army as the Commodore  did for the Navy. Forty-seven transports and bateaux were built capable of carrying about 2,500 men. At Oswego, eighty-four more were concentrated with the
capacity of transporting nearly 8,000 troops.64

By mid-April Brigadier-General Robert Swartwout, a former merchant, who was appointed militia colonel in 1812, arrived in Albany to assume functions as Quartermaster-General of the army. He sent Major William Swan to Sackett's Harbour to supervise construction of additional huts and to provide wood and straw for the troops assembling there. Major Swan had no easy
task before him but he sought to complete his assigned duties before all the troops arrived for the upcoming campaign.65

In the second week of April 1813, ice, that two weeks earlier had been "two feet thick, Solid and clear as amber," began to crack in Black River Bay.66  Discipline was tightened in all the services as active operations were about to commence.

There had been some desertion over the winter and on April 9, 1813 at noon, Private Elisha Johnson of the Marines was to be executed for his offence. Johnson had been sentenced by a court martial on Feb. 4, 1813, but because a death sentence must be approved by the President himself, Johnson had anxiously awaited his fate for nearly two months until approval from Washington. Chauncey wrote navy secretary, William Jones, "the frequency of this crime, has
rendered it necessary that an example should be made to deter others from committing a crime so fraught with injury to the public service, particularly while stationed on an enemy's frontier."67

Captain Smith of the Marines had been ordered by Chauncey to inform the prisoner of his fate. "You will see that he is made as comfortable as his unhappy situation will admit of, and if
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he has any wish for any religious society, give him all the aid in your power in procuring it." As the troops of the post were marched out and formed in a hollow square to witness the fate of a deserter, the sentence of the court was carried out by firing squad. Chauncey wrote that Johnson "addressed the troops in an affecting and pathetic manner, aclmowledged the justness of his sentence, and appeared perfectly reconciled to his fate and died a brave man. I have no doubt but that this example will have a salutary effect in preventing desertion in the future." 68

Desertion, of course, was not a problem for Chauncey as far as his officers were concerned, but other situations proved nearly as vexing. When Chauncey arrived back in town on March 3,
1813, he found he was not the only new arrival in town and was astonished to see Fanny
Canfield and Master Commandant  Leonard walking together publicly in the streets of the village. He immediately confronted Leonard about their previous agreement concerning this liaison, but Leonard explained that Fanny was actually the wife of a Mr. Williamson who was then absent from the Harbour.69  This momentarily took the wind out of the Commodore's sails. Furthermore, he was distraught to see the notorious couple together in public or Fanny sitting in the window of a house known to be occupied by Leonard. For the time being, the Commodore discreetly turned his attention elsewhere.

On March 8, Chauncey caused a court martial convened to try an American, Jason Livingston, who was described as "a dark and villainous character" arrested as a spy "in the act of scanning the fleet at Sackett's Harbour"70 and he ordered Leonard to act as Judge Advocate at a court martial involving Chauncey's favorite sailing master, William Vaughan. Vaughan was to be tried for contempt of his superior officer, none other than James Leonard. 71 Vaughn had been irriated by Leonard's conduct to a point that he was alleged to have refered to Leonard as "a
dammed little Rascal" and defied Captain Leonard "to fight him," trying at the same time to "provoke him with words and gestures." As the spring thaw set in, Vaughan had been ordered to confine himself to Sackett's Harbour until his case was decided.72

The weather continued mild, but with heavy rains, by AprillO, the ice began melting and breaking up. About midnight on the 12th, Leonard's command, the Ship Madison) went adrift from her moorings, and pushed out into Black River Bay. It was dark, blowing hard with gusts of wind-driven rain. In an effort to halt the drifting ship, Lieutenant Francis Gregory, USN, ordered an additional anchor dropped. She continued to drift. A third anchor fell, but to no effect.73

The Madison was driven farther out and directly into the ice flows. There being no ballast on board, the ship rode dangerously high out of the water. The crew was mustered and Gregory had
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them remove the top gallant yards to stabilize the ship. The Madison was driven about halfway across the Bay towards Bull Rock Point by the ice and wind before the anchors finally grabbed bottom. It was early next morning before Chauncey learned his flagship was adrift. When he first saw her, the Commodore thought she was "sallying" with the wind. Alarmed for her safety, he immediately issued orders for officers of other vessels to send off all the ballast they could find.
He directed Woolsey to send his sheet cable and anchor from the Oneida.74

Once Chauncey climbed on board the distressed vessel, he demanded to see Leonard. Lieut. Gregory told him that Leonard was not there, and had not slept on board the preceding night. An angry Chauncey took command, ordering the officers on shore to bring all the loose ballast they could find along with cables over to the distressed ship. She was drifting through two huge
sheets of ice, which Chauncey thought would strike and possibly destroy her.75

As soon as the Oneida's cables were brought out, they were bitted and stoppered on the Madison's anchor cable and she was pulled away from the heaviest part of the ice flow. Through the exertions of hundreds of sailors, the ship was finally brought to a place of safety. Relieved, Chauncey went on shore and resumed his usual responsibilities.  Rested, he returned and secured the ship about sundown. Chauncey did a little more paper work, retired into the officer's cabin
and went to sleep.76

The paper work that Chauncey completed before retiring for the night was that he threw the book at Master Commandant Leonard. He charged him with: disobedience of orders (sleeping on shore without permission); neglect of duty (for not using his best exertions in preparing the U.S. Ship Madison for service and for having the ship in an unprepared state outside the Harbour
when the ship drifted out into the Bay and was only saved from total loss by extraordinary exertions of the officers and men), and finally for desolate and immoral practices (for introducing his mistress to the family of Major Samuel Brown and allowing her to pass as his wife and living with the woman in a public manner,

whereby you neglect your duty to your country and to your ship and set a bad example to the officers, generally, the young midshipmen in particular one of which lives in the house with you and your mistress. Upon receipt of this arrest you will deliver to Captain Smith your sword and confine yourself to a district of four miles square in or about the Village until the decision of a Court Martial can be had upon your conduct.77

Leonard protested to Secretary Jones, proclaiming his innocence to the "unjust, ungrateful and passionate act of the Commodore."78 Not only were the charges totally false, Leonard insisted, but "pains had been taken to dress them up in such disgusting shapes as to appear
odious to the eye of a correct man." He claimed he was being sacrificed in case the fleet were not ready for the impending campaign in order to save the reputation of the Commodore. Leonard
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77 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Ibid.
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mentioned that during the period of greatest danger, when Chauncey was in New York City and on the Niagara Frontier, he was not even permitted to open any of the Commodore's mail, which he felt would have warned him of any threatening movement.79

With Leonard detained, Chauncey was back to his concerns of the approaching campaign. He ordered the navy agent in New York to transport the old 24-pdrs. that were recently landed from the US.S. Constitution.  Since some of these guns were short and light they would be appropriate for the new ship under construction at Sackett's Harbour. He also sent for hemp to rig the ship, as he expected she would be ready to launch by June. Chauncey directed that sailmakers be sent on to Sackett's Harbour as well. He concluded "we have got a very fine sail loft here where they can work with great convenience."80

Lieut. Woolsey took time out of his busy schedule to reply to a letter written to him by John Drury, Esquire, of Marblehead, Massachusetts. Drury was the father of Lieutenant John Drury Jr., USN, a young officer with a promising future who served under Woolsey on board the Oneida. Woolsey explained to John Drury Sr. that because of the war there were many changes taking place in the naval establishment. He added that from the number of vessels preparing for service, he had not the least doubt that there would be a great increase in the number of commissioned officers.81  In order that young Drury may have an equal chance with the midshipmen acting as Lieutenants, "the majority of whom have probably more friends near the seat of government," Woolsey had no hesitation in acknowledging that he was not only satisfied
with young Drury as an officer and seaman but highly gratified that he had been placed under his command. Captain Leonard had also regarded Drury as a particularly attentive officer and a
brave and honorable man. Leonard had considered Drury as so attentive to duty that he hardly gave himself the time to eat his meals. Young Drury aspired to command a vessel of his own and was looking forward to the spring campaign with anticipation.82

Because of Captain Leonard's arrest, Lieutenant Jesse D. Elliott was transferred to the Madison which was directed by Chauncey to be prepared for sea as soon as possible. The Madison was completely rigged and all her guns were mounted by April 18, 1813. By this time, the ice in the harbor and Bay had broken up entirely. Chauncey's squadron was now ready to proceed as planned. He intended to sail for York by the first fair wind with a division of the Army under command of Brigadier-General  Pike whose star was rising.

Pike had been promoted to brigadier-general shortly after his arrival at Sackett's  Harbour. He was regarded as an excellent disciplinarian and considered by many the best general officer in
the army.83  It would only be a matter of time, many felt, before this officer would rise high in the
military or other public service. Some officers did not share this admiration, however, as Captain
John Walworth pointed out:
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"Col. Pike has this day reed. the appointment of Brigadier Gen. and is to command the 1st Brigade, the officers of his regiments almost detest him -- none of them call to see him except one or two Sap heads."84

Arduous frontier duty was affecting all ranks, especially those who were of weaker character. Sailing Masters Joseph Gamble, USN, and JohnS. Hutton, USN, were arrested on charges of ungentlemanly, unofficerlike conduct and habitual intoxication. Hutton was also to be tried for "deserting his quarters" at the time of an alarm.85  The accused were ordered confined to their
quarters on Navy Point until the decision of a court martial was delivered.

Gamble entered the navy just weeks before war was declared. At the time of his enlistment, he was unemployed. During the eight years before receiving his warrant, he had commanded merchant vessels that sailed out of Philadelphia. John Hutton was also an experienced seaman who had entered the navy on March 19, 1809 and married the daughter of a sailor. In 1810, he asked for and received a furlough to participate in a merchant voyage bound for Gottenburg, Sweden. In compliance with Great Britain's "Orders in Council," his ship touched land in England before continuing to the continent. Because of this stopover, the vessel was subject to
confiscation by France or it's  agents if stopped and searched. A Danish privateer operating under
a French "Letter of Marque," captured and confiscated Hutton's ship and its cargo. Hutton and the crew were held as prisoners for nearly 16 months before returning to the United States. With America's entry into the war, he was sent to Sackett's Harbour where he served on board the schooner Julia.86  Gamble and Hutton's irresponsible behavior and repeated drunkenness would help influence the outcome of future events at the place of their confinement on Navy Point.
Hutton enjoyed gambling and drinking to such excess that, within two hours of his release, he was inebriated and off gambling with the men. 87

The court martial of Sailing Master Hutton was convened and completed by mid-April. He was convicted of repeated intoxication and conduct unbecoming an officer. Furthermore he was sentenced to be discharged from the navy. Since the punishment of dismissal required the President's approval, the results were sent to the Navy Department it). Washington City. Chauncey described Hutton as an "old offender," an expression that he continually invoked. Hutton had now been arrested three times at Sackett's Harbour but had never been brought to trial. Chauncey exclaimed he was such a habitual drunkard that he was a disgrace to the service, and "I hope that the President will approve a sentence so just as Mister Hutton's."88

"I am totally innocent," Hutton protested and appealed in a letter to Secretary Jones, to use the influence "you are possessed of, with the President of the U.S. to mitigate the sentence of the court, be it what it may." Chauncey, Hutton claimed, had "arrested me, tried to have me broke."
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As an officer bearing a Warrant, he complained that he was even put in "IRONS"!  An infuriated
Hutton concluded, "Such is the tyranny practised here."



CHAPTER FOUR
		"Heaven  grant us sucess.. and Canada is ours" (Brigadier General Zebulon M. Pike, April 16, 1813)

"We may consider the upper Province as conquered" (Isaac Chauncey, April 27, 1813)

In front of Judge Sackett's mansion house overlooking the harbor at Market Square the new ship was framed up and carpenters began planking her. Chauncey described her as "a beautiful ship nearly as large as the Essex." She was to mount twenty-six long 24-pdr. guns for the purpose of battering the forts at Kingston. Meanwhile, troops staying behind for her protection were under the leadership of recently arrived Brigadier General John Chandler with Col. Macomb second in command.  Chandler and Macomb implemented strict camp discipline, cleanliness, and training to improve proficiency. Camp security was increased and soldiers were
not permitted to leave their respective encampments. All suttlers 1 and civilians were ordered out
of the cantonment areas and it was forbidden to sell spirits to the troops. Sentinels were instructed to halt any civilians on the grounds unless they provided fresh vegetables or other necessary provisions. Nearby the Albany Volunteers prepared the ground for a new encampment on twenty-eight acre Horse Island located three hundred yards off the mainland. Here at "Camp Volunteer," a guard house was built and tents were pitched? Macomb was convinced this was
the place the British would strike first if they attacked the Harbour.

Chauncey's squadron finally weighed anchor on April23, 1813, still without an answer from the Navy Secretary reguarding the nature of the command structure. Although Captain Leonard was left behind, his only brother Frederick, a sailing master, was on board the Julia. Also, Chauncey's most trusted pilot, William Vaughan was not allowed to go because he had been convicted of "provoking Captain Leonard while the latter was on duty and for not showing
proper respect towards his superior officer."3  Chauncey with Generals Pike and Dearborn,
Colonel Cromwell Pearce, 16th Regiment, Major Swan of the Quart rmaster Department and
1,800 troops embarked for York. York was garrisoned by a grenadier and battalion company of the 8th Foot, a company-sized detachment of the Royal Newfoundland Regiment, a company of the Glengarry Light Infantry Fencibles, the 3rd York Militia Regiment, 300 dockyard workers and 50-100 Mississauga and Chippewa Indians. As the ice had just left the harbors of the lake, the British clearly did not expect an attack so early in the season.

Chauncey was anxious to transport the crammed troops to their destination as quickly as possible because, "They, as well as my own men, will very soon become sickly, we have on board the Madison about 600 souls and many of the small vessels are even more crowded than ourselves."4  The fleet stretched out towards Stoney Point to the south of Sackett's Harbour as
stormy weather developed. It blew heavy squalls accompanied by driving rain. Not more than


1  18th-19th century term for merchandiser.
2 New York State Archives, Orderly book for New York Volunteers.  Oct. 2, 1812- July 6, 1813.
3 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG125, M-273 Courts Martial, Roll Nr. 4. Vaughn Court Martial.
4 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125-28, Captains Letters, Chauncey to Jones. April16-27, 1813.

D:\1812\Publications\Battle of Sackets Harbor\Chapter 04.docx  1/16/2013 9:09AM


half the troops could get below deck at one time. The Hamilton lost her fore gaff and the
Madison sprung her main top sail yard.5 Fearing worse, the fleet unceremoniously  cancelled its expedition and returned to the Harbour to wait out the storm.

Here, Chauncey took advantage of the delay to review the court martial proceedings of William Vaughn. Chauncey disagreed with the court's findings and overruled it. He did not disagree with the court that Leonard was on duty at the time of the dispute, however, he was not convinced that Vaughn called Leonard a "dammed little rascal" to his face) but rather muttered this after Leonard left Vaughn's presence. Chauncey was persuaded that Vaughn would act with more discretion in the future and because of his valuable service in the past and the need for experienced pilots, he pardoned the part of Vaughn's sentence which suspended him from rank, pay, and emoluments. After Vaughn received a public reprimand, (which was actually directed
against Leonard), Vaughn received his sword and returned to duty.6

With his favorite pilot restored to duty, Chauncey again prepared to set sail. His original proposal in early January to attack the shipbuilding center at Kingston was the key to the control of Lake Ontario and all country to the west including Lake Erie. But because of the steady influx of re-enforcements at Kingston, he and Dearborn believed Kingston should be side-stepped and the main offensive pushed westward toward York and Fort George. A large American army gathered at Niagara for an attack on Fort George, while the new ship at Sackett's Harbour was defended by a second force under Macomb. A third group prepared to sail from Sackett's
Harbour for the assault on York and eventually link up with the army at Niagara. Concentrated
together, these three forces could then attack Kingston and threaten Montreal in due course. The prospects for decisive victory had never seemed brighter, but because of splitting their forces, in the next few weeks, Chauncey and Dearborn were to encounter a bitter disappointment.

On April27, 1813, the first ever combined U.S. Army-Navy amphibious assault was a success. Chauncey wrote to Jones: "The American flag is flying upon the Fort at York." He described the event in detail: "We arrived here yesterday morning a1.1-d took a position about one mile southward and westward to the enemy's principal fort, and near the shore as we could with safety to the vessels." He and Dearborn fixed the landing site near the old French Fort called "Toronto."

Debarkation began about eight o'clock  in the morning and was completed near eleven. As a result of contrary winds, the landing craft were blown off course and exposed to heavy fire. The defenders had positioned in a dense wood near where the first troops landed. "But the officers and men overcame every obstacle," Chauncey exclaimed, because of their, "cool intrepidity." Their attack was so vigorous that the outnumbered British fled, leaving numbers of dead and wounded on the field. Once the troops were landed, Chauncey directed his schooners to sail near the forts so that they sustained a coordinated attack by the army and the fleet. Under a heavy fire from the British batteries, the schooners took a position about 600 yards off the main fort and
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	opened a heavy cannonade, "which did great execution and very much contributed to their final
 	destruction."7  Events appeared very propitious.		The troops landed and formed under the immediate command of Pike, who led their assault against the opposition's forts. Up to this point, the day had gone well for the Americans. Pike's
troops carried two redoubts and approached the principal work when the British, having previously laid a powder train, destroyed a hidden powder magazine. Chauncey reported:

Its effects on our troops was dreadful, having killed and wounded a great many and.. the ever to be lamented General Pike who fell at the head of his column by a contusion received by a heavy stone from the magazine.  His death at this time is much to be regretted as he had the perfect confidence of the Major General,  and his known activity, zeal, and experience,  make his loss a national one.8

Within the past year, four American generals had failed or faltered in the attempts to invade
Canada, and now the one man who offset their disgrace met his death doing so.

Surgeon William Beaumont, 16th Infantry, entered in his journal that above 300 were wounded and about sixty killed dead by stones that fell like a shower of hail. About twenty British were also killed and wounded by the explosion but their main body had retreated out of range, setting out for l(ingston. By two p.m. the American replaced the British flag and, at four p.m., "our troops were in quite possession of the town." Dearborn learned Pike had been wounded and hurriedly went on shore to assume command. Pike was carried on board the Commodore's ship and, "as the general was breathing his last, the British standard was brought to him; he made a sign to have it placed under his head, and died without a groan, though his
sufferings must have been extremely severe."9

In the retreat the British had set fire to their warehouses containing large quantities of naval stores as well as the large ship, Sir Isaac Brock, nearly finished on the stocks. This ship, intended to mount 30 guns, would have been ready for launching in 4 weeks. The British that eluded capture withdrew as rapidly as possible towards Kingston accompanied by most of the ship carpenters. Their work at York was abruptly halted, but they were to prove invaluable in completing the ship under construction  at Kingston.

The Americans encamped in garrison that night while a most distressing scene ensued as nothing but groans of wounded and agonies of the dying were to be heard. Surgeons, covered with blood, cut off arms, legs and trepanned heads to rescue their patients from premature deaths. Doctor Beaumont grieved;



7 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45. Microfilm Series M125, Captains Letters. Chauncey to Jones, April
16-27, 1813.
8 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains Letters, Chauncey to Jones, April
16-27, 1813.
9 Franklin B. Hough,A History of Jefferson County in the State ofNew York. (Orvid, N.Y., W. E. Morrison & Co.)
pp. 483.


To hear the poor creatures crying, "Oh, Dear! Oh Dear! Oh, my God, my God! Do, Doctor, Doctor! Do cut off my leg, my arm, my head, to relieve me from misery! I can't live, I can't live!" would have rent the heart of steel, and shocked the insensibility of the most hardened assassin and the cruellest savage. It awoke my liveliest sympathy, and I cut and slashed for 48 hours without food or sleep. My God/ 10

The Americans captured two vessels, the Duke of Gloucester which was undergoing repairs and the privately-owned General Hunter. Because of her potential military value, the General Hunter was burned by the Americans. 11 The owner was compensated by a three hundred pound
payment confiscated from the captured provincial treasury. The Duke of Gloucester was repaired and sailed to Sackett's Harbour as a prize ship. But the Prince Regent escaped having already left York on the 24th for Kingston. The Americans also found twenty-eight  cannons of different calibers from 32 to 6-pdrs., not to mention blankets, large quantities of fixed ammunition, shot, shells and munitions of war of various kinds in boxes destined for Niagara and Malden.
Although the British managed to burn considerable stores, a fair amount of cables, cordage, canvas and tools fell into American hands.

While at York a number of homes were broken into and plundered by some American troops as well as by "lawless elements of the Canadian population."12 The occupation of York ended with British deserters in American service setting fire to the legislative and administrative buildings. Once arrangements  were made for what booty could be taken on board, it was
transported back to the Harbour. The rest was destroyed. Chauncey believed the enemy had been dealt a serious blow from which he could not recover. If the Americans succeed in taking Fort George, he boasted, "we may consider the upper Province as conquered."13 His vessels then prepared to proceeded to Niagara to implement the next phase of the campaign.

But on May 5, the fleet still loitered off York because of boisterous weather. An irritated Chauncey fired off a scathing response to a communique sent to him by Woolsey on board the Oneida. Woolsey and other officers were surprised that Chauncey left the squadron in what they
considered "an open situation upon the enemy's coast."14 "Now sir,"· he bursted at Woolsey, "as I
am only accountable to the Secretary of the Navy for my official conduct, it is not the business of those placed under my command to question the propriety of it. When I left the ship I left certain orders to be executed." Chauncey uncompromisingly stressed that:
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Lieut. Elliott, was the organ by which those orders were communicated  and NOT the officer with whom they originated  My pendant was my representative  and as long as that was flying on board this Ship, every signal made from her ought to have been obeyed, and hereafter SHALL be obeyed
whether I am on board or not, and if anyone should be so hardy as to refuse or neglect to obey
such signal, I shall use my exertions to bring such offender to punishment. As to the opinion of the COMMISSIONED OFFICERS which you have inclosed, it is matter of indifference to me
what their opinions are. I am however, a little surprised that such disorganizing  principles should come from some of them unless it is from a hope that by the accidental absence of their     	commanding officer for a few hours, they will also have an opportunity to play the commodore.15
Chauncey may have been dissatisfied with the lack of response from Washington concerning
the creation of a command structure in dealing with the army and offensive operations, and he was not going to allow any subordinates  to step out of line within his own command.

The wounded that could be quartered, with the remains of General Pike and captured stores, were subsequently placed on board the Asp and Gold Hunter. One of them was Captain Leonard's  brother, Frederick, who fell ill of fatigue during the Julia's attack on the batteries. Another sailor overcome was Lieut. John Drury. Chauncey, still hovering off York, offered his condolences to Mrs. Pike who was temporarily residing at Brownville. In a touching letter the old salt penned:

It has fell to my lot to announce to you the afflicting intelligence of the death of my friend and mess mate, your much respected and valuable husband  He fell on the 27th instant at the head of his column and in the arms of victory. To a mind like yours, madam, fortified by mental acquirements and reflection,  the best consolation that I can offer for so severe a loss, is to remind you that Genl. Pike died the death of a Soldier bravely fighting the battles of his country, beloved and respected by all who had the pleasure of knowing him. His memory will be held dear by
every soldier and his country will do it justice. Presuming that it would be agreeable to you that the General should be interred, in the United States, I have made arrangements to send his mortal part to Sackett's Harbour. 16

Chauncey carried out one other difficult duty. He sent the British flag brought on board the flagship Madison at York to Mrs. Zebulon Pike:

I presented it to General Pike before his death, as a trophy which he so gallantly won. I placed it under his head where it remained until his death. I now present it to you as a memento of the first victory gained over the enemy in Canada.17

By the first fair wind the Asp and Gold Hunter sailed to Sackett's Harbour, where the wounded were hospitalized  and the body of Pike was placed in Brigadier General Chandler's custody for burial on American soil. Army officers wore black mourning crepe and a mourning


15

16 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains Letters, Chauncey to Secretary of the Navy. P. 315.
17 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M125, Letters from Commanders,  Chauncey to
Jones, April16-27, 1813.


gun was fired for thirty days. Hundreds of civilians and military alike turned out to show final respects. They escorted the famed explorer's remains to his resting place in the powder magazine near the Fort Tompkins blockhouse.  After the eulogies, the memory of Chandler's announcement of the capture of York must have echoed in the ears of many of those assembled, as the
General's body was laid to rest amidst grim solemnities.

The enemy have not yet to learn that American soldiers and seamen retain the bravery and intrepidity of their Fathers and that when led into battle like them, their Fathers, they are
determz.ned to conquer.. or dz' e. 18

Once word reached Kingston of York's demise, Captain Gray urged another large ship built to replace the Sir Isaac Brock. He ordered timber cut for the ship as soon as he learned shipwrights had eluded capture along with elements of the King's 8th and Glengarries. A new ship would help recover losses at York and was the only way the British could retrieve naval ascendency. "I am far from thinking the cause lost, as we have the principal part of our Naval force, and with the Sir George Prevost, (shortly to be renamed the Wolfe)19 and the brig on the stocks, I have every reason to believe we shall be able to cope with the enemy."20  He thought it advisable to redouble efforts in the shipyard and a ship building race began in earnest.

The vessels available to Captain Sir James Yeo when he arrived at Kingston in beginning of May included: the newly constructed Wolfe, twenty-two guns, (four of which were 68 pdr. carronades),21 capable of carrying a crew of 220, Royal George twenty guns, crew 200, the Brig Moira sixteen guns, crew 100, and the Beresford twelve gun schooner, crew eighty, formerly the
Prince Regent, the Simcoe, eight guns, a crew of about fifty, the Sir Sydney Smith, a schooner of twelve guns, crew eighty, the Lady Murray, a schooner with about four guns, and two gunboats, each armed with a carronade.22 In spite of the losses at York, it was a formidable and growing armada.

Sir James Yeo, RN, the new British naval commander was the perfect choice for the task assigned him.23 Born in 1782, he had joined the navy at age eleven. He once captured a French


18 New York State Archives, Orderly Book ofNew York Volunteers,  Sackets Harbour, J. Johnson Asst. A. Genl. Saml. Parsons Actg. Adjt. May 5, 1813.
19 Prevost himself urged the name of the ship changed to Wolf before it was launched.
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22 National Archives ofCanada. RG 8. C series, reel729. March 13, 1813.
23 YEO, Sir James Lucas, naval officer; (Oct. 7, 1782-Aug. 21, 1818). Born in Hampshire, England, Yeo was the son of a victualler to the Royal Navy. Following a brief schooling James joined the Royal Navy in 1793 as a boy volunteer. Promoted lieutenant 1797, advanced to commander in 1805 and captain in 1807. Typically, he captured his own first command, the 22-gun French privateer Confidence, during a lighting raid on June 4, 1805 on Muros, a small fortified port on the northwest coast of Spain. In early 1811 he was assigned to the 32-gun Southhampton  and ordered to Jamaica. On March 19, 1813 he was appointed commodore and commander-in-chief on the Great Lakes. Prior to this date he had never commanded  a capital ship, much less a squadron, but in his new assignment he was strictly enjoined never to undertake operations without the full concurrence  and approbation  of Sir George Prevost. Yeo and his 437 officers and other ranks disembarked  at Quebec on May 5, 1813 and proceeded to Kingston, U.C.
Following the war, he was ordered home to Britain to answer for the Plattsburgh  fiasco, where he placed the blame 	I
squarely on Sir George Prevost who died before the court martial convened. Yeo and other officers involved were
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i
privateer and a fortress with only fifty men in a lightning raid while off the Spanish coast. Recognized as a bold practitioner of unconventional  sea warfare, Yeo rapidly rose in rank. In
I
I.	1807, he successfully evacuated the Portuguese royal family to Brazil in the very teeth of
i
Napoleon's invasion of that country. With only 400 men, he later captured a fortress garrisoned
by 1,200 French troops and 200 cannon, thereby seizing French Guiana for England. Because of these extraordinary acts, he was awarded the Knight's Cross of the Order of St. Benedict by the Portuguese Government, the first Protestant so honored - and in 1810, a knighthood. In 1811, he was assigned to the first rate, Southhampton, but was shortly thereafter transferred to Canada.24

Yeo arrived at Quebec during the first week of May on board the troop transport Woolwich accompanied by 437 officers and sailors. Spurred on by news that York had fallen, not a moment was lost in getting to Kingston. Prevost made every effort to provide the newcomers with all that was necessary for their assignment. He also visited Kingston to inspect the defenses and examine the progress in shipbuilding.  For the good of the war effort, the newly arrived Royal Navy officers immediately replaced appointees from the Provincial Marine. Straightaway the British began preparations for regaining ascendancy on Lake Ontario.

Although the U.S. fleet finally appeared off Niagara on May 9, valuable time was being lost. The troops disembarked near Fort Niagara for the assault on Fort George but the men were in such a sickly and depressed state, Dearborn thought it necessary to give them time to restore
their health and spirits while waiting for reinforcements.  The delay caused one concerned officer, Captain John Walworth of the 6th Infantry to write home; "the longer the delay, the harder the fight." He continued:

Every preparation is making for a vigorous attack on Fort George, which is the strongest hold the enemy has in upper Canada- but we are superior in Artillery- and will give them a hot day of it-I expect the attack will commence.. soon.. - unless Gen. Dearborn gets in one of his
fits of indecision- P5

Dearborn decided to wait until Colonel Winfield Scott, due from Oswego with 600 or 700 men, joined him while others arrived daily by way of Buffalo. Among them was fifty-nine year old Princeton graduate Brigadier-General  Morgan Lewis. Lewis served at Brandywine and Saratoga in the Revolutionary  War and as governor ofNew York from 1804-1807. Furthermore he was a personal friend of James Madison and brother-in-law of War Secretary Armstrong. Nevertheless Dearborn's army had less than 1,000 effectives, with about 200 sick.




all honorably acquitted, responsibility having been placed with Prevost. Yeo, in poor health, was appointed commander-in-chief on the west coast of Africa with a special responsibility  for anti-slavery patrol, a congenial posting since he was a convinced  abolitionist. Yeo's assignment proved to be his last. He died at sea, August 21,
1818, unmarried.
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25  Capt. John Walworth to Col. J. Simonds. May 13, 1813.


Dearborn and Chauncey determined the fleet should return to Sackett's Harbour and bring back an additional1,000 men of General Chandler's command for the attack on Fort George. This, they realized, would weaken Sackett's Harbour to a point where the British at Kingston might be tempted to take advantage of the situation. Dearborn concluded, therefore, that Colonel Backus' 400 dismounted Light Dragoons, 500 men of the 11th Regiment from Burlington, Vermont, with 300 volunteers and a full company of Macomb's Artillery should serve as a garrison for the defence of the place. Additional pieces of artillery were ordered mounted around the Harbour. Although measures were taken to protect Sackett's Harbour, the delay caused all chance of surprise to be lost on the Niagara Frontier.

Dearborn requested Jacob Brown "to hold 3 to 400 men of the immediate vicinity in
readiness to aid the garrison in the event of an attack."26  Brown later claimed Dearborn "desired" him to proceed to the Harbour and "take the command." Although offered a colonel's
commission in the regular army by the Madison administration in early 1813, Brown chose to decline. This was not from unwillingness to serve, but from determination  not to take a lower rank than he held in the militia. Brown "felt he was fitted for greater emergencies and was content patiently to wait until he should be better appreciated."27

Chauncey left the Governor Tompkins and Conquest at Niagara to watch British movements and to provide assistance to the Army. On May 11 he returned to Sackett's Harbour with the Madison, Fair American, Hamilton! Julia! Growler! Asp! Raven! Duke of Glouce  ter, and Oneida. The first communication Chauncey received from Washington upon his arrival at Sackett's Harbour granted him the authority to convene a court martial for Leonard. He replied to the Secretary: "I shall avail myself of that authority the moment that the public service will
admit of it, at present it is impossible."28

With the campaign well under way, Leonard was still twisting in the wind without hope of a speedy court martial. To add insult to injury, Leonard requested he be allowed to receive his sword back as they were on an enemy frontier and in danger of attack. Chauncey refused, facetiously granting him permission to carry a midshipman's dirk instead.

In order to assess if the enemy's  fleet was prepared for action before returning to Niagara, Chauncey dispatched the Lady of the Lake on May 14, under a flag of truce to Kingston. Ostensibly, the mission was to take a British officer captured at York on his parole. When the mission returned to Sackett's Harbour, Chauncey was informed that the Royal George, Earl of Moira! Prince Regent and Simcoe were ready for sea and the new ship Wolfe had her lower masts in, rigging and tops overhead and she too was nearly ready for action. Chauncey was also told


26 Genl. Brown claims he was ordered by Dearborn to take command of this post. There is no demonstrated evidence that this was the case; on the contrary, as evidenced by Dearborn's letter of May 13, 1813 to Armstrong he told Brown "to aid the garrison in the event of an attack" Source: National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221 Roll 52, Nr. 59, Letters to the Secretary of War, Dearborn to Armstrong. Headquarters Niagara May 13, 1813.
27 Charles J. Peterson, The Military Heroes ofthe War of 1812: With a Narrative of the War, (Philadelphia:  William
A. Leary & Co., 1849), pp.143.
28 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Letters recieved by the Secretary of the
Navy, Chauncey to Jones, May 11, 1813.
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that a captain of the Royal Navy came on board the Lady of the Lake making numerous inquiries concerning the ship building at Sackett's Harbour. The Americans were even able to get a hold
of, and bring back, a Montreal newspaper which mentioned that eight officers of the Royal Navy, among whom was a rear admiral, had passed through that city for Kingston a few days before.29

Under those circumstances,  Chauncey was even more determined not to leave Sackett's Harbour and the ship on the stocks without protection. Because of the readiness of the enemy's fleet and the exposed state of Sackett's Harbour with so many American troops away on the Niagara Frontier, Chauncey did not feel justified in leaving the village entirely without naval security, particulary as the new ship might be easily burnt by an enemy assault. He dispached a message to Dearborn: "I hope that you will be perfectly prepared to act as soon as I arrive as I should not feel satisfied to keep the fleet long in that part of the Lake while the enemy has such
force at Kingston and commanded  by an experienced and enterprising officer."30

With the tension of the campaign mounting, Chauncey ordered his brother, Wolcott, with the Fair American and Lieutenant Samuel W. Adams, USN, with the Pert to convoy troops to Niagara and return to Sackett's Harbour as quickly as possible. This accomplished, they were ordered to cruise between Sackett's Harbour and Tonti Island31 near Kingston to watch the movements of the British in case of an attack on the Harbour. The Commodore warned his brother to be careful in approaching Kingston and not get so near as to endanger his vessels by calm or sudden shift of wind. The Fair American and Pert were not to cruise too far westward in order to avoid the risk of being cut off by a surprise manoeuvre of the British. If the British were
to come out of Kingston and move towards the Harbour, "you will immediately return to port, moor your vessel inside the bar (Navy Point) and defend the new ship to the last extremity."32 If the Americans were driven from their vessels, they were to retreat to the blockhouses where
artillery was to be ready.
At all events, if this place should be attacked let the defense of the new· ship be such as to do yourself credit and silence clamour. I leave the officers and men on the point under your direction. They ought to be frequently exercised at the guns mounted there and see that they are
well supplied with powder and ball. If the enemy should make a movement before I return you
will dispatch some fast sailing boat to give me information as soon as possible. Trusting much to
your discretion and judgement  I shall forbear dwelling longer upon the importance of your command.33




29 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M125, Letters from Commanders, Chauncey to
Jones, May 15, 1813.
30 University of Michigan, William L. Clements Library, Chauncey letterbooks, May 16, 1813.
31 Present day Amherst Island.
32 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Micrfilm Series M125, Letters from Commanders, Chauncey to
Jones, May 16, 1813.
33 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series, Letters from Commanders, Chauncey to Jones, May 16, 1813.
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On May 16th, Chauncey wrote Dearborn that he learned the British fleet was ready to sail. He voiced concern for his new ship and the fact she might easily be burned by a fast and furious assault on Sackett's Harbour. He decided to leave the Fair American and Pert behind to induce the British command "to think we have a strong force in the vicinity."34 Rather than order the
whole fleet to sail full of troops to Niagara at the same time, he had them sail discretely two at a time. At the last minute Chauncey left some additional sailors behind to work guns mounted on Navy Point should the enemy attempt a coup de main.

Macomb ordered extra cartridges for the 32 pdr. at Fort Tompkins and had all other guns and equipment prepared for possible assault. In case of alarm the troops were ordered to concentrate
at Fort Tompkins and Fort Volunteer with ample ammunition to defend their positions. Troops of the 1st Brigade were to assemble in Pike's cantonment and those bivouacked near the Basswood Cantonment were to form west of their encampment in the rear of the new and unfinished row of barracks - The 2nd Brigade were to take post in their encampment west ofFort Tompkins, while the Albany volunteers remained between the unfinished row of huts and the huts in which they were housed. All were expected to turn out at the shortest notice and in an orderly fashion at the
first sounds of alarm.35

As camp security depended on the vigilance and good conduct of the guards and sentinels, the utmost order and regularity were demanded by Macomb and Chandler. The effort to increase security around the post resulted in the arrest and court martial of a Captain Skinner of Col.
Mill's Volunteers. On the night of April 28, while commanding a guard detail, Skinner left his
post at the Guard house to go into the village for a meal. During his absence, a shackled prisoner who was under sentence of death somehow managed to escaped. Captain Skinner, as the officer in command of the guard house, was charged with disobedience of orders, neglect of duty, and· was consequently court martialled.

Skinner was exonerated of these charges by the court but General Chandler, now the ranking officer at Sackett's Harbour, disapproved of the court's verdict. He stated that no officer could be justified in quitting his duties to go for meals, especially in the neighborhood of the enemy. To establish the precept that an officer may quit his guard without orders from the commanding officer or the officer of the day, would cause the destruction of all military discipline and perhaps, contribute to the ruin of the country. He reasoned that:
If the Captain of the guard can quit his guard and leave it in care of the subaltern, why may not the subaltern on the same principle quit the guard and leave it in charge of the sergeant and the sergeant also leave it in charge of the corporal, and why not the whole guard quit on the same principle. To approve the decision of the court would countenance a most dangerous principle. The General pronounces that no officer in the future will hazzard his military reputation nor the safety of the army by quitting the guard to which he belongs until regularly relieved 36



34 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M125, Letters from Commanders,  Chauncey to
Jones, May 16, 1813.
35 New York State Archives, Macomb's Orderly Book, May 13, 1813.
36 New York State Archives, New York Volunteers orderly book and John C. Fredriksen, ed. "The War of 1812 in
Northern New York: The observations  of Captain Rufus Mcintire." New York History, 1987. pp.297-323.

Page 10                                                                                   Battle of Sackett's Harbour- Chapter 4

Chapter 4 - Page 11



Chandler was also deeply concerned about another potentially serious difficulty dealing with officer rank and time in grade. He wrote Armstrong asking, if for example, a commanding general were killed in action, which of two colonels serving under him, both appointed on the same day, were to assume command? Chandler felt the question should be addressed as soon as possible before serious difficulties arose on the field of battle. He asked, "Might not even a
defeat be produced for want of rank being settled?"37 Chandler also pointed out to the Secretary
that the policy of filling vacancies with people other than regular army officers was creating uneasiness and dissatifaction in the army.

The officers say that however great their services, or however well performed, they can have no hope of promotion,  and of course no encouragement  of remaining in the Army... and although the government certainly has the right to make appointments without consulting the officers of the Army, I thought it might not be considered improper for me to make you acquainted with the
effect which is likely to be produced by the appointment of citizens...38

A few months earlier, Chauncey had asked similar questions of the Navy Department, and was still waiting for an answer. With the summer campaign under way, the task of developing a command structure and a system to provide for promotions based on merit would have to wait until officials in Washington would act.

In the meantime, 147 men from the Constitution arrived at the Harbour from Boston. One of these men died of fever on the tenth. On the 13th Captain Leonard's brother, Sailing Master Leonard, died in the hospital succumbing to the illness contracted at York.39  Chauncey
complained to Jones that urgent medical assistance was needed, "...as we have but two surgeons (one of which is very sick) and three mates for the whole fleet and hospital together." He asked for an additional surgeon and two mates for the new ship as soon as possible.40

Lieut. John Drury was convalescing and soon he would be healthy enough to return to duty. Upwards of 100 sailors were sick in the hospital, many with "lake fever," the catch-all name for any number of deadly diseases. A sailor from the east coast wrote home that Sackett's Harbour:

has been the grave for a great number of our eastern sailors as well as landsmen. The lake fever has made most barbarous  ravages among those whose natures were adapted only to the invigorating salts of the ocean. We have but a few hundreds left, fit for even fresh-water duty.






37 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG107, M222, Nr. 136, Letters recieved by the Secretary of the Army, Chandler to Armstrong, May 1, 1813.
38 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG107, M222, Nr. 136, Letters recieved by the Secretary of the Army, Chandler to Armstrong, May 1, 1813.
39 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M147, ReelS, Nr.69, Letters recieved Leonard to
Jones. June 3, 1813.
40 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45, Microfilm Series M125, Letters from Commanders, Chauncey to


Reinforcements are arriving -- but before they are fit for action they must be seasoned...Heaven grant a speedy end may be put to this War, or wiser men have the management  ofit.41

In spite of the demands of the campaign staring at him, Chauncey took the time to reply to a letter written by a Mr. James Hutton, of Philadelphia, on behalf of the "old offender," Sailing Master Hutton, who had been arrested for leaving his quarters during an alarm, and habitual intoxication. Chauncey wrote:

Your brother's conduct has been extremely reprehensible  since he has been under my command. He has been several times arrested and restored to his duty by me for the sake of his family. Once in particular after I had ordered him to his duty he was intoxicated in two hours after. His habits are bad: he drinks to excess and gambles and that frequently with the common soldiers. He has deceived you as to his conduct. His dissipated habits are too firmly fixed for him to remain in publick service. He will bring disgrace upon himself and those with whom he is connected. 42

Chauncey and Macomb were determined to remain at the Harbour until troops arrived in sufficient strength to protect the ship and material stored there while General Chandler with elements of the 6th, 9th, 14th, 15th, 16, and the 25th Infantry, a rifle detachment, set sail for Niagara. Macomb was so certain the British would strike, that he sent expresses out to hurry oncoming reinforcements of Colonel Backus's  Dragoons and the 9th, 21st and 23th Infantry
under Lt. Colonel Tuttle.43

The horsemen's orders were to find Backus and Tuttle and dash back with them so that Macomb might show them the grounds and give an idea of the best mode of defense. Once Backus was located, his second-in-command, Major Laval, was to lead the troops on to Sackett's Harbour while Major Aspinwall moved his elements of the 9th and 21st north by way of Oswego. With these troops in place, Macomb would rest somewhat easier.

To further ensure the Harbour's security, Macomb ordered Captain William A. Henry's company, 3rd Artillery, to remain behind at Sackett's Harbour in garrison until reenforced by Backus' Dragoons. The Colonel wrote in his Orders of May 13th that he was aware those left behind would not be able to participate in the attack against Fort George and would therefore be disappointed. But the duty assigned them was of the utmost importance. "No less than the protection of the Harbour with the ship and naval stores within it, nor does he believe they will
be the last to see the enemy."44  Macomb's retention of an entire company of skilled gunners
proved a fortunate decision.

On May 21, Backus'  Dragoons finally trudged into Sackett's Harbour. Macomb provided Backus not only a plan of the Harbour indicating the only points assailable, but he carefully explained the best way to position the troops in case of attack. He also gave Backus a letter from




41  "From Sacket's Harbor April6," Columbian Centinel, (Boston, Mass.), 28 Aprill813,
42 New York Historical Society, Manuscript Division, Chauncey Letter Books, Chauncey to Mr. James Hutton, May
18, 1813.
43  Library of Congress, Manuscript  division, Macomb to Smith, June 24, 1813.
44 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG107, Microfilm Series, M221, Macomb's Artillery Orders, May 13,
1813.
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Dearborn to authorize Brown to call out the militia should the Harbour be threatened.45  Macomb wrote to Armstrong, "I have given over to him [Backus] the command of this place with such information and instructions  as are necessary for his guide in the defense of this place."46  That same evening, Chauncey embarked 300 of Macomb's Regiment and set sail for Niagara. Tuttle and Aspinwall's units were still on the march. Tuttle and his men were marching directly
overland from Utica to Sackett's Harbour while Aspinwall's contingent was nearing Oswego for transport across Lake Ontario by bateaux.

Macomb had directed that only those fit for hard campaigning be taken to Niagara. No woman or child was allowed to move out with the troops. A list of names of men and women remaining behind was provided to Major Ephraim Whitlock, 15th Infantry, a Revolutionary War veteran. He was to take charge of those left behind, some of whom were wounded at York and others convalescing in the military hospital. On May 22, Col. Backus issued his first general order at "Headquarters  Sackett's Harbour," requesting the senior hospital surgeon to make a
report of all soldiers under his direction as soon as possible. If a British assault materilized, some of the disabled would defend the new ship out of necessity.

Meanwhile at Fort Niagara, a worried Dearborn dispatched Major Swan with the fast sailing Lady of the Lake back to the Harbour with orders for Macomb to remain there because of the Major-General's  fear for the safety of the new ship. But Swan's  schooner unknowingly sailed past Chauncey and Macomb in the night and the connection was missed. The next morning Macomb reported to a surprised and unhappy Dearborn at Niagara. Dearborn told Macomb that he intended to send him back to the Harbour as soon as the situation would allow.

In the meantime, the 3rd Artillery formed a reserve for the attack on Fort George. Swan arrived at the Harbour only to learn that Macomb had already departed. As a final precaution he brought added instructions from Dearborn for Brown to call out the militia to assist the garrison if the British were to attack the shipbuilding effort.47 	·

Six days later, on May 27, 1813, Dearborn and Chauncey's plans appeared to be unfolding as planned on the Niagara front. Chauncey informed Secretary Jones, "Sir: I have it in my power to say that the American flag is flying upon Fort George. We were in quite possession of all the fort at twelve o'clock."48 Before evacuating the fort, the British blew up their ammunition, spiked
their guns, and withdrew southward to Queenston. They then marched about eighteen miles westward and rallied at Beaver Dams where supplies had been stored and other units were to rendezvous.



45 George H. Richards, Esq. A Capt. of Macomb's Artillery in the late War. Memoir of Alexander Macomb. (New
York: Melrate, Banks & Co., 1828), p 58.
46 National Archives, Washington D.C., RG107. L.R. M-153 172. Macomb to Armstrong, May 21, 1813.

47 George Richards, Memoirs  of Alexander Macomb, (New York: Melrath and Company,  ca.1830), p.59.
48 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45. Microfilm Series M125, Letters from Commanders, Chauncey to


Unfortunately for Dearborn, he failed to press home his victory by pursuing and capturing the British forces intact. Although the Americans were in "quiet possession" of Fort George, the fugitive 1,800 British troops under General John Vincent were still a powerful, intact fighting force that would have to be dealt with, at some other point, but in the very near future.

Meanwhile, Samuel Stacy, an American from Ogdensburgh, quietly slithered into Sackett's Harbour. As a cover, he told people he was headed from Ogdensburgh to the western country to collect money owed him, at the same time making numerous inquires concerning the fleet, when they would sail, the force of the new ship as well as anything else of military interest. After learning all he could, this spy in British hire, rushed this information to British contacts at
Kingston.49








49 National Archives, Washington  D.C., American State Papers. Class 5. Military Affairs. Volume 1. July 4, 1813 and collaborated in pay records ofNational Archives of Canada. RG 8. C series, reel2647, p.193, 197.


CHAPTER FIVE

The Decision to Attack Sackett's Harbour

"Aeolus is a God, he has whims; He was a Yankee on that Day."

(Captain Jacques Viger, Canadian Voltigeurs)

Chauncey's fears for the safety of Sacket's  Harbor were justified. On 26 May 1813, Prevost directed Yeo to reconnoitre the American base with all his available warships to confirm Stacy's intelligence. Before sailing, Yeo wrote to his naval superiors at the Admiralty in London that the Americans had the advantage and they would shortly be reinforced by additional ships building. He realized that his enemy, "if not checked, will soon get too formidable for an attack to be made on them." The British naval commander was determined, therefore, to assume the initiative and attack Sackett's  Harbour as soon as possible "as the possession of Upper Canada must depend on
whoever can maintain the naval superiority on Lake Ontario."1

Returning to Kingston at about 1 A.M. on 27 May, Yeo informed Prevost that Stacy's information was correct-- the American squadron was not at the Harbor. Clearly, the Americans warships were supporting their army in the Niagara and, sensing an opportunity, the two British commanders decided to mount a "surgical strike" against Sacket's Harbor with the intention of destroying the new ship on the stocks?

The force assembled to undertake this operation included the greater part of the Kingston garrison. This garrison had recently been augmented by six companies of the 104th Regiment of Foot from Lower C?-nada and part of the 8th Foot which had retreated from York. Prevost was therefore able to muster about eleven and a half companies of infantry drawn from eight different units, most of which were British and Canadian regulars. Detachments from the 1st, 8th and
1OOth Foot, all British regular units recruited in the United Kingdom, were included as were four companies of the 104th Foot, a regular unit recruited in Canada. Elements of two Canadian fencible regiments (units raised for service in British North America· only), the Royal Newfoundland and Glengarry Light Infantry, filled out the assault force as did* companies of
the Voltigeurs Canadians or, to give them their official name, the 'Provincial  Corp of Light
Infantry, (Canadian Voltigeurs).  This unit was a French-speaking   colonial corps, raised under the authority and pay of the province of Lower Canada (modern Quebec) to serve for the duration of the war.3  Thus, in terms of national composition, nearly two thirds of the assault force were Canadians.4

Analysis reveals that most formations were the flank companies of their regiments, and primarily light infantry. Included were the grenadier companies of the 8th, 1OOth, and 104th Foot, while both the Voltigeurs and Glengarries were light infantry regiments. Dispite their elite



1 National Archives of Canada. RG 8. Vol. II, C series. Yeo to Croker. May 26, 1813.
2 National Archives of Canada.  RG 8. Vol. II, C series. 1219. Prevost to Bathurst. May 26, 1813. pp.44.
3 Rene Chartrand, "Quebec Voltigeurs," Military Illustrated, Vol. 58 (March 1993), pp.l0-16.
4 Donald E. Graves, "The Attack on Sackets Harbour, 29 May 1813: The British/Canadian Side. (Ottawa: Directorate of History, Department  ofNational Defense). Unpublished.
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status, the greater part of the infantry were green troops who had not seen action -- only the 1st,
8th, and Newfoundland  Regiments had heard shots fired in anger.5

The British officers that commanded these troops, however, were veterans. Colonel Edward Baynes of the Glengarry Light Infantry, adjutant-general of the British Army in Canada, was in nominal command of the landing force. A veteran of twenty-three years service, Baynes had seen action in South Africa, the East Indies and the Mediterranean before being sent to North America in 1807. Captain Andrew Gray assisted him as Acting Deputy Quarter Master General. Under Baynes were three experienced regimental officers: Colonel* Robert Young and Major Thomas Evans of the 8th Foot, and Major William Drummond of the 104th. Young, the commanding officer of the 8th, was a veteran infantryman who had seen considerable  service in Europe and North America but he was in poor health. Evans was also an experienced  soldier who fought
with Wellington in Spain before being placed on half-pay status in 1811 due to wounds suffered there.*6 William Drummond was a veteran light infantryman who had fought in the East Indies and Mediterranean before being posted to Canada. Rashly brave, aggressive to a fault,
Drummond was an inspired leader and worshipped by his subordinates.7

Also included in the landing force was a small detachment of native troops, under the command of Lieutenant-Interpreter Bernard St. Germain and Interpreter Charles Anderson of the Indian Department, comprised of thirty-seven warriors of the Mississsaga  and Mohawk nations from Tyendinaga (modern Deseronto, Ontario) near I(ingston.8  The warriors were perceived by
many to be brave and fearless but one regular member of the assault force, Sergeant James
Comins of the 8th Foot, who thought they were

Cowardly and Pusillanimous  Filthy Crew, it matters not what others have said of them, I shall give them their due. So far from being those brave warriors and have such a Contempt of Death as you may have heard before, I conceive them to be the most cowardly despicable  characters I
ever saw (except scalloping [sic] a defenceless man or plundering the wretched inhabitants be an act of bravery) their cruelty exceeds everything I have seen among enemies, it is an old proverb that a Cruel man was never Brave which is fully exemplified in the Indians.9

Nevertheless the regulars of the Kingston garrison were the products of stern British discipline and the Indians accompanying them were determined to prevent more of their lands





5 Donald E. Graves, "The Attack on Sackets Harbour, 29 May 1813: The British/Canadian Side. (Ottawa: Directorate of History, Department  ofNational Defense.) Unpublished.
6 Donald Graves, "The Attack on Sackets Harbour, 29 May 1813: The British /Canadian Side. (Ottawa: Directorate ofHistory, Department ofNational Defense). Unpublished.
7 Graves, Donald E. "The Attack on Sackets Harbour, 29 May 1813: The British/Canadian Side." ( Ottawa: Directorate of History, Department  of National Defence). Unpublished.
8 National Archives of Canada, Microfilm M-8. Jacques Viger papers. "Ma Sabredache,"  Vol. IV. Viger to his wife. June 12, 1813. Translated by Edger Moreau, N.Y.S. Education Department Foreign Language Division. Published by the Watertown Daily Times, May 28 to June 4, 1962. Hereafter cited as: National Archives of Canada, Viger.
9 Ed. Norman C. Lord, A.L.A., Sergt. James Commins 8th Foot, "The War on the Canadian Frontier, 1812-14," Army Historical Research, pp. 199.


from falling into the hands of the Americans. Together they were eager to take possession of and destroy the new ship and stores at Sackett's Harbour.10

Eighteen-year-old  Lieutenant John LeCouteur of the 104th remembered May 27, 1813 well. "We were suddenly ordered to march from Point Frederick to Kingston. The Captain left me behind to see the baggage forwarded and I never thought of hurrying." 11 Le Couteur was
leisurely carrying out his duties, when, suddenly, a light infantryman came running to him
saying, "Oh Sir, the troops and our men are forming in I(ingston, the bugles are sounding and the drums rolling- there is some great move, for the Men of War's boats are pulling to Kingston."12

Hearing these words LeCouteur hurried to join his unit, arriving in time to grab his haversack and fall-in with his light Infantry company while each soldier was issued sixty rounds of .75 cal. ball cartridge for their weapons. He recalled that it was at "twelve noon when we began to embark in boats-- detachments  of the 8th, 100th, 104th, Glengarry Light Infantry, Canadian Voltigeurs, and Newfoundland Regiments-- when it leaked out that we were destined for Sackett's Harboor, as a set-off for the damage they had done us at York."13

Midshipman David Wingfield, Royal Navy, also recalled that a strong body of troops assembled to make an attack upon the enemy's works at Sackett's Harbor. He was sure this would end the naval war on Lake Ontario and save some millions of pounds, and thousands of lives, as
the Americans had no other harbour along the coast fit for a naval depot. 14

After great efforts, by the evening of May 27, the assault force, about 900 men, were all embarked on thirty-three bateaux and small craft for Sacket's Harbor. Two 6-pdr. field pieces and their gun detachments were included in the landing force, while 700 sailors would work the
eighty-two guns of the warships. The squadron was made ready with a great deal of difficulty and effort as told by one of Prevost's aides, E. B. Brenton, who recorded the scene:

the troops were all embarked on bateaux and small craft by sunset, and proceeded to join the
I	warships at anchor at the mouth of the harbour. We (Sir George and staff) followed in canoes. It
was very late before we got on board the Wolfe, and there was no room on board for the whole, several bateaux loaded were dropped astern, where they remained during the night.15

Yeo anchored the fleet about five miles from Kingston and waited for the rest of the troops to join him in bateaux over the course of the evening. He and Prevost were together on board the




10 National Archives of Canada.  RG 8 Admiralty Papers. M.G.12A.
11 LeCouteur. Memoir of Lieutenant John LeCouteur, Lord Coutanche Library, Societe Jersiaise, Jersey. Hereafter cited as LeCouteur. This noteworthy  journal is currently being edited and revised by Donald E. Graves and will provide new insights into British military life along the American, British North American frontier during the.War of 1812. Hereafter cited: LeCouteur.
12 LeCouteur. Memoir of Lieutenant  John LeCouteur,
13 LeCouteur.
14 David Wingfield, Journal ofDavid Wingfield. National Archives Canada. RG 24 F18. Reel1813-1816. August
11, 1987.  Hereafter cited as Wingfield.
15 National Archives of Canada, RG 8, "C" Series, Volume 1707, File p. 246, Reel C-3840. Brenton to Freer. (Hereafter cited as 'Brenton').


newly launched Wolfe, overseeing the activities. The total British strength mustered amounted to
1,570 men of all ranks and services.

Major Frederick H. Heriot commanded the Voltigeurs and twenty-six year old Captain Jacques Viger, both of Montreal, commanded one company. Captain Viger was excited about the prospect of action and anxiously awaited the move toward the enemy post. Possessing an inquisitive and lively intelligence,  Viger was eager to chronicle the events he would witness. He had already worked as a newspaper editor, prepared a collection of neo-logisms,  and had
authored a book about Louis XVI. He watched as the warships put off consecutively, under a tail wind, and went to drop anchor four or five miles from the city in order to await the remainder of the troops and his Voltigeurs which joined them by boat during the course of the evening. 16

Viger was on board the Beresford (formerly called Prince Regent) commanded by Lieutenant Stephen Spilsbury, who had arrived at Kingston with Yeo. Captain Jacques Ademar and Captain William Johnson of the Voltigeurs tried to rest but "there was hardly any room for sleeping, let alone standing." The Wolfe carried a crew of 175 men and she was loaded with as many additional troops as possible. The rest were packed in several bateaux towed astern. The distance to Sacket's Harbor was only about 30 miles so the men tried to grab what little sleep they could. The wind turned cooler after midnight and a rather strong breeze pushed them along until about two a.m. From that time on, the wind gradually weakened. The vessels sailed in three lines with all sails unfurled so as to catch the lessening wind, which at times even threatened to become unfavorable. Viger, however, remembered the scene as "one of the most enjoyable I have ever witnessed," especially sails of the vessels with the boats in tow filled with shining weapons and
standing men in diverse uniforms.17

At dawn on May 28, 1813, "a beautiful morning,"18 Captain Andrew Gray set out in a Indian canoe to reconnoitre the American base. He returned about nine o'clock with the inviting news that the place appeared weakly defended. 19 Major William Drummond  ordered his troops into the
bateaux and were actually headed for the American shore when Prevost noticed this unauthorized move. A peremptory order from Prevost brought Drummond  and his men back to the fleet.20  At about ten a.m., the winds were almost dead as the fleet reached Stoney Point about
seven miles from Sacket's Harbor. From the deck of the Beresford, Viger and those with him saw the American schooners cruising ahead.21

From a safe distance the crews of the Fair American and Pert watched the approaching British fleet. The Lady of the Lake, being the fastest vessel on the lake, caught a breeze and set sail for Niagara to alert the Commodore while the other two schooners made for the Harbor


16 National Archives of Canada, Microfilm M-8. Jacques Viger papers. "Ma Sabredache,"  Vol. IV. Viger to his wife. June 12, 1813. Translated by Edger Moreau, N.Y.S. Education Department Foreign Language Division. Published
by the Watertown Daily Times, May 28 to June 4, 1962. Hereafter cited as: National Archives of Canada, Viger.
17 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
18 Le Couteur.
19 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
20  LeCouteur.

firing alarm guns. The guns from the shore batteries took up the chorus. Given the warning, Backus prepared his defenses and dispatched Major Swan to Brown at his home in Brownville, eight miles distance urging him to rally the local militia. Brown later insisted he was ordered to Sacket's Harbor to take command by Dearborn in the communique delivered by Major Swan:

!have now to add that on the 25th ult. rec'd a communication  from Gen. Dearborn desiring me to take the command at this post - I hesitated- Col. Backus was here - an officer of experience in whom I placed the most implicit confidence, and I could not do an act which I feared might
wound his feelings.- In the night of the 27th Col. Backus wrote me by Major Swan desiring that I
would come and take the command. I could no longer hesitate. - Early in the morning of the 28th
I was here.22

Messengers were also dispatched to meet and speed up the arrival of Lt. Colonel John Tuttle and the several hundred of his 9th Infantry still on the march. Meanwhile Major Thomas Aspinwall, not suspecting any immediate danger, conveyed about 250 regulars of the 9th and
21st Infantry in small groups in bateaux from Oswego to the Harbor.

The British, still several miles away, could see with their telescopes the Americans to the north-east assembling near the barracks of the Basswood Cantonment.23 They also noticed to the south-east about twenty bateaux loaded with some of Aspinwall's soldiers rowing around Stoney Point near shore towards the Harbor. It appeared that this convoy was too far away to be intercepted and would arrive safely at Sackett's Harbor. Then the wind picked up and shifted.
Brenton remembered that:

Unfortunately, the wind, which, had been rather fair through light, altogether failed, and shortly afterwards the breeze came immediately from the point which the fleet was endeavouring to approach. To have attempted a landing in boats, at the distance of fifteen miles, from the object of attack, would have been a most tedious and hazardous undertaking, exposed, as the men must have been, to the fire of musketry and field-pieces from the shore, and to the direct enfilade of all
the heavy cannon in the enemy's forts and batteries.24

Since the winds were contrary and the element of surprise lost, Prevost decided that the attack should be abandoned   altogether. Brenton lamented that there appeared to be no prospect of the wind changing, "the notice we had afforded the enemy of our approach deprived us of the



22 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Letters to the Secretary of War, Brown to Armstrong. June 1, 1813. The Port Folio, Third Series, Naval and Military Chronicle ofthe United States, Vol. V, No. V., published May 1815, states that "At the time of the attack on Sackett's Harbour, which was made on the 29th of May,... General Brown was not officially in military command." This can be disputed by citing Article 98 of Military Laws and Rules and Regulations  for the Armies of the United States, published by Adjutant and Inspector Generals Office, Washington,  May 1st, 1813. "All officers serving by commission  from the authority of any particular state, on all detachments, courts martial, or other duty, wherein they may be employed in conjunction with the regular forces of the United States, take rank, next after all officers of the like grade in said regular forces, notwithstanding the commissions of the officers of the regular forces of the United States." Although Brown was the ranking officer at Sackett's Harbour, the defense was conducted by committee following instructions developed by Macomb.
23 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
24 E.B. Brenton, Some Account of the Public Life ofthe Late Lieutenant General Sir George Prevost. (London), T. Egerton. 1823.


advantage we expected of making a coup de main [and] it was thought even by the most sanguine that it would be best to abandon the attempt."25  The fleet began to turn back towards Kingston when the winds suddenly shifted against them once again. They had as much trouble trying to leave as they had had approaching Sacket's  Harbor.

At Henderson Bay, about six miles south from Sacket's  Harbor, seventeen year old Elihu H. Shepard, watched the manoeuvres of the British fleet. To Shepard, it seemed the wind was fair enough for them to sail into the Harbor, yet the fleet stood still. Young Shepard and "thousands" of spectators who had gathered on shore became excited as boats left the larger British ships and rowed toward the western peninsula of Six Town Point. The reason for this movement soon became clear. At about eleven o'clock, they saw another flotilla of bateaux coming around
Stoney Point filled with the remainder of Aspinwall's troops.26

From shore both Brown and Backus could also see the American bateaux in full view off Stoney Point. The two felt the Americans, upon seeing the British fleet, would take a direct course for the closest land and thus avoid capture. At Brown's suggestion, Backus ordered Major Jacint Laval to proceed south with a company of mounted dragoons to Henderson Bay where
"our men might land, collect them and bring them without any delay to the Harbour."27

Meanwhile, about noon, the British dispatched the Indians in three large canoes accompanied by a gunboat loaded with Glengarries to intercept the Americans. They came within range of Aspinwall's flotilla and opened fire. The Indians, under St. Germain and Anderson, accompanied by the gunboat gave chase. The Americans were more numerous but fear seized them on seeing shrieking, bare-chested, and tattooed warriors, and they made for shore as quickly as possible seeking shelter in the forest. This was a mistake. "It was like falling from the frying pan into the
fire; the forests is where the Indians feel at home."28

It was impossible for these runaways to avoid combat. An Indian, hiding behind a tree, had no sooner fired his shot when he was seen at full speed behind another tree to reload and fire again?9 The manoeuvre had a twofold advantage. The Americans believed the Indian was still behind the same tree, "but the bird is no longer there." In the second place this movement prevented the Americans from judging the strength of the enemy facing him. This caused the Americans to overestimate  the strength of the Indians. The Americans thought they were facing an army ofindians.30

The engagement itself did not last much longer than a half hour. Scattering throughout the forest after losing about thirty-five of their men, many of the surviving Americans ran back to their bateaux. Raising a white flag, they stood out to sea, rowing as hard as they could towards the British warships.



25 National Archives of Canada. MG24, F18. Wingfield Memoirs.
26 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
27 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG107, Roll 50, Microfilm Series 221, Brown to Armstrong. June 1, 1813.
28 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
29 National Archives of Canada, Viger.


Upon reaching the British fleet, the senior American officer was taken to Yeo and Prevost. After giving his sword to Prevost, this officer surrendered his whole party of 115 men and bateaux loaded with weapons, accoutrements and some tents. This deprived Backus and Brown of part of their much-needed  reinforcements.

In the meantime, the Indians took more ammunition, saying there were more Americans in the forest at Stony Point. The gunboats escorted them back to shore to search for the scattered Americans. All they found were dead bodies and a few weapons which they took. Before leaving, they buried an Indian who had been killed in the fighting. The burial of the warrior took five minutes since the shore of this part of Lake Ontario was mostly gravel. Using their oars as shovels they dug a grave, placed the Indian, wrapped in his blanket, in the open pit and covered him with gravel. Each Indian, while saying his farewell took a handful of sand and sprinkled it upon the grave. Miraculously  only one Indian was killed in the action while another had been dangerously wounded. About three o'clock the wounded warrior was brought out to the flagship
Wolfe where later that afternoon, the Mohawk passed from this life into the next.31

This defeat had not been in vain. As young Shepard remembered, the enemy "spent three hours in this manoeuvre while there was a fine wind to carry them to the Harbour." To make up for lost time, Yeo made for the Harbour, "with all sails set, but the wind was again failing fast and soon ceased to blow." The young observer continued, "When the fleet was six miles from the town, the Lake became as still as a pan of milk [and] it was a grand sight and a very gratifying one indeed, to see a British fleet prepared for battle becalmed in one of the prettiest
bays of the globe, with every sail spread, yet all hanging as loose as a lady's apron."32

The British ships remained visible from Shepard's house until dark, while thousands of civilians viewed it from the shore. They were wishing "that our fleet, that had gone up the lake would return and find those fellows, thinking it would improve the scene."33

Soldiers on board wished for a better breeze to move the ships forward. Some were beginning to think that without support from the fleet's guns, they should give up the idea of attacking. A rumor spread that they were about to abort the mission because the advantage of surprise was lost. Many believed the American position was too strong to attack. Viger
laconically summed up, "Aeolus is a god,34  he has whims; he was a yankee on that day."35

In Sacket's  Harbor, meanwhile, Backus and Brown prepared for the inevitable. They understood the enemy's determination  to land, storm the works and destroy Chauncey's  much­ feared new ship. The plan of defense was implemented amidst a whirlwind of activity. Signal guns were continuously fired to rally the militia and horsemen rode in every direction to alarm the countryside.


31 National Acrhives of Canada, Viger.
32  Harry F. Landon, Bugles on the Border (Watertown, New York: Published by Watertown Daily Times, 1953), and
Paper of William Fayil, Jr., read before the Jefferson County Historical Society, Jan. 12, 1887, p. 44. (Hereafter cited as Jefferson County Historical  Society).
33  Jefferson County Historical Society, Shepard.
34  The Greek god of the winds.
35 National Archives of Canada, Viger.

Abraham Graves an Ensign in the 76th Regiment of New York State Militia, was logging near his settlement when a horseman rode by and hollooed, saying the British fleet was approaching the Harbor and there was not a moment to lose!  Graves dropped his handspike, hurried to his house, changed into his uniform and set out for the scene of impending strife. 36

Over the course of the day others of the militia continued to collect and as they arrived, Brown posted them on the shoreline across from Horse Island. Wagon loads of supplies and provisions were delivered. The men all gathered in common paying no attention to the ordinary mode of drawing rations as each man excitedly grabbed what ammunition he could, threw back
the leather flap of his cartridge box and stuffed it full.37

Another of these levies was Richard Goodell, Jr. from the nearby village of Adams. 38 He appeared at the Harbor and with others, drew guns and ammunition to be in readiness.39  There appeared, Goodell later wrote his father, "I should judge, about 600 militia belonging to two Regiments, commanded by Col. Sprague and Tuttle."40  Many talked excitedly of the possibility of battle. Many felt they would play a major role in this coming drama. Brown summed up scornfully that "they were all anxious for the fight, If you were to believe their professions.41

From as far away as Rutland, New York, a Methodist circuit rider, Rev. William Case and a companion heard the thunder of the distant alarm guns as they were preparing to hold a camp meeting. Taking only time to kneel in prayer and to wealoud, they postponed the service, jumped on their horses, and started for Sacket's Harbor.  2

Brown, as Macomb had before him, invited Backus, Mills, Swan and Major Samuel Brown, (the General's brother), to thoroughly inspect the grounds and defenses. Swan volunteered to serve as Brown's adjutant-genera1.43

We settled on a regular plan of defense with Lieut. Chauncey...  I knew there was a place where determined men might land with considerable  safety, at the water's edge near Horse Island where I was resolved to meet the enemy.44

The Americans knew it would be suicidal for the British to sail directly into the harbor past the batteries of Forts Tompkins and Volunteer. Mindful of this, Brown placed his undisciplined,


36  Stanton Fitch, Junia, ed. Links in the Chain by Solon Massey.             Interlaken, N.Y.: Heart of the Great Lakes
Publishing, 1981, P.l93.
37 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Brown to Armstrong. June 1, 1813.
38  Settling in Adams, New York, Richard Goodell was originally from Pomfret, Windham County, Connecticut. Following the Battle of Sackett's Harbour, Goodell entered the 23rd Inf. as an officer. He served with distinction during the 1814 Niagara campaign including the Battle of Lundy's Lane.
39 New York Historical Society, Manuscript  Department, Richard Goodell Miscellaneous  Papers, Richard Goodell
Jr. to Richard Goodell Sr., June 2, 1813.
40 Militia Col. Tuttle, not to be confused with Lt. Col. John Tuttle of the 9th Infantry who was on the march from
Boston.
41 National Archives, Washington, D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series 221, Roll, Brown to Armstrong, June 1, 1813.
42 Harry F. Landon, Bugles on the Border. (Watertown Daily Times), p.45.
43 Library of Congress, Manuscript  Division, The Papers of Jacob J. Brown, ShelfNr. 16,889.  Reel1 of 1.
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poorly armed militia south-west of the village at the water's edge behind a gravel embankment. This force consisted of 550 to 600 men with a 6-pdr field piece. A four or five acre ploughed field, girdled by woods, lay behind them. The Albany Volunteers, 167 strong, commanded by Colonel John Mills, was posted on Horse Island with a brass 6-pdr.

Following the enemy's landing, they were ordered to resist, then fall back, hitting at the attacker's flank. Nothing stood behind them except vast forests of the interior and a little further beyond, Backus' regulars. Three hundred and thirteen dragoons broken down into three troops (companies), along with elements of the 9th, 21st, 23rd Infantry strengthened by a travelling 6- pdr. commanded by young Lieut. Louis Laval, formed the American line of Battle.

Two of these troops were under the command of Captain Thomas A. Helms and Captain
Silas Halsey, both from New Jersey and still without horses. These 'horse  soldiers' were ready to move forward and fight on foot. The left of the dragoon's line was augmented by 142 men of 9th and 21st, and 23rd Infantry.45  About ten p.m. Major Laval arrived back at the Harbor from
Stoney Point bringing the survivors of Aspinwall's flotilla. Aspinwall with his 130 recruits of the
9th and about sixty men of Captain Lemuel Bradford's company of the 21st Infantry bolstered the American force.46

If resistance should fail, Lieut. Chauncey was to destroy the stores at Navy Point, and sail with his two schooners and the prize schooner, Duke of Gloucester, to Fort Volunteer. The regulars and militia would fall back to Fort Volunteer on the east side of the Harbor, shut themselves up and make a vigorous stand. Meanwhile, the regular units under the direct command of Backus, waited near a drainage ditch cut in the ground in front of the Basswood Cantonment. They were prepared to move forward in the direction of the Albany Volunteers and Brown's militia if those units broke and ran after the British landing. One troop of dragoons
under Major Nelson Luckett from Maryland and Captain A. P. Hayne from South Carolina were
mounted, but the wooded nature of the terrain around the Harbor made it impossible for them to ride into combat on horseback. They formed a reserve between the log buildings of the Basswood Cantonment and waited for orders.

Further back at Forts Tompkins and Volunteer, 142 men of the 3rd and Light Artillery Regiments manned the guns. New York City native and West Point graduate 1st. Lieutenant Thomas Ketchum, of the Light Artillery commanded the powerful long 32-pdr. gun in Fort Tompkins. Fort Volunteer was commanded by another Massachusetts  native, Major Samuel Nye, and his contingent of 3rd Regiment artillerists. About 200 men, mostly from New York City, sail makers, carpenters, and sailors from the hospital, were placed at gun batteries on Navy Point under the command of Lieutenant John Drury, who had just left the hospital not fully recovered. Throughout the day and night these men struggled to place Navy Point in a final state of readiness. Drury's command included two gun batteries, one, near the upper barracks mounted two pieces, a long 32-pdr. gun on a slide, and a 12-pdr. on a ship carriage, manned by the



45  Wilkinson's Memoirs, Vol.I, p.582.
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volunteer sail-makers. The second battery near the lower barracks, mounted four guns, with one long 18-pdr., one long 12-pdr. and two long 6-s mounted on ship carriages. All these batteries were well supplied with shot, ammunition, some muskets, fixed ammunition, and were completely manned by veteran, but sickly tars.47

Drury's  guns were aimed to fire low across the water against an attack coming in from the lake but would not be effective against an enemy coming by land from Horse Island. At this time Lieut. Chauncey gave Drury orders that were contradictory and inconsistent.  Chauncey directed Drury to remain at his station "until driven off by the enemy's bayonet," while at the same time
he was to "fire the buildings and spike the cannons."48 Chauncey directed Sergeant Solomon
Fisher of the Marines to build a bonfire near the upper barracks. If it appeared the British were about to capture the ship-yard, Chauncey ordered Fisher to destroy the buildings containing the fittings for the new ship, as well as the material captured at York, to prevent them from falling into enemy hands.49

Major Samuel Nye, 3rd Artillery went to Navy Point and saw Lieut. Drury busily making every exertion to complete the defences, "so much so as to make himself unwell."50 Another witness went to the point and "saw Lieut. Drury and Mister Gamble stationed with a good many seamen that appeared to be invalids, I merely asked them by way of curiosity if they were ready for a show?  They said they were all ready."51

The total American force defending Sacket's Harbor, consisted of approximately  1,450 men of varying effectiveness. plus the infamous Captain James Leonard who offered his services to the army as a volunteer. They were joined by two unexpected volunteers; Mister John Hutton, the old offender, and Mister Joseph Gamble, who also awaited court martial. They prepared to fight alongside Drury's sailors on Navy Point.

To Yeo and Prevost on board the Wolfe, the capture of the American boat convoy marked "so clearly the description of the people we had to contended with."52 How could this untrained rabble oppose them?  This unfavorable impression of American fighting qualities led to a conference of the senior British officers on board Yeo's flagship. Yeo, Baynes, Young, Gray, and others concluded the attempt against Sacket's Harbor should be made despite the loss of surprise. Prevost agreed and the decision was made to attack. The craft carrying the troops assembled
around the Wolfe and at nine p.m. the troops were told the attack on Sacket's Harbor would occur the following morning.53



47 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG125, Records of the Judge Advocate General (Navy). Microfilm Series
M273, Roll6. Vol. 4, July, 1813. (Hereafter cited: Court Martial).
48 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Courts Martial.
49 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Courts Martial.
50 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury, Courts Martial.
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With darkness coming on, it was judged too late to commence operations. They knew an assault by night without knowledge of the terrain, with the Americans hidden by darkness, could be suicidal. Therefore, their plan proposed that at midnight they would put for shore and land at dawn under cover of the gunboats and Lieutenant Spilsbury's Beresford, still known to the Americans as the Prince Regent. An hour before daylight, the ships were to weigh anchor and
the fleet was to simultaneously sail up Black River Bay and silence the American batteries. The assault force "would be assisted by the artillery, and receive the effectual support and co­ operation of the fleet, which was judged most essential to the success of the undertaking."54

The troops were to land at the cove formed by Horse Island almost a mile from the village. It would have been impossible to land any closer to Fort Tompkins because of the high limestone cliffs "resembling the walls of a ancient fortification" that stood between the island and the fort. The assault troops were to push up the lake-side wagon road above to the cliffs and rush the rear of the town. The landing was to be led by the Grenadiers of the 1OOth Regiment, followed by the Royal Scots, the King's 8th and the 104th. The Voltigeurs and the Glengarry's were to follow up with the two 6-pdrs. and their gunners. It was essential that the Royal Navy ensured the guns were landed in time to support the troops.

Few men slept that night in the British fleet. Viger wrote in his diary, "The plan having been made, everyone was leaping for joy while thinking of the great booty which one was going to take." This was no small incentive as, according to period British military custom, even humble privates and seamen were compensated in cash for any useful item acquired in battle from the enemy and later taken into Crown service. The payments were made in terms of shares which increased according to rank. A captain, as Viger calculated with excitement, "would benefit by at least 2,000 pounds, not to mention a staff major who would have to find a suitable ship to transport to Kingston the superb team of horses he would bring off from Sacket's  Harbor, all
this, in addition to his cash." It looked like a sure thing and the British were confident. "We believed we couldn't  lose more than 12 or 14 men!" recorded the young Voltigeur who reckoned that, after the battle, the fleet "would remain at Sackett's  Harbour three or four days to load our boats with the rich booty we would find there [and] we would burn the ships under construction,
especially the frigate so dreadfully feared, what a bonfire!"55
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CHAPTER SIX

The Attack, May 29, 1813

"A Fair Stand up Fight, with Hearts of Wood"

By nine-thirty p.m., May 28, 1813, as the last British troops clambered into their boats, dusk descended across the broad lake sky merging heavens and water into darkness. Sergeant James Commins of the 8th Foot recalled: "We spent the whole night on the water, tossed with the very
worst weather, It was kind of drizzling rain and excessive cold and wet." 1 By one a.m., the boats
of the landing force had assembled in a compact and regular order but through the night strong currents caused them to drift considerably. At two-thirty a.m. Prevost embarked in a canoe with Captain Robert McDouall, Dr. Macaulay and Edward B. Brenton, his civilian aide? In the last hours of darkness, they headed east toward the shore led by gunboats under the command of
Captain William Howe Mulcaster, RN.3  Mulcaster's  lead gunboat carried a light at the stern to
guide the rest.

On board, Le Couteur believed that Prevost had given the Americans all that day and that night for a "fair stand-up fight, like the old French Guards," whoLe Couteur erroneously believed, never fired first. The assault troops were relieved to be moving, but they did not obey their orders with the cheerfulness  which confidence inspires. By now, some of them had been in
the boats since they left Kingston and the enemy had nearly twenty-four  hours notice.4 Despite
these disadvantages, the British pulled for land.

On the shore, Brown's militia were posted and anxious for the fight, if the eagerness apparent in their words was not a masquerade. During the night, Brown visited "Camp Volunteer" on Horse Island where the Albany Volunteers encamped. Fearing a night attack, he ordered the volunteers to withdraw from the Island and join his militia on the mainland if an attack occurred
before dawn.5 Horse Island was connected to the mainland by a three hundred yard long natural
causeway that was narrow, partly rocky, lake-worn pebble filled, and sandy.

	1 Norman C. Lord, "The War on the Canadian Frontier, 1812-14;" Letters Written by Sergeant James Commins, 8th
Foot," Journal of the Society for Army Historical Research, Vol. XVIII, 1939. P. 199.  Donald L. Graves, Le Couteur Memoirs - A Scandalously Managed Affair: Garrison Duty at Kingston and Combat at Sackets Harbor April and May, 1813. "It had come on to rain hard and we were all thoroughly soaked, cold and shivering -- having no great coats."
2 Brenton letter.
3 MULCASTER,  Sir William. (1785-1837). Became post captain in the royal navy, and naval aide-de-camp to the king.   Sir William was a son of Major-General  Mulcaster ofthe Royal Engineers.  He was made lieutenant early in
1800. In 1806, he with two boats, he carried a Spanish fort of eight guns and captured five Spanish luggers. The
Prince Regent ofPortugal presented a gold sword to Mulcaster.  He was made commander  (13 May 1809); and appointed to the Halifax Naval station (October 1810). He captured l'Adele, a Letter of Marque (1811), and an American privateer (July 1812). He commanded the British gunboats during the attack on Sackett's Harbour. Captain Mulcaster was given command of the Princess Charlotte, (March 1814), then on Lake Ontario. He was promoted to post rank December  29 following. On 6 May 1814, only twenty-two  days after the launching of the Princess Charlotte, he received  a dangerous wound, when storming Fort Oswego, the effects of which he never totally recovered. He died in Dover in 1837.
4 National Archives of Canada, MG 24, F.18, p.6-10.
5 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Herkimer to Armstrong, July 1, 1813. and
Wilkinson's Memoirs, pp. 634-638.
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Brown's force was positioned nearly three quarters of a mile from the barracks to the north­ east, where the regulars waited. Brown explained to his militia, as Macomb instructed him on February 28, that, if the attacking force was too powerful, they were to retreat to the east into the woods, form and keep up a steady harassing fire until joined by the regulars who would move
forward after the enemy had landed.6  If Backus's troops were broken by the British, those
remaining were to retreat to Fort Volunteer, where a last stand was to be made.

By three-thirty a.m., the night rains and winds had all but ceased and the British quietly began moving through the darkness towards shore.7 As Prevost's canoe neared the troop laden bateaux about half an hour before day dawned, Brenton could hear the oars of the assault boats.
As soon as the first glimpse of light appeared on the eastern horizon in front of them, "the
reveille beat in the enemy's post and we discovered the boats just ahead of us making for shore in an oblique line."

Brown's wary militia could barely distinguish silhouettes of the slowly approaching flotilla over the calm surface. As these shadows advanced through the stillness, one of the more defiant and boisterous of the militia commanders suddenly evinced a change of heart. Having thought
about his situation, he declared to his men that he doubted their ability to resist.8  "I fear we shall
be compelled to retreat." After a pause, he continued, "I know we shall, and as I am a little lame, I'll start now." Away he went scurrying eastward towards Adams as fast as his lame legs could carry him.9

The stillness of the night was suddenly shattered as the incoming British let loose three cheers in an effort to encourage each other. Wingfield observed to an officer of the 104th that it appeared the Americans would let them land unmolested. He was mistaken. When within pistol shot from the beach, the defenders unleashed a well directed fire with their field pieces, rifles, and muskets. "Almost every shot did execution, which for a moment staggered us," he
admitted.10

It was about four-thirty a.m. when the first sounds of battle burst forth.11  Hoping to escape
the heavy fire, the British rowed towards the north side of Horse Island, taking them farther away from their intended landing place on the mainland near the causeway. The thirty-three heavily
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9 Benson J. Lossing, The Pictorial Field-Book of the War of 1812, (New York: Harper & Brothers, Publishers,
1868), p.610.
10 National Archives of Canada, MG24, F18, Wingfield Memoirs.
11 According to British sources, the time was 3:30, which indicates the British were operating under Quebec time.

laden bateaux moved painfully slow, while Prevost, from his canoe, encouraged them on. Brenton recorded that:

At this time we had joined the sternmost gunboats, which were lagging, and were pushing them
on, when the enemy opened a fire of musketry from the island and grape from two six-pdrs. on the mainland, and several shot flew over our canoe. 12

The faster gunboats pulled ahead, firing grape and canister, scouring the trees and bushes along the shore. By now, most of the Volunteers had abandoned Horse Island while their brass 6- pdr. fired continuously at the incoming bateaux. The British recovered from their surprise but confusion reigned. 13 Every boat made the best it could toward the landing place while the
gunboats kept up a murderous cover fire. 14
I
I   I 	As the British craft rounded the north side of Horse Island, the 32-pdr. gun in Fort Tompkins
I	joined the chorus of ear-splitting  thunder and the British took more casualties. Wingfield had fifteen killed and wounded in his boat and passed one of the other boats, which appeared to be in
a great deal of distress. He hailed a wounded officer who said he only had three men who escaped the effects of the shot. Conscious of his duty, Wingfield felt obliged to stand up and cheer on the men but "we were too prominent a mark to remain standing long. I took a mental leave of the few friends I had left; the men being so deliberately picked off from the gun."15

As John LeCouteur's light company of the 104th neared the island, a round shot passed close over their boat and struck the boat carrying the grenadiers to their right, killing and wounding a couple of men, "cut the boat nearly in two, and down she went!"16 "The Grenadiers," the young officer remembered,

behaved admirably, raised their firelocks high, and could just touch bottom, we little fellows, [would] half of us been drowned. We cheered lustily, so did they, soon Old Dick their Veteran Captain formed them, so did we form. The whole line was soon landed and formed under a roll of musketry when we charged.17

Close behind, a round shot passed by the front tip of Viger's  boat, splashed in the water a few paces away after grazing the heads of the Indians manning a canoe just ahead of the one in which Prevost was a passenger. Seeking shelter from the guns, the warriors let out a loud cry and made their way for the tip of the Island. According to Viger, their canoe flew over the water-

Nothing can surpass...the  speed with which it went ahead. While we were seeking shelter behind Horse Island, keeping ourselves out of musket range, our gunboats maintained on them and their light artillery one of the most frightful volleys and no matter how obstinate enemy resistance was at first, had to yield finally to the bravery of our sailors and abandon the Island. We no sooner






12 Brenton letter.
13 Christopher Hagerman, p.14.
14 National Archives of Canada, MG24, Fl8,  Wingfield Memoirs.
15 National Archives of Canada, MG24, Fl8,  Wingfield Memoirs.
16 LeCouteur.
17 LeCouteur.
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saw the enemy leave shore to reach the mainland when one thousand million cheers rose from the ships and the landing was affected at the same time. 18

Morning dawned. Daybreak was clear and without a breath of wind. To the front of the invaders, sunlight broke upon the rain-drenched trees and bushes that concealed the Americans on shore. From this camouflage, the firings were fierce and relentless. The gunboats struggled to land their troops on the Island but several men had been killed or wounded by the volunteer's 6- pdr. Amongst them Captain "Old Dick" Leonard, of the 104th was severely wounded before he even got a chance to get ashore. 19

The British pushed through and around the island toward the partially submerged causeway where the 104th took more casualties. Lieutenant Andrew Rainsford was shot in the abdomen as a musket ball knocked the sword out of his hand. Lieutenant James Delaney was hit in the arm, taking him out of action. But the island was secured in what seemed to be a matter of minutes to some and hours to others. Preparations were made by the 1OOth and 104th to push across the causeway against the Americans on the mainland. A British officer in Wingfield's boat discovered with his telescope a group of Americans a short distance from the mainland shore.

Dressed in green, these Americans could scarcely be distinguished  from the trees and underwood.20  As the officer pointed them out to Wingfield, the coxswain of the craft was suddenly struck by two bullets and fell. A soldier instantly took his place at the tiller. Wingfield went forward to the gun which was being loaded with grape and canister shot. He pointed it to
the spot, fired, making a great havoc amongst the bushes. By this time, most of the craft had made good their landing and the troops were beginning to form up. The remaining Americans beat a hasty retreat off the island to the mainland.21

As ordered, the Volunteers joined Brown on the mainland and were positioned directly across the causeway, just to the right of the militia. The moment Col. Mills was ready, Brown ordered the volunteers to open fire with the brass 6-pdr. The Volunteers' position was behind a small natural breastwork on the beach, which they shared with the other militia under Col. Sprague. Meanwhile militia Colonel Tuttle and his country farmers occupied a position about
one hundred and sixty yards eastward upon Brown's left flank to prevent a surprise on their flank from the Indians.22


Although the British kept up a heavy fire from their gunboats, not a shot was fired from their disciplined ranks. The order given, the 1OOth rushed across the causeway charging bayonets. Suddenly the undisciplined militia fired sporadic bursts before Brown had intended. Panic






18 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
19 "The Hundred and Fourth. Captain Charles Reinford's Winter March across Lake Temiscouata.  A Thrilling
Incident of the War of 1812." St. John Daily Sun. 23 August, 1889.
20 National Archives of Canada, MG24. F18, Wingfield Memoirs.
21 National Archives of Canada, MG24, F18, Wingfield Memoirs.
22 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Roll 50, Brown to Armstrong, June 1,
1813.
gripped the line of citizen soldiers and they broke and ran.23  Unable to stop the rout, Brown watched, mesmerized, as:

to my utter astonishment my men ran from their cover, and before I could believe the disgraceful scene there was scarcely a man within several rods from where I stood.24  I made all the noise I could for my men, put my handkerchief on the point of my sword and made every sort of signal possible that they might notice me.

Unable to halt the militia flying before him, Brown seized the opportunity to withdraw to safety.25

To militiaman Richard Goodell Jr. it seemed the British assault force numbered at least
2,000. He watched as they approached to within fifty feet of the militia...then.."Their superior number caused us to quickly retreat. Some retired only a short distance and assisted the Dragoons. Others did not stop until they got about three miles off."26

Militiaman Jesse Woodward, a crack shot, had been detailed to harass the British on their crossing from Horse Island to the mainland. Concealed behind a log, he was doing as well as nerves would allow. Suddenly he discovered he was the only one of the militia opposing the British army. Woodward decided he was at the wrong place at the wrong time and it was time to follow suite complaining: "The others having gone without an invitation to accompany them." Jesse was six-foot, three-inch,  yankee-built and just right for running. "I made more ground in less time than any man who ever lived in Northern New York. I thought I was doing my best when a bullet tore up the sod under my feet, then I found out I could let out another link and you can bet I done it."27

Despite the militia rout, the Volunteers held their fire until every shot told. Herkimer claimed not a gun was fired until the advancing enemy was within sixty paces. At that time Mills ordered his men open fire. They discharged three or four volleys of clattering musketry until the forward elements approached to within fifty feet of the American line. According to Herkimer not a man of the Volunteer Corps left his post prematurely. Colonel Mills, Herkimer later recalled, tactfully ordered a retreat after it was discovered that the majority of the militia had retreated into the woods.



23  3rd Lieut. Reynold M. Kirby ofthe 3rd Regt. Artillery toured the battleground in November  1813. He wrote: "A gentleman who was in the battle accompanied  me and pointed out the various positions occupied by the troops during the conflict. The landing of the enemy might have been prevented,  or at any rate effected with great loss, had the militia done their duty...here  the boats in their approach might have been severely annoyed with entire safety to our men--but the line of militia fled after the first fire and suffered the enemy to secure their landing." John C. Fredriksen, "Reynold M Kirby and His Race to Join the Regiment: A Connecticut  Officer in the War of 1812," Connecticut History, (November 1991, Nr. 32). p.59.
24  Sun Tzu. Art of War "When a general, unable to estimate the enemy's strength, allows an inferior force to engage a larger one, or hurls a weak detachment  against a powerful one, and neglects to place picked soldiers in the front rank, the result must be a rout."
25 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Roll 50, Letters to Secretary of War. Brown to Armstrong. June 1, 1813.
26 New York Historical Society, Manuscript Department,  "Richard Goodell Misc. Papers." Richard Goodell, Jr. to
Richard Goodell, Sr., June 2, 1813.
27 Jere. Coughlin, Jefferson County Centinel1905. (Watertown, N.Y.: Hungerford-Holbrook Co., 1905), p.339.

During the withdrawal, Mills was struck by a musket ball in the chest killing him instantly. Brown claimed that, "Col. Mills fell struggling to stop his men." He added, "I was more fortunate."28

The Volunteers withdrew towards Backus's  Light Dragoons according to plan. Their retreat was not in perfect order because of the trees and bushes that Macomb ordered cut down the previous winter to prevent the enemy from making a rapid descent upon the Harbour.

As the last British unit to land, the Voltigeurs jumped into the water and waded knee-deep to the rocky shore. The order to advance was barked out without giving the troops time to rally. Nearby the 1OOth and other British infantry were already battling the Americans near the channel with their backs to the newly-arrived  Voltigeurs and a dense cloud of gray-white gunsmoke concealed their positions from the Voltigeurs. Major Heriot was in the front rank while Viger
was busy establishing the line of his troops to fire on the Americans.

Suddenly one of the Voltigeur officers, Captain William Johnson, came up from the rear. He yelled at the detachment to "Fire!" When his order was not obeyed, an irate Johnson angrily demanded whether the Canadians were afraid to shoot? - That was all that was necessary to yell at people who were already scared and determined to use up their gunpowder. Instantaneously they fired a volley that ripped into the backs of the 104th ahead of them. At sight of this unexpected menace, a battle-maddened  William Drummond drove toward the Voltigeurs waving
his arms shrieking their shots had downed eight of his soldiers!29  Shaken, Viger prevented a
second volley from being discharged in the same direction while an enraged Drummond returned to take direction of his troops.

The 32-pdr. gun at Fort Tompkins continued to pour fire into the assault force at Horse Island to the south-west. The noise of its rounds was different from the sounds of musketry that echoed around the wooded island and the causeway. Amidst this pandemonium, the few Americans near the shoreline added to the bedlam a heavy fire from their concealment  in the woods and bushes but, determined to evict them, the 1OOth crashed across the causeway with bayonets fixed followed by the rest of the regular British and Canadian infantry and fell upon the Albany Volunteer's field piece and ammunition wagon unceremoniously  left behind. Following up, the



28 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Roll 50, Letters to the Secretary of War. Brown to Armstrong. June 1, 1813. National Archives, Washington D.C. Microfilm M223, rollS. Letters Received by the Secretary of War, Unregistered  Series. 1787-1860.  1813 (H-0), 670. John Herkimer, Major, Com'g. U.S. Volunteers to Armstrong. July 1, 1813.
"Sir,
The official communication of General Brown to the secretary of war, relative to the attack on this post, by the enemy on the 29th May last, has at lengths made its ppearance in the public prints. I am constrained, from a duty I owe to myself and the volunteers  at present under my command, to state that the communication  is so replete with incorrectness and misrepresentations, as to astonish all who were present and eye witnesses to the engagement. I feel sensible, Sir, that every officer of rank ought to be treated with respect, so long as he gives those their due who are placed under his command; but when an officer will for self-aggrandizement, or the hope of promotion, stoop to meanness - thereby injuring the reputation and feelings of those who have volunteered  their services to their country at an enormous sacrifice, and who are and have been willing at all times to undergo the fatigues and deprivations of
a campaign, his conduct merits the most pointed animadversion."
29 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
 
Voltigeurs found three soldiers from the 1OOth Regiment stretched out on the ground, one not yet dead. He was stretching out his hand to all those passing by as if to say his last farewells.30

As the Voltigeurs pushed on, they encountered others strewn about dead on the gravel beach. The 1OOth and the 104th advanced by the wagon road running north-east in the direction of Fort Tompkins and the Basswood Cantonment, the Albany Volunteers keeping up a galling fire from the woods and bushes. Despite these losses, Prevost and his staff followed closely. As they advanced, the number of dead and wounded seen lying on the ground clearly demonstrated that the American resistance was determined. The number of officers and men hit far exceeded what the command had initially expected. Instead of remaining with his fleet, overseeing the landing of the artillery, Yeo came on shore and ran in front of the regulars, unarmed, waving his hat and
urging them onward.31  Le Couteur remembered seeing the Naval officer as he followed
Drummond of the 104th who was running in the lead, "sword in hand, like Roderick Dhu32  in a foray."

An American spotted Drummond and quietly waited until he was about twenty yards away. Amidst shots and yells of fury, the American levelled his piece, fired and knocked the major over, apparently stone dead. A slice of the scarlet 104th swarmed on the doomed sharpshooter and "bayoneted  the fellow in an instant." Silent for a brief moment, Drummond, lifted from the ground by his men, grunted, "tis not mortal, men" as no blood appeared and he could move his legs. He shouted out for the 104th to, "charge on!" and this seemingly invincible officer was soon back on his feet directing the advance of the 104th. He owed his life to a lucky accident. Earlier that morning Drummond's officers had encouraged him to remove his epaulettes so the Americans would not be able to distinguish him from other ranks. Drummond had put them in the front pockets of his overalls, which saved his life. The ball had struck the pad and steel plate
-"it was a dreadful bruise that he received."33

LeCouteur remembered  proudly that the 104th advanced in their first action as if they were going on a "field day.."

It was a strange awful sense that first feeling of deadly encounter - it is not fear we feel, but a

·1     I
 
glorious sense of awe, the spirit desiring to urge the flesh to aid its fellow man. Strange to witness

death and wounds on every side - still to rush into the very jaws of danger. As we charged, a young American soldier fell and was caught by our light bobs, two or three bayonets were flourishing over his handsome  imploring face, with hands uplifted. "For gods sake spare mel" he cried! "For shame men, never kill an unarmed man who begs for quarter!"  Le Couteur struck their bayonets aside, and "sent the poor fellow to the rear. "34

As the Voltigeurs and the 104th moved north-east along the lake shore road toward the village, Baynes ordered them, with the Indians, to move along a path winding its way into the forest on their right. As the others forged ahead along the road, the Voltigeurs with some of the


30 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
31 Le Couteur.
32 hero in Sir Walter Scott.
33  LeCouteur.

34 Le Couteur

104th scoured the path and pursued runaways who flung themselves there. Meanwhile, hampered by the abatis, the Voltigeurs had been forced to skirmish separately in small squads. They now came together and Major Heriot assumed command of the Voltigeurs.

Progress appeared to be steady as off through the forest musketry crackled and bugles rang out commands. While the two Canadian units pursued the fleeing New York militia up this path, the regular British infantry advanced on the shore road under command of Young of the 8th
Foot. Not all of those taking flight were able to escape. Militia Ensign Abraham Graves was overtaken, captured and brought to the rear of the British lines by the Indians, - he was at least alive. Graves was taken on board the British fleet along with four other captive militia. A compassionate Indian chief handed a hungry Graves a biscuit, the only food he would receive for
the next few days?5

The Voltigeurs and the Indians received orders to separate from the rest of the British troops on the right and push east deeper into the woods. It was impossible to form rallies owing to the deep thickets, but oncef.ositioned, the Voltigeurs were to provide cover for the right flan1c of the
advancing main body.3    The men were encouraged by their success. Burning to avenge the death
of several companions, they fell furiously upon the Americans they assumed were responsible. A wounded American militiaman  named "Brother" Day desperately struggled to make his way home as best he could -- but his luck had run out. He was caught up with by the Indians, who
shot the would-be escapee several times then scalped him and mangled his body. For some un1mown reason, the knife and scalp were dropped near Day's lifeless remains and the Indians continued their penetration into the thick forest.37

Captain Rufus Mcintire  3rd U.S. Artillery, observed:

After the enemy landed they entered clear ground where the woods had been partially cut. Then they encountered a few trees with underbrush and finally open fields. Part of the time they had the disadvantage of being fair marks on the cleared ground while the American troops were in the woods. Then again, they struggled under the same disadvantage.  The trees which had been cut down on Macomb's orders during the winter began to sprout to gi"e the abatis the appearance of a low bushy ground, somewhat resembling an old field grown up anew.

After driving off the Volunteers and militia, the British and Canadians attempted to pass through this morass, finally forming up and pushing on in open columns along the shore. Off in the distance standing in Backus's line of battle, Dragoon Lieutenant George Birch from Philadelphia, Pennsylvania witnessed the flight of Brown's levies and commented that after the first fire, the militia

found the enemy's pills too hard of digestion and would not wait for a second dose, but was making the best use of their legs through the thickets of wood, that in time of peace they would have thought impenetrable,  and left the enemy to form and march up to us.38




35 National Achieves of Canada, RG 8, Microfilm C 689, (C-3232). Prisoners taken at Sackett's Harbour. pp. 92-119.
36 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
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38  Historical Society of Pennsylvania,  Manuscripts Division, Collection 54, Birch Family Papers, George Birch
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Backus ordered Major Laval with Captains Helmes and Halsey's two troops of Dragoons to move forward towards the woods and along the shore road to meet them. Laval's task was to slow up and stop, if he could, the British advance. These Americans moved into the thickets towards the on-coming battle intending to replace the militia. These citizen soldiers were
supposed to regroup and harass the enemy's right flank, however most of them showed no sign of
returning. McNitt's militia and the Albany Volunteers, however, were separately struggling somewhere in the thick woods to reach the left of Backus's line.39

As Laval's men advanced, no enemy troops were met for the first few hundred yards. With the dragoons on the right, and Aspinwall's new levies on his left, Laval continued to push forward until he approached within range of the abattis. The American regulars stopped, remained in line and waited for the British, who were thrown into some momentary confusion because of the unseen abattis.40

Lieutenant Edward Carrington of Virginia was one of the officers that led his dragoons on line and anxiously waited.41 As they moved forward, a Dutchman named John Vanderharken told Dragoon Lieutenant Birch that "we was likely to have a hard days work," and he would be gone before the day was over. Lieutenant Birch asked Vanderharken  if he intended to desert?
Vanderharken replied, "No, I shall be shot." The Lieutenant laughed at him and said, "I never before thought you a coward," to which Vanderharken replied he was not one and said, "The British soldier always took aim at the officers" and it was his determination to stick by
Lieutenant Birch, and he knew therefore, he would be shot. As they marched forward, Birch tried to laugh Vanderhaken  out of the idea.42

As the first British appeared, the order was given and the Americans opened fire. Suddenly triggers jerked, hammers holding flints struck hardened steel, bright yellow showers of hot sparks ignited blackpowder  that filled flashpans as shapeless puffs of white smoke billowed upward - and then - a split second later, the fury of a discharge caused the enemy line to quiver. Cartridges were jammed into muzzles by men fiercely pumping ram-rods as they prepared to let drive their next load. Men hunched foreward, swayed back and forth, moved up and down as hands reached into cartridge-boxes, grabbing another greased paper cartridge by the numbers. With precise motion, the process was repeated. The lines shifted and moved as the meadows and woodland around them came alive with the sounds of gunfire.

The action had not commenced for five minutes before John Vanderhaken's  premonition came true. Poor John recieved a ball between the eyes and fell dead beside Lieutenant Birch.43
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For the next few minutes the exchange of musketry continued with considerable effect on both sides. The officers on both sides exhorted their men on. Once the British line was in motion, the outnumbered Americans found it impossible to check their advance.

The disciplined British kept up the pressure despite their casualties. Outnumbered but maintaining a steady fire, the American regulars slowly began to fall back toward the ditch in front of the log barracks near the Basswood cantonment. They were no longer firing in volleys upon command but began shooting in smaller units, and, even now and then, as individuals.

Lieut. Carrington's dragoons moved, seeking temporary cover behind trees presenting themselves only occasionally  to fierce British fire. The young Virginian was hit and wounded by musket shot, and before he could reach the safety of the barracks, received another ball. Fortunately for him, he was dragged from the field and not abandoned to the mercy of the approaching enemy.

Captain Lemuel Bradford of the 21st was also struck by enemy fire and removed from action.44  Others in Bradford's company, twenty-one year old Charles Bebee and twenty-two year old William Babcock from New Hampshire were struck down wounded. Amidst the incessant blaze of small arms, the American withdrawal did not become a rout. Backus, Laval and
Aspinwall rallied their men about two hundred yards behind their first position45 and was supported by Lieut. Louis Laval with his 6-pdr. gun which kept up a steady fire on the coming
columns. In Fort Tompkins, Lieutenant Ketchum directed the fire of the 32-pdr. with firmness as the regulars were appearing to make a stand.

Without knowledge of the terrain, the Voltigeurs on the right of the British line rushed into the bushes and thickets in pursuit of the fleeing militia. They soon encountered some Americans in an open field. The shrieks of death uttered by the Indians and repeated by the Voltigeurs in such a frightful manner announced to the Americans that "we were on their heels....I never saw
in my life people better hamstrung and using their legs better."46

Crossing a meadow, the Voltigeurs came upon another wooded area. Heriot ordered Viger to go farther east to the right flank and dislodge any Americans remaining in the woods and protect the British line moving toward the village from any surprise on that side. While there, Viger's troops killed another of the fugitive Americans. He rushed up to the dead soldier and took notice of his outmoded musket. Viger bent over and picked up the dead man's  firearm which would
"figure into my collection of antique weapons" back in Montreal.47  Other Americans such as
Lieutenant Ira Drew from Massachusetts and Aaron Fitzgerald were more fortunate. They were captured and taken off to the bateaux at Horse Island to be transported out to the ships.48

As the drama unfolded on land, British progress proved deceptive. Yeo's ships continued to linger uselessly at the mercy of the unfavorable winds. The field pieces taken at the onset of the battle were useless to the British because of a lack of equipment and artillery men to handle
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them. These men were ineffective on board the Beresford for Spilsbury failed to land either them or their artillery. The British continued to be steadily whittled away by American fire, officers as well as men. Meanwhile, the Voltigeurs could plainly see the log barracks of the Basswood Cantonment to their front, pierced with loop holes in all directions.49 A gray-white wall of thinned acrid smoke settled over the battleground as officer's eyes searched out vague forms of
the enemy on the other side.

Somewhere in the woods beyond the cleared field east of the causeway, Brown caught up with Captain Samuel McNitt of the Jefferson  County Militia.5° McNitt, who fought along side Forsyth at Ganonoque, had succeeded in rallying several dozen Jefferson county men who were doing all they could from behind some large logs not far from the edge of the field. Brown complimented them for holding their ground and bitterly denounced those who deserted him at the water's edge.51 He urged them to stay and fight, while he went in search of Col. Tuttle and his men. Brown disappeared  into the woods while McNitt collected more of the disorganized militia.
Some time later Brown returned and reported in his official dispatch, "but-no Col. Tuttle could
I find or any other man."52


Brown wanted to know how things stood in front of the enemy where the regulars were contending so he ordered a movement in the direction of Backus to bypass the fighting. As they moved, the sounds of gunfire were heard some distance away on Brown's right flank. He and those with him halted. McNitt prepared his men to fire in that direction but Brown ordered a delay saying, "They might be our friends," but through the trees they saw redcoats instead. McNitt and his men gave the British their best volley and, their general in tow, the assemblage
made another rapid retreat.53  Some of Mcnitt's men and the Volunteers who were scattered in the
thick woods regrouped after getting through and attempted to form to the left of the regulars at
4

the upper end of the barracks.5
safety.
 
Others were still trying to make their way through the thickets to


The American artillerists toiling in Fort Tompkins repeatedly discharged the 32-pdr. into the woods toward the oncoming British. A deluge of cannonballs, grapeshot, and bullets lopped off tree tops and branches forcing them to fly in every direction. One nearly killed Captain Adhimar.
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A huge limb splintered by one of the deadly missiles crashed to the ground, narrowly striking him. He escaped with only a slight wound from a sliver of wood.55

As the British troops emerged from the forest, they came on the barracks and attacked. Far on the right, Viger heard the beat of drums and the strains of bugles. The dragoons and other American soldiers had lined up in front of him. "On both sides, each does his duty, as the charge is resolutely made."56 Viger heard the cannon balls and grape shot drop down through the tree tops like rain as the British moved forward to the edge of the forest to the south-west of the
village. As Viger's  squad in scouting formation approched the houses of the village, a strong
party of Americans scurried forth from their barracks. Viger thought the running Americans were either attempting to escape or had a "mission to come and surprise our people from the rear."57
The fighting reduced the ranks on both sides as the wounded and prisoners were taken to the rear by able-bodied men. Nevertheless  the exhilaration of combat prevailed;

Everyone is active - the whole line firing a general engagement. Each one of my men had a tree or bush as protection, our opponents - nothing. We had in front of us bodies of flesh and blood. They seemed to have hearts of wood. We were at the most only 500 tired but strong men, without artillery.58

The left flank of the British line near the shore was covered by the gunboats and the Beresford. The winds were still quiet while dense smoke hung over the battle§round. With intolerable slowness the crews of the British vessels attempted to use sweeps5   to bring them into
position and pound the American positions. At the same time Yeo's tars were exerting every effort to bring in the becalmed fleet by kedging. The British troops on shore had pushed about three quarters of a mile when they came upon the final defensive line. Fire from the dragoons, infantry and the artillery within Fort Tompkins was so intense that Prevost's party endured balls whizzing about them from all directions and, as Brenton remarked, "killing several persons near
us."6o

For the British command, the critical moment had arrived. Baynes approached Prevost announcing that the enemy was strongly posted and well-sheltered  by the Fort Tompkins blockhouse and other works. The men could not approach them, weakened as they were by losses of the morning. In view of the stiff resistance, the two officers conferred and reluctantly
agreed to collect all the troops, form up and make another attack upon the batteries and barracks, even though Yeo's fleet with its superior firepower was powerless to assist.61

The blockhouse, surrounded by marine barracks, occupied the bluff that had been set aside by Augustus Sackett for a house of worship. Seeing the regulars holding off the enemy, McNitt's remaining militia came out of the forest and joined the far left of Backus's line. Meanwhile,
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Brown attemped to reach Backus but his horse broke from him in the woods. With time ticking on, Brown ran into another man on horseback. He seized and mounted the animal and rode off to re-assemble his fugitives.62

The Americans holding on, Viger thought, must be a good part fresh troops. To his front a veil of greyish-blue smoke lingered slightly above the battle-ground. Shadows of men swirled about within it. Some of these shapes settled firmly down, only their arms in motion. Tiny, dazzling, almost-amber  yellow flashes abruptly blazed through the haze, followed by a sharp clatter of echoing musket fire. Amidst the din of battle, Viger began to reflect on the sacrifices of the Royal Scots, the King's  Regiment, and lOOth. He recognized that they had done wonders of valour and maintained all the brilliance of their reputation. Viger would emerge from the fight with a special empathy for the men of the 104th Regiment, the majority of whom were Canadians. They showed, he was convinced, that they were worthy of their commander, Major
Drummond, the Englishman who commanded obedience. 63

The Voltigeurs did not waver. Viger eulogised, "Both their bayonets and bullets meet those of the Americans. Would veterans and soldiers of the old guard have displayed more audacity? As a result, how many have paid with their lives for their boldness and temerity!"64

Urged on by shouting officers, the British were again collected and the line formed, although this time beyond the deadly reach of American musketry. Hands and faces fouled with powder soot, they were issued more ammunition and though much exhausted and thirsty, were once again moved forward. Brenton divulged, "I do not think the whole force collected in line [now] exceeded 300 men." Each time a man was wounded, someone "volunteered" to help carry him back to the waiting bateaux, thereby steadily reducing the number of effectives on the field.

The right of the British line stood on higher ground among stumps and logs. It was to this point that Prevost advanced with Major Robert McDouall who had encountered the 3rd U.S. Artillery the previous November during a trip to Albany under a flag of truce. As "shot, both grape and musket flew like hail," he joined Prevost and handed him his telescope. The two officers tried to steady it on a stump. The American fire was tremendous as a grape bullet fell within a yard or two of the Governor-General. Prevost now learned that Colonel Young had retired from the action because of exhaustion brought on by poor health. Additional bad news came in that all the other field-officers,  one excepted, were wounded, together with most of the
Captains and subalterns.65

Then came a lull in the fighting-to Viger it appeared as though both sides wished to pause and catch their breath. But the Americans were not yet beaten. Viger thought that the Americans were putting up a "resistance as firm and obstinate as the assault had been intrepid."66

The British schooner Beresford was first sighted to the west in Black River Bay passing by
Horse Island at about five a.m. At that time, Lieutenant Charles Skinner, USN, on board the Fair
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American anchored inside Navy Point witnessed Lieut. Chauncey go on shore to Navy Point by small boat. Before leaving, Lieut. Chauncey ordered the Fair American and Pert to swept out into the bay promising to join them later. Between six and seven a.m., Thomas Vincent, a civilian volunteer on Navy Point, heard Chauncey bark out new commands ordering Drury to destroy the ship-stores laden warehouses, barracks and spike the guns if a red flag were raised and lowered from the main mast of Chauncey's Fair American. Drury and his sailors were then to escape by rowing to Fort Volunteer. Once there, they were to proceed up the shoreline on foot
and help destroy Chauncey's two fleeing schooners, the Fair American and Pert to prevent them from falling into British hands.67

Chauncey reiterated earlier orders to Marine Sergeant Fisher standing by his bonfire, "Don't you destroy anything until you see my vessel in flames or the red flag hauled down the mast of Fair American."68 A few minutes later Chauncey added that if the army abandoned Fort Tompkins, Drury should immediately fire the barracks.

As the sounds of battle drew closer, a flustered Chauncey returned to the Fair American giving orders to weigh anchor and bring the guns to bear on the British schooner. Lieutenant Skinner took command of the long 32-pdr. on the main deck and commenced firing on the Beresford which had worked itself around Navy Point in clear view of Fort Volunteer. Skinner later remembered that "we were between Fort Volunteer and the Prince Regent when the first shot from Fort Volunteer went across our fore castle, when a boat was sent to request them not to
fire over us." The Beresford, slowly closing to shore, fired her guns at Fort Tompkins.69  With
fire now coming in around Navy Point, the civilian sailmakers fled their stations in panic, leaving their artillery piece behind unspiked.

The Fair American discharged her guns at the Prince Regent within short range and continued to sweep up the bay out of harm's  way. William Mervine, a midshipman on board the Pert) saw the Prince Regent move in sight. "We weighed [anchor] and sweep in range between Fort Volunteer and the Prince Regent and opened a fire at long shot. The balls were flying very thick about us from the direction of Fort Tompkins. I heard an obseryation that the enemy had Fort Tompkins and turned the guns on our vessels, we got under way and sweep up the bay." Lieut. Adams heard someone on board the Fair American order the cables to be cut. "We weighed and sweep towards Mill Creek." The further up the bay Chauncey's Fair American and
Pert ran, the less chance he had to defend his brother's new ship at the wharf. 70

The Beresford fired grape and canister over Fort Tompkins that rattled and ploughed down the length of Navy Point. William Johnson, USN, one of the sailors on the Point saw two men stationed at the 32-pdr. in Ft. Tompkins fall and the rest suddenly run. Then the 32-pdr. was silent. As the Beresford's shot fell around Drury's  sailors, they believed the British had captured Fort Tompkins and turned the Fort's  guns on them down below on the point! In reality the regulars held their own at the Basswood Cantonment and Fort Tompkins was secure. As the barrage from the Beresford fell around them, Drury ordered the men near him to lay down on the
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ground while he himself remained standing. Drury ordered match rope for the guns readied. John Henry, USN, noticed that Drury, in spite of his illness, was doing his best to defend the place amidst heavy fire.
Master Mate Robert Dunn, USN,71 on the point scrambled to Oliver Amorg, USN, master mate stationed at the four-gun  battery. Dunn reminded Amorg of Lieut. Chauncey's orders to set fire to the barracks if the British took possession ofFort Tompkins or if the red flag were raised. Amorg, bewildered, ran down the point to seek an officer's advice. He found Mr. Gamble who shouted to Amorg, "retreat!  The enemy have possession of Fort Tompkins and are firing on us." Still confused, Amorg grilled Gamble if he was sure of it. Gamble screamed he was sure and that they must retreat! Amorg demanded a second time if the enemy had possession of Fort
Tompkins. Gamble snarled, "God damn you, retreat!" Amorg threw the torch out of his hand and ran off.72

Samuel Parsons, USN, another of the sailors on the Point, insisted Mr. Gamble ordered the retreat and the guns spiked three times. Yet another sailor, William Jackson, USN, cried out in response, "shame!" Parsons thought it was needless to retreat but after the third order, complied. Master Mate Dunn could clearly see the dragoons on the hill, still defending the place.73  Dunn contended Gamble ordered the retreat and Hutton ordered the barracks destroyed. Before the fighting began, Lieut. Chauncey directed Dunn and the others not to obey Hutton and consider him only as a volunteer. Dunn protested that if any man tried to spike the guns as Hutton
ordered, he "would run him through with his cutlass."74

It was about an hour and a half after the battle began, Amorg recalled, that he began his retreat. One witness suggested to Drury that he had better go with his men on the hill with muskets as they could do no good on the point. Afterwards, this witness rode on his horse up to his quarters at Fort Tompkins to give some direction about removing some of his things to safety. In front of him on the plain to the south-west above the point, he could plainly observe
the dragoons where the fighting raged.75 	·

But on the plain, the American line was in danger of deteriorating. Lieutenant Thomas Heriott was hit by enemy fire and sent off to the rear towards Fort Volunteer while fellow dragoon, Sergeant Ephraim Wilder received a severe wound to the body.76  Lieut. Laval and those with him retired with his gun to a position further back "continuing  with unremitted industry to annoy the enemy."77  Major Luckett and his Dragoons near the log buildings were so exposed to British fire that his horse was shot out from under him and four of Captains Hayne's men and
their horses were shot dead. Up until now Luckett's  Dragoons did not have a chance to act on
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horseback because the British and Canadians refused to leave the protection of the woods. Backus continued to receive terrible fire as Aspinwall moved from rank to rank encouraging his recruits.78

Both the colonel and the major remained in front of their troops through the hottest of the in­
coming fire much of which was grape coming from the British gunboat on the American right.79
Pressed back, Backus was reported to have suddenly ordered his troops to retire to Fort Volunteer on the other side of the harbor. Shortly thereafter he received a wound which caused him to be taken from the field. 80

The command fell on Major Laval. Now Laval, Aspinwall and the regulars were all that stood between the onslaught and disaster. Dragoon Captain George Haig claimed Laval insisted it was useless to stand with such a handful of men. Laval, Haig said, began pulling the dragoons along with the 9th, 21st, and 23rd infantry further back towards Fort Tompkins. Captain Arthur
P. Hayne81 began ordering his dragoons out of action directing them to reassemble at Fort
Volunteer. Was Laval trying to establish a new position around Fort Tompkins with another at
Fort Volunteer, or was this the beginning of a rout?

Viger claimed that the Americans at this time "kept us busy at the very most for thirty minutes and then headed for some other point, others for Fort Pike, with about twelve or fifteen dead or wounded that they took along with them, without our being sorry about it."82

Across a narrow strip of land, the British force was once again formed. In front of them some of the dragoons crouched in a ditch that had been dug as a drain to the lake.83 Grabbing a man by the collar and pulling him out of the ditch, Laval ordered the rest of the line to fall back. A
disheartened Haig maintained Laval chimed out that further resistance was useless.84

Despite the confusion some of the Dragoons took refuge in the log barracks. With his own hands, Major Laval pulled men out of the exposed log buildings directing them to retreat. In the chaos, Haig and Hayne's  dragoons scrambled away from the fighting, south-east up the main street of the village and then north-east toward Fort Volunteer. With the exception of Aspinwall recruits, Fort Tompkins was being evacuated and much of the remaining army began its flight!

An unknown number of persistent artillerists reinforced by some remaining obstinate dragoons and Aspinwall's 9th held their ground in and around the blockhouse where General
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Pike was entombed. Neither Aspinwall nor his men budged an inch as portions of both armies discharged their muskets almost in each others faces and eyes.85  Inspired by the solemn oath "America Forever," this small band clung onto their to their post with unflinching resolve. For those spartans who refused retreat, the battle for Sackett's  Harbour had become a "sergeant's
war."86

The American infantry was pushed back and the whole line "including the valiant dragoons, turned tail and reached its barracks, while abandoning to us one of the field pieces which during the action was defending the space which separates these barracks into two distinct quarters."87
The British troops advanced moving awkwardly in two lines on the right and left of the
Americans.

The King's  8th, the 1OOth and part of the 104th on the left poured forth a most destructive fire. They penetrated to one of the barracks of the Basswood Cantonment where some of the
104th momentarily got possession of Lieut. Laval's  spiked artillery piece. Seeking shelter behind the barracks, they prepared for a further advance. A few daring souls made a dash through the smoke, but the fire was so destructive they were compelled to fall back.88

The stunned sailors on Navy Point saw the militia and Haigs Dragoons retreating over the hill in the utmost disorder. Their own confusion increased as a shower of balls fell around them. A dragoon officer came riding from the hill proclaiming, "all was lost!, it was useless for them to maintain their positions."89 Drury ran down the length ofNavy Point to once again ask Chauncey for advice. But Chauncey had slipped out on board Fair American and was beating up the bay towards Black River! Were those left behind on Navy Point about to become useless sacrifices?
                             Suddenly, from the north-east up Black River Bay, a red flag was hauled up the main mast of
Chauncey's Fair American  and a short time later hauled back down again! William Johnson,
USN, John Russell, USN, John Brown, USN, William Kane, USN, and Joseph Lewis, USN, five of the men on the point saw Lieut Chauncey's signal. So did Benjamin Hacker, USN, at Fort Volunteer, Thomas Vincent and John Robins, both citizens, had also heard Lieut. Chauncey give orders to destroy the barracks loaded with the spoils of York and the. ships stores when the red
flag was raised from the Fair American.90

Chauncey had run-up the signal to destroy the barracks, the new ship, the vital naval stores and to spike the guns! Yet, there was no sign of the enemy coming over the hill by way ofFort Tompkins. Within minutes the lower barrack at the end of the point was in set on fire and most of the guns there were spiked. Up to now Hutton's  orders had been ignored. Because of
Chauncey's  red flag, Hutton's orders to spike the guns were being obeyed. William Main said, "I
put the rat tail file in the touch hole and Mr. Dunn knocked it in and broke it off." On Hutton's orders, Marine Sergeant Fisher with a torch in his hand, ran to the upper barracks and began to
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fire them. Next Fisher ordered Marine Corporal Burns to set fire to the middle barracks. Fisher recalled:

The streets were crowded with our soldiers apparently in much confusion. Before I set fire Mister Hutton repeatedly told me to set fire. I hesitated some time, [until] nearly all the officers and men on the point embarked in boats.91

The men at their batteries spiked the guns and all attempted to secure their retreat, "with the utmost confusion, disorder, dismay and terror prevailing in every quarter."92 Fear had taken command, sweeping them away from the perceived danger. Charles Doughty saw Mr. Hutton be the first in the boat ready to leave the Point. Samuel Parsons saw the boats leave the Point between eight and half past eight am. Drury and those still with him followed the example of their superior officer, Lieut. Chauncey, and shoved off from Navy Point. A naval officer noticed, while getting on his horse, a smoke from the direction of the barracks down on the point.

I asked the surrounding gentlemen what it was. One replied it was the barracks. I then remarked that the fellow that set them barracks on fire ought to be hung: I came immediately down near the point and on my way down, I saw the barracks on fire and I supposed the prize schooner to be on fire also. I looked for some officers to advise them to haul her off and save her from burning. 93

Firing her guns, the Beresford came around Ft. Tompkins in full view of Navy Point. Spilsbury was unable to signal Prevost or Baynes of the commotion he saw, because no signal­ flag system had been implemented  by Yeo. Interestingly, towards the close of the preceding century a greatly improved signal-flag system was developed by Sir Home Popham and officially introduced in the Royal Navy at the beginning of 1800. But it was not implemented here.

Major Samuel Nye with his company of the 3rd, commanding  six or seven guns at Fort Volunteer, defiantly hurled shot at the Beresford as she came in view to the west but with little effect. From his excellent vantage point, Major Nye caught occasional glimpses of the militia and numbers of others running off in great confusion from the direction of Fort Tompkins. He also witnessed Drury's boats leave the Point to the west of him at about eight to half-past eight a.n1.. Nye believed it was about half-an-hour after Chauncey' Fair American and Pert fled that the point was abandoned by Drury and his men. Lieutenant Thomas C. Legate also of the 3rd.
and posted at Fort Volunteer saw one or two more guns fired from Fort Tompkins while the Fair
American and Pert were above Fort Volunteer. The Fair American and Pert continued their flight well above Fort Volunteer, sweeping well out of harms way.94

From his perch, Nye observed the schooners firing random shots at the Prince Regent with grape and some round shot. Had Fort Tompkins indeed been taken by the British? Nye had supposed that the British had taken possession of the plain above the point and thought it would appear to those at the bottom of the hill on the point that the fort had fallen. Because of the distance from Fort Volunteer to Foti Tompkins, it was not possible to determine the uniform of
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the men in the fort or whether or not a flag was on the staff. Nye was unable to see an American flag flying from Fort Tompkins. If he had seen one he may have thought the fort was still in American hands. Because there was no wind on that day, no flag would have flown and been visible.95

On the plain near the barracks, Lieut. Laval's artillery piece sat abandoned in the open space between the barracks. Nearby some Americans were in retreat. The British pursued them into this frightful pass where Fort Tompkins's heavy gun was aimed but was now silent. They
advanced as far as the barracks to "spread fear and death,"96  in spite of the musketry which made
them pay dearly. The British then fired into the loop holes of the barracks where they chose their victims.97

The stentorian voice of Major Aspinwall was heard encouraging his men amid the roar of musketry almost in his face and eyes. The son of one of Aspinwall's neighbors from Boston was shot and slain by a musket-ball that struck him in his forehead. The fighting was so close that the fur of his beaver felt shako was burnt by the flash of the powder from the musket which had just killed him.98

Inside the barracks an American private named David Johnson, from Berkshire County, Mass. was also shot in a most horrible manner. His face was carried away by a point blank shot which removed his eyes, nose, upper jaw, tongue, and some of the teeth of his lower jaw. This youth, being the only son of a widow, had joined the army at Greenbush. His mother, at the time of his enlistment, asked his sergeant to take good care of him and bring him back to her safe and sound.99

Aspinwall's recruits gave as good as they got and it was here, near the barracks that Captain Andrew Gray fell. 100  Gray was encouraging his men to follow him to have as close a look as possible at the barracks in order to find doors and smash them open. He had stopped to discuss the matter with Captain McDouall, when he was hit by a shot from one of Aspinwall's troops.101
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McDouall hoped Gray was not badly wounded, but Gray murmured, "they have done for me, it is all over with me."102  Simultaneously,  Captain Tyeth was wounded and survivors of Gray's party fell back. 103 Tyeth was again shot through the wrist as he retreated. Ensign Greig of the l(ing's 8th was killed, Lieutenant Nuttall, also of the King's 8th, mortally wounded, Major Evens was wounded, Lieutenant Lowry of the King's and "poor [Captain] Blackmore, on being carried off the field by one of his corporals, a discharge of grape killed them both." Colonel Baynes and McDouall were with the two farthest parties close up to the barracks, and very close to the strongly fortified position. McDouall remembered trying to gather the regiment to:

.attack which we could scarcely muster 150 men -the  poor fellows were still willing, but in almost every attempt were mowed down by grape and musketry. The musketry as heavier than anything I ever saw, except the 21th of March in Egypt. 104

In spite of the confusion on Navy Point and the withdrawal of Captains Haig and Hayne dragoons, Aspinwall and Laval's regulars stood fast and were turning the tide of battle. Prevost's gambit appeared to be thwarted by a thin blue line. But there was more to come.
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CHAPTER SEVEN

"He showed his men the Path to Glory" The Battle of Sackett's  Harbour, May 29, 1813
In Kingston the roar of artillery and the far-away rumble of musketry could faintly be heard. Ladies who had relatives or friends in the attacking force listened with anxiety and alarm to the muffled sounds of distant battle. 1 Everyone hoped the attack would bring about the destruction of Chauncey's new ship and the U.S. Navy's  ability to wage war on Lake Ontario. Anxiously, they awaited the return of Yeo's fleet with the entire Sackett's Harbour garrison as prisoners.
                             For miles around Sackett's Harbour the sounds of combat were alarmingly distinct. Deserters
from the field of battle reported the post was in British hands and that many Americans had been
killed, wounded or captured. Rumors circulated that the Americans had been completely defeated and the victorious British and Indians were "in rapid march for Watertown to destroy the arsenal."2

Fear gripped the settlers as they hid valuables, turned out livestock, and carried their children and things most needed on a rapid flight away from danger. One report described "a cavalcade of women and children from near Brownville... about 90 persons in all-in one moving mass,
hastening their rapid flight from the dangers that were believed so imminent."3

Meanwhile, near Fort Tompkins admist shot and fiery, LeCouteur and his senior officer, Lieutenant Jobling made a dash at a battery but lost half their men. He recounted, "We had then reached the town. We saw a ship of war on the stocks in flames or rather smoke."4 Although the barracks on the point were on fire, they only smouldered. Amidst this scene, LeCouteur turned toward the American gun battery and managed to get up to the stockade encircling the barracks. It was ticklish work, for Le Couteur had nothing but a sword.

The few sturdy Yankees remaining were poking musket muzzles through the posts of the stockade while Le Couteur made himself as flat as he could edgewise behind one of the posts. He found it really an uncomfortable  position, as there was neither "glory nor pleasure in being
riddled, or rather fringed, with balls."5

Fortunately for Le Couteur,his discomfort did not last long. The British regulars got round the flank and cleared the space, freeing him. Major Moodie and Le Couteur with his aide, Mills, desperately tried to turn Lieut. Laval's  captured gun on the blockhouse in which a handful of Americans were keeping them at bay. But the gun turned out to be spiked and therefore useless. Shots suddenly came at them from the blockhouse; Mills was hit five times and Moodie received a flesh wound. Clearly, the Americans wouldn't  budge. Suddenly a bugle called.
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Moodie told me, "it won't do."  I said: "What is that, Sir?"  He replied:  "The retreat is sounding, see our men are forming, are you much hurt?"  "No,"  I said, "it must be a mistake, there are the Americans running away en mass to the left, " which we both distinctly saw.6

At about the same time that Chauncey's red flag was being raised on the Fair American, Le Couteur heard the bugles sound the recall. The body of men in the Crown's  scarlet, gray and green scurried about to form up just out of range of the blockhouse. Major Drummond sought out Prevost and immediately offered, wounded as he was, to summon the few determined Americans to surrender. Sir George acquiesced. Under a flag of truce, Drummond trampled to the American blockhouse to demand the capitulation of the place. The firing had ceased as Drummond entered the American lines unmolested. A U.S. naval officer who witnessed the
occasion stood on the hill when Drummond's flag of truce came to coax the surrender.7

Major Laval with his dragoons nearby met Drummond. As the two parties faced off near the blockhouse defended by the Light, 3rd Artillery and Aspinwall's infantry, Drummond demanded the surrender of Sackett's Harbour. Laval refused. Drummond, realizing that "Brother Jonathan8
was too grass sharp," heard Laval query, "Why do you retreat, if you wish us to surrender?" Drummond retorted, "Only to form a fresh attack and to save a fresh effusion of blood." The defiant American fired back at Drummond, "Then tell Sir George Prevost, we will await the issue of his [next] attack."9  In a strong French accent, Laval is quoted, "Sar, you return to you
ship, and zay to your master if he wants Zackett's Zarber he must come and take him! He no run away/" 10 Stung by these words, Drummond sauntered back to the British lines exasperated.

Upon his return, Drummond told Prevost that Laval was quite willing to endure another attack.11 It had become clear that the Americans occupied a position from which they would not be dislodged, by either storm or persuasion. The weakened defense had indeed bled the attackers. Brenton tells why;

They were strongly posted in Fort Tompkins, armed with heavy guns, and in their blockhouses and loop-holed barracks, the very situation which renders the younge.s:t American recruit (a marksman from his youth) more than a match for the most experienced veteran. 12

Prevost faced a dilemma. Unaware of the confusion now unfolding on Navy Point, he had to consider the possibility of enemy reinforcements arriving, cutting him off from his ships and Kingston. Furthermore, how would he fare if Chauncey suddenly sailed in with Dearborn's
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troops on board the fleet? As he pondered his decision, Prevost must have realized that if he pressed the attack and failed, his fate could be sealed and upper Canada lost to Britain.

War is the province of uncertainty:   three-fourths of those things upon  which action must be calculated, are hidden in the clouds of great uncertainty.
(Von Clausewitz)

Viger believed Prevost was staggered by the losses his troops had sustained both in dead and wounded. Brenton stressed that "Our force was reduced to nearly one-third of its effective strength from the casualties of the field, and from the absence of those who had withdrawn to the rear with the wounded and prisoners." 13 Seeing large numbers of officers and men withdraw to
have their wounds bandaged, Prevost concluded that their efforts were futile without cooperation from the fleet. Thus, "The hour of victory was to be for us also that of retreat." 14

After Drummond returned with the American formal refusal, Prevost himself ordered the withdrawa1. 15 "The cause of the order was the resistance made by the enemy in their blockhouses, and from whence their fire had been very destructive, and as we had no artillery
with us it would be impossible to drive them from them." 16 Prevost felt that, "It was time to stop the bloodshed and order with reason a retreat." 17

As the Governor-General  anounced his descision, a relentless Major Drummond reputedly pleaded, "Allow me a few minutes, Sir, and I will put you in possession of the place," to which Prevost replied, "Obey your orders, Sir, and learn the first duty of a soldier." 18

Just at this time, the British were hauling their field pieces on shore and would have been ready for action within ten minutes. At the same time Baynes was told that the Americans were in flight from Fort Tompkins,  but he either disbelieved or disregarded it.19 Others in the British force could see a great dust cloud arising from the opposite entrance to the village. The feeling spread it was a large reinforcement  marching to the aid of the village.

Was this the main body of the 9th Infantry under Lt. Colonel Tuttle or the militia and others in retreat? "Poor Sir George," LeCouteur disparagingly concluded, "mistook the body of Americans Moodie and I saw in retreat for a fresh reinforcement."20  With artillery in place, the British might have carried through to the harbor with one more attack - but they were too battered to try.


13 E. B. Brenton, Some Account of the Public Life of the Late Lieutenant General Sir George Prevost. (London), T. Egerton. 1823.
14 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
15 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
16 Christopher Hagerman, p.15.
17 Major General Morgan Lewis wrote Armstrong that "During the action, a citizen ran to the British waving a white handkerchief, informed them of the approch of Co1. Tuttle, and they instantly retreated." National Archieves, Washington D.C. Microfilm  series M221, roll 54. Letters to the Secretary of War. Lewis to Armstrong, July 5, 1813.
18 James Wilkinson, Memoirs ofMy Own Times, Vol. I, (Philadelphia): Abraham Small, 1816, p.585.
19 Journal of Christopher Hagerman,  p.15.
20  Le Couteur.


As the bugle sounded the retreat near and far, many of the British soldiers misunderstood  its meaning and replied with endless cheers without leaving the ground they held. After realizing it meant retreat, they resentfully obeyed the order. The body of men in front of the Americans swayed and faltered. The greater part of them, exhausted by the combat of the morning, behaved as if stunned. Brenton recorded the moment.

Sir George.. called out repeatedly to them to retire in good order. Many, however, made off as fast as they could. We retired with the hindmost, nor was it, I assure you, with a quickstep, through showers of grape falling about us.21

The fight to destroy Chauncey's feared ship was lost. Only a miracle would prevent the dreaded vessel from being launched thereby granting maritime ascendency to the Americans.

At first Viger, too, had mistaken the meaning of the bugle call. Baynes had changed the command music the day before. The new music was played for the troops while still on the ships, but "darned if I remembered  it when I heard the cheers and the bugle on the point. I so weakly believed that it meant: Board your ships."22  Viger was called to the left of the line. He
and his Voltigeurs soon found themselves in a dense and thick forest without a path, and without guides (the Indians had already withdrawn). The erratic sounds of battle continued to echo through the woods as the Voltigeurs labored in the direction of the gun fire, through an area covered with bushes, fallen trees, and swamps full of water.

The more these tired men advanced, the less they could hear the shouts of the other troops and "the more the batteries were deafening us." The Voltigeurs encountered one of the Glengarries who told them, "it is the retreat they are sounding!" He continued, "the American
cavalry are pursuing our troops!"23 The Voltigeurs then changed their course. It was not long
before they discovered other British running away like people that were being pursued.

Nothing was more false than this would be sortie of the American cavalry." Viger resumed, "the enemy lacked confidence  to leave the limits of its defense or was too clumsy to take advantage of its victory, did not go out of its way to upset our retreat. Perhaps also they imagined that it was
just a fake on our part, and a trick which it wanted to have the common sense to avoid. 24

Within Fort Tompkins, Aspinwall's recruits and Laval's  dragoons watched in astonishment as the British line vanished in front of them. In spite of confusion, the defense had held. Had the attack indeed been broken? There was still scattered firing heard in the woods, but gradually it faded out.

During the pause Laval was told the British were in certain retreat. Several dragoon officers that had not withdrawn to Fort Volunteer insisted this was the time to act and pursue the fleeing British. Before they could move forward, they received orders that Laval refused a chase. This angered many of the dragoon officers who felt the day was their own. Outraged, they felt


21  E.B. Brenton.
22 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
23 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
24 National Archives of Canada, Viger.



thwarted, even betrayed in not following up on what was now possibly developing into a decisive victory.25  Would the British return to their waiting fleet unmolested?

The Voltigeurs reached the lake shore road which three hours before the brigade of Colonel Young had wrested from the Americans. They hurried to join the departing troops. Viger's  group increased as several soldiers from other regiments joined them along the way. Drummond succeeded in rallying his troops near a little house along the road. Within a few minutes a billowing smoke was seen rising from the direction of the dockyard.26 Viger explained that:

Just as the retreat began, the enemy, no doubt encouraged by the firmness and boldness of the last advance, set fire to stores containing naval articles, no doubt preparatory to the destruction
i   i 	of the new ship.27

An attempt was made near the little house along the road to rally the troops for another attack, but they were unwilling.28 Here Viger and his troops met Drummond's 104th. Together, they started off again in the direction of their ships. The rest of the Voltigeurs were further behind covering the rear of the retreating Army. Noticing a wounded man left behind, Viger handed his antique musket, the trophy captured from an American in the forest, to a trumpeter of
the lOOth Regiment. Viger then assisted the wounded soldier, who otherwise might have been abandoned. Viger felt glad to have helped the poor fellow, but was most unhappy to lose his trophy because the trumpeter disappeared and Viger never saw him or the musket again.

Perhaps he feels proud ofmy trophy as his own when talking to some of his superiors. So, today as in the days good old Virgil: "Thus you work, but now it is not for your benefitF9

By half past seven in the morning (half past eight U.S. time) Wingfield returned to Horse Island with the bateaux to take on board the fleeing British troops. Wingfield saw that the landing force had been dreadfully cut up. When the Voltigeurs reached Horse Island, Viger found Doctor Frateau with his ambulance, loading the wounded on a boat. Viger delivered his wounded man to the doctor's care and went on his way. His troops, in a final act of defiance, began pillaging Camp Volunteer. They found tents full of arms and baggage as well as some excellent whisky which they quickly drank to quench their thirst and gain fortitude.

A strengthened Viger declared, "the detonations of the muzzles on the point seemed to me like a bull still roaring which no longer scared me." Viger allowed each of his men to take along only one blanket, a sabre or some other such trifle as testimony of his involvement.30  He then



25 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 94, Records of the Adjutant General's Office, 1780's-1917. Letters received by the Office of the Adjutant General, 1805-1821, M566, Roll12, 1483: Laval, Jacint, July 11, 1813.
26 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
27 E.B. Brenton, Some Account ofthe Public Life of the Late Lieutenant-General Sir George Prevost. T. Egerton, London, 1823.
28 National Archives of Canada, MG24, F 18, (Wingfield Memoirs).
29 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
30  American records cited 83 blankets, 29 canteens, 86 shirts, 45 knapsacks, 19 coats, 90 stockings, 57 pantaloons,
28 vests, as well as 3 fifes, 3 drums, about 20 stocks, a shaving box and a cape of rations were taken from Captain
Kellogg's Company at Camp Volunteer on Horse Island. At least as many items were "claimed'  consumed in the


ordered them to move promptly ahead. "I saw the soldiers who had preceded us during the camp pilfering, seized with a new fear and rushed helter-skelter into the boats." They franticly rowed from shore shouting "push on, push on boys, make haste, here they come!"31

In the rush to shove off, soldiers accidentally or purposely dropped or threw away equipment to lighten their load in the water.32  They managed to take off to the ships one of the brass six-pdr. left behind by Mill's  volunteers.33 Only the Indian canoes remained on shore waiting for Prevost,
who was among the last to leave. The Voltigeurs were forced to take to the water up to the waist to reach the boats closest to land. It was only under repeated threats that one officer compelled a boat to return and pick him up. When the squad ofVoltigeurs under Major Heriot reached the point of embarkation, they found no boats except the birch canoes of the Indians. Heriot ordered one to return to shore to pick up stragglers but it was not large enough for all. Luckily, they found a light bateaux nearby and piled inside putting to sea, reaching the fleet and the rest of the
units about nine a.m.34

From the Pert, Lieut. Adams could see off in the distance British bateaux full of men leaving Horse Island returning to their vessels. Adams hailed Chauncey on the Fair American and asked if he could also see the British withdrawal. Chauncey replied, "No, they were [American] prisoners who were being taking off [to the British fleet]!"35 Moreover, Chauncey added, the British had taken possession of Fort Tompkins and turned the Fort's  guns on him! Being so far
away from the action, Chauncey had misjudged what was happening.

Two boats filled with Drury's sailors shoved off from Navy Point in retreat towards Chauncey's  fleeing Fair American. By the time they were halfway to Fort Volunteer, William Phillips, a sailor on board, could see fire break out in the middle and lower barracks. The upper barracks were not yet engulfed in flames. Chauncey hailed Drury howling, "Damn you, go back or I will fire upon you." But Drury'  boats continued on. Chauncey barked, "Damned you, if you
don't come along side, I will fire into you!"36  Finally Drury obeyed and pulled alongside.

Chauncey ordered Drury to return to the Point and spike the guns to prevent their use by the British. Drury replied they were already spiked. Chauncey next ordered them to Fort Volunteer to cover the retreat of his two schooners. Drury obeyed. The Fair American and Pert continued


fire on Navy Point. The author has seen at least several times the above amounts listed "as taken by the enemy" in the U.S. Archives. National Archives. Microfilm Series M221-53.  Roll42. letter 7673.
31 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
32 For years a badly corroded India-pattern  musket, loaded, on half cock, with the battery thrown back over the flash-pan, hung on a wall at the "old Cannon" antique shop located south of Sackets Harbor on Rt 3. This musket was recovered by divers in the 1960s. Unfortunately,  its whereabouts  is unknown today.
33 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
34 National Acrhives of Canada, Viger.
35 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Microfilm Publications.  Microcopy #273. Records of General Courts
Martial and Courts of Inquiry of the Navy Dept. 1799-1867 Roll6. Vol. 4. #141, Amorg testimony.
36  National Archives, Washington D.C., Microfilm Publications. Microcopy #273. Records of General Courts Martial and Courts of Inquiry of the Navy Dept. 1799-1867 Roll6.  Vol. 4. #141, Amorg testimony.



to beat up the bay out of danger. At a distance of about a mile and a quarter they fired on the
Beresford but without chance of much effect.37 	.

Drury, meanwhile, landed his men as near Fort Volunteer as the make of the shore would permit. His men followed the course of the retreating schooners up the shore line by foot to Mill Creek. Because of the spring run-off, the creek was high and difficult to cross. Consequently Drury pushed on up the creek about a quarter of a mile to a bridge. By now many of his men had scattered.

One of these scattered sailors, Amorg, made his way to Fort Volunteer where he witnessed the schooners retire further up the bay. He looked for Drury but could not find him. Amorg took off for Mill Creek where he found Hutton. They anxiously discussed what course of action they should take. Amorg told Hutton he was going back to Fort Volunteer but Hutton warned him not to do so. Hutton stated that he  was going to Brownville. Some of the men decided to leave with Hutton for Brownville and some returned with Amorg to Fort Volunteer.

Back at the point, the heat from the burning barracks ignited a fire among some tar and shingles on the deck of the Duke of Gloucester. Seeing the danger, a sailor named Samuel Parsons got some help and rushed to extinguish the fire. The flames threatened to consume the vessel and a cargo of gunpowder.  Lieutenant Tallman boarded the prize schooner with a party of men and managed to haul her out into the Harbour as they extinguished the fire, saving her.38
One witness came near the point and found the prize schooner had been hauled off by Lieut. Tallman away from the burning barracks. He testified that

the officers and men previously  stationed at the point were not to be seen. About this time the schooners, Fair American and Pert were about a mile up the bay apparently at anchor. The Prince Regent (Beresford) was within gunshot of Fort Tompkins, which had been firing at her as did the schooners Fair American and Pert.39

The Fair American kept up a fire on the Beresford (Prince Regent) at the safe distance of one and a half miles while Chauncey started for Fort Volunteer in a small boat to find out if the garrison there was still determined to defend that place. At the same time, a boat came toward him from the fort with a message that the enemy was indeed in retreat!40  A confused but now suddenly confident Chauncey swept in the direction of Fort Tompkins, firing several more shots
at the stern of the Beresford which was passing Horse Island on her way back toward Yeo's fleet. In the distance from the Pert, Lieut. Adams could see the British gunboats about one quarter to one half mile in front of the Beresford sweeping away from Sackett's Harbour and in the
direction of the British fleet.41

Chauncey dispatched Adams ashore to examine Fort Tompkins's guns and see if they could be fired. Upon returning he confirmed that two thirds of the guns were spiked but others could be


37 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial.
38 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial.
39 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial.
40 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial.
41 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Courts Martial.


fired. The two schooners fired several more parting shots at the boats towed astern one of the departing British vessels, but attempted no more. Chauncey and some men then scurried on shore to draw the spikes out of the guns in case the attack was renewed.42  Shortly thereafter, men of the
Light Artillery returned to Ketchum's 32-pdr. and continued hurling its iron towards Horse
Island where the enemy craft were pulling off. The time was ripe for a charge of horsemen down the lake side wagon road to be followed by a movement of the regulars, but there was no attempt to follow up.

"As I last turned from the enemy", Jacob Brown recorded in his official report, "I came out of the woods and I saw an alarming flame arising from Navy Point, the position which contained the spoils ofYork."43 The General made his way quickly towards Fort Tompkins. The fort's  long
32-pdr. was manned by Ketchum's returned artillery crew. They were "in the act of firing at the enemy shipping" as Brown rode up.

Brown instructed Ketchum to keep up as heavy a fire as possible and "apprised him that victory was ours." Ketchum retorted, "General, I cannot discharge the piece again, the flames from the Marine barracks are so hot that my men cannot exist here." From the time the first fires were set until Brown's  appearance, the fires had grown fierce. Brown understood Ketchum's concern, telling him to do the best he could. Ketchum thereupon continued to shower the retreating British with grape and round shot from Fort Tompkins. As the last British crossed to
Horse Island, the American batteries'  aimed fire at the causeway.44 Brown rode off, "being
alarmed for the ship, the object of the contest." Brown hurried to the wharf where the huge ship was on the stocks. It was there he claimed he found Major Brown, who,

assured me the ship was safe and what had happened [on the Point] was owing to the infamous conduct of those in whom Chauncey had placed confidence; that it was without his knowledge - that they had gone from Navy Point and informed Chauncey that all was lost upon the right of our line of battle. I assured him that all was safe upon my right, and that victory was ours.45

Olney Pierce, standing on the wharf near the new ship, saw the two boats with Drury's refugees pull offNavy Point. Pierce heard Chauncey's voice on board the Fair American, hailing them and ordering them back to the Point. Pierce heard a man holler out a message from the mast head of the Fair American. His voice sent the news across the smooth surface of the water that
"the British were retreating!"46  At this time, on the wharf, General Brown would have had
instant knowledge that the British were withdrawing! He commanded Pierce to run out and hurry


42 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Courts Martial.
43 National Archives, Washington  D.C. Microfilm Series 221, Letters receive by the Secretary of War 1801-1861, July 1812-May 1814- Roll 50. Brown to Armstrong, June 1, 1813.
44 National Archives of Canada, Viger.
45 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Microfilm series M221. Roll 50, Letters received by the Secretary of War,
1801-1861, Brown to Armstrong,  June 1, 1813. This is one part of Jacob Brown's claims that could not have been true, it would have been impossible for his brother Samuel to have known the details of what happened on Navy Point at the time of the battle. This information could only have been told to Jacob well after the battle was over and then it was an effort to fmd a scapegoat.
46 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial.




on the incoming troops. Pierce complied hustling out the Brownville road toward Fort Volunteer and the Mill Creek Bridge. Immediately Brown himself galloped up to the Brownville, Middle, and Adams roads where he perceived hundreds of men assembled at a respectful distance from danger.

Major Swan rode up exclaiming that the fixed ammunition was expended. "I replied it may be so but I do not believe it, if it is so tell no man." Brown then rode among the fugitive militia. They tried to convince him as they had Major Swan that they had no more ammunition. But Brown knew them better and would admit no such excuse. Brown went among them, coaxing, threatening, berating and proclaiming that the regulars had won and that the enemy were defeated and in retreat.47

With the British in flight towards their waiting ships, Brown managed to coax the least timid of militia to march towards the area where the British right flank had been.

With much ado I got them to move towards the right flank of the enemy in hopes of throwing them into the woods behind Sir George should he presume further to advance.48

Was there still a possibly of throwing the militia into the woods behind Prevost before the last enemy reached the safety of his ships?

General Brown ordered Major Luckett to advance with his mounted light dragoons into the open space west of Judge's  Sacket's house. This location was nearly in a direct line between the area where the enemy had been and Chauncey's new ship. Brown claimed, "It was done."49
Although the British were in open retreat, it does not appear that any serious follow up movement was made or attempted by the mounted dragoons.

An operation in war, like everything else upon earth, requires its time. It is therefore, that which appears easy, difficult in reality. (Von Clausewitz)

Olney Pierce was on the wharf when Brown came out of the woods. He followed Brown's orders and hustled out the Brownville road to hurry on the reinforcements.  He ran into Drury at the Mill Creek bridge. Unaware of the British retreat, Drury repeated to Pierce, too, that Fort Tompkins had been captured, the guns were spiked by orders of Chauncey and he was directed
to assist the schooners in landing their men. Pierce then returned to town and saw for himself that this was not true. He rushed back out the Brownville Road to hurry on the in-coming troops. He again saw Drury, still near the tavern, "apparently  collecting his men."50

Back on the plain, the fighting had all but finally ceased. Laval declined to pursue with his weakened regulars. No one was sent forth to reconnoitre until the firing completely stopped. With only limited means of defense, the American regulars inflected heavy losses on the British. The British attack had passed through its' stages of resistance until all reached the core of the


47 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG107, Microfilm Series M221, Roll 50, Brown to Armstrong, June 1,
1813.
48 National Archive, Washington  D.C., RG107, Microfilm series 221, Roll 50, Brown to Armstrong, June 1, 1813.
49 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Ibid.
50 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Courts Martial.
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American defense... Aspinwall and Laval's  regulars at Fort Tompkins. It was there that the exhausted defenders achieved results. But they were too weakened to pursue. With the action concluded, General Brown rode up and made his appearance in front of the victorious regulars. Brown's account of the battle to Secretary Armstrong states:

Hurrying then to where the American and British regulars fought, I very soon felt that victory was really ours - and if Sir George had not been off with almost the rapidity of thought- he would not have returned [to Kingston] that day.51

A thwarted Laval later wrote President Madison that things unfolded totally different from
Brown's  version:

I continued in command of the whole action until! [sic] the retreat of the enemy was complete, at which time only, Genl'  Browne [sic] made his appearance in the field before the regulars and took the command from me., had justice been done to the regular troops, the laurels of Sackets Harbour would have remained on the brows from which they have been stripped, the dragoons in
particular whom I had trained with the muskett, [sic] distinguished  themselves,  they fought like lions and actually gained the day.52

Under a cloudless blue sky with the sun-gleaming off the motionless lake, Le Couteur's  unit moved toward the flotilla enveloped in subdued tranquillity. Although numbed by the turmoil, everyone was very much disturbed by a stirring scene. An ensign in Le Couteur's  regiment, a dazed youth of 18, openly grieved. His father, the Deputy Quartermaster-General Captain Andrew Gray, had been killed in the final assault near the barracks. The son sobbed and cried as he begged to be allowed to remain behind by his father's  body. Rowing on, his exhausted
companions said nothing as the melancholy procession neared the safety of the fleet.53

E. B. Brenton, in describing the withdrawal, insisted the enemy made not the smallest attempt to interrupt the embarkation. "We brought off all our men except a few wounded [who fell] near the scene of the last attack, together with a brass field piece, tent equipage, and about
25 prisoners."54  They reached the ship about 9:00a.m., the attack having lasted about four hours.
In the aftermath of battle and confusion he concluded, "our loss in killed and wounded is near
200.55 The enemy's  force cannot have been less than 3,000, as they received a reinforcement of
700 that morning."56



51 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series 221, Roll 50. Letters received by the Secretary of
War, 1801-1861. Brown to Armstrong,  June 1, 1813.
52 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG94, Records of the Adjutant General's Office, 1780's-1917, Letters received by the Office of Adjutant General, 1805-1821,  M566, Rol112, Laval, Jacint to the President at Montpelier, August 16, 1815.
53 LeCouteur.
54 E.B.Brenton. Some Account of the Public Life ofthe Late Lieutenant-General Sir George Prevost, Particularly of his services in the Canadas. (London, T. Cadell, Strand, t. Egerton, Whitehall.) 1823. p.87.
55 David Wingfield stated "We lost nearly 400 men killed and wounded in this disgraceful  affair, when, in every probability the place would have been taken without loss of a single man had things been conducted as they ought: this failure caused a coolness between the Governor, and the Commodore." National Archives of Canada. (Wingfield.) "It was a scandalously-managed affair. We gained a surprise and threw it away to allow the enemy to



"Before all of the soldiers embarked," Wingfield claimed, "it was known to a certainty that what was supposed to be a reinforcement,  was nothing else but the main body of the Americans retreating, leaving some blockhouses manned, until their new ship and storehouses were on fire, and then to follow." Sergeant Commins of the King's  concluded they carried as many of their wounded away as possible. The British troops embarked

tired, hungry, wet and thirsty, highly mystified and looking very sheepish at one another... you would hardly have heard a whisper until that powerful stimulant grog was served out when the tower of Babel was nothing like it, everyone blaming another, nay some of them were rash and imprudent to lay the blame on anyone but themselves. As for my part, I thought much, but said little, having got a wound in my thigh which began to pain me as soon as I got cold made me in no mood for talking that day.57

As the morning drew to a close, confusion reigned. Dragoon Lieut. Heriott met Drury about eleven a.m. on the Brownville road by a small log tavern near the Mill Creek bridge a mile from the village and the scene action. Heriott had been wounded in the battle and sent off to the rear. Major Samuel Brown, though not wounded, was also at this safe haven after the British withdrawal. General Brown's brother asked Drury for news of the battle.58

Innocently, Drury conversed with the pair, relating that he thought the attackers had gained possession of the town and that the ship was on fire and all was lost. Drury added that his men deserted him and that he was in hot pursuit of them. As the three men spoke, Drury turned to some in-coming infantry soldiers and hollered, "Hurry on, the day was ours, the enemy had retreated."59  Lieut. Heriott felt Drury's  words were encouraging, as he had already heard that the place was lost. Major Brown shared the news with Drury that a reinforcement of 700 men were arriving (actually 450 of the 9th Infantry). The main body of the 9th Infantry under Tuttle was indeed nearing the village at a dead run after learning of Prevost's attack from express riders.

Gathering as many of his men as he could find, Drury made his way to Fort Volunteer. There he met Major Samuel Nye. The two engaged in some retrospective discussion concerning the ominous events of the morning. It was evident that the startling chaos on Navy Point would raise questions demanding answers. Before they parted company, a grim Drury expressed that he





gain time. The murmurs against Sir George were deep not loud. Our sweet little band was sadly cut up, three of them being killed in this affair. It was a folly to take them." (LeCouteur Memoir).
56 "At that very period, a reinforcement  of 600 men, under Col. Tuttle, reached Sackett's Harbour. With the overwhelming  superiority which this accession to their force gave the enemy, it is obvious that with very moderate pretensions to either skill or enterprise, they might have opposed most formidable obstacles to our re-embarkation. A further perseverance  in the attack on our part, or the least delay in the retreat, would probably have ended in the
capture or destruction of the whole of our troops. Fortunately...the  re-embarkation being effected without opposition, the troops returned the same day to Kingston."
E.B. Brenton. Sir George Prevost, Bart. in the Canadas. (London: T. Candell, Strand, 1823) p. 90.
57. National Archives of Canada, Commins,  p.57.
58. National Archives. Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial, Nr. 141.
59 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Courts Martial. Nr. 141.
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"regretted very much the firing of the barracks and thought that some officers would be called to an account."60
Meanwhile the dead and wounded were assembled and brought to various houses in town.61
Rev. Case confirmed the bloodiness of the scene noting in his journal that the British retreated to their shipping, abandoning part of their dead and wounded upon the field of battle. These, with American fatalities, were brought in from the field. The dead were stretched out side by side in rows, and the wounded were placed on beds of straw and made as comfortable as possible.
About sixty-eight American wounded were cared for in the military hospital and fifteen others were brought to private houses in the village while three captured British officers and thirty-two British soldiers were reportedly placed in the care of the American militiary surgeons.62

We were conducted by a friend to the several hospitals where I saw distress of about 80 wounded... We were then conducted to the remains of Colonel Mills of the Albany Volunteers. He and the British General Gray were laid out together, both brave, by mutual wounds expired...but now asleep peacefully together.63

After reembarking Prevost sent a flag of truce "desiring to have their killed and wounded attended to." Brown replied that the Americans would tend to the British wounded as well as his own. "Americans," he stated, "will be distinguished for humanity and bravery."64

As soon as the British completed boarding their ships, they set sail for Kingston. Viger and the Voltigeurs were on board Beresford along with many of the wounded. Colonel Drummond, having sustained a knee-wound, visited the injured, consoling and praising them for their courage.

Towards evening Viger boarded one of the bateau sailing behind the fleet. As darkness came upon them, the winds picked up and Viger's  bateau lost its way from the main flotilla. Bad weather forced them to land on a small island. The men were cold, frightened and were unsure if they should build a fire for warmth. Some argued that the Americans would see it, others felt it would be safe. Suddenly someone ripped a shirt into strips. Some dry wood was found. Gunpowder was placed in the flash pan of a musket, the trigger pulled and sparks flew. Soon the flames crackled and the most obstinate defenders of the darkness-although complaining of "imprudence" drew nearer the fire. Indifferent to danger, the exhausted, shivering soldiers gathered around its warmth to dry themselves, ending up by falling asleep, "snoring like
senators."65





60 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial, Nr.l41.
61 National Archives, Washington D.C., Brown to Armstrong, June 1, 1813.  "We found on the field twenty British soldiers killed 15 or 20 wounded."  Goodell, New York Historical Society.
62 Solon Massey, Links in the Chain, 1850-1859,  reprinted by Junia Fitch Stanton, Watertown, New York, 1981.
63 Landon. p.46, 47.
64 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Brown to Armstrong, June 1, 1813.
65 National Archives of Canada, Viger.



Early the next morning the Voltigeurs continued their journey, arriving at Kingston and saw the fleet already anchored in the harbor. Following the flotilla's arrival, the town people turned out to greet these erstwhile conquerors. The scene quickly turned to one of distress. People were troubled when they saw only 150 prisoners instead of the whole garrison of Sackett's  Harbour paraded through the streets and little of the immense military and naval stores known to be there. Criticism of Prevost swelled as details of the battle became lmown.

Realization that the war on the lakes would continue unabated took hold. The Americans still had a harbor from which their new ship could sail. If the British could have held Sackett's Harbour this would have destroyed Chauncey's ability to wage war on Lake Ontario. One Canadian officer lamented:

Fairly however, it may be said that Sackets Harbour would not have cost us ten more men, and had we taken it, thousands of pounds would have been saved the country, as well as perhaps as thousands of soldiers - the consequence  was that their new frigate then on the stocks was shortly after launched, which placed in their hands the ascendency on the Lake, which to this day we have not been able to control. Where as had it been destroyed, it would have thrown them so much behind us in strength that it would have been an easy matter to have kept them from being even able to cope with us.66

If the British had been victorious, the Americans would have been compelled to bid a long farewell to Lake Ontario, at least for many months. The British could have sent their troops and sailors to Lake Erie, destroyed the American ships under construction and halted the enormous drain on the country's resources.  In the eye's  of many, Prevost was to blame.
r
I	Wingfield complained, "We lost nearly 400 men killed and wounded in this disgraceful
affair, when in every probability the place could have been taken without the loss of a single man had things been conducted as they ought."67

LeCouteur's pointed out that "the murmurs against Sir George [Prevost] were deep not loud. It was a scandalously-managed affair."68 LeCouteur was especially distraught because the toll of killed and wounded on his friends was high:

Our sweet little band was sadly cut up, three of them being killed in this affair. It was folly to have taken them. My friend Moore was shot in the left jaw, the ball had passed through the cheek and horribly disfigured  him. I fed him with a spoon for several days and nights and took his hand to mine in order to prevent his touching his bandages.69

Lieutenant Maurice Nowlan of the 104th Grenadier Company wrote his wife in Montreal that he barely survived the battle of Sackett's Harbour. His letter: "was just to let you hear that I was living, which certainly is a miracle as we lost the half of our company in killed and wounded."70




66 Christopher Hagerman, p.15.
67 National Archives of Canada, M.G. 24 F. 18, Wingfield.
68  Le Couteur.
69  LeCouteur.
70 Archives National du Quebec, Montreal, Letters of Lieutenant Maurice Nowlan to his wife, 1811-1813.
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The expedition's failure also caused substantial coolness between the Governor-General and Commodore Yeo. An alienated Yeo placed the blame squarely on Prevost for being overly cautious and indecisive. Despite the rupture he prepared to ferry troops and provisions from Kingston to Vincent's  struggling force on the Niagara Frontier, where he hoped British fortunes might prove solvent.

At Sackett's  Harbour, Master Commandant Leonard scribbled and sent off the first details of the action to Navy Secretary Jones by courier. The British were repulsed with great loss, "after five hours in a very hotly contested action with our gallant troops under Col. Backus and Col. Mills." He added that the commanding military officer, Col. Backus, was mortally wounded. He stated that the Marine Barracks and all the stores taken at York were destroyed and the new ship, as well as the prize ship, Duke of Gloucester, taken at York, were saved.

General Brown sent his first report of the action to Secretary Armstrong, General Dearborn and a slightly different version to Governor Tompkins.71 To each of these three people he stated Sackett's Harbour was attacked and added, "we are completely victorious. Lt. Col. Backus of the
1st Reg't. of Light Dragoons nobly fell at the head of his Regiment as victory was declared for us.72 - I will not presume to praise this Regiment - their gallant conduct on this day merits more than praise." - The new ship and Commodore Chauncey's prize, the Duke of Gloucester are yet safe in Sackett's  Harbour."73

Brown closed by saying, "it is probable we shall be attacked as Sir George must feel very sore. We are, however, greatly reenforced from the country and by the arrival of four hundred and fifty Regulars under Col. Tuttle who arrived very shortly after the action was over."74

Brown sent Tompkins the same report that was dispatched to Armstrong and Dearborn, but with one major exception. In a paragraph omitted from the other reports, Brown wrote to Tompkins that it may appear that he was too hard on the militia but:

Nothing  short of a certain  guarantee for my souls happiness after death  could have given me such comfortable & grateful feelings as to have obtained  a victory  over Sir George  Prevoost [sic] & the best men he could collect  in which  the militia  under my command should  have a principal agency.  But sir, this is not the fact. The noble  men both officer  & soldiers of the regular  Army &





71 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Roll 50, Letters Recieved by the Secretary ofthe Army, Brown to Armstrong,  June 1, 1813.
72 "To Col. Backus, who, praised be God, still lives, I have presented the sword taken from Adj. Genl. Gray who was killed not distant from where Backus fell and by the side of Sir George Prevost." National Archives, Washington D.C. Microfilm M221, Letters Received by the Secretary of War, roll 50. Brown to Armstrong, June 1,
1813.
73 National Archives, Washington D.C., RG107, Microfilm Publications,  Letters from Officers, Microfilm Series, M221-52 6283.
74 National Archives, Washington D.C., RG107, Microfilm Publications, Letters from Officers, Microfilm Series, M221-
52 6283.



some few, precious few Citizen Soldiers who nobly resisted the shock of the foe, men of the
Basswood Cantonment are the men who merit the honor of this Victory & Sir, they must have it.75

Not surprisingly this truthful revelation was not published in the nation's newspapers and the fortunes of Jacob Brown were about to rise.

In a soothing gesture, Brown presented his sword to Captain McNitt as a token of the bravery of the captain and his men.76  In his next report dated June 1, two days after the battle, Brown insisted that the destruction of the ship's  stores and what had happened on Navy Point was in no way the fault of Lieut. Chauncey, "the brother of our worthy Commodore..." "Lieut. Chauncey is a brave and honorable man. To him no blame can attach for what happened on the Navy Point.
He was deceived."77 Now Brown was covering for Lieut. Chauncey. A scapegoat had to be found, but who?

General Brown directed Major Swan to make an accounting of the killed, wounded and prisoners on both sides. Swan's report listed that the Americans lost 156 men, dead, wounded or missing; one colonel of volunteers, twenty regulars, privates, and one volunteer private, were killed; one lieutenant-colonel, three lieutenants, and one ensign of the regulars, and seventy-nine non-commissioned officers and privates were wounded; and twenty-six non-commissioned officers and privates were missing. Their aggregate loss was one hundred and ten regulars,
twenty-one volunteers, and an unknown, "but not to exceed," number of twenty-five militia. 78

By the end of June, Brown wrote another letter to Armstrong in which he praised Major Aspinwall in glowing terms. Substantiating  the feelings of others, Brown wrote; "Major Aspinwall, who showed his men the "Path to Glory," greatly distinguished themselves and was enormously useful in achieving the Victory. This Gentleman," Brown concluded, "merits
promotion." 79



75 Historical Manuscripts  in the Public Library of the City of Boston. Nr. 5 (1904), P.190, Brown to Tompkins, June
1, 1813.
76  The history of the transaction  was given by William Waffle, who was a member of McNitt's company of militia. The letter is dated Depauville,  Jefferson County, N.Y., Feb. 6th, 1871, and was written to General Joseph W.
Brown, then residing in Cleveland,  Ohio., brother of the late General Jacob Brown. William Waffle, at the writing of the letter was over 82 years of age. In his letter he says: "I will try and tell you, as near as my memory will permit, about the Battle of Sacketts Harbor, May 29th 1813. Genl. Provost [sic.] came over with his army and fleet to take the place. They came to anchor at Horse Island... The whole militia were called out to give them battle. Colonel
Mills commanded  the Albany volunteers. He was killed. The British landed and formed into line, commenced firing; our militia retreated, all but Capt. McNitt's company, they stood their ground bravely; the British marched to the barracks, where their commander, General Grey, was killed, and then they retreated to their boats.- General Brown, with all his endeavors,  could not rally the men back to their post of duty. General Brown found Capt. McNitt with
his company at their post, and for his skill and bravery presented him with the sword..." Jefferson County Journal,
1872 and American Grapes, Publishing  date unknown, p. 79.
77
•  National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG107, Microfilm Series M221, Brown to Armstrong, June 1, 1813.
78 Sketches of the War, between the United States and the British Isles: intended as A Faithful History of all the Events from the Time of the Declaration  of War to the Treaty of Peace in 1815, (Rutland, Vt. Published by Fay and Davison, 1815), p.208.
79 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG107, Microfilm M221, Letters received by the Secretary of War, (1801-
1861). Roll 50, Brown to Armstrong,  June 1813. Following the Battle of Sackett's Harbour, Aspinwall remained on


In a letter to his father, militiaman Goodell accredited most of the American casualties to Aspinwall's  Massachusetts recruits that had arrived the day before the battle. Because of these men's steadfast determination, Goodell thoughts turned to the patriots of Massachusetts who helped to gain the nation's independence.80 "[This you] can better judge," he wrote his father,
"than I can describe." He concluded his letter saying that he himself never thought of being killed
"except when on the retreat."81

Backus was not so lucky. He died of his wounds on June 7 and the next day an honor guard of 120 Infantry and eighty Artillerist with side arms assembled to escort his remains to the burial site.82 He was interred near General Pike at Fort Tompkins with honors ofwar.83

Others succumbed to their wounds in the days following: eighteen year David Johnson, thirty-nine year old Isaac Johnson, seventeen year old Druman Linsee, Ellis Morey, twenty-one year old Jonathan Nichols Jr., thirty-four year old Jeremiah Spicer, twenty-four year old Charles Bebee, and Herehziah Hubbard, all of the 21st Infantry were buried at Sackett's Harbour. In the coming days, many of the wounded, such as Sergeant Ephraim Wilder, continued to weaken and pass away, raising the death toll considerably higher. Francis Lawrence, the young Canadian from Montreal, survived the battle, but his secret of being a deserter was discovered. He was arrested and turned over to a very unforgiving United States Marine Corps.

No records have been found indicting the names of wounded militia, but some were captured in action. Pearly Keyes wrote; "Six of our militiamen are missing. We sent a flag of truce to


he Northem Frontier. In August 1814  he was at the seige ofFort Erie and on the memorable 17th of September sortie storming the British entrenchments. During that action  he was so severely wounded in his left arm that it was necessary to have it amputated. After  the action  he wrote  his father; "After being  wounded I walked  back to my tent, and in about an hour  had only one arm,--a circumstance which  does not affect  me, my dear father,  and must not you. But let us both thank  god that he has so formed  us that you have lived almost  all your  life happy  and respectable, notwithstanding the loss of an eye; and I may spend  the remainder of my life in the same  manner with the loss of a limb, of all the most conveniently spared. I have been so blessed  hitherto that it would be the deepest  sin to murmur against this dispensation of providence." After the peace  he was offered  a position in the regular army but declined, preferring an appointment as Consul in London by President Madison. He remained in that position until1853 when he was removed by President Pierce, - a victim  to that doctrine which  sacrifices the interests of the country  to the needs of a political party.  While  residing in England, Aspinwall was elected a corresponding member of the Boston Historical Society  and became a member of the Royal  Society ofNorthern Antiquaries at Copenhagen. In 1857 he was chosen  a director  of the Boston Board  of Trade  and served  the next two years  as a Vice-President. He died in Boston  on August  11, 1876  at the age of91.
80 "Though neglected by superiors and posterity, Thomas  Aspinwall must  be acknowledged for having  conducted one of the most desperate, last ditch  defenses in American military history.  Without his heroic  effort, the outcome of the battle, perhaps  even the war in Canada, would  have been profoundly altered in favor  of the British.  Despite  a
long life and a distinguished diplomatic career,  Aspinwall was and remains a perennial unknown from the War of
1812." John C. Fredriksen to the author.
81 Manuscript Department, the New York  Historical Society. Richard Goodell to Richard Goodell, Sr. Adams,  June
2, 1813.
82 National  Archives, Washington D.C., RG98,  Entry 42. (No.390) June 8, 1813.  P.l49.
83 a. Although there  is no available record, former  village  historian, Mrs. George Stanley Smith  asserted  Backus  died in the Sacket House,  which  was used as a hospital following the battle.  b. National Archives, Microfilm Series  221-
51 9069, Macomb to Armstrong.


Kingston to see if they had taken them prisoner but they would not let us land nor give us any information; the day before yesterday we found one of them in the woods tomahawked and scalped."84

The body of"Brother Day" was found some time after and buried by his father. In their hasty flight, the Indians left his scalp and knife near the body. His money was found near him on a tree root. His scalp was delivered to his wife awaiting his return in the southern Jefferson County village of Ellisburg.

The next day the family and friends of Abramham Graves and the other missing militia conducted a thorough and systematic search of the woods and fields of the battlefield for their missing loved ones, but in vain. They were determined not to go home until they dug open the pit were the rank and file of the two armies had been hastily buried. "It was an unpleasant task to overhaul these dead and mutilated bodies--scanning their several features, hoping to dissipate the dreadful uncertainly."85 But alas, no one recognizable was discovered. They returned home with the feeble hope that the missing were prisoners and would be treated properly during their capitivity.86

The attack had been a costly enterprise for the British. The official return of killed, wounded and missing in the attack on Sackett's Harbour on the 29th May, 1813 included: killed- one deputy assistant quartermaster-general, three sergeants, forty-four rank and file. Wounded- three majors, three captains, five lieutenants, one ensign, seven sergeants, two drummers, 172 rank and file, two gunners. Wounded and missing- two captains, one ensign, thirteen rank and file. The
aggregate of killed, missing and wounded was at least 257, or twenty-five  % of all engaged.87
Considering the shortage of trained manpower in Upper Canada, this constituted a serious defeat.88



84 From Saints to Redlegs.
85 Solon Massey, Links in the chain 1850-1859,  Reprinted 1981, Junia Fitch Stanton, Watertown, New York, Heart of the Greatlakes p.164, 194.
86 Abraham Graves, Jonathan Ingalls, Mr. Ayres, Mr. Cook and Mr. Linnell were captured by the Indians, taken on board the enemy fleet and brought to Kingston. They were sent to Quebec and fmally to a prisoner of war camp in Halifax. In June of 1814, Graves was transferred to Salem, Massachusetts  on board the Matila and exchanged for British prisoners of war. He traveled  back to Jefferson County, joined his family and resumed his place in the militia. (Solon Massey, Link in the Chain, 1850-1859).
87  G. Auchinleck, A History ofthe War between Great Britain and the United States of America During The Years
1812, 1813,and 1814. (London,  Great Britain: Arms and Armor Press. reprint 1972 from original ca. 1852). p.166.
88 British Casualties.
unit Unit Strength Casualties Percentage
1st Foot 35 7 20%
8th Foot 167 72 43%
lOOth Foot 68 27 40%
104th Foot 301 78 23%
Royal Newfoundland Regt. 62 18 29% Glengarry Lt. Infy. 53 23 43%


The returns made up on each side of losses in killed and wounded, are never exact, seldom truthful, and in most cases, full of intentional misrepresentations. Von Clausewitz,  On War


































Canadian Voltigeurs 145 4 - Royal Artillery 25? 2- Indians 39 2-
Totals: 895 232* 26%
* Totals differ because of the different records used to compile statistics. Example:  The casualties for the Royal Navy are not given. Source: Donald E. Graves, The Attack on Sackets Harbour, 29 May, 1813: The British/Canadian  Side). Unpublished. Directorate  ofHistory, Department  of Defense, Ottawa, Canada.
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CHAPTER EIGHT A State of Confusion
On May 30, 1813, Commodore  Chauncey at Fort Niagara received disturbing word from the Fair American that the British were off Sackett's  Harbour with their whole fleet. 1 The American squadron immediately set sail with 200 of Macomb's  Artillerists, first cruising by York to see if
the British had run for that port. Finding it abandoned, they ran down the Canadian shore expecting to meet the British going up the Lake with reinforcements for General Vincent.

About one p.m. on June 1, the Americans passed within sight ofi(ingston where they found the whole enemy fleet snugly moored under their batteries. They sailed on and upon approaching Sackett's  Harbour about four p.m., it became clear the enemy had paid the place a visit. The stores, fired by the Americans themselves to prevent their falling into British hands, were still smouldering. Upon Macomb and Chauncey's arrival Brown stated that "as I can no longer be
useful here I shall return home in the morning."2

Immediately after the battle Brown had directed Colonel Tuttle as the senior officer of the regular troops to organize the men into a Brigade. Macomb, however, found Sackett's  Harbour still in a state of confusion and because of the number of disorganized detachments which were daily arriving. After visiting Backus in his quarters,3  Macomb immediately set about organizing these units into battalions for the defense of the place because he believed the British were determined to return.4

Major Robert Carr, 16th Infantry of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania was on the March north toward Sackett's  Harbour with two hundred Pennsylvanians  when a courier arrived with news of the battle and urged Carr to hurry on because a new attack was believed in the making. In describing the suspense in his diary Carr wrote that;

Although we had already marched twenty miles we immediately picked up the line of march (through roads bad beyond all possible description) and marched 6 miles further & arrived at the Harbour at dark, having to leave one of our waggons which broke down -. We arrived very much
I,	fatigued, & our arms and accoutrements  considerably damaged by the' wet weather & the long
!
journey- We immediately  set to repair them & encamped near the margin of the Lake- This night
we had an alarm & the whole of the troops were under arms & formed in a line of battle in a few minutes- As it was expected the object of the enemy would be to burn the new Frigatte [sic] yet on the stocks here -It was discovered to be a false alarm occasioned  by the sentinels firing into a
passing boat that would not bring to near Horse Island .. This day at one o'clock we heard the
British salute fired at Kingston- it being the King's birthday.5




1 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains letters. Chauncey to Jones. June i,
1813.
2 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Brown to Armstrong, June 1, 1813.
3 George H. Richards, Memoirs  of Alexander Macomb, The Major General Commanding  the Army of the United
States, (New York: Melrath and Co., 1830), pp.60-61.
4 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-51, 9069, Letters from Officers. Macomb to Armstrong. June 1813.
5 Historical Society of Pennsylvania. Manuscript Division, Collection 116, Robert Carr Papers, Carr Diary 1811-
1823.
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Macomb felt progress in organizing the in-coming units was being achieved and this was reflected in his June 4, General Order.

The Commanding Officer  is confident that every  Officer  and Soldier  must feel disposed to maintain  the Glory  their spirited Conduct, here and at York & Niagara has brought- reflecting so much Honour  on themselves & their Country and showing to the Enemy  that [we}  are determined to wipe the Misfortunes which  befell the first troops  [Hull  and Van Rensselaer} that
entered  the field in the last Campaign.6

Nevertheless discontentment prevailed. On June 5, Major Swan wrote Armstrong that he wished for a transfer to Louisiana. In his dispatch he emphasized serving under Colonel
Macomb, after his arrival on the station, followed by Dearborn and Pike. He made no mention of having served Brown in any capacity. 7

Grumbling intensified among the dragoon officers who followed Laval's  orders to withdraw to Fort Volunteer and among those officers who were denied permission to pursue the retreating British. Several officers banded together to create a list of charges of improper conduct to be lodged against Laval.
Court martial charges were brought against Laval by Captain George Haig8 that were defined as discouraging the troops by directing them to retreat, refusing to permit the Dragoons to form after the retreat from the ditch, by ordering the Dragoons over to Fort Volunteer, thereby exposing the ship, town, etc. to the most imminent danger, and refusing permission to pursue the enemy and interfering with the regulation of troops, thereby destroying all discipline.9

Laval, in an effort to alert Armstrong that charges by junior officers might be brought against him, countered by writing the Secretary that:

It is highly  Probable that two disappointed officers  who have not had the good fortune  to distinguish themselves in the attack  on Sacket 's Harbour, and who's jealously and desire  of promotions have exposed them  by making  improper, injudicious and fruitless attempt  toward
Maj. Gen 'l Lewis to injure  my character may likewise  address  you on the same Subject.10


These charges would not be dealt with for another month until Major General Morgan Lewis arrived on the scene from Niagara. Meanwhile the in-fighting intensified and skeletons began piling up in the closets of both the army and the navy. When Lewis arrived at Sackett's  Harbour one of his first assignments from the War Department was to direct Major Jacint Laval of the
U.S. Light Dragoons to proceed to Washington "to perform other duties." 11



6 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 98. Entry 42 (No. 390/274).  June 4, 1813. P.141-144.
7 U.S. National Archives. Letters received by the Office of the Adjutant General, 1805-1821. M566 Roll32. William
Swan to John Armstrong.  June 5, 1813.
8 The charges were witnessed by Major Luckett, Captains Homes, Fayne, Halsey, Littlejohn,  and Lieutenants
Boardman, Kean, Birch, Nelson, and Barton.
9 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm M221, Roll 54, Letters received by the Office of the
Adjutant General, 1805- 1821. and M 566, roll12, 1483, July 11, 1813.
10 National Archives, Washington D.C. M 566, roll 12. Letters received by the Office of the Adjutant General, 1805-
1821. Laval to Armstrong. Sackets Harbour, July 18, 1813.

11 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Lewis to Armstrong,  July, 1813.
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Lewis was under the impression that the President himself ordered Laval's  removal from Sackett's  Harbour, and this because of charges brought by Captain Haig. Without delay Lewis investigated Laval's  conduct in the battle and immediately wrote Armstrong in Laval's defense explaining the reasons why he felt charges should not be pursued. 12

"Because in my opinion," Lewis ruled, "Laval did not give the order (to retreat), but explained the order did not originate with him but with Col. Backus."13

Laval, Lewis wrote, had his friends as well as his enemies. Several officers did not hesitate to say, it was an unjustifiable  persecution against an old soldier by boys who wished to make room for themselves. "I saw every prospect of its terminating in more duels than one."14 When Laval heard of Haig's charges, he immediately insisted a Court of Inquiry be convened to clear his name. Lewis also refused to grant Laval's  demand and the matter, as far as the army was concerned, was finally put to rest allowing Lewis to turn his attention to more pressing affairs.

Chauncey reported to Washington that the British had "paid this place a visit on the 29th and landed about 1,200 men supported by his whole naval force... The enemy," he wrote Jones, "penetrated nearly to Fort Tompkins, but as every inch of ground was disputed with him, his loss by this time was so great, that he retreated with some precipitation, leaving many of his killed
and wounded on the field ofbattle."15 Chauncey presumed the enemy's loss must have been







12 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Lewis to Armstrong, August 3, 1813. 1. Lewis discharged Haig's charge of cowardice,  because he felt a junior officer [Haig] calling into question the military arrangement of his Superior [Laval], "nay of his Commander on the field ofbattle," was inappropriate and unacceptable.  2. Because of Laval's alleged conduct on the field of battle and the orders given (except to the use of discouraging words), were in Lewis'  opinion, such as the circumstances  ofthe moment completely justified and such as an able officer ought to have given.  "To judge correctly on this point, a knowledge  of the ground is necessary. This I cannot at present give you. I can only state facts and opinions founded on them. It is a fact, that
when the order to retire to Fort Volunteer was given, our troops had been driven, by more than double their number, from the woods to the plain, and as strange as it may appear, the victory of the enemy was complete, at the moment of his retreat. The cowardly Militia who had taken to the woods were at this moment debauching on the open ground at a considerable distance on the right of the enemy.- Having just been apprised of the expected arrival of Tuttle, he [Prevost] concluded it was that force advancing to tum his right and immediately sounded a retreat, when the left
wing had advanced to within fifty yards of the flank of the log huts. Against an enemy coming in that direction, those huts were indefensible.  They consisted of two long lines presenting a front to the enemy of20 feet, each without a window or loophole.. To have occupied them would have been madness, for the enemy had only to have thrown forward his right wing two hundred yards, and not a man would have escaped them. Fort Tompkins was defeated and the guns spiked. The naval arsenal and barracks in flames, Fort Volunteer was capable of defense, had in it a fme train of artillery, and is the point from which all others, the ship might have been most effectually defended. The distance being about three hundred yards, and no intervening obstacles. Besides, its rear was open to
I	the back country, and not assailable.
I	13 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Lewis to Armstrong, August 3, 1813.
14 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, Lewis to Armstrong, August 3, 1813.
15 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Roll29, Letters to Secretary, Chauncey to
Jones, June 2, 1813.

severe, otherwise, he would not have retreated without accomplishing the "object of his visit and one of primary importance to him, the destruction of the ship building at this place."16

Chauncey credited the regular forces stationed here as having "behaved uncommonly well: they disputed every inch of ground with the enemy although double our numbers." In a similar vain, Jesse Elliott, commander of the Madison, wrote a friend that "too much praise cannot be placed on the Dragoons under the command of Lt. Col. Backus, Major Laval & Luckett, in fact
each one fought like a Lion.."17

In an effort to protect his brother's reputation, the commodore claimed the two schooners were of infinite service in keeping Yeo's  small vessels and gunboats in check in his approach to the Harbour, "the officers and men," he stated matter-of-factly, "did their duty." 18 The exasperated commodore reluctantly admitted however, that an occurrence took place which
tended to:

lessen our exultation. The officer having charge of Navy Point was directed by Lieut. Chauncey to defend it to the last extremity, but if the enemy got complete possession  of the town and batteries then to fire the barracks and retreat in the boats to the schooners. This officer from
some cause not yet accounted for set fire to all the buildings upon Navy Point without necessity and retreated to the Woods.19

Chauncey admitted the loss of the canvas was serious until it could be replaced from New
York.20 He intended to institute an inquiry into the conduct of all officers concerned and report to




16 National Archives, Washington D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series Ml25, Roll29,  Letters to Secretary, Chauncey to
Jones, June 2, 1813.
17 Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Manuscript Division, Private letter from Jesse Elliott to a friend, June 4, 1813.
18 National Archives, Washington D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Roll29,  Letters to Secretary, Chauncey to
Jones, June 2, 1813.
19 National Archives, Washington D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series Ml25, Roll29,  Captains Letters. Chauncey to
Jones, June 2, 1813.
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6 coils Signal hallyards	5 lbs venetian red
20 pds Russia Duck	200 gallons paint oil
5 coils 18th' ratline	100 lbs whipping Twine
5 11   15 11	200 11  Sewing  11
5 11	12	10 11 11	Thread


Jones once the truth was known. Curiously, nowhere in Chauncey's report was the role of Jacob
Brown mentioned or alluded to.

One officer, Captain John O'Connor summed up his feelings in a letter written home:


The British both here and at Niagara fought badly because their Generals were of the greatest ignorance and stupidity in their arrangements.  The troops personally fought bravely. Our men in both instances evinced a cyan of intrepidity and gallantry that reflects credit on our country. In fact the valor of our troops has been the salvation of our generals!I To the former we are
indebted only.21

It was the skeletons in the Navy's closet that next began to rattle as Captain Richard Smith's marines were ordered by the commodore to place a guard over the charred remains of the marine barracks and other ruins on Navy Point. Captain Smith's  men lost nearly all their clothing, camp utensils etc and Smith himself lost all his public accounts, vouchers, baggage along with sails
and rigging for the new ship. Smith wrote the marine commandent, Lieutenant-Colonel Franklin
Wharton in Washington that the new ship would not be ready "for some weeks in consequence of the late fire."22  The commodore ordered that no one was to remove any destroyed articles except under the direction of Lieut. Chauncey, "who has been appointed by me to the command of the point."23

Chauncey also apprised Perry, back on Lake Erie, that because of the recent attack, the new ship could not be made ready for sea until at least 1 July. In describing the action, he said that "as soon as Genl. Gray fell, the enemy retreated with precipitation to his boats." He added, if he had

                                     5 "	9	" 	50 gals spts Turpentine
10.......3 yam Spunyam 	200 lbs putty

10.......2"	"	30 gallons lamp oil
2........Hamberline	6lbs cotton wick
2........Marline	18 binnacle lamps
2........Housline	Litherage for drying paint
100......Muskets	1/2 roll Sheet lead
100......Pistols	2 American Ensigns, Jacks
150......Cutlasses	Pendants (broad)
6000.....Musket flints	Cabin furniture, plain
4000.....Pistol flints	one galley complete that can
80.......powder horns	cook for 300 men
30,000 lbs cannon powder  Sir:
5,000 musket or priming pwdr. Most of these articles are
2,000 match rope	to replace those burnt by the
10 boxes sperm candles	late fire and are wanted
100 lbs copper nails	immediately
10 yds red bunting	Respectfully
10 " white	I.C.
10 "blue 	U.S.S.M. S.H.
5 " yellow	6 June 1813
2 "green
21 Manuscript Department, New-York Historical Society Letter from Capt. John O'Connor to Harriet E. O'Connor.
June, 1813.
22 National Archives, Washington D.C., RG 127, Letters Recieved, Smith to Wharton, June 11, 1813.
23 National Archives. RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains letters, Chauncey to Jones, June 2, 1813.


been so fortunate as to have "popped in upon them while their men were ashore he would have been able to join Perry on Lake Eire by the middle of the month, but now it is quite uncertain when I can leave this Lake as the enemy is making every exertion to regain his ascendancy upon this Lake."24 He explained to Perry that he had asked Jones to send more men to both lakes immediately.

In the meantime, the Commodore  directed the New York Navy Yard to replace the burned stores and forward them immediately.  The new ship could not be made ready without them. Without the new ship the invasion of Canada would be stalled until well into summer giving the British a chance to strengthen themselves before the on-set of winter.

On June 3, 1813, John F. Hutton, "the old offender," demanded a court of inquiry be called to "know who is to blame and who is not" for the destruction on Navy Point. Hutton complained to the commodore that he had been confined by Lieut. Chauncey on board a vessel "among sailors, negroes and people of every description, without bedding or anything, without allowing me to even come on deck." Hutton insisted that others, namely Lieut. Drury, Sailing Master Gamble
had retreated before him and he "was the last one who left."25  Coincidentally, on the same day,

Lieut. Chauncey urged his brother to convene a court and investigate the burning of public property on Navy Point.

Within two days Chauncey granted Hutton and Wolcott their wish. A court was ordered to convene and was empowered to examine the conduct of Lieut. Chauncey and the causes for burning the public stores. General Brown's  testimony was most favorable to Wolcott's defence. Using some of the same words he wrote in his official battle report Brown testified that:

there was a perfect understanding  between himself, Lieut. Chauncey  and the Superior Military officers, that should the enemy land, drive our troops and get possession of the place, the barracks on Navy Point were to be burned.... I must yet add in justice to a brave and honorable man that Lieut. Chauncey  stands higher in my estimation than he did before he was associated with me for the protection of this place. No blame I know can by any possibility be attached to him for what happened on Navy Point. He was deceived by the materials on whom he relied and nothing short of Divinity can at all times effectually guard against such occurrences.26

After deliberation the court's  verdict was presented to the commodore and concluded that Lieut. Wolcott Chauncey's conduct in the action was perfectly correct. The court was satisfied that the fire was set by Marine Sergeant Fisher and those serving under him: that he would not have set the fires without the orders of the officers stationed there and the repeated "solicitation of Mr. Hutton to execute that unpleasant duty." Finally, the court deemed the conduct of the
officers on the point as "dastardly  in the extreme."27

The commodore lost no time in placing Drury under arrest, charged with disobedience of orders, not defending Navy Point, cowardice, and neglecting to encourage those under him to fight courageously. Furthermore it was alleged that he "basally" deserted the post without reason


24 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains Letters. Chauncey to Jones.
25 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG45. Microfilm Series M148, Letters to the Secretary of the Navy below the Rank of Commander.  Hutton to Jones. Nr.l06. June, 1813.
26 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Courts Martial. Nr. 141. Jacob Brown Testimony.
27 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Courts Martial. Nr. 141.


and fled circulating a report that the British were in possession of Fort Tompkins and the village, thereby, discouraging reinforcements from coming in.28

Joseph Gamble was charged with "drunkenness,"-that he was unfit for duty and was intoxicated during the time the British were in sight. He was also charged with "Cowardice and Neglect of Duty" -that he deserted his quarters during the attack and ordered the stores set afire without necessity and retreated circulating a report that the enemy were in possession ofFort Tompkins.29

The prisoners were confined. The only exception was Mister Hutton. Chauncey ordered the Navy purser to adjust his account and he was suddenly free to leave the Harbour, never again to return.30 Joseph Gamble was dismissed from the service. Chauncey was especially glad to see him depart as he served at Sackett's Harbour nearly twelve months without rendering much service. Chauncey summed up his antipathy this way.

Their dissipated habits, particulary  Mr. Gamble, subjects them to frequent suspension without producing any visible changes in their favour. I am convinced that they never can be made useful but will always be a tax upon the service without adding to its reputation.31
Meanwhile, Captain Leonard32 wrote Navy Secretary Jones stating that many suspected Lieut. Chauncey of cowardice in retreating up the bay during the attack and claimed that the Commodore placed officers friendly to himself on his brother's  court of inquiry in order to acquite him, thereby screening the guilty party and causing Lieut. Drury, who had no friends in high places, to be arrested, tried and convicted. Leonard was distressed to see
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28 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains Letters, Chauncey to Jones and
Drury Court Martial, RG 125, Microfilm  Series M273.
29 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains Letters, Chauncey to Jones, June,
1813.
30 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Captains Letters. Chauncey to Jones.
31  Christopher Mckee. Personal research.  Mckee data sheets. [National  Archives.  RG 45. Commodore letters. Isaac
Chauncey to Jones. Dec. 24, 1813.]
32  Leonard's  court martial was finally held in December,  1813. He was exonerated  of the charge of not sleeping on board Madison on April 13, 1813. He was found guilty of not using his best exertions in preparing the United States Ship Madison for service. It was not fully proven that Leonard introduced  his mistress to the family of Major Samuel Brown but he was convicted  of dissolute and immoral practices. He allowed his mistress to pass as his wife to the family of Samuel Brown and lived with this woman in a "most public manner." Leonard was suspended from the service for the term of 12 months, retroactive to the 13th day of April, 1813 and to be publicly reprimanded by the Secretary of the Navy in a general order to be read on board every ship in the navy of the United States and at every station where there are naval officers. Leonard wrote the sec. of the Navy; "I had long since hoped in this war to have been honorably employed against an enemy; my ambition and desire sought only for it. Only instead of a foreign
enemy to contend with, I have unfortunately met a domestic one." After the capture of Washington, Governor Tompkins ordered the organization of a battalion of sea fencibles to protect New York City. Leonard was given command of the
sea fencibles and remained in New York for the remainder of the war. After the war, he was reinstated in the Navy and was given command of the Lake Champlain station. He oversaw the dismantling of the fleet built on that lake during the war. His duties consisted of watching over these ships quietly rot at their moorings and presiding over a handful of misfit officers, who had been retained on active duty, but were in a place where they could do no real harm to the navy. He died a captain in 1832.


a branch of our Navy flying from a foe unnecessarily when the two schooners could have so harassed the reembarking  enemy as to have in all probability cut off their retreat, instead of
being two miles up the from the scene of battle...If it were necessary to bring special affidavit of
the unnecessary and ill advised retreat of the Fair American and Pert, great numbers will be produced from this village.. Com. Chauncey had taken pains to manage that enquire, but had a prosecutor have stood forth, his brother's  decision would have been different. 33

Leonard's letter summed up the rumors and discontentment that prevailed at the Harbour, but the Secretary chose not to involve himself in the dispute.

Lieut. John Drury's  court martial was held on July 8, 1813 with Wolcott Chauncey testifing that Drury abandoned the point before it was necessary and against his specific orders. Drury, he attested, failed to defend the point until driven away at the point of an enemy bayonet.34 Under oath Major Samuel Brown testified he met Drury by accident about a mile from the village
immediately after the action ceased and asked Drury why he left the point. Drury unaware the action was over, replied that the enemy had possession of Fort Tompkins, and he had no doubt that the ship was on fire and all was lost. The same question could have been asked of Brown as to why he was on the road leading out of town, also out of harm's  way.

Several others were called, most of whom, contrary to Lieut. Chauncey and Major Brown's testimony, claimed Drury was innocent. Drury, they claimed, was one of the most endangered men on the point and simply followed the example of his commanding  officer, Wolcott Chauncey.35  Peter Thompson, USN, a sailor stationed on the point, maintained Drury was "the most exposed man" to in-coming fire on the Point. Major Samuel Nye, 3rd Regt. Artillery,

claimed Drury's  conduct was justifiable, because his commanding officer, Lieut. Chauncey ran up the Bay.



Lieut. Samuel W. Adams testified that:

I observed to Lt. Chauncey that I thought you (Lt. Drury) did not leave the point through fear. -
Lt. Chauncey's answer was "No," he only suspended you for leaving the point contrary to orders
- He had ordered you not to leave the point until drove at the point of an enemy bayonet; Lt. Chauncey felt it his duty to submit it to the Commodore.  - Some days after I observed to Lt. Chauncey, that I thought it was very hard that you should be blamed for leaving the Point when we set you the example.36

Several others testified they heard Chauncey order the buildings on the point destroyed after a red flag was raised on the main mast of his schooner, Fair American. In view of the damaging testimony, Lieut. Chauncey was again called by the court for further questioning. Drury asked him: "Had you not declared in the morning of the 29th that you should stick to the ship to the last
and should make a desperate effort to defend it?"37 Lieut. Chauncey was suddenly struck with


33 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45. Microfilm Series M148, Nr. 89, Letters from Officers below the
Rank of Commander to Sec. Navy. Leonard to Jones. July 26, 1813.
34 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Courts Martial, Nr.l41, Lt. Wolcott Chauncey testimony.
35 National Archives, Washington  D.C. Drury Court Martial. Samuel Brown. Drury Defense Summation.
36 National Archives, Washington  D.C. Drury Court Martial.
37 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial. Drury Questions Lt. Chauncey.



amnesia. He answered, "I do not recollect what I declared on that morning as it respects the ship." The Court then asked Chauncey to explain the purpose of the red flag. Chauncey claimed he ordered it flown in order to distinguish his vessels, Fair American and Pert from the British schooner, Prince Regent (Beresford). He feared the Americans on shore would confuse his vessels for the English schooner and fire on him thinking he was an enemy!..38

The Court called Lieut. Adams of Pert once again and asked the question; "Was the Fair American at any time in such a situation as to be taken for an enemy's vessel at Fort Tompkins?" Lieut. Adams answered simply, "No." With this astonishing and contradictory testimony fresh in the jury's minds, Court adjourned and went into deliberation. 39

On July 19, the court delivered its opinion and Lieut. John Drury was declared NOT GUILTY of disobedience  of orders and of cowardice.40  The court did find Drury censurable for not taking the most direct route in following the schooners up the bay. Drury was also censured for;

want of energy on the point during the action, but attributes it in some measure to the ill state of his health at the time. The Court are therefore of the opinion that Lieutenant John J  Drury is honourably acquitted of the charges.41


Drury received a private reprimand from the commodore and returned to duty. Despite his acquittal, he was given second rate status. As time went on, Lieutenants which Drury previously outranked, were promoted over him. He was transferred from one vessel to another and assigned the most unpleasant of duties. Prior to the battle and destruction on Navy Point, Drury was in good favor with the commodore.  Thereafter, Drury strove hard to regain the commodore's
confidence but Drury wrote, "I fear this is impossible."42

In October, 1813 Drury requested the Secretary of the Navy allow him to come to Washington and plead his case. If this was incompatible with regulations, Drury requested he be transferred to another station, even the detested gunboat service. After some pondering Jones ordered Drury to report to the Navy Station at Portsmouth, New Hampshire. This ended, at least temporarily, the unjust persecution that Drury had endured since the unfortunate affair with the
commodore's brother on Navy Point.43



38 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Courts Martial. Wolcott Chauncey. Nr.141.
39 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial, Ibid.
40 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial. Verdict, July 19, 1813.
41 National Archives, Washington  D.C., Drury Court Martial.
42 National Archives, WashingtonD.C., RG45. Officers Letters below the rank of Commander.  M148-106. Nr.33. October 11, 1813.

43 National Archives, WashingtonD.C., RG45. Officers Letters below the rank of Commander.  M148-106. Nr.33. October 11, 1813. Drury was transferred  to Lake Champlain where he served under Commodore  Thomas Macdonough. By late 1814 Lieut. Drury had become deeply depressed drinking heavily. Commodore Macdonough wrote him, "Now let me advise you in the most earnest and strong manner to refrain from such a mode of quitting or alleviating your feelings. Your own good sense will point out the fallacy of such a remedy,.. which will ultimately terminate in destruction  and misery to yourself and be to your family an everlasting  sting of bitter pain and regret. No, my dear Sir, you would do extremely wrong even to indulge at all in this deceiving and destroying substitute to exterminate any affection of the mind. Believe me, it leads to ruin, certain ruin." Macdonough  urged Drury to tum

In days and weeks that followed, rumors persisted throughout the Harbour that Wolcott Chauncey escaped censure only because of the protection provided by his brother'  rank. By September, having heard "that many people censure me for what took place," Wolcott asked brother Isaac to cause the results of the court to be released to the public. This he believed would exonerate him. "I would not give this trouble if iny character as an officer was not in question. It
is the only valuable that I possess - I must guard it from a stain."44

Somewhat later things were still not going well for Wolcott. He demanded permission to take up residence in one of the nearby villages, having had enough of Sackett's Harbour. His brother warned him he was ordered there by the service and that he would not be allowed to leave the station. Wolcott threatened to resign. Such threats, the commodore advised, "will effect no one more than yourself."45  The commodore disclosed to Navy Secretary Jones that his brother Wolcott possessed many valuable qualities... "but he was proud, obstinate, and very conceited..."
and he was considering the idea that his brother should be "laid upon the SHELF. I should feel a pride in being the first to bring a brother or son to punishment for any wanton neglect of duty or dishonorable conduct."46

The commodore notified Jones that he was doing the most difficult thing since entering the service. He suggested that his brother should be relieved of his commission for he was unfit to be an officer in the United States Navy. Consequently, Wolcott Chauncey bid farewell to Sackett's Harbour and left the fleet on Lake Ontario forever.47



instead to the inner strength he would find in sincere religious faith. It was of no use to brood upon a past event about which he could now do nothing. Whether or not Macdonough's advice would have saved Drury can never be known. After the Treaty of Peace between the United States and Great Britain, the United States declared war on the Dey of Algiers and in May, 1815 sent two fleets to the Mediterranean  with Lieut. Drury among those sent. The Americans sought out, captured, or destroyed several Algerian warships. The Dey of Algiers was compelled to sue for peace. One of the American vessels, the brig Epervier was sent home with the Treaty and a number of American hostages who had been rescued from Algerian servitude. Drury and the other officers on board were eager to take
this early opportunity to return home to the United States. They passed Gibraltar  about the 12th of July. A brig resembling the American vessel was seen by a British West-India fleet during a very heavy gale. Epervier never reached the United States and was presumed lost at sea with all hands.
44 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG45. Microfilm Series 148, Officers letter below the Rank of Commander, Ml48-106.44.22 Nr.l47. Sept. 5, 1813. There is no indication that Wolcott Chauncey's records were ever made public.
45 Historical Society ofPennsylvania. U. Clacke Smith Col. William Jones Papers. July 10, 1814.

46 Historical Society ofPennsylvania. U. Clarke Smith Col. William Jones Papers. July 10, 1814.
47 At beginning of winter of 1814-15 Wolcott was still in the Navy with David Porter's squadron at New York. While Porter was temporarily  absent, Lieutenant Chauncey was in command as the senior officer present. Two young men, teenagers, having been at the Navy Yard for only a few days and feeling homesick took leave one evening and went into the city. On the following morning they were missed and their absence was reported to Chauncey. Chauncey sent a midshipman  to fmd them. The young men were returned to the ship and confined with double irons for two days. On the morning of the third, all hands, about three hundred men boys and marines, were assembled to witness punishment...  The two prisoners were brought from their place of confinement,  stripped and seized up. Wolcott, standing on a slight elevation, addressed those assembled  in a earsplitting  and piercing voice: "Men! What the law allows you, you shall have. But, by the eternal----, if any one of you disobeys that law, I'll cut your backbone out. Go on with him, boatswains mate, and do your duty or, by ----, you shall take his place." The shrieks of the youngster were dreadful, calling upon God and all the holy angels to save him. After the first dozen another boatswain's mate took the cat o' nine tails; and, when he [the prisoner] had received two dozen, he fainted

































and hung by his wrists. The punishment  was suspended for a few moments until he had revived sufficiently to stand on his feet. He then took four dozen more, making six in all; and when taken down he could not stand. The other received seven dozen. He fainted, however, before he had received the first dozen and endured the greater portion of his punishment in that state. The flesh was fairly hanging upon both boy's  backs; it was really a sickening sight. The savagery with which Wolcott Chauncey enforced discipline is among the small proportion of such extreme punishments recorded  in the United States Navy. His flogging of two teenagers  is the third and fourth most severe

by a captain's authority on record for the United States Navy. The most severe flogging on record in the United States Navy was 136lashes. This punishment  was ordered by Isaac Chauncey while in command of John Adams. A study of the existing documents  indicate Isaac Chauncey and Melancthon  T. Woolsey stand out as the officers most prone to resort to flogging to enforce discipline. In ships commanded by Woolsey, approximately  three or four out
of any ten men flogged would be repeat offenders.  Woolsey appears to have had the worst problems in this regard. In his case sixteen men were flogged only once; six underwent this severe punishment twice; three experienced the cat-of­ nine tails three times; and a final three were lashed an astounding total of four times, a figure unequalled by any other
ship whose punishment record survives. But an astonishing 1 out of every 10 men who served under Isaac Chauncey was flogged, making him the most Draconian officer in the United States Navy between 1795 and 1815. It was indeed an age of martinets.




CHAPTER NINE

Spies, Incendiaries and Incompetents
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Immediately after returning to Sackett's  Harbour from Fort George, Chauncey informed Dearborn of a decision which would paralyse the summer campaign and prove fortuitous for the British defense of Upper Canada.

I shall remain here until I get the new Ship launched and a supply of stores from New York and make the best preparations  in my power to give the pair of Knights a warm reception if they should think proper to make another attempt upon this place.1

During these crucial summer weeks, Chauncey and his fleet remained in check and inert at Sackett's  Harbour as Yeo forwarded crucial reinforcements and supplies to Vincent's army. On June 3, five days after the Battle of Sackett's  Harbour, an assertive Yeo himself sailed westward from Kingston with his fleet and two hundred men of the K.ing's 8th to further strengthen Vincent's  army. The fleet also carried a liberal supply of clothing, ammunition  and provisions
badly needed by Vincent's troops.2

A wary Chauncey dispatched the Lady of the Lake to cruise off the Canadian shore to
intercept British troop vessels going up or down the lake. He also kept one of his small schooners cruising off Kingston to watch Yeo's movements. Several canoes with British deserters were discovered and picked up. Upon interrogation, these people reported the British fleet sailed up

the lake with reinforcements for General Vincent. Yeo, they claimed, was "determined to risk the fate of the upper province upon the issue of a battle" with Chauncey.3  With so many deserters coming over at the same time with the same story, Chauncey became suspicious. He thought

they had been sent as "spies and incendiaries," a ploy to induce him to leave the new ship unprotected and go out on the lake and allow the British an other chance to renew their attack and destroy his ship.

At Fort George, Dearborn, though, correctly reasoned that the British maintained a force at the western end of the lake to prevent the American army on the Niagara Frontier from joining the force at Sackett's Harbour and attack I(ingston.  Continual rains and the poor state of frontier roads made operations extremely difficult and at the same time, Dearborn's army was deprived of Chauncey's  fleet to transport provisions, ammunition and other necessary supplies. "The whole of these embarrassments," Dearborn gravely admitted, "have resulted in the temporary
loss of the command of the lake."4

After the fall of Fort George on May 27, Vincent abandoned the Niagara Frontier and retrograded about eighteen miles south west of Fort George. Before long, he had 1,600 effectives assembled at Beaver Dams whom he intended to march to the head of the lake and on to York.


1 University of Michigan, William L. Clements Library, Chauncey Letterbooks,  Chauncey to Dearborn, June 3,
1813.
2 National Archives of Canada, M.G. 12, A 29, Admiralty Papers, Yeo to Crocker, May 31, 1813.
3 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captain's Letters, Chauncey to Jones. June,
1813.
4 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG107, Microfilm Series M221-52, Letters to Secretary of War, Dearborn to
Armstrong.
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Having secured Fort George, a weary Dearborn delayed pursuing the British on the grounds that his troops were exhausted.  But who was exhausted, the troops or Dearborn? Macomb explains:

Gen. Dearborn 's state of health rendered him quite unfit for the service .. and he ought to give up the command. He is so exceedingly  cross that it is difficult to be near him without receiving some very unpleasant language...-  This conduct has caused considerable dissatisfaction  among the officers and has... rendered him very unpopular.5
On June 2, Dearborn finally ordered his troops out. Brigadier-General William Winder6  took the 5th, 13th, 14th, and 16th Infantry Regiments, two companies of artillery, a detachment of dragoons and some riflemen and marched towards head of the lake to cut off Vincent's retreat
moving toward York.7

The next day Dearborn sent General Chandler with a force of light infantry, a part of a rifle corps, and a detachment of the 2nd Dragoons to reinforce Winder at Forty Mile Creek. On June
5, Chandler's force caught up with Winder and together they encamped at Stoney Creek.
Vincent's  troops were bivouacked  not far off and his night patrols learned that the American camp was poorly guarded and over-confident.  That night Vincent seized the opportunity and attacked the larger American force. The British were driven off, but not before they captured both American Generals, one major, five captains, one lieutenant and 116 non-commissioned
officers and privates, as well as four pieces of artillery and equipment. 8 This ended the American
pursuit of Vincent's  army and the tables were now turned as the pursuers became the pursued.


On the evening of June 6, Dearborn ordered General Morgan Lewis to march with reinforcements from Fort George to Forty Mile Creek and take command of the retreating American force. Lewis was a competent and capable administrator  but because of age, he displayed little energy. His initial orders were to continue pursuit of Vincent's army and prevent its escape. When Lewis's troops reached Forty Mile Creek, he became confused by a flood of contradictory reports that he was receiving from Dearborn concerning the whereabouts of the enemy.

Furthermore, Lewis saw a fleet on the lake in the distance which·proved to be Yeo's. Unsure of Yeo's intentions, Lewis decided to retreat back to the safety of Fort George. Macomb felt that had Dearborn organized the operation properly, the whole British force would have been captured. Instead, American incompetence permitted the British to rest and collect their scattered forces and go on the offensive.


5 Library of Congress. Manuscript Division. Macomb to Smith. June 24, 1813.
6  Winder, William H. 1775-1824. Maryland native. He had a flourishing  career in law and state politics. In 1812, through a political appointment  he was commissioned  lieut.-col. in the infantry. Promoted to brig.-genl. in March
1813. Captured by the British on the Niagara frontier and exchanged  in early 1814 to become one of those in command of organizing the unsuccessful defense of Washington when the British attacked in August of 1814. He did, however, successfully  survive the ensuing court martial.
7  Samuel Williams, Sketches ofthe War, between the United States and the British Isles: intended as A Faithful History of all the events from the time of the declaration in 1812 to and including the peace in 1815 (Rutland, Vt. published by Fay and Davison, 1815), p. 202.
8 "There the British General Vincent outmanoeuvred them and our troops have returned to Niagara, where they must remain, until the fleet is able to beat the British fleet."
Library of Congress. Manuscript  Division, Macomb to Smith, June 24, 1813.

The British had time to reconnoitrer American positions, send for reinforcements and according to Macomb, "to completely out general us." Thus, a formidable British force regrouped and strengthened  itself. With the assistance of Yeo's  fleet, Vincent sought new opportunities to strike. Macomb realized too late that "the campaign will terminate rather to our disgrace than advantage on the Niagara Frontier."9

When Chauncey received intelligence that Yeo's fleet was offNiagara, he feared that Dearborn and the other officers there would think h was the American squadron. These fears were confirmed when Chauncey learned that Chandler and Winder had indeed been captured while in pursuit of Vincent's Army, leaving Forts George and Niagara with not more than 200 men each. Chauncey was concerned that if this report was correct, the American army had been lulled into a false sense of security by believing that the fleet operating there was their own. 10

Apprehensive of the consequences,  the Commodore prepared to cruise in quest of Yeo's fleet. Macomb proposed that they cross over to Kingston, and destroy the batteries and naval stores there. The Colonel felt that if the British fleet and troops were at the at the western end of the lake, Kingston then must be lightly defended. A more cautious Chauncey, however,
overruled him. Upon more "mature reflection" Chauncey remained at the Harbour to preserve his ship at all hazards. "My feelings upon this occasion," Chauncey confided to Secretary Jones:
can better be imagined than described. On the one hand, I had the prospect, if I succeeded, of immortalizing myself; on the other hand, if I was beaten, the loss and disappointment to my country would be great and irreparable. The only question then was whether I was to fight for my

own aggrandizement or that of my country. If the latter, there could be no question as to the course that I ought to pursue, which was to put nothing at hazard, for by remaining here four
r
I	weeks, I could prepare the new Ship for service and with her I should consider myself as having
I	the complete and uncontrolled  command of this Lake, without her, the enemy has near 1/4 more guns, as many men and as good, and his officers are experienced and brave. With such a disparity of force, I trust that you will approve of my determination  of putting nothing at hazard until the new ship is fitted. The burning of the public stores here on the 29th has been a serious misfortune, independent  of the loss. For the detention of the new ship will be at least 3 weeks
longer than otherwise would have been. We must, however, remedy the evil by industry.11

War is the province of danger, and therefore courage above all things is the first quality of a warrior. (Von Clausewitz)

News of the British repulse at Sackett's  Harbour brought torrents of pride and relief across the United States. Jacob Brown's  impressive dispatches were published nationally, infusing the country, and the administration in Washington, with new hope. Brown's  positive version of the Battle created order out of chaos. Tompkins received the news during his visit to the President where two forty foot British flags captured at Fort George hung over the side wall of the White




                     9 Library of Congress. Manuscript Division. Macomb to Smith, June 24, 1813.
10 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series, M125, Captains Letters. Chauncey to Jones. June
1813.
11 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Captains letters. Chauncey to Jones, June,
1813.

House council chamber. "I can assure you," he wrote Brown, "the defeat of the British at the
Harbour was highly gratifying to all I saw, and your popularity there was deservedly high."12

Brown's report was having the desired effect. From Albany, Quarter-master  General Robert Swartwout inquired of Armstrong; "Have you given Jacob Brown a brigade? His courage, his bravery, his good conduct saved Sackett's  Harbour, no man deserves more than General Brown,
and I pray God the country may not lose his services." 13 Dearborn wrote Armstrong- "a long
acquaintance with the military merits of that gentleman induces me to believe the service would be benefitted by his appointment to a brigadier-generalship in the army."14

It seemed the scales were tipping in America's favor, and Brown's. Here was a man who might take the place of the lamented General Pike! The President promptly instructed Armstrong to appoint Brown Brigadier General in the Regular Army and gave the name General Pike to the warship saved by his "victory" at Sackett's Harbour. 15




12 Military Papers of Daniel D. Tompkins,  Governor ofNew York, 1807-1817.  (New York and Albany: Published by the State ofNew York, 1898,) p. 328-329.
13 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series 221, Officers letters to Sec. of War, Swartwout to
Armstrong, July 11, 1813.
14 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-52, 6285, Dearborn to Armstrong.


15 Irving Brant, James Madison, 6 Vols. (Indianapolis and New York, 1941-1961), p.177. 1. Not everyone was happy with Brown's  appointment  to Brig.-Genl. to the Regular Army. "The public prints announce to us the appointment of another Brigadier  General from the class of citizens. I know there are difficulties in making selections from the Army - and yet there are men in it better qualified than perhaps any who can be chosen out of
it...Col. Scott, brave intelligent and persevering,  he possesses every requisite of the illustrious soldier...Macomb I am also pleased with. -His arrangements  (Sackett's Harbour) evinces him a young man of considerable military talent, and I believe he would command a brigade with honor to himself and to the advantage of his country...! have no private views and have no reason to suspect any partiality towards me of the persons I have named." Nat. Arch. RG
107, Lewis to Armstrong.  M221-54  #8675.  2. However George Richards, a captain in Macomb's 3rd Regiment of Artillery wrote: "To this affair (the Battle of Sackett's Harbour), General Brown owed his first appointment in the Army, the President conferring on him the rank of Brigadier General in the regular service. This appointment at the time excited much dissatisfaction. It was considered, by some, a fragrant violation of the rights of the regular officers, and more particularly  of Macomb himself. A cabal was getting up by those who had erroneously imbibed unfavorable impressions against Brown, from the slanders which the opponents  of the administration  had heaped upon him. But Macomb used every exertion to allay the ferment. He always exhibited the greatest respect for General Brown, and hoped, by the influence of his personal example, to re-establish  that harmony, without which the Army can be neither useful to the State, nor honourable to itself. He represented,  and strongly impressed upon the officers, the rights of the government,  and their duty of obedience.  General Brown's subsequent  valuable
services, his sound common sense, his undaunted firmness and energy, and the many good qualities of his character, as well as his former political standing and popular influence, sufficiently  indicate the propriety of his appointment." George Richards, Memoir of Alexander Macomb, the Major General commanding  the Army of the United States, (New York: Melrath and Co., 1830), pp. 60-61.  3. BROWN, Jacob Jennings (1775-1828). Following Brown's appointment in the regular army, he commanded a brigade in Major General James Wilkinson's abortive campaign against Montreal: He was appointed Major General in January 1814 and prepared his army for another invasion of Canada, this time across the Niagara River against Fort Erie (July 3-4), he ordered Winfield Scott to attack at Street's creek (Chippewa, July 5), and coming to the aid of Scott, commanded American forces in the fierce nighttime battle of Lundy's Lane, in which he was severely wounded (July 25), against odds, he successfully defended Fort Erie against British siege, (August 12-Sept. 22); He returned to Sackett's Harbour Nov. 1814 and remained there until the end of the war. In June 1815 was made senior general of the army and was appointed first Commanding General of the Army June
1, 1821, remaining in that post until his death (Feb. 24, 1828).
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Meanwhile the defeat of Napoleon in Russia had a sobering effect on President Madison who ordered his diplomats to negotiate an end to the war. He ordered his diplomatic delegation in neutral St. Petersburg, Russia to pressure the British delegation assembled there to settle on a
new boundary throughout  the Great Lakes to the Lake of the Woods. Madison still hoped American troops would seize all of Upper Canada before Britain could send aid to Upper Canada and thereby encourage Britain to transfer this province to the United States. In doing so, the President reasoned, Britain would rid herself of one of the problems which caused the war in the first place and remove a heavy financial and military burden from her shoulders.16

At Sackett's  Harbour, the instrument necessary to accomplish the President's wish was about to be launched. The General Pike  finally hit the water at noon on June 12 to cheering hundreds that gathered from the surrounding  countryside. Only a few hours before launching, Chauncey received the Navy Secretary's letter directing that his new ship be named the General Pike.  Her new commanding officer, Arthur Sinclair, was as proud of her as Chauncey was. Sinclair described his charge to a friend in Virginia.

You will see that my ship is called after the late General Pike- her launch excited great interest
in this quarter - men, women and children came from afar to see it - it was a very beautiful one - I can give you some idea of her - she is three feet longer and one and a half feet wider than the Essex pierced with 38 ports, near 1000 tons and is a most beautiful ship- what an elegant command on the tack- she has a poop deck and top gallant-- Forecastle as far as the foremast
forward and mizzen mast aft, and only wants it continued on and bulwarks above to make such a ship a the Constellation.17

The General Pike  was further described as "a fine, strong, well-built vessel." The height of her quarters from the deck excluding the hammock was about five-feet, four-inches and the distance between her gunports was rather short, about seven-feet from sill to sill. Her gun deck was 140 feet and her beam was thirty-seven feet, with a displacement  of 900 tons; she had fourteen ports on one side; had a top gallant mast; and the forecastle carried a 24-pdr. on a circle. She carried guns in her bridle ports and mounted thirty 24-pdrs. and "what is still greater, on
board she has a very fine crew."18

The General Pike 's keel had been laid on April 9, 1813 and she would have been launched on May 25, Chauncey felt, but for the circumstances of  "my being obliged to take Mr. Eckford and 35 of the carpenters up to Niagara to fit the five vessels that lay at Black-rock." Chauncey
claimed that no vessel of her tonnage and capacity had ever been built in less time within the
u.s.19


On June 14, Yeo sent a flag of truce from Kingston to the Harbour with six wounded prisoners to be paroled. His true purpose was to determine whether or not the American fleet was in port. Upon learning the Americans were not about to move from their sanctuary, Yeo



16 Patrick C. T. White, A Nation on Trial (New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1965), p. 143.
17 University of Virginia Library.  Letters of Arthur Sinclair to John Hartwell Cocke. United States Ship Gen'l Pike, Sackett's  Harbour, July 4, 1813. P. 9.
18 "The General Pike," Columbian  Centinel, (Boston), August 18, 1813.
19. National Archives, National  Archives, Washington D.C., RG 45, M crofilm Series M125, Officer's  Letters, Chauncey to Jones, June 12, 1813.


continued operations up and down the lake at will. Chauncey dispatched his brother, Wolcott in the Lady of the Lake to watch Yeo's movements. Wolcott succeeded in capturing the schooner Lady Murray from Kingston bound for York with an ensign and fifteen non-commissioned officers and privates belonging to the 41st and 104th Regiments. She was also loaded with provisions, powder, shot and fixed ammunition for Vincent's army on the Niagara Frontier. The prisoners told Chauncey that a twenty gun brig at Kingston was launched and several gunboats were in a forward state of readiness. Chauncey was now painfully aware that Yeo was making every exertions to get a large force on the lake before the Pike could get under way.

When the guns and rigging for the Pike arrived at Oswego from New York, Macomb dispatched Major Richard Carr with 300 men the 16th, 22nd and 23rd to take post there for the protection and removal of the naval property in case of danger. Chauncey also hurriedly sent Woolsey there to oversee their shipment to the Harbour. Upon their arrival after having rowed sixty-five miles in one afternoon and one night through rain, thunder and lighting, they found
"the greatest alarm prevailing."20  They learned the enemy had been seen off the Genesee River
and were known, therefore, to be cruising in the neighbourhood.

The alarm guns were ordered fired and some 200 of the local militia were called in. Near the old British fort, a log battery was thrown up on which four rusty 6-pdrs. and a 12-pdr. were mounted. Large fires of dry fence wood were set and nearly one hundred cannonballs were made red hot. The British fleet soon appeared in force and opened fire on the place. The British were preparing to land troops when the long guns of Woolsey's  schooners and Carr's  batteries extended a well directed fire of about one hundred and sixty rounds on the largest of Yeo's
ships.21 The British were forced off but Woolsey and Carr were unsure if they intended to return

or sail away.

A courier was sent to Sackett's Harbour with the news and Macomb immediately dispatched an additional 100 men from Sacketts Harbour to Oswego in case the British attempted another landing.22  Chauncey was convinced that the British were menacing Oswego for the purpose of siphoning off troops from the Harbour with the real intention of renewing their attack upon Sackett's  Harbour. Chauncey ordered Woolsey to hide the stores in the woods near Oswego until the enemy had left the coast.23




20. Historical Society ofPennsylvania, Manuscript Division, Robert Carr Diary, June 25, 1813.
21. National Archives, Washington D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Publications, M221-55 9063, Macomb to Armstrong, June23, 1813.
22. National Archives, Washington D.C., RG 107, M221-55, Nr.9063, Macomb to Armstrong.  June 23, 1813. Macomb dispatched Major Laval with 140 mounted on the Lt. Artillery and Dragoon horses and then dispatched an additional corps 100 men, half riflemen and half infantry, so that together with the militia at Oswego, some 1000 men would defend the stores gather there. "In consequence of the exposed situation of Oswego and its importance as a place of deposit for stores destined to this post and Niagara, I ordered two hundred and eighty five men under Major Carr for its protection."
23  "The enemy have plundered the stores at the mouth of the Genesee River, burnt Great Sodus Village and are now out looking for other places for further examples of their barbarity."  Nat. Arch. Macomb to Armstrong. RG 107, M221-55 9063.  The British fleet scoured the coast searching for U.S. supplies destined for the Niagara Frontier. (and Sackett's  Harbour). On the evening of June 12, 1813, they captured two U.S. vessels.. Sailing eastward, they arrived off Sodus Bay. A force of 100 troops landed seeking supplies they believed were stored in the village. The British threaten to burn the village if not told where the supplies were to be found. The villagers revealed the


The stores were then to be transported on to Sackett's Harbour along the coast in small boats taking advantage of westerly winds. In an effort to make the British command believe that the General Pike would not be ready for sea before the first of August, Chauncey ordered Woolsey to keep the large cables and anchors above Oswego Falls (present day Fulton, New York). He then circulated a rumor that they would not be brought on to Sackett's Harbour until needed for the General Pike's first cruise. Actually, Chauncey secretly planned to use two of the Madison's
anchors already at Sackett's Harbour for the General Pike 's first cruise. He knew that once these reports were transmitted to Kingston, his real intentions would be masked.

The General Pike would not be rigged until Chauncey was perfectly ready to sail. He impressed upon Woolsey that much was at stake and the fate of the campaign depended on his exertions to prevent the guns and stores near Oswego for the General Pike from falling into enemy hands.

Because his vessels did not have enough gunpowder for fifty broadsides, Chauncey urged the Navy Agent in New York, to hurry on more. The General Pike alone required 10,000 lbs. to be combat ready. Despite strenuous efforts, she was still not prepared for sea by the end of June so Chauncey decided to have Eckford's carpenters build another fast sailing schooner of about 250 tons on which to mount three long 32-pdrs.24  Chauncey convinced himself that Yeo would go
into l(ingston  and wait until the American force was ready.


Yeo did not sit idly by but developed another bold plan to prevent the Pike from being added to Chauncey's fleet. He sent out his gig to reconnoitrer the Harbour defenses and for two nights silently rowed among the Americans in Black River Bay. When challenged by American guard boats, the stealthy British answered, "Guard boat!" After gaining the necessary intelligence, Yeo was once again prepared to raid Sackett's  Harbour. Confident of success, he left l(ingston on the night of June 30 with twenty large open boats, about 450 sailors and nearly 250 men of the Royals and 100th Regt.

At dawn, they landed in the woods of Chaumont Bay and hauled all their boats on shore. They covered their boats with tree branches and concealed themselvs in the woods. That night they were to make a desperate attack upon the unsuspecting American fleet at the Harbour. The Madison was to be boarded by four hundred picked men headed by Yeo himself while the other
vessels were boarded at the same time and carried.25  Unfortunately  for the British, several men
deserted into the woods. One of them managed to cross Black River Bay on a plank and was picked up by an American patrol near Sackett's Harbour.

At five p.m. on July 1, 1813, Chauncey was dining with newly arrived Captain Arthur
Sinclair26  at headquarters  when they were suddenly interrupted. The British deserter was brought



location and the British proceeded  in that direction. About 40 American militia ambushed the marauders. Both sides fell back.·Before returning to their vessels, the British burned the village storehouses  and several homes." Patrick A. Wilder and Michael Wilder, Seaway Trail Guide to the War of 1812, ed. Kara Dunn (Oswego, N.Y.: Seaway Trail, Inc., 1987,) p.48.
24 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG45. Microfilm Series Ml25, Captains Letters. Chauncey to Jones. June
20, 1813, also New York Historical  Society, Chauncey letter books, p.388.
25 Cruikshank. Niagara Frontier.
26 Arthur Sinclair

in with information that Yeo's men were secreted in the woods about seven miles away and were prepared to attack the unsuspecting  fleet that night. Sinclair eagerly suggested they act on the offensive. The Virginian proposed that the fleet embark with 1000 men headed by Col. Macomb, sail to the opposite shore of the bay and off load the troops while Macomb and his men marched through the woods to the rear of the British hiding place. Meanwhile Chauncey and Sinclair would sail with the fleet to the place where the British were hiding and trap them.

If this plan were successful, Yeo's entire force would be captured. Sinclair further suggested they should return the British "the complement intended us, as our boats might easily have been made to pass for theirs and our ships might have been made to pass for theirs and our ships might have also gone in (to Kingston) as prizes and taken their whole fleet."27  Typically, Sinclair was over-ruled by a more cautious Chauncey.

Instead, after dark, the American ships were moored in a line of defence, and the decks secretly manned with troops, principally riflemen. Every sailor was armed with a musket to be fired immediately after the first broadside from the main armament was delivered. The Pike, still devoid of rigging or ballast, rode high out of the water with about five hundred soldiers on board her. The Americans remained at their posts all night anxiously expecting attack, but by daylight they heard nothing of the enemy. At dawn, Chauncey cautiously got under way with the whole
squadron and ran outside Point Peninsula in order to cut off Yeo from Kingston.28  The
Americans were, however, unable to discover any signs of the enemy or their boats.


At about eight a.m., two more prisoners were brought in who had deserted the previous evening. They informed the Americans that the enterprise had been abandoned because someone from the Harbour came over to their hiding place and alerted Yeo that the Americans were preparing to cut them off. The deserters insisted Sir James was determined to return the first dark and stormy night to carry out the destruction of Chauncey's fleet.

In an effort to prevent such a move in the future, Chauncey mounted sixteen guns on the Pike and arranged for Macomb to furnish him with a number of men from the Army, many of whom had formerly been sailors. He now began using every exertion to get upon the lake as soon as possible. "For," as he wrote the Navy Department, "it is mortifying beyond expression to be obliged to remain here while the enemy is cruising."29

Intelligence from Chauncey's sercet agent in Canada cautioned that a British spy would slip into Sackett's Harbour about the last of June. The spy to visit the Harbour was none other than Samuel Stacy, the American who informed Prevost that Sackett's Harbour was vulnerable in May. Chauncey alerted the garrison to be on the lookout.30

On the 4th of July, Stacy surfaced as predicted and was accordingly watched. He asked a great many questions concerning the fleet, when it was going to sail, etc, etc,. This time before



27 University of Virginia Library. Letters of Captain Arthur Sinclair to John Hartwell Cocke. July 4, 1813, p.l. Hereafter cited as Sinclair.
28  University of Virginia, Sinclair.
29 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Officer's Letters, Chauncey to Jones.
30 National Archives, Washington  D.C., American State Papers, Class V, Military affairs, Vol. I, Chauncey to Jones, July 4, 1813.


he could slip away, Chauncey ordered him apprehended. He thought it would be desirable to hang "this traitor to his country as he is considered respectable in the country in which he lives, and I think that it is full time to make an example of some of our countrymen who are so base and degenerate as to betray their country by becoming the spies and incendiaries of our enemy."31

When the ranking militia officer in Ogdensburgh learned that Stacy had been taken prisoner, he informed Chauncey that "strong circumstantial testimony can be had in abundance against him." There appeared little doubt in the minds of the people around Ogdensburgh that Stacy was guilty and several people there were willing to testify against him. Although Stacy was
apprehended, there were others who were not.32  Many in northern New York were sympathetic to the British, as there were many in Upper Canada equally friendly to the American cause.33

Pennsylvanian Colonel Robert Carr noted for example, that trade between Sackett's  Harbour and Canada flourished because of the good harbor and the ease of smuggling to l(ingston;

even at present notwithstanding the existence of war a trade is clandestinely  carried on and a number of Villains are engaged in supplying the Enemy with flour, pork and salt - by sending out loaded Boats to such places as the English can capture them and then are sent back to report their being captured and plundered- but They are always richer after their losses than before. It is to be hoped that hanging will come into more general use in this District.34


















31 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series M125, Chauncey to Jones, July 4, 1813.
32 National Archives of Canada.  RG 8. C series, reel2647. Aug. 18, 1815. p.198.
33 After his confinement  at Sackett's Harbour, Samuel Stacy departed the United States for Canada to take up residency there, because of the "vindictive manner of his own government..., compelled him to abandon the United States." National Archives of Canada. RG 8. C series, reel2647, p.198.
34 Hi torical Society of Pennsylvania.  Manuscript Division, Collection 116, Robert Carr Papers, Carr Diary, 1811-
1823.





CHAPTER TEN

"Canada will not be Conquered this year"


At Kingston, Prevost was pleased that the British squadron on Lake Ontario was "tolerably well manned" by the seamen that arrived from England with Yeo. He was, however, deeply concerned that Captain Robert H. Barclay's  new brig, on Lake Erie, would not be properly manned, as they were without a man for her. Captain Barclay, as well as Captain Oliver Hazzard Perry, his American adversary on that lake, both repeatedly pointed out the deficient manner in which their respective fleets were manned.

Barclay exclaimed "The absolute necessity of seamen being sent up [to Lake Erie] is so obvious that I need hardly point out it out to you. The ships are manned with a crew, part of whom cannot even speak English, none of them seamen and very few even in numbers."1 On a
like note, a dissatisfied Perry complained that the men sent to him by Chauncey, mostly negroes, soldiers and boys, were unsatisfactory.  Chauncey immediately responded to Perry that he regretted his displeasure.

	
	But for my knowledge  a part of them are not surpassed by the seamen we have in the fleet (on
Lake Ontario) and I have yet to learn that the colour of the skin or cut and trimmings of the coat

	
	can effect a man's qualifications  or usefulness. I have nearly 50 blacks on board of this ship

	
	(General Pike) and many of them are amongst my best men, and those men you call

	
	'soldiers 'have been to sea from 2 to 17 years and I presume that you will find them as good and useful as any Men on board of our vessels, at least if I can judge by comparison,  for those we

	
	have on board this ship are attentive and obedient and as far as I can judge, many of them are

	
	excellent Seamen.2

	
f
	
I
	Chauncey claimed the men sent to Lake Erie were selected with the intention of sending an


equitable proportion of officers and sailors, and as far as Chauncey was concerned, they were
equal to those on Lake Ontario. Yeo, even more than Chauncey, filtered each new batch of seamen, keeping the best for himself on Lake Ontario. Yeo starved Barclay even more than Chauncey did Perry. This was to have a powerful effect on the outcome of the Lake Erie struggle as hardly a month later Perry penned his famous message, "We have met the enemy and they are ours"

The ailing Dearborn was nearing the end of his career as Commander of the American forces on the Northern Frontier. Because he and Chauncey were unsuccessful in seizing Kingston despite prodigious but faulty efforts, the President and his cabinet resolved to replace Dearborn.
It was Armstrong who was chosen to notify him. Armstrong wrote: "I have the President's orders to express to you the decision that you retire from the command of District No.9 and of the

                     troops within the same, until your health be reestablished and until further orders."3
1 National Archives of Canada, (Barcleys sailors not speaking english)
2 New York Historical Society. Chauncey Letter Books. July, 1813.
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By midsummer the bulk of the American army concentrated  at the eastern end of Lake Ontario under the temporary command of Major General Morgan Lewis until a new commanding general arrived on the scene. Meanwhile the frontier village changed according. It was now described as:

a most contemptible place -- there are no respectable looking houses & many sheds & slight temporary habitations  erected by the followers & sutlers of the army. It derives its sole importance from its safe and commodious harbor. The street, there is but one, is muddy & contains all the filth which is collected within the buildings that stand upon it & which is daily discharged into it.4

The men who fought at Sackett's Harbour on May 29 and the newly arrived troops that made up the growing army were described in the same vein. Arthur Sinclair characterized the 3,000 effectives as making him sick to the stomach to look at them:

they remind me very much of the water street hogs of Norfolk, well fed and lazy and muddy as the devil --really, I never saw such looking troops in any Country -figure for yourself the dirtiest and most slovenly looking blackguards  you have ever seen, and you have our army, generally, in your minds eye - the fittest of the army, if they have any, is the worst in the world. I believe the men are brave but they want officers and discipline - They fill our ships full of vermin whenever they act
as transports for them- they are little better than savages in battle -Forsyth's Riflemen who have distinguished themselves  in all the actions - shoot the officers, and as soon as they fall, they do

not stop to load again before they run up and plunder his epaulettes, watch, etc. - Some of them have had handkerchiefs  full, and have made several hundred dollars in one battle - they have mashed up, between two stones, some of the most elegant silver embossed earns, plate of every description to get them in their knapsacks - The officers, generally attempt to prevent it; but Forsyth is a perfect savage himself, he, it is said, encourages it- He is as brave a brute as any in the woods...He never obeys orders, yet he has turned the fate of the battle many times.5


General Lewis, with a less sceptical eye, deemed the troops at Sackett's Harbour "a fine body of men."6 But he feared they were insufficient for the protection of the fleet. Lewis noticed that the security of the Harbour was compromised by taverners and sutth;rs who kept "our soldiers eternally intoxicated."7 Spies, Lewis complained, endlessly stalked through the encampment. If one was arrested, he immediately  pleaded his citizenship and sued the authorities for false imprisonment. Lewis claimed the only spring that supplied water was twice poisoned by arsenic thrown into it.

Prisoners captured by the Americans and escaped British deserters informed the Americans that spies reported to Prevost and Yeo precisely what was happening at Sackett's Harbour. The British selected only Americans citizens to perform these clandestine services. Lewis reported to




4 John C. Fredriksen. Connecticut  History. p.61.
5 University of Virginia Library. Arthur Sinclair to John Hartwell Cocke, esq'r.  Sackett's Harbour, July 6, 1813.
6 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-54,  Letters to the Secretary of War, Lewis to Armstrong, July 5, 1813.
7 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-54,  Letters to the Secretary of War, Lewis to Armstrong, July 5, 1813.


the Secretary of War that those working for the British thought they risked nothing by doing so.8
He and Chauncey suggested hanging some of them as an example.

The morale of the American troops was further tested by rampant health problems. In order to reduce the risk of dying from disease, Lewis, Chauncey and Macomb considered relocating the post away from Sackett's Harbour because more men were lost by illness and desertion than were lost during battle. Confined deserters repeatedly reasoned that they would rather take a chance of being shot for desertion than succumb to disease. 105 prisoners were under guard,

mostly for desertion. Lewis felt courts martial should condemn the whole to death as the quickest method of getting rid of them.9  Instead, desertions were checked by executing two prisoners by hanging instead of the normal firing squad. Lewis was determined to continue this form of
punishment until the will of any would-be deserters was broken.

The numbers continued to grow as one after another was brought before a court martial. Elisha Eldridge, a private in the 9th Infantry, was charged with desertion; Silas Johns, a private of the 1st Regt. Light Dragoons, was similarly charged, as was John Harrison, a private in the
21st Infantry. After "mature deliberation of the court" all were declared guilty and sentenced to death by being "hanged  by the neck until they are DEAD."10 The Prevost Martial made the necessary arrangements for the executions and the whole garrison was paraded to bear witness.
On July 5, 1813, the Adjutant-General's office delivered an address to the troops at Sackett's

Harbour:

The enlisted soldier who deserts the standard of his nation violates his solemn plighted faith, commits a fraud by his breach of contract, and hazzards [sic] his future happiness by the foulest perjury. The State of War enhances the turpitude of the interests of the country, and the abandonment of the lives, liberty and property of fellow citizens to the merciless ferocity of a savage foe. The forfeiture  of life is a just retribution of such perfidious crimes and the manner of taking it ought to be ignominious  to the culprit who has disgraced the occupation of a soldier. The General has therefore ordered that the condemned pay the debt they owe to society on a Gibbett[sic].II

Macomb took steps to rectify the situation by keeping the cantonments and its environs policed and clean. Any soldier caught dirtying the encampment would be brought to the guard house and be given no less than five lashes for each offence. Macomb saw to it that proper latrines were provided and soldiers caught relieving themselves in unauthorized places received severe punishment. Police were stationed at various points to oversee the cleanliness of the encampment from Reveille to Tattoo. Officers were held responsible for the cleanliness of their men's quarters and were to insure that the grounds were swept daily.

The officers were instructed to issue proper clothing and equipment to their recruits and the enlisted men were ordered to maintained a soldierly appearance. Their clothing was to be clean


8 National Archives, Washington  D.C. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-54, Letters to the Secretary of War, Lewis to Armstrong, July 5, 1813.
9 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-54,  Nr. 8687, Lewis to Armstrong.
10 New York State Archives,  Macomb Orderly Book, July 12, 1813.
11 Macomb Orderly Book New York State Archives. July 5, 1813.


with the buttons on the coats and hats kept bright. All soldiers on guard duty were to wear their best attire and none assigned to that duty who did not appear clean and well dressed, would be accepted. Companies supplying soldiers for guard duty who were turned away as unfit, were to supply a double number of men at the next guard mount. Any man appearing unfit for guard duty, was confined and punished for his carelessness. Macomb stressed;

Nothing so much shows the discipline and good order of a regiment as the manner in which the guard do their duty - and their general appearance always adds to and furnishes the reputation of a corps.12

Soldiers on guard duty were not to take off their clothing during the twenty-four hours for which they were detailed. Officers of the guard enforced order and silence in the ranks, whispering or looking around was no longer tolerated. Perfect order and silence was observed in the guard room and guard tents. The guard was no longer allowed to talk or converse with off­ duty soldiers or civilians and they were not permitted to remove accoutrements, and were to always have their weapons within view and reach.

Long overdue regulations were finally established and enforced thereby creating an esprit de corps for the new army. By mid-summer Macomb noticed a change in the army at Sackett's Harbour as the soldier steadily improved in appearance and spirit. Under Alexander Macomb's relentless guidance, the "water street hogs" were slowly being moulded into shape as a nucleus for a trained, professional American army, and a new campaign into Canada.


At long last on July 20, the General Pike, the largest and most powerful warship on the lakes up to this time, was ready for service. From June 2, 1813 when Chauncey returned to Sackett's Harbour from Fort George, Yeo held undisputed sway over lake Ontario. Chauncey avoided confronting Yeo for almost two critical summer months! The British seized the opportunity to supply their forces throughout the upper province. Yeo, outgunned after the Pike was prepared, prudently put into Kingston to refit his vessels. On July 27, 1813, Chauncey finally sailed with the entire American squadron and arrived off the Niagara River.

Having learned that a large amount of provisions were stored at Burlington, (present day Hamilton, Ont.) Chauncey decided to attempt their capture or destruction.  Col. Winfield Scott and some 250 artillerists acting as infantry sailed there but Scott decided it too well defended to make an assault. The Americans once again sailed off for an easier target; York. Finding that place undefended, Scott's troops and Chauncey's marines landed and captured several hundred barrels of flour, provisions, five pieces of cannon, eleven small boats, a quantity of shot, and shells. Everything of military value was destroyed or dragged back to the ships, after which the fleet embarked for Niagara.

Once there Chauncey dispatched two lieutenants, eight midshipmen,  and about 100 men to reinforce Perry on Lake Erie. Chauncey believed Perry was now strong enough to meet the British on that lake and instructed him to cooperate with General Harrison without delay. As a






12 Macomb Orderly Book. New York State Archives. July 19, 1813.





result of providing Perry with so many men from his own fleet, Chauncey felt it best to return to
Sackett's  Harbour and blockade Yeo in Kingston.13

While Chauncey sat at Sackett's Harbour waiting for the British to move, Yeo finished refitting his fleet and put to sea. At York, on August 6, 1813, Yeo learned the American fleet followed him and was off Niagara. That night, the British fleet crossed the lake with the idea of surprising the American vessels. At daybreak the British fleet was some 10 miles off shore, completely visible to the Americans.

Chauncey ordered his fleet made ready. They sailed to attack with the General Pike in the lead. From August 7, to the 1Oth, the two fleets manoeuvred, each attempting to secure an advantage. During the night of the 8th, a strong and sudden squall hit. The Hamilton and Scourge, two of Chauncey's best schooners capsized and over one hundred men were swallowed by the lake. Only sixteen could be rescued. On the 1Oth, Yeo captured two more schooners that had strayed from the American line. It had been an inauspicious  debut for the Commodore. One of Chauncey's officers angrily wrote home;

This is only part of the evil.from not attacking the enemy [at Kingston] on the third, for which the
Commodore  is answerable  and perhaps highly censurable, (you know he is a peace man).14


By this time, newspapers were full ofill-omened news concerning Napoleon's defeats in Europe. Perhaps Chauncey knew it was only a matter of time until overwhelming numbers of British troops and sailors would be available for the war in North America. Chauncey, anxious to return to his favored watering hole, left two schooners at Niagara and sailed back to Sackett's Harbour where he expected to meet the new Commanding General of the 9th Military District, the notorious Major General James Wilkinson.

i
I   :		On May 15, 1813 notorious Major-General James Wilkinson was ordered to Sackett's Harbour from New Orleans. While passing through Washington D.C., Armstrong explained a plan to Wilkinson that he believed would lead to the capture of both Kingston and Montreal. The plan was to concentrate some 7,000 troops at Sackett's  Harbour and 'attack Kingston. Next Wilkinson was to advance down the St. Lawrence River where he would link up with his old bitter personal enemy, Major General Wade Hampton and 4,000 troops from Plattsburgh. This joint force was sufficient, Armstrong reasoned, to capture and occupy Montreal compelling Britain to surrender Upper Canada to the United States, and thus end the war in America's favour.


On August 20, after a journey of 1,800 miles, Wilkinson arrived at Sackett's  Harbour. There he found in his words, "the Army and all its departments and dependencies...in  a wretched state."15 Dispite Wilkinson's arrival, the Americans had suffered so many reverses at Niagara and on Lake Ontario, that it was more and more unlikely American arms would triumph in a
campaign against Kingston or Montreal that fall in spite of Macomb's ongoing efforts to improve the quality of the army.


13 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 45, Microfilm Series Ml25, Officer's letters, Chauncey to Jones,
14 Letter written to an uncle in Virginia by an unknown Naval officer on board Madison, August, 1813.
15 Wilkinson's  Memoirs.  Vol.I, p.587.


Fortunately the army was coming of age under Macomb and other expericenced officers but the onset of the summer campaign had achieved nothing lasting in the pivotal Lake Ontario arena. Another valuable year that in the beginning had appeared so promising had been squandered and why? Because on May 29, 1813 at the Battle of Sackett's Harbour, Lieutenant
Wolcott Chauncey had raised "The Red Flag," and signalled the destruction of fittings and stores necessary to complete the General Pike. This act caused the loss of the next two vital summermonths -- precious time necessary for the campaign to push into and occupy Upper Canada. Herein lays the strategic significance of the American "victory" at Sackett's Harbour. Neither the ship, the General Pike, nor the U.S. fleet was prepared to gain the ascendancy on Lake Ontario and ultimately the conquest of Upper Canada. It is ironic how British defeat on
land at Sackett's  Harbour brought them valuable time on the lake.

Thus we have given the enemy the opportunity of bringing up all of his active troops and to leave the protection of the lower Province to the invalids and militia and those they expect from Europe
- and no doubt they will before the campaign ends... collect in the lower province a force superior to our whole army. Under these circumstances  it is difficult to say, what will be the result of the campaign in this quarter...[but] Canada will not be conquered this year. (Col. Alexander Macomb) 16

CHAPTER ELEVEN

"The Truth is never more than Half Told"


What, exactly is the efficacy of the Battle of Sackett's Harbor? Thanks to the neglect of historians since 1815, many unresolved disputes remain. In his communique of May 14, 1813, Dearborn instructed Brown to "aid" the regular army at Sackett's Harbour. 1 Brown contradicts
this by insisting that Dearborn wanted him to assume command of the post. He wrote, "In the night of the 27th Col. Backus wrote me by Major Swan desiring that I should come and take the command. I could no longer hesitate. - Early in the morning of the 28th I was here."

However, the American command was never clearly delineated. In the strictest sense of the word, Brown was not in command of a unified force. He led only the militia and volunteers. Backus, seconded by Laval and Aspinwall, commanded the regulars. These, and not the militia, were the troops that held the ground between the British and Chauncey's ship, General Pike.

Because Backus was mortally wounded, Brown composed the dispatches that reached Dearborn, Tompkins, Armstrong, the President, and eventually the nation's  press. His version of the battle was the kind of damage control the adminstration needed. Lucidly penned, Brown's letter created the illusion that, because of his inspiration, a militia unit had finally demonstrated prowess in action. The "Fighting Quaker," an ambitious man, saw a vacuum and seized the opportunity to gain entry into the Regular Army on his own terms.


Although the command of American forces at the Battle of Sackett's Harbour was fragmented and unstructured,  the defenders waited for the attack on terrain of their own chasing. The plan, developed primarily through the efforts of Alexander Macomb, was one of position in depth. At every level, a substantial reserve was waiting. First: there was Brown's  militia at the mainland near Horse Island, supported by the volunteers; second: the Dragoons, the 9th, 21st and
23rd Infantry near the Basswood Cantonment, constituted the next line of resistance; third: the
artillery in Fort Tompkins; fourth: the sailors on Navy Point, and fifth: the men at Fort Volunteer. All these troops were kept rearward enough to absorb each attack and act as reserves for unforseen events.

The Americans possessed thorough knowledge of the terrain and had erected adequate defenses at the most critical points. Their batteries were well-sited and fortified, and plans had been developed for a last stand. Therefore, the defenders were able to inflict heavy losses on the attackers at a lower cost to themselves. The British advanced magnificently, but lost heavily with every yard gained. Brown was certainly the most informed and experienced of the officers at the Harbour concerning the terrain and the British. It can be argued that his knowledge of military tactics, however, was sketchy as demonstrated by deploying the inexperienced militia at the water's  edge. Their premature stampede nearly cost him the battle.

Sun Tzu more than 2,000 years ago wrote words that were still relevant in 1813:






1 Dearborn's letter ofMay 14, 1813 to Armstrong has been found in the National Archives. RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-52, Nr.6267. However, a letter supporting Brown claim that he was ordered by Dearborn to assume command at Sackett's Harbour  has never been found and it is doubtful that one exists.
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throw your soldiers into positions whence there is no escape, and they will prefer death to flight.
If they will face death, there is nothing they may not achieve. Officers and men alike will put forth their uttermost strength. Soldiers in desperate straits lose the sense of fear. If there is no place of
refuge, they will stand firm.2

Brown was apparently unaware of this sage advice. His raw militia were exposed at the lake shore with nothing behind them except deep woods. The landing area was a critical choke point and the British attack may have been foiled here, had a trained force been on hand to engage them. Brown faced almost 900 British with only 500 militia. The militia did all they could have done in the face of such opposition. It would have been unrealistic to have expected them to stay and fight unsupported. They did all that could have done according to Macomb's plan and in fact
some militia did fall back to harass the British flank. Nevertheless,  in justice to the levies, several
telling volleys and artillery fire were delivered that momentarily stunned the British and compelled them to change their landing plans.

Had Brown's  little army been reinforced by Backus's  regulars immediately, it is possible the British could have been driven off while in the act of landing. Although Brown credited himself with this overlapping defensive strategy, it was Macomb's brainchild. Brown and Backus merely implemented it.


It could be argued on the contrary that a more appropriate place for the militia would have been within the confines of Fort Tompkins. There they would have been compelled to stay and fight. Furthermore, the rout of the militia may have been the catalyst responsible for convincing Laval to retreat when he was in no danger. Patriotism may have brought the militia out, but a lack of training and inadequate leadership caused their flight the moment combat began!

As the defense of the Harbour wavered, Brown's  militia took to their heels, followed by the General himself. The Dragoons were then pushed back towards Fort Tompkins and almost broke. Next, the destruction of the barracks and warehouses produced a domino-effect, with Lieut. Chauncey seeking safety up the bay followed by Lieut. Drury and his men fleeing Navy
Point. Drury did nothing worse than his commanding officer, the Cop1modore's younger brother, Lieut. Chauncey.

Chauncey had set an example by running up Black River bay to get out of harms way. For that matter, General Brown himself, while trying to rally his men, ran after them as well. Had it not been for the destruction of the naval stores, chances are Drury would never have been charged and brought to trial. Jacob Brown placed the blame squarely on 'the materials on whom Lieut. Chauncey relied,'  (John Drury, etc.) absolving the Commodore's brother of any wrong doing.

As a result of Drury's court martial and his exoneration, the role played by Lieut. Chauncey becomes quite clear. Did Brown in his second official dispatches blame Drury because he sought to ingratiate himself with Commodore Chauncey? Was this done with a view of securing naval cooperation as a form of personal obligation? Interestingly enough, as events of 1814 demonstrated, the senior, Chauncey was unwilling to return any favors.



2 Sun Tzu, The Art of War, ed. James Clavelll, (Dell Publishing Press, New York,  1983), p. 62.



Upon returning to I(ingston Col. Baynes filed his report with Prevost. Baynes stated he had intended to land in the cove formed by Horse Island and the mainland but discovered the Americans fully prepared to receive him. He admitted, "I directed the boats to pull round to the other side of the island.." By changing course and landing site, Baynes prolonged the agony of his troops and gave the Albany Volunteers and militia more time to fire at his slow moving, crowded landing craft. Heavy casualties were sustained at this time.

By the time the British reached the east side of the island, they came under fire of the 32-pdr. in Fort Tompkins causing even more losses. Baynes should have continued his assault directly towards the intended landing place. The casualties inflicted would likely have been the same if not fewer, valuable time would not have been lost, and the original plan could have been followed.

Despite these difficulties, the British drove the Americans off. It was at this point that Baynes said, "the further energies of the troops became unavailing." Furthermore, the American blockhouse and stockaded battery "could not be carried by assault." In this final third of the
battle, the British had revealed their whole plan and had spent the major part of their land forces to no avail, for Yeo could not bring his heavy guns to bear. Wind, as much as American bullets, was the principle factor in determining Prevost's  defeat.


Once LeCouteur of the 104th reached the Basswood Cantonment, he heard one of the men with cry out: "The retreat is sounding.." "No," LeCouteur replied, "It must be some mistake, there are the Americans running away en masse... which we both distinctly saw."3

Baynes was apparently unaware of the perceived retreat of the Americans as it was witnessed by LeCouteur. Baynes also seemed unaware that LeCouteur had managed to clear the space within the stockade with the exception of Laval and Aspinwall's regulars in the blockhouse. Prematurely, the order to retreat was given, precisely at the very moment the British might have pressed on to victory!

Baynes added: "The fire of the gunboats proved inefficient." He must have been unaware that the Beresford's firing had caused the flight on Navy Point. Baynes discovered too late that the Beresford was the key to success. This ship had for all intents and purposes won the battle, but the British command had failed to recognize it at the time.

So poor communications also wrought havoc on British fortunes. Clearly command and control was lost-by both sides-after initial shots were fired. The ensuing conflict more resembled a running fight than a set place battle.

"The enemy," he wrote, "set fire to the storehouses in the vicinity of the fort." LeCouteur also described seeing the "ship of war on the stocks in flames or rather smoke," before the retreat. Baynes concluded  his report: "...seeing no object within our reach to attain that could compensate for the loss that we were momentarily sustaining from the heavy fire of the enemy's cannon... We were ordered to reembark..., which we performed at our leisure and in perfect
order..."4



3 LeCouteur.
4 Le Couteur.

In the final analysis, the British were defeated on the plain in front ofFort Tompkins because of heavy losses inflicted on them by the American regulars under Backus, Laval and Aspinwall. This is clearly pointed out by E. B. Brenton relates:

The enemy, though superior in numbers, were driven from their position, and forced to take
shelter in the town; but in the further attempt to approach the works, our troops were met by such a galling and destructive fire of grape and musketry, both in front and flank, that they were compelled to abandon a contest to which their numbers were so unequal. The force of the enemy, at this period, consisted of upwards of 1,100 men, including 142 artillery-men.5

The forementioned is also confirmed in the rationalization  of Colonel Baynes report.

Your Excellency having been witness of the zeal and ardent courage of every soldier in the field, it is unnecessary for me to assure Your Excellency that but one sentiment animated every breast, that of discharging to the utmost of their power their duty to their King and country; but one sentiment of regret and mortification  prevailed on being obliged to quit a beaten enemy, whom a small band of British soldiers had driven before them for three hours through a country abounding in strong positions of defense but not offering a single spot of cleared ground favourable for the operations  of disciplined troops, without having fully accomplished the duty
we were ordered to perfornf 6


Was it on Prevost's orders that Baynes wrote his report as though the governor general had not been present? Was Prevost trying to distance himself from the scene of action because the attack was bloodily repulsed? Probably not, because Baynes was acting as troop commander and it was normal procedure for him to report accordingly.

It was unwise to have persisted in assailing Fort Tompkins without artillery support. The British should have by-passed the fort, advanced straight towards the ship, the object of their mission, and destroyed it. It is probable, however, that the left flank of the British would have been pounded by fire from the American artillery and Laval with Aspinwall's men in and around blockhouse.


Once the retreat began, it was impossible for the British commanders to know that the vital naval stores and fittings for the new ship were being destroyed in the inferno set by the Americans themselves on Navy Point. The British had withdrawn back to their ships before realizing the extent of the fires. In any event, by cowardice, Wolcott Chauncey had partially accomplished what sheer bravery could not.

In a dispatch to Navy Secretary Jones, Leonard proclaimed that, all the naval stores were destroyed but they could have been removed to a place of safety before the battle. Leonard raised a good point. The Stores should have been withdrawn and hidden well inland, at a secure site. They should not have been returned to the Harbour until after the launching of the ship. The Commodore himself is culpable as he should have seen to the removal of these essential articles well before his departure for Fort George. Wasn't this same ploy used at Oswego in June of
1813?




5 E. B. Brenton, Some Account of the Public Life ofthe Late Lieutenant-General Sir George Prevost. (London), pub. T. Egerton, 1823.
6 National Archives of Canada, RG 8, C. 678, p.347, Baynes to Prevost, May 30, 1813.

Backus, Brown, and Lieut. Chauncey, themselves, also had the opportunity before the British attack to remove at least some of the stores. The local militia and civilians could have been engaged to carry out this critical task. The primary objective of the Americans in this quarter was twofold: One - to protect the ship on the wharf, which could not have been removed and, two - to defend stores on Navy Point which could have been easily removed. The removal of these items would have made the defense of the ship less complicated.

Nor was the Royal Navy above employing a smoke-screen.  When Yeo reported the attack on Sackett's  Harbour to London, he curiously described the action as a "diversion" in favour of the British troops at Fort George. He made no mention of the failure to destroy the ship, which was the object of the attack. The attack on Sackett's Harbour was a desperate attempt to destroy Chauncey's feared ship, and - not the diversion Yeo claimed. A diversionary faint could have been carried out without actually landing troops. By landing troops and incurring the losses they did, Prevost and Yeo demonstrated  unequivocally that they were really after the ship. Having failed, they claimed the attack was only a diversion. In his report, Yeo neglected to mention that he failed to remain on board the fleet, where he could have better managed the operations of the Navy. Instead he went on shore with the landing force and accomplished little.


In this respect, Yeo is more guilty of mismanagement  than Prevost. Nor did he report the failure of the Beresford to land the British artillery and the artillerists. Even without the guns, the artillerists could have employed the captured ordnance to their advantage by reducing the American blockhouses.  This, surely, would have given the British troops confidence and caused the few remaining Americans to join those already in flight. Artillery of that period is not necessarily complicated.  Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that any of the ground troops
could have serviced the captured 6-pdrs.

No signal system was in place which would have allowed the fleet to communicate with the troops on shore. Consequently,  the Beresford was unable to send or receive messages. Had Yeo developed and implemented  such a system, the battle could have taken a turn for the worse as far as the Americans were concerned. The British could have better coordinated the movement of their forces. Given the slender nature of Aspinwall's last stand, this might have proved decisive.

Brown, as well, created misleading narratives of the action for Armstrong, Tompkins, and Dearborn. One such letter contained 88 "I"s or "me"s, and six "we"s or "us." An excerpt of this letter reads as follows:

As I last turned from the enemy I came out of the woods. I saw an alarming flame arising from Navy Point the position which contained the spoils of York. With all possible expedition I made my way into Fort Tompkins and found the officer, Lieut. Ketchum I had left there in the act of firing the long thirty-two.  I desired him to keep up as heavy a fire as possible and appraised him that victory was ours - he replied Gen 'l. I cannot discharge the piece again, the flames from the Marine Barracks is so hot that my men cannot exist here. 7

At the time Brown rode to Fort Tompkins, claiming K.etchum told him that his men could not remain there because of the flames, it must have been long after Le Couteur advanced to the stockade. Le Couteur could see smoke just starting to rise from the ship but made no mention of


7 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-50, Letters Recieved by the Secretary of
War, Brown to Armstrong,  June 2, 1813.

smoke rising from the marine barracks at Fort Tompkins. Even after Drummond approached the blockhouse demanding surrender, there was still no mention of smoke or fire at Fort Tompkins. In his report however, Brown refers to the hot flames of the marine barracks, but it is known that by this time the British were already well in retreat. He reports "I desired him to keep up as
heavy fire as possible and apprised him 'that victory was ours'"  Whether Brown realized at that time the enemy were withdrawing  or not is uncertain, but he made this assertion, not in the heat of battle, but in the wake of the British retreat.

Subsequently, Brown rode to the ship. Here the testimony of Olney Pierce is important because he claims to have heard someone shouting from the masthead of the Fair American "the British are retreating." Pierce then claims that Brown told him to run out of town and hurry on the incoming troops. If Pierce could hear the cries from the Fair American then could Brown have heard them as well? It is at this time Brown met his brother, Samuel, who told him that the destruction on Navy Point was not due to Lieut. Chauncey's conduct, but because of those in whom Chauncey had placed confidence. Someone was going to pay for the ruin of the stores on Navy Point. Taking the political considerations into account, Brown set the stage for the defense
of Lieut. Chauncey by trying to absolve him of any wrong-doing. Blame shifted by default onto a defenceless, poorly-connected  Lieut. Drury in order to save the Commodore's brother, and, perhaps the Commodore himself from disgrace.

Was another motive of Brown's to guarantee the support of the Commodore in securing an appointment in the Regular Army?-or at least to cause the Commodore to be impartial? It would have been impossible for Samuel or any one else to have understood the confusion on Navy Point at this time. It suggests he and Jacob discussed it sometime after 11 a.m. because that was when Major Brown met Drury at the Mill Creek Bridge and not as Brown claimed, during the battle.

Brown insists he rode out the Middle, Adams, and Brownville Roads to finally reorganize his fugitive militia and moved them towards the British flank as if trying to cut them off from their landing craft. Brown claims this caused Prevost's  retreat. This, however, is not true since the British had already retreated and were in the process of reembarking.

Furthermore, much of the American Army had already retreated from the plain in front of the barracks, with the exception of Aspinwall, some of Laval's  men, and those of the 3rd artillery inside and near the Fort Tompkins blockhouse. Had Brown actually been in Fort Tompkins at
that time, more specifically when Backus' order to retire to Fort Volunteer, surely he would have seen the retreat of the Dragoons. Everything was not "safe on my right,"
Brown alleged, until the battle was over and the British withdrew. The General, in his 2nd report asserts,

In passing up to Brownville, Middle and Adams road, I perceived some hundreds of men who were assembled at a very respectful distance from danger.8

This would have placed Brown himself at a "very respectful distance from danger."

"Major Swan," Brown wrote in his official report, "rode up to me and informed me that the fixed ammunition was expended. I replied it may be so but I do not believe it, if it is so, tell no


8 National Archives, Washington  D.C. Ibid.

man. I rode among those people and they tried to impose upon me as they had upon the Major, but I knew them better and could admit no such excuse."9

The time it would have taken to ride on the three roads leading out of Sackett's  Harbour, and to accomplish all that Brown claimed, would surely have taken more time than Brown claimed. He then claims to have rallied the militia and "got them to march towards the right flank of the enemy in hopes of throwing them into the woods behind Sir George." This was refuted by Macomb, who insists Brown was "engaged at this time in endeavouring to rally and bring

forward the Militia, but in vain."10

Macomb claims this was substantiated by Lewis in a report written to Armstrong on August
3, in which he wrote,

It is a fact, that when driven, by more than double their numbers, from the woods to the plain, and as strange as it may appear, the victory of the enemy was complete at the moment of his retreat. The cowardly Militia who had taken to the woods were at this moment debauching on the open ground at a considerable  distance on the right of the enemy. - Having been apprised of the expected arrival of Tuttle, he concluded it was that force advancing to turn his right and immediately sounded a retreat 11


According to Lewis, a civilian (local citizen) ran to the British during the action, waving a white handkerchief informed them of the approach of Lt. Colonel Tuttle, "and they instantly retreated." This is not substantiated  in any documentation from British-Canadian  sources. No surviving British account makes any mention of the British retreating because of American reinforcements.

The attackers returned unmolested to their ships. General Brown in his 2nd report written on June 1, initially does not state that Prevost retreated because he saw the militia. Contrary to the testimony of others, Brown claimed:

I got them [the Militia] to march towards the right flank of the enemy in hopes of throwing them into the woods behind Sir George.12

The area where Brown's  remaining militia was located, was at le'ast three quarters of a mile away from where Prevost was engaged. Most of the militia ran at least three miles, and many did not stop until they got home. This distance, plus the fact the terrain was covered by forests and a new growth of trees, render it highly unlikely that Prevost could have seen the scattered militia. Brown brought his militia forward after the British had already withdrawn!

Brown ordered Major Luckett to advance with his mounted Dragoons into the open space, west of Judge Sackett's house and between the British and the new ship. It is interesting that Viger states that, "It is the retreat they are sounding and the American Cavalry is pursuing our




9 National Archives, Washington  D.C. Ibid.
10 Library of Congress, Macomb to Smyth, June 24, 1813.
11 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-54, Nr. 8685, Letters Recieved by
Secretary of War, Lewis to Armstrong,  August 3, 1813.
12. National Archives, Washington D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221-50, Letters Recieved, Brown to Armstrong, June 2, 1813.

troops." The mounted Dragoons could only have pursued the British a short distance as the ground was covered with fallen trees, forests and a new growth of timber. The terrain simply militated against such a move. Brown concluded, "Hurrying then to where the American and British Regulars fought, I very soon felt that victory was really ours." As the British were already in retreat, and most likely had reached Horse Island, Brown was correct in making that assertion.

Captain Rufus Mcintire of the 3rd Regt. of Arty. wrote a friend in Maine:

We are constantly prepared for some desperate attack from the enemy on our fleet; for we know their great object is to destroy a part of it before the General Pike is ready. This is very important. I consider that our superiority on the Lake depends on the success of the campaign in
a great measure. If the enemy with their whole fleet and one thousand troops were obliged to
retreat when our whole fleet was absent and we had not more than eight hundred men (except
Militia) and not more than six hundred in action they cannot expect any better success now even if they bring four thousand troops. In regard to the late attack I would observe that I have been very much surprised that with his force the enemy did not succeed, but much of that surprise has


ceased since we know for a certainty that his loss was at least two hundred and eighty. They left upward of fifty killed, wounded and prisoners and we have correct information that two hundred and thirty wounded were carried into their hospital at Kingston. They probably had many wounded who were not carried in. Some estimate the whole at near four hundred. Some of our recruits, it is true, did not fight with the regularity of old soldiers, but skulking by companies behind whatever would screen them they kept up a most destructive fire. This mode of fighting, though it does no great credit to our discipline, completely foiled the enemy,· his orders were to fire one or two rounds on our lines then to charge bayonets, but he found that when he attempted to charge one company they retreated and were covered and protected by others in their rear. The enemy boast that he drove us several hours,· this is true, but in all that time he did not get half a mile. The Militia were stationed near where they landed and all fled as soon as the enemy were ashore, except a few under Capt. McNitt. Genl. Brown says one hundred, but Genl. Brown belongs to the Militia and his partiality has probably doubled a real number. Genl. Brown is no doubt a brave man but not a consummate  general. The Volunteers [Albany] fought well. I know
the numbers in each corps and am satisfied that we had not more than seven hundred engaged at
one time including the Volunteers and perhaps add Capt. McNitt's Militia. The enemy had at least nine hundred in the engagement after deducting their possible loss in landing. Add to this the assistance they received from their shipping which was considerable.  Col. Mills was killed by
a grape shot from one of their gunboats and a considerable portion of our killed and wounded received their wounds in the same quarter. It is true we had some field pieces but I do not consider that they rendered us so much service as the shipping did them and besides I reckon the men that manned them among the engaged on our side. The enemy, in his official reports asserts that our troops threw themselves  into block houses which obliged him to retreat. This is not true: he probably meant a few miserable huts built of round sticks which had been occupied as barracks but which were so open that I doubt whether they were any benefit to us except they gave our men some confidence and scared the enemy. In fact, several of our men were shot in them. In the above sketch you have, I believe, very nearly a correct account of the relative force and advantage of both parties and can judge American bravery when compared with the British bravery aided by skill and discipline. I should write more often, but have nothing to write except the affairs of the Army and of them we are forbidden to write or rather it is hard to distinguish
what is proper and what is not. You, very justly, remark that there are many things about an army that never reach you through the papers. I believe, the truth is never more than half told- that the most important is kept back. I know that to be the case of the attack at Sackett's Harbour and that Genl. Brown was promoted from Brig.-Genl.  in the Militia to a Brig.-Genl.  in the regular service.


- I will not say in consequence  thereof but I will say that had the enemy done what they might with ease (burnt the new ship) Genl. Brown would have been more censured than Smyth or any other.13

Brown mentioned that he examined ten of the fit prisoners and claimed they all agreed that not a man of the Regular Army was left in Kingston and that Prevost's force exceeded a thousand men. Several of them put it much higher. This, of course, conflicts with the official British returns used for internal purposes as well as the numbers given by, one whose figures appear to be accurate and who had no reason to mislead anyone. Brown then recounts several known and indisputable facts. For Example, "Baynes commanded,"  true; "Col. Young was second in command," true; "after the enemy made good their landing, Sir George came on shore
in a bark canoe with from 40 to 50 Indians," acceptable; "he advanced to the front lines where he
remained for a considerable time much exposed," acceptable.

Brown concludes with several self-serving comments - "Sir George himself advised the retreat as he saw the Militia advancing towards his right flank. The fire of the Regulars at the same time being very hot in front."14 Brown sagaciously inserted his own deception to
Tompkins, Armstrong, and Dearborn. There is no testimony on the part of any British soldier which would suggest Prevost saw the so-called advancing militia, as Brown claims. He
continues, "two of the officers are in this village. I make them very comfortable occasionally one slight exception, they will not admit that Sir George came on shore with the Indians as a body
guard."15

One thing is clear. Through Brown's  deft manipulation of the truth, the militia usurped a victory that rightfully belonged to the regulars. His affirmation respecting this may have served him well, career-wise, but as a piece of empirical evidence it transcends reality. Historians of the War of 1812 have been negligent in recognizing this, hence their repeated references to Brown's decisive flank attack.

Following the Battle of Sackett's Harbour the rupture between Yeo and Prevost broke into open hostility. Yeo sought vindication for himself by denouncing Prevost's  timidity and cautiousness. Brown, hardly a consummate general, became a "statesman," a political general by effectively demonstrating  that the "pen is mightier than the sword," or at least, as persuasive as the sword. Brown's  narrative of events of May 29, 1813 were adopted by Washington as the official rendition.

In a communique to Armstrong, dated June 28, 1813, Brown stated that he was anxious that the Secretary would see no blame be attached to the Army for what happened on Navy Point and was willing to "expose the poltroons who so basely abandoned me on the field of battle." Later
in life Brown had a change of heart regarding his harsh criticism of the militia.16  Shortly before



13 Dr. John C. Fredriksen, Mcintire.
14 National Archives, Washington  D.C., RG 107, Microfilm Series M221, unregistered Series, Brown to Armstrong, June 28, 1813.
15 National Archives, Washington  D.C., IBid.
16 Brown was invited by a committee of citizens of Jefferson County to a dinner honoring him. They wrote, "It was in this country that you commenced your career of success and glory, and although the banks of the Black River do not bear record of the same splendid events which characterized your campaign on the Niagara, yet they bear worth as a

his death in 1828, he expressed that his report of the action was made under different feelings from those he developed over the years. At the time of battle, he stressed that he had been deeply wounded and embarrassed  by the retreat of his militia near Horse Island, but subsequent experience, as well as reflection, had taught him that undisciplined men in battle would usually disgrace themselves. On July 25, 1827, he wrote:


When we recur to all that past on that day, we shall find that the militia thus called suddenly into action opposed in the field by a veteran enemy did as much as could have been reasonably expected of them, for when broken and dispersed, as they were, they again rallied and returned in increased numbers to the east side of the village, to be commanded and from that point were put
in motion with a good countenance to close upon the rear of the enemy and seize his boats. Too much praise cannot be given to the gallant Backus and the little band of regulars troops who for more than three hours and a half nobly sustained the fortunes of the day, against a foe superior in strength, but heroic as those efforts were, success could not have been certain, but for the movement of the militia to the rear of the enemy. Neither is that little band to be forgotten who under McNitt bravely fought their way to the front line of Backus when other volunteers animated by their example increased their ranks.17

Brown concluded by stating; "I am aware that this is a delicate subject for me to touch, but at this late day of my life I can look to nothing but to justice and truth." 18

Once in the regular Army Brown embarked on a splendid, if controversial,  career. He was not only conspicuous during the 1814 Niagara campaign, but in his impact on the development of the post war U.S. Army from 1815 through 1828. His counterpart, Chauncey, commanded a squadron in the Mediterranean  returning to the United States in 1818. Shortly thereafter he was appointed Navy commissioner in Washington only to return to the navy station in New York.

In 1833, he once again became Navy commissioner, an office which he held until his death on January 27, 1840. It has been said his office in Washington was open to all who served under him on the Lakes. Chauncey had a passion to endlessly discuss the war and what went wrong on the northern frontier up to the time of his death. Today he rests in the Congressional cemetery in Washington D.C.

After the war's end, Chauncey and Brown both visited Kingston. During this call even their British hosts recognized them as skilled and resourceful adversaries.  An observer characterized the two men in the following manner:

The Commodore is a plain, rough seaman, and to judge from his countenance  a worthy man...he seems a worthy sort of plain sailing man, not quick but I should think of fair judgement.



man, your toils and enterprises as a farmer and of your kind and obliging deportment as a neighbor." Although the invitation never mentioned the Battle of Sackett's Harbour, Brown replied; "You have in your letter been pleased to refer to the Battle of Sacketts Harbour, and as I must deny myself the pleasure of meeting you...,I will avail myself of the opportunity now afforded which may possibly be the last I shell enjoy of doing justice to those who fought with me on that (to me at least) memorable occasion."
17 Brown's  manipulation of words  is remarkable. He cleverly describes  this retreat as "the little band..who..bravely fought their way... to the front line of Backus.."

18 Library of Congress, Manuscript  Division. Jacob Brown papers. ShelfNr.l6,889. Reell of 1. 305. Brownville, July 25, 1827.


The General has a great deal of shrewdness...! wish you could have seen him...(but he) is in appearance,  manners and conversation,  just like any other common Yankee.19

James Monroe Tours the Northern Frontier

In August 1817, the President James Monroe toured the northern frontier to examine the military defences and to show the population that the Federal Government was determined to maintain the border with British North America. Monroe arrived with his suite at Sackett's Harbour to be greeted by troops of the Second Infantry and throngs of enthusiastic citizens?0

The President expressed that he was moved by the attention given him and he emphasized that Sackett's  Harbour was worth the trip. Monroe explained that he was pleased to pass through "a country prosperous and fertile with a numerous, happy and brave population." He told those gathered that he saw in the people an attachment to their government, and considered the attention showed him personally, as actually honouring the institutions of the country. The President emphasized the importance of Sackett's  Harbour as a military and naval post and pointed out the village had received major attention from the government during the war and this
attention would continue to the fullest extent possible?1


Monroe stressed that Sackett's Harbour was the most important military position along the lakes and reminded everyone that immense sums of money had been appropriated during the war to provide for strong works, extensive blockhouses and barracks. He mentioned that Chauncey's entire Lake Ontario fleet was built there, guarded by a powerful army necessary to oppose the enemy, "who adopted various schemes to destroy that necessary, important, and valuable
depot."22

The President and his suite discussed the resistance made May 29, 1813, by General Brown, against the most determined and vigorous attempt of the British. He noted that the departure of General Dearborn's army for Fort George left Sackett's  Harbour in rather a defenceless state, and, in the event of an attack, the militia of the neighbourhood  were chiefly relied on to repulse the assailants.

Before they (the militia) were completely mustered, the enemy appeared in force. After several unsuccessful attempts, at length landed at the most accessible point, and marched promptly upon the village. A severe and close engagement, in which many officers of high rank were killed, resulted in the overthrow of the British arms, and the expulsion of all the troops which Sir
George had landed. Such, indeed, was the precipitation of his flight to his barges, made in consequence  of a stratagem, adopted by General Brown, to deceive him in his estimate of the American force, that he left the dead and wounded bodies of a number of his men and several of his most distinguished  officers, upon the field.23

After being compelled to call-off the attack, the capture, destruction or permanent possession of which, would have removed from the Americans any hope of a superiority on Lake Ontario;



19 Canadian National Archives. MG24, A.ll, p.30-40.
20  Hough, History of Jefferson County, p. 181.
21 James Monroe. A Narrative  of a Tour of Observation. (philadelphia:  Mitchell & Ames.), p.195-199.21.
22  James Monroe. A Narrative of a Tour of Observation. (philadelphia:  Mitchell & Ames.), p.195-199.22.
23  James Monroe. A Narrative of a Tour of Observation. (philadelphia:  Mitchell & Ames.), p.195-199.23.

and precipitately to leave his dead and wounded to the mercy of his enemy;" Sir G. Prevost issued an official account to the people of Canada, and forwarded a dispatch to his government, in which he laid claim to a, "brilliant and unparalleled victory." Prevost also claimed, the President said, that he "had reluctantly ordered his troops to leave a beaten enemy, whom he had driven before him upwards of three hours, because the cooperation of the fleet and army could not be effected. Had the result of the expedition against Sackett's Harbour been of that character to warrant this extraordinary claim.., its effects would have been long and deplorably felt by the American government."24

Immense quantities of Naval and Military stores which had been.. collected at that depot; the frames and timbers.. prepared for the construction of vessels of war; and the rigging and armament.., as well as all the army clothing, camp equipage, provisions, ammunition, and implements of war, which had been previously captured from the British at York; would have fallen into his hands.

The destruction of the batteries, the large ship then on the stocks, the extensive cantonments, and the public arsenal, would have retarded the building of another naval force; and that which was already on the lake in separate detachments, could have been intercepted in its attempt to return, and might have been captured in detail.

The American government might never again have fulfilled any likelihood of an ascendency on the lake. "As it proved, all these impending evils were averted, and the plans of the commanding officer, and "the determined resistance of the majority of his troops, converted that event into a splendid victory, which would, otherwise, have been an irretrievable disaster."25

"These facts.. were sufficiently  apparent to the President, and his personal examination of the
Harbour, tended to facilitate.. the means necessary to its better protection."26


Thus, the Story of the Battle of Sackett's  Harbour began out of political expediency, a tale bearing little relationship to the actual flow of events on May 29, 1813. The militia, Jefferson's beloved bulwark of Republicanism,  became the greatest benefactor of this military myth, and far out of proportion to actual services rendered. Yet, national mythology is usually the very basis of nationalism itself. Historians are at liberty to dispute the veracity of such popularly sustained beliefs, but disregard them at their own peril. The battle of Sackett's Harbour, both the event and the manner in which it was recorded for posterity, is an paragon of this process.

In a country desperate for heroes, the Battle of Sackett's Harbour filled a niche in the popular consciousness and catapulted Jacob Brown into the limelight of national affairs. It must therefore be seen as one of the most valuable myths arising from the War of 1812. In fact, it brought forth
a new era of illusions, indistinguishable from the old myths of the frontier farmer, the frontier militiaman, who like Cincinnatus, came forth when his country was in peril. This was the true message the government wished to send to the country. Like victory at New Orleans, it was hoped that the memory of Sackett's Harbour would inspire the nation's militia into action during future conflict


24  James Monroe. A Narrative of a Tour of Observation. (philadelphia:  Mitchell & Ames.), p.195-199.24.
25  James Monroe. A Narrative of a Tour of Observation. (philadelphia:  Mitchell & Ames.), p.195-199.25.
26  James Monroe. A Narrative  of a Tour of Observation.  (philadelphia:  Mitchell & Ames.), p.195-199.26.


EPILOGUE

Sackett's Harbour-Sackets  Harbor


"Those who were acquainted with this well-known place, during the war, can but be pleasantly surprised, to see it at present, so respectable a village. The principal street on either side is well paved, and the general appearance of the place vastly improved. The barracks, called Madison Barracks, are the best in the country, very spacious and built of durable materials."
Captain Roger Lewis, May 1819. 1

Following President Monroe's visit, the fortifications at Sackett's Harbour developed a more permanent nature. Fort Tompkins became the site of a small naval headquarters with Woolsey remaining in command. Forts Volunteer and Pike were renamed Madison Barracks in honor of the war president, James Madison. Three stone wings forming a parallelogram were constructed under orders of Major-General  Jacob Brown. The barracks were two stories high, each room
with its own fireplace. Washhouses,  warehouses, and all necessities for a powerful military establishment were located on the mezzanine with open inside courts. A separate building was also built to house the officers and arms depot. Nearby, huge sheds stored artillery, gun­ carriages, and caissons, all kept in a constant state of readiness. The barracks were surrounded by
walls and palisades, covering about three acres, and included a large paved drill court, a vegetable garden, and a garden for medicinal plants. The garrison was to consist of upwards of
2,000 troops during peace time and 6,000 during war. Smiths Cantonment on the other side of the harbor was razed, Camp Volunteer on Horse Island was abandoned and the site became of a lighthouse. A new military road was constructed from Sackett's Harbour to Plattsburgh to shuttle troops up and down the border should war once again erupt with Great Britain.2

The forests of pinus strobus [white pine], the finest and among the tallest one could encounter, surrounded the area. They towered to a height of 120 to 130 feet throughout the region. As Jacques Gerard Milbert remarked in 1818, his interest in he magnificent trees was derived from their immense usefulness, "for if they could escape the woodcutters axe, or the frontiersman's fire, they could be carefully felled by the shipbuilder and fashioned into masts for the largest warships or commercial  vessels." Milbert was even anxious to ship a large number of seeds from these valuable trees back to France as he wished to naturalize such a useful species. As Milbert travelled along the road toward Sackett's Harbour, he passed through a swampy and sparsely inhabited forest. A little farther on, Milbert reached Madison Barracks built of a gray limestone in 1816 and 1817. There he stopped on the bluff over-looking Black River Bay to observe the village with its European ambience. He gazed at the houses, the tall church, the big tavern, [the Union Hotel] and the navy yard of this thriving frontier town, site of the first large
military garrison since entering the interior. Milbert described the village as an interesting picture
of a civilization cloaked by the eternal forests. He entered the town, crossed the main street and settled on the third floor of the Union Hotel. From his vantage point he observed Navy Point, with all its buildings, especially the huge structure which covered the 1st rate ship, New Orleans.


1 Capt. Roger Lewis.
2 J. Milbert. Picturesque Itinerary of the Hudson River. (Ridgewood, N.J.: The Gregg Press, Copyright 1968 from the original 1826).
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Several warships were moored nearby, together with some brigs, a number of launches and a pretty corvette called Lady of the Lake. Most of these vessels were no longer in service and were covered by board roofs and coated hulls to protect them from dampness. Numerous naval warehouses framed the scene on one side and Madison Barracks on the other, and in the distance,
he compared the waters of the lake to that of an ocean.3

As Milbert examined Sackett's Harbour, he momentarily felt himself back in the shipyards at Brest or Toulon. He was surprised to see the New Orleans, a monument to naval engineering abandoned when half finished. He asked why the ship was incomplete and was informed that, by an article of the Peace Treaty of 1814, the American and English governments agreed to suspend all naval construction undertaken in Kingston and Sackets Harbor during the war. The
Americans carried out this clause of the treaty, but they had the foresight to protect the unfinished giant by enclosing it inside another edifice.4

The Battlefield and Cemeteries Today

Today, the precise resting places of those American and British soldiers who fought and died on May 29, 1813, is unknown.  Many of the wounded were carried to local residences and to the military hospital in Sackets Harbor. According to former Village Historian, Mrs. George Stanley Smith, Colonel Backus, mortally wounded, was brought to the Sacket House where he died eight days later. Undoubtedly, British wounded were treated by American surgeons. General Brown stated in his official report that the British sent him a flag of truce after the Battle, desiring to

have the killed and wounded attended. Brown stated that he made them satisfied on the subject, that "Americans will be distinguished  for humanity and bravery." It has long been asserted that the British dead were buried across from Horse Island, but a check of existing records is inconclusive. The only reference found in the National Archives states that on June 14, 1813, a fatigue party of thirty men was detailed from the infantry brigade "to destroy by burning all of
the dead carcasses and nuisances within a square mile of the camp westward. The artillery on the
right flank of the village will examine the environs east and if neces ary do the like." Whether this order referred to animal or human remains or both, is not known. On June 7, 1813, however, the body of an American militiaman was discovered, "... we found one of them in the woods
tomahawked and scalped."[sic.]5 It is also likely that some of the wounded British soldiers
crawled away from the fighting into the thick underbrush and died unnoticed by their retreating comrades.

On June 15, 1814, William M. Ross, Hospital Surgeon, U.S. Army, recorded:

After our expedition left Sackett's Harbour for Canada, and on the arrival of troops from the north-western  frontier, a new cemetery was opened in the rear of Fort Volunteer. This burial ground is partly between the two abatis of Fort Pike, and.. the artillery barracks and encamping ground of the 13th regiment of infantry. It has been stated that upwards of two hundred bodies had been buried there in the course of last autumn and winter, in a loose sandy soil, scarcely more than one or two feet in depth. In digging the trenches and constructing  Fort Pike, several


3 Milbert, Ibid.
4 Milbert, Ibid.
5 From Saints to Redlegs.
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bodies were dug up and buried under the parapet. A large box was found which contained amputated limbs, and marked, British Arms and Legs.6

An article in the Niagara Journal of June 16, 1818 entitled "Tribute to the Brave," generated from Sackets Harbor, reports the following:

On Tuesday the 28th of May, ult. the remains of Brig. Gen. Zebulon M  Pike, and his Aid de
Camp, Capt. Nicholson, who were (after the defeat of the enemy.) killed by the explosion of one of their magazines, at York, in Upper Canada, on the 27th day of April, 1813 -and also those of Captain Ambrose Spencer, Jun. (formerly Aid de Camp to Maj. Gen. Brown) who died of a
wound received in the Battle at the Falls of Niagara, [Lundey's  Lane] on the 25th of June, 1814,
- were removed from Fort Tompkins and buried with military honors, on the United States ground near the Madison barracks. A large number of citizens attended the procession, who manifested great regard for the memory of those departed heroes.

In the summer of 1820, Colonel Hugh Brady commanded former Fort Volunteer (1812-
1813), then Fort Pike (1813-16), now called, Madison Barracks. Colonel Brady had led the 22th
Infantry Regiment throughout the War and fought at the fierce Battle of Lundy's  Lane, July 25,

1814. His daughter married Electus Backus' son, who had recently graduated from West Point and was stationed at Madison Barracks. Colonel Brady had the remains of all officers and men who fell in the Battle of Sackett's Harbour, removed from the burying ground. They were reinterred in the stockade of Madison Barracks, which was fenced in as a post cemetery. The remains of General Pike, Lt. Colonel Backus, and Lt. Colonel Mills, and others who were disinterred from Fort Tompkins,  were also buried alongside their companions in arms.

The officers of the army and navy as well as a number of local citizens joined in these rites.
A temporary wooden monument  was erected in their memory. This in turn, was to be replaced by a more permanent and fitting monument. Nothing now remains of the orginal monument, which
is quite symbolic of the fleeting honor bestowed by nations for military sacrifice. A few years later, in 1839, the remains of Colonel Mills were said to have been taken to Albany escorted by the 8th Infantry of Madison Barracks and reburied there.7 In 1843, a·special act of the State
legislature permitted him to be reburied in the Capitol Park. The Albany Republican artillery company, which represented the U.S. Volunteers regiment, was allowed the privilege of raising a monument over his remains. This monument was never erected, however.

Major-General  Orlando B. Wilcox arrived with the 12th Infantry at Madison Barracks on September 12, 1862. Soon after Wilcox assumed command, Major-General  William Tecumseh Sherman inspected the post. Shortly thereafter General Wilcox launched a program to expand the garrison. During this period of development, human remains were discovered near Fort Pike and were reburied in the post cemetery. It was concluded they were the remains of soldiers who died while in service on the Northern Frontier during the War of 1812.

By 1868, sections of the time-worn and decayed panels of the wooden monument, lay in a muddled heap. Since then, they have disappeared. A bottle containing a parchment on which was



6 Wilkinson. Memoirs, Vol III. Appendix.
7 History of Jefferson County, Houndsfield,  The growth of a Century,  p.599.


inscribed the military career of each of the officers was placed inside this monument but it too, has long since vanished.8

In 1884, Commander-in-Chief of the Army, General Philip Sheridan, arrived at the post for an inspection tour. Shortly after, General Wilcox felt that the cemetery had been neglected entirely too long and he made efforts to erect monuments to the memory of the unknown soldiers. A modest square monument surmounted by a bronze mortar (with the serial nr.3) was erected with the inscription:

To
Brig. Genl. Z. M. Pike, U.S.A. and his officers
killed in the Battle of York, Upper Canada Apri127, 1813.

This monument was dedicated on Independence Day, 4th of July 1886. Even in 1886 the exact location of Pike's  grave was in doubt, so it was placed close to the then existing flag pole, near the sally port between the ends of the barracks known as Stone Row. This has led to the belief that Pike's remains were placed at the foot of the flag pole, or lie in Fort Tompkins at Navy Point, or in one of two military cemeteries. Whatever his final resting place, peace to his ashes, and all those connected to the history of Sackett's Harbour.

Battlefield remembered


On July 4, 1886, a section of the ground on which British and Americans soldiers fought in the fierce battle of 1813 was presented to the village of Sackett's Harbour and became known as "the Battlefield Park." Over the years, many efforts were undertaken to develop the Battlefield in order to preserve the memory of those who fought for their country on May 29, 1813. In 1913, a monument was donated by the Daughters of the War of 1812. This granite memorial was dedicated on May 29 of the same year by Undersecretary  of the Navy, Franklin D. Roosevelt and is inscribed:

In Memory of
the Officers and men who served
on this Frontier during the War of 1812
and to mark the Battlefield of Sackets Harbor, May 29, 1813.
This Monument  is erected by the National Society of U.S. Daughters of 1812, State ofNew York, Northern Frontier, Chapter of Jefferson County.

The Jefferson County Historical Society held title to the "old Battleground" until1933, when the property was transferred to the stewardship of the Thousand Islands State Parks Commission. Since 1968, the Sackets Harbor Battlefield State Historic Site has been managed by New York State Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation, with responsibility for protecting these historic grounds, providing proper maintenance and developing and implementing  interpretive programs focusing on Sackets Harbor's role in the War of 1812 and reasons for the British assault in 1813.


8 Benson J. Lossing, The Pictorial Fieldbook  ofthe War of 1812,(New  York: Harper and Brothers, 1868, p. 616.


In 1968, the Park was expanded to include the former site of Fort Tompkins and the naval station created after the war. Also at that time the grounds to the west of Battlefield Park were acquired by State Parks. This includes the plain where Backus' Dragoons and Prevost's Infantry clashed
in May 1813. In 1987, Governor Mario Cuomo and Premier of Ontario, Canada, David Peterson met in Sackets Harbor to honor the American and British-Canadian  combatants of that bygone era, marking the 175th anniversary of the War of 1812. Approximately  20,000 visitors shared the solemnities with them.

Colonel Richard Dodge was ordered to garrison Madison Barracks with the 11th Infantry and arrived at the post on August 10, 1887. Colonel Dodge immediately initiated improvement of the
I
'i	post. When his commanding  officer, General Orlando Wilcox, continued his interest in the old
r
i
post burying ground, Dodge travelled to Washington to request an appropriate fence to replace
the old wooden picket fence once surrounding it. The new embellishment  arrived in 1889 in approx. 130 pieces. This tall iron fence had previously adorned LaFayette Park in front of the White House. It would now be placed around the old burying ground. The great gates, surmounted by eagles were sent to Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, and placed at the entrance to the cemetery where Union soldiers are buried. As the War of 1812 and the Civil War were the most serious American conflicts of the nineteenth Century, it was befitting that Sackets Harbor and Gettysburg should share in their nation's  tribute. Col. Dodge moved the Pike monument from the flag pole to the cemetery, and succeeded in erecting a monument to the fallen soldiers of the War

of 1812.9 The rectangular  granite monument was:

Erected to the Memory of the Unknown United States Soldiers and Sailors Killed in Action or Dying of Wounds in this Vicinity During the War of 1812.

The present location of the military cemetery at Sackets Harbor dates from 1909. In that year about 256 bodies and the iron fence were moved from the site of the earlier cemetery, although records from 1870 reveal that over 500 graves were within the limits at the time. Nearly 160 of the markers provided by the federal government for those graves bear the inscription "Unknown" or "Unknown Soldier."

In 1987, Madison Barracks Associates hired an archaeology firm to conduct an investigation of an area where they wished to construct new housing. During this investigation they discovered one of the long lost military cemeteries at Sackets Harbor. As a result of my participation as New York State Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation's representative in the investigation of
the remains of U.S. soldiers at Fort Erie, Ontario, Canada and background as a professional War
of 1812 historian, I was contacted to verify artifacts discovered at this site. They were, indeed, U.S. soldiers from the War of 1812 period.

By contacting appropriate authorities in Washington, I was able to secure a monument which was placed over the grave site. Madison Barracks Associates consented to reserve these hallowed grounds as the final resting place of these heroes. Continuing past tradition, on May 29,


9.


Memorial Day, 1989, more than 1,000 persons paid tribute to the heroes of Sackets Harbor as Lieutenant General Peter Bohlen, Commanding General ofFort Drum and the 1Oth Mountain Division and Patrick A. Wilder unveiled a granite monument which bears the following inscription on a bronze placque:

This monument is dedicated to the Memory of those
American Fighting Men who lost their lives in the War of 1812 on this Northern Frontier.

These grounds were made hallowed when the remains of more than 200 Soldiers, unknown but for their deeds were buried here between 1812 and 1815.

Their earthly remains lay long forgotten until rediscovered  at this site in 1988, once Headquarters  of the Army of the Northern Frontier.

Life fades but the written record  remains ever fresh  (William L. Clements Library)
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